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OFS Credit Company, Inc., or the “Company,” is a non-diversified, externally managed closed-end management investment company that has registered as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, or the “1940 Act.” Our investment adviser is OFS Capital Management, LLC, which we refer to as “OFS
Advisor” or the “Advisor.” Our primary investment objective is to generate current income, with a secondary objective to generate capital appreciation. Under normal
market conditions, we will invest at least 80% of our assets, or net assets plus borrowings, in floating rate credit instruments and other structured credit investments,
including: (i) collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) debt and subordinated (i.e., residual or equity) securities; (ii) traditional corporate credit investments, including
leveraged loans and high yield bonds; (iii) opportunistic credit investments, including stressed and distressed credit situations and long/short credit investments; and
(iv) other credit-related instruments. The CLOs in which we invest or intend to invest are collateralized by portfolios consisting primarily of below investment grade U.S.
senior secured loans with a large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry sectors. As part of the 80%, we may also invest in other securities and
instruments that are related to these investments or that OFS Advisor believes are consistent with our investment objectives, including senior debt tranches of CLOs and loan
accumulation facilities. Loan accumulation facilities are short- to medium-term facilities often provided by the bank that will serve as the placement agent or arranger on a
CLO transaction. Loan accumulation facilities typically incur leverage between three and six times prior to a CLO’s pricing. The CLO securities in which we primarily seek
to invest are unrated or rated below investment grade and are considered speculative with respect to timely payment of interest and repayment of principal. Unrated and
below investment grade securities are also sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. In addition, the CLO equity and subordinated debt securities in which we will invest
are highly leveraged (with CLO equity securities typically being leveraged 9 to 13 times), which magnifies our risk of loss on such investments.
The Advisor is registered as an investment adviser with the SEC and, as of September 30, 2020, had approximately $2.2 billion of committed assets under management
for investment in CLO securities and other investments. The Advisor manages our investments subject to the supervision of our board of directors, or “Board.”
We may offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings or series, up to $100,000,000 of our common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights to purchase shares of
our common stock or debt securities, which we refer to, collectively, as our “securities.” The preferred stock, subscription rights and debt securities offered hereby may be
convertible or exchangeable into shares of our common stock. The securities may be offered at prices and on terms to be described in one or more supplements to this
prospectus.
In the event we offer common stock, the offering price per share of our common stock less any underwriting discounts or commissions will generally not be less than the
net asset value per share of our common stock at the time we make the offering. However, we may issue shares of our common stock pursuant to this prospectus at a price
per share that is less than our net asset value per share (i) in connection with a rights offering to our existing stockholders, (ii) with the prior approval of the majority (as
defined in the 1940 Act) of our common stockholders or (iii) under such other circumstances as the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the “SEC,” may permit.
Our securities may be offered directly to one or more purchasers, or through agents designated from time to time by us, or to or through underwriters or dealers. Each
prospectus supplement relating to an offering will identify any agents or underwriters involved in the sale of our securities, and will disclose any applicable purchase price,
fee, discount or commissions arrangement between us and our agents or underwriters or among our underwriters or the basis upon which such amount may be calculated.
See “Plan of Distribution.” We may not sell any of our securities through agents, underwriters or dealers without delivery of this prospectus and a prospectus supplement
describing the method and terms of the offering of such securities.
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol, “OCCI”. On February 19, 2021, the last reported sales price on the Nasdaq Capital
Market for our common stock was $14.95 per share. Our 6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock due 2024 (the "Series A Term Preferred Stock") is traded on the Nasdaq
Capital Market under the ticker symbol “OCCIP”. On February 19, 2021, the last reported sales price on the Nasdaq Capital Market for our Series A Term Preferred Stock
was $25.25 per share. We determine the net asset value per share of our common stock on a quarterly basis. The net asset value per share of our common stock as of October
31, 2020 was $11.58.
As of February 19, 2021, the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates, or the public float, was approximately $48.4 million, which was
calculated based on 3,235,053 shares of common stock held by non-affiliates and on a price per share of $14.95, the closing price of our common stock on February 19,
2021. Pursuant to certain SEC rules, in no event will we sell our securities in a public primary offering with a

value exceeding more than one-third of our public float in any 12-month period so long as our public float remains below $75.0 million. We have offered an aggregate
$1,043,785 in securities pursuant to the SEC rules noted above during the 12 calendar months prior to and including the date of this prospectus.
This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement contains important information you should know before investing in our securities. Please read and
retain this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement for future reference. This prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, and other materials
containing additional information about us have been filed with the SEC. You may request a free copy of this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement, or
any other information filed with the SEC, by calling 1 (800) SEC-0330 (toll-free) or by electronic mail at publicinfo@sec.gov. We file annual and semi-annual stockholder
reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. To obtain this information electronically, please visit our website (www.ofscreditcompany.com) or call 1 (847)
734-2000 (toll-free). You may also call this number to request additional information or to make other inquiries pertaining to us. You may also obtain a copy of any
information regarding us filed with the SEC from the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov).
Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
This prospectus may not be used to consummate sales of our securities unless accompanied by a prospectus supplement. This prospectus and any
accompanying prospectus supplement will together constitute the prospectus for an offering of the Company's securities.
The date of this prospectus is , 2021

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus
supplement. We have not authorized any other person to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or
inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is
not permitted. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may have changed since the date of this prospectus. We will notify
stockholders promptly of any material change to this prospectus during the period the Company is required to deliver the prospectus.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS
This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we have filed with the SEC, using the “shelf” registration process. Under the shelf registration
process, we may offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings up to $100,000,000 of our common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights to
purchase shares of our common stock or debt securities, on terms to be determined at the time of the offering. Furthermore, pursuant to certain SEC rules,
in no event will we sell our securities in a public primary offering with a value exceeding more than one-third of our public float in any 12-month period so
long as our public float remains below $75.0 million. The securities may be offered at prices and on terms described in one or more supplements to this
prospectus. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities that we may offer. Each time we use this prospectus to offer securities,
we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add,
update or change information contained in this prospectus. If there is any inconsistency between information in this prospectus and any accompanying
prospectus supplement, you should rely only on the information contained in the prospectus supplement. Please carefully read this prospectus and any
prospectus supplement together with any exhibits and the additional information described under the headings “Available Information” and “Risk Factors”
before you make an investment decision.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING ELECTRONIC DELIVERY
Beginning in June 2021, as permitted by regulations adopted by the SEC, paper copies of stockholder reports for the Company will no longer be sent by
mail, unless you specifically request paper copies of the reports from the Company or from your financial intermediary, such as a broker-dealer or bank.
Instead, the reports will be made available on the Company’s website, and you will be notified by mail each time a report is posted and provided with a
website link to access the report.
If you already elected to receive stockholder reports electronically, you will not be affected by this change and you do not need to take any action. For
stockholder reports and other communications from the Company issued prior to June 2021, you may elect to receive such reports and other
communications electronically. If you own shares of the Company through a financial intermediary, you may contact your financial intermediary to elect to
receive materials electronically. This information is available free of charge by contacting us by mail at 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago,
Illinois 60606; by telephone at (847) 734-2000 or on our website at http://www.ofscreditcompany.com.
You may elect to receive all future reports in paper, free of charge. If you own shares of the Company through a financial intermediary, you may contact
your financial intermediary to elect to continue to receive paper copies of your stockholder reports after June 2021. This information is available free of
charge by contacting us by mail at 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606; by telephone at (847) 734-2000 or on our website at
http://www.ofscreditcompany.com. If you make such an election through your financial intermediary, your election to receive reports in paper may apply to
all funds held through your financial intermediary.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
This summary highlights some of the information in this prospectus. It is not complete and may not contain all of the information that you may want to
consider before making an investment decision. Throughout this prospectus, we refer to OFS Credit Company, Inc. and any of its consolidated subsidiaries
as the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our;” OFS Capital Management, LLC as “OFS Advisor” or the “Advisor;” and OFS Capital Services, LLC as “OFS
Services” or the “Administrator.”
Overview
OFS Credit Company, Inc. is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that has registered as an investment company under the
1940 Act. We were formed as a Delaware corporation on September 1, 2017. Our primary investment objective is to generate current income, with a
secondary objective to generate capital appreciation. We have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to qualify annually as a
regulated investment company (“RIC”) under subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). See “U.S. Federal Income
Tax Matters.”
Under normal market conditions, we will invest at least 80% of our assets, or net assets plus borrowings, in floating rate credit-based instruments and
other structured credit investments, including: (i) CLO debt and subordinated (i.e., residual or equity) securities; (ii) traditional corporate credit
investments, including leveraged loans and high yield bonds; (iii) opportunistic credit investments, including stressed and distressed credit situations and
long/short credit investments; and (iv) other credit-related instruments. The CLOs in which we invest or intend to invest are collateralized by portfolios
consisting primarily of below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans with a large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry
sectors. As part of the 80%, we may also invest in other securities and instruments that are related to these investments or that the Advisor believes are
consistent with our investment objectives, including senior debt tranches of CLOs and loan accumulation facilities. The amount that we invest in these
other securities and instruments may vary from time to time and, as such, may constitute a material part of our portfolio on any given date, all as based on
the Advisor’s assessment of prevailing market conditions. The CLO securities in which we will primarily seek to invest are unrated or rated below
investment grade and are considered speculative with respect to timely payment of interest and repayment of principal. Unrated and below investment
grade securities are also sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. In addition, the CLO equity and subordinated debt securities in which we will invest are
highly leveraged (with CLO equity securities typically being leveraged 9 to 13 times), which magnifies our risk of loss on such investments. These
investment objectives are not fundamental policies of ours and may be changed by our Board on 60 days’ notice to our stockholders. See “Business.”
The global outbreak of COVID-19 has disrupted, and may continue to disrupt, economic markets and the prolonged economic impact is uncertain. The
operational and financial performance of our investments depends on future developments including the duration and spread of the outbreak, and such
uncertainty has impacted, and may continue to impact, the valuation of our investments. We believe that the market for CLO-related assets continues to
provide us with opportunities to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns over the long term.
When we acquire securities at the inception of a CLO in an originated transaction (i.e., the primary CLO market), we intend to invest in CLO securities
that the Advisor believes have the potential to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns and to outperform other similar CLO securities issued around the
same time. When we acquire existing CLO securities, we intend to invest in CLO securities that the Advisor believes have the potential to generate
attractive risk-adjusted returns.
We intend to pursue a differentiated strategy within the CLO market focused on:
•

proactive sourcing and identification of investment opportunities;

•

utilization of a methodical and rigorous investment analysis and due diligence process both structurally and on a loan-level basis;

•

utilization of the Advisor's in-house CLO investment team and related investment processes to provide credit analysis of each underlying loan
portfolio within the CLO securities;

•

active involvement at the CLO structuring and formation stage, as appropriate; and

•

taking stakes in CLO equity and subordinated debt tranches.

We believe that the Advisor’s longstanding presence within the CLO market and relationships with CLO collateral managers, its CLO structural
expertise and its in-house CLO investment team will enable us to source and execute investments consistent with our investment objectives and provide
investors with loan-level expertise and analysis. The Advisor may negotiate enhanced economics for us and any other accounts that may be co-investing in
return for providing relative certainty of CLO equity placement, which is often the most difficult tranche to place. These enhanced returns may take the
form of (i) CLO management fee rebates, (ii) bank arrangement fee concessions or (iii) other forms of economic enhancement.
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When we make a significant primary market investment in a particular CLO tranche, we generally expect to be able to influence certain of the CLO’s
key terms and conditions. Specifically, the Advisor believes that, although typically exercised only in limited circumstances, the protective rights associated
with holding positions in a CLO equity tranche (such as the ability to call the CLO after the non-call period, to refinance/reprice certain CLO debt tranches
after a period of time and to influence potential amendments to the governing documents of the CLO) may reduce our risk in these investments. We may
acquire a majority position in a CLO tranche directly, or we may benefit from the advantages of a majority position where both we and other accounts
collectively hold a majority position. See “Business — Other Investment Techniques — Co-Investment with Affiliates.”
We seek to construct a broad and varied portfolio of CLO securities, including with respect to:
•

number of borrowers underlying each CLO;

• industry type of a CLO’s underlying borrowers;
• number and investment style of CLO collateral managers; and
• CLO vintage period.
The Advisor has a long-term oriented investment philosophy and seeks to invest primarily with a view to hold securities until maturity. However, on an
ongoing basis, the Advisor actively monitors each investment and may sell positions if circumstances have changed from the time of investment or if the
Advisor believes it is in our best interest to do so.
About OFS and Our Advisor
OFS (which refers to the collective activities and operations of Orchard First Source Asset Management, LLC (“OFSAM”) and its subsidiaries and
certain affiliates) is a full-service provider of capital and leveraged finance solutions to U.S. corporations. As of September 30, 2020, OFS had 47 full-time
employees. OFS is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois and also has offices in New York, New York and Los Angeles, California.
Our investment activities are managed by OFS Advisor, our investment adviser. OFS Advisor is responsible for sourcing potential investments,
conducting research and diligence on potential investments, collateral managers, and placement agents, analyzing investment opportunities, structuring our
investments and monitoring our investments and portfolio companies on an ongoing basis. OFS Advisor is a registered investment adviser under the
Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), and a wholly-owned subsidiary of OFSAM, our parent company prior to the
completion of our initial public offering (“IPO”). OFSAM is owned directly or indirectly by Richard Ressler, Bilal Rashid, and Jeffrey A. Cerny or related
entities. For information concerning the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock by OFSAM and its owners, see "Control Persons and
Principal Holders of Securities."
Our relationship with OFS Advisor is governed by and dependent on the Investment Advisory and Management Agreement by and between us and
OFS Advisor (the “Investment Advisory Agreement”) and may be subject to conflicts of interest. OFS Advisor provides us with advisory services in
exchange for a base management fee and incentive fee; see “Management—Management and Other Agreements—Investment Advisory Agreement.”
Our Board is charged with protecting our interests by monitoring how OFS Advisor addresses these and other conflicts of interest associated with its
management services and compensation. While our Board is not expected to review or approve each borrowing or incurrence of leverage, our independent
directors will periodically review OFS Advisor’s services and fees as well as its portfolio management decisions and portfolio performance.
OFSAM makes experienced investment professionals, all of whom are employees of OFSAM, available to OFS Advisor through an intercompany
agreement with Orchard First Source Capital, Inc., OFSAM's staffing subsidiary. These OFS personnel provide us with access to deal flow that OFS
generates in the ordinary course of its businesses and committed members of OFS Advisor’s investment committee. As our investment adviser, OFS
Advisor is obligated to allocate investment opportunities among us and any other clients fairly and equitably over time in accordance with its allocation
policy.
OFS Advisor capitalizes on the deal origination and sourcing, underwriting, due diligence, investment structuring, execution, portfolio management
and monitoring experience of OFS’s professionals. The senior investment team of OFS, including Bilal Rashid, Jeff Cerny, Glen Ostrander and Kenneth A.
Brown (collectively, the “Senior Investment Team”), provides services to OFS Advisor. These professionals have developed a broad network of contacts
within the investment community, averaging over 20 years of investing experience, including structuring and investing in CLOs, as well as investing in
assets that will constitute the underlying assets held by the CLOs in which we will invest. See “Management” for additional information regarding our
portfolio managers.
OFS Advisor’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive to us and OFS Advisor is free to furnish similar services to other
entities, including other funds affiliated with OFS Advisor, so long as its services to us are not impaired. OFS Advisor also serves as the investment adviser
to CLO funds and other assets, including OFS Capital Corporation (“OFS Capital”), a publicly-traded fund that has elected to be regulated as a business
development company (“BDC”) under the 1940 Act, and Hancock Park Corporate Income, Inc. (“Hancock Park”), a non-traded BDC. OFS Advisor also
provides sub-advisory services to CMFT Securities Investments, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of CIM Real Estate Finance Trust, Inc., a corporation
that qualifies as a real estate investment trust. Additionally, OFS Advisor serves as sub-adviser to CIM Real Assets & Credit Fund (“CIM RACR”), an
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externally managed registered investment company that operates as an interval fund that invests primarily in a combination of real estate, credit and related
investments.
We believe that the complementary, yet highly specialized, skill set of each member of the Senior Investment Team provides the Advisor with a
competitive advantage in its CLO-focused investment strategy. See “Management — Portfolio Managers.”
Our Administrator
OFS Services, an affiliate of OFS Advisor, provides the administrative services necessary for us to operate. OFS Services furnishes us with office
facilities and equipment, necessary software licenses and subscriptions and clerical, bookkeeping and recordkeeping services at such facilities. OFS
Services oversees our financial reporting as well as prepares our reports to stockholders and all other reports and materials required to be filed with the SEC
or any other regulatory authority. OFS Services also manages the determination and publication of our net asset value, or “NAV”, and the preparation and
filing of our tax returns and generally monitors the payment of our expenses and the performance of administrative and professional services rendered to us
by others. OFS Services may retain third parties to assist in providing administrative services to us. To the extent that OFS Services outsources any of its
functions, we will pay the fees associated with such functions at cost, sometimes on a direct basis without incremental profit to OFS Services.
CLO Overview
Our investments in CLOs are expected to be comprised primarily of investments in the equity tranches and, to a lesser extent, the subordinated debt
tranches of CLOs. We intend to focus on securitization vehicles that pool portfolios of primarily below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans, which
pools of underlying assets are often referred to as a CLO’s “collateral.” The vast majority of the portfolio of most CLOs consists of first lien senior secured
loans although the CLO collateral manager is typically able to invest up to approximately 10% of the portfolio in other assets, including second lien loans,
unsecured loans, debtor-in-possession (“DIP”) loans and fixed rate loans.
CLOs are generally required to hold a portfolio of assets that is highly diversified by underlying borrower and industry and is subject to certain asset
concentration limitations. Most CLOs are structured to allow for reinvestment of proceeds of repayments of assets over a specific period of time (typically
four to five years). We intend to target cash flow CLOs, for which the terms and covenants of the structure are typically based primarily on the cash flow
generated by, and the par value (as opposed to the market price) of, the CLO collateral. These covenants include collateral coverage tests, interest coverage
tests and collateral quality tests. CLO payment provisions are detailed in a CLO’s indenture and are referred to as the “priority of payments” or “waterfall.”
A CLO funds the purchase of its investment portfolio through the issuance of CLO equity and debt instruments in the form of multiple, primarily
floating-rate debt, tranches. The CLO debt tranches typically have a stated coupon and are rated “AAA” (or its equivalent) at the most senior level down to
“BB” or “B” (or its equivalent), which is below investment grade, at the most junior level by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc., S&P and/or Fitch, Inc.
Unrated and below investment grade and unrated securities are sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. CLO debt tranches are not impacted by defaults
and realized losses until total losses exceed the value of the equity tranche.
The CLO equity tranche, which is in the first loss position, is unrated and subordinated to the debt tranches and typically represents approximately 8%
to 11% of a CLO’s capital structure. A CLO’s equity tranche represents the first loss position in the CLO. The holders of CLO equity tranche interests are
typically entitled to any cash reserves that form part of the structure when such reserves are permitted to be released. The CLO equity tranche captures
available payments at the bottom of the payment waterfall, after operational and administrative costs of the CLO and servicing of the debt securities.
Economically, the equity tranche benefits from the difference between the interest received from the investment portfolio and the interest paid to the
holders of debt tranches of the CLO structure. Should a default or decrease in expected payments to a particular CLO occur, that deficiency typically first
affects the equity tranche in that holders of that position generally will be the first to have their payments decreased by the deficiency.
Each tranche within a typical CLO has voting rights on any amendments that would have a material effect on such tranche. Neither the debt tranches nor
equity tranche of CLOs have voting rights on the management of the underlying investment portfolio. The holders of the equity tranches of CLOs typically
have the right to approve and/or replace the CLO collateral manager after such CLO manager has triggered a default. The equity tranche of a CLO also
typically has the ability to call the debt tranches following a non-call period. Debt tranches of CLOs typically do not have the right to call the other CLO
security tranches.
Generally, the loans underlying the CLOs in which we expect to invest will have financial maintenance covenants, which are used to proactively
address materially adverse changes in a portfolio company’s financial performance. However, some of the loans underlying the CLOs in which we invest
may be referred to as “covenant-lite” loans. We use the term “covenant-lite” to refer generally to loans that do not have a complete set of financial
maintenance covenants. Generally, “covenant-lite” loans provide borrower companies more freedom to negatively impact lenders because their covenants
are incurrence-based, which means they are only tested and can only be breached following an affirmative action of the borrower, rather than by a
deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition. Typically, the indenture governing a CLO will permit only a certain percentage of the loans underlying a
CLO to be "covenant lite." Accordingly, to the extent we are exposed to “covenant-lite” loans, we may have a greater risk of loss on such investments as
compared to investments in or exposure to loans with financial maintenance covenants.
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The CLO structure highlighted below is a hypothetical structure provided for illustrative purposes only and the structure of CLOs in which we will
invest may vary substantially from the example set forth below. Please see “Business — CLO Overview” for a more detailed description of a CLO’s typical
structure and key terms and conditions.

CLOs generally do not face refinancing risk on the CLO debt since a CLO’s indenture requires that the maturity dates of a CLO’s assets (typically 5 – 8
years from the date of issuance of a senior secured loan) be shorter than the maturity date of the CLO’s liabilities (typically 11 – 12 years from the date of
issuance). In the current market environment, we expect investment opportunities in CLO equity to present more attractive risk-adjusted returns than CLO
debt, although we expect to make investments in CLO debt and related investments, in certain cases, to complement the CLO equity investments that we
make. As market conditions change, our investment focus may vary from time to time between CLO equity and CLO debt investments.
We believe that CLO equity has the following attractive fundamental attributes:
• Potential for strong absolute and risk-adjusted returns: We believe that CLO equity offers the potential for attractive, risk-adjusted total
returns compared to the returns experienced in the U.S. public equity markets.
• Expected shorter duration high-yielding credit investment with the potential for high quarterly cash distributions: Relative to certain other
high-yielding credit investments such as mezzanine or subordinated debt, CLO equity is expected to have a shorter payback period with
higher front-end loaded quarterly cash flows during the early years of a CLO’s life.
• Expected protection against rising interest rates: Because a CLO’s asset portfolio is typically comprised primarily of floating rate loans and
the CLO’s liabilities are also generally floating rate instruments, we expect CLO equity to provide potential protection against rising interest
rates whenever the London Interbank Offered Rate, or “LIBOR,” exceeds above the average minimum interest rate or "LIBOR floor" on a
CLO’s assets. However, CLO equity is still subject to other forms of interest rate risk.
• Expected low-to-moderate correlation with fixed income and equity markets: Because CLO assets and liabilities are primarily floating rate,
we expect CLO equity investments to have a low-to-moderate correlation with U.S. fixed income securities. In addition, because CLOs
generally allow for the reinvestment of principal during the reinvestment period regardless of the market price of the underlying collateral
provided the CLO remains in compliance with its covenants, we expect CLO equity investments to have a low-to-moderate correlation with
the U.S. public equity markets.
CLO securities are also subject to a number of risks as discussed elsewhere in this “Prospectus Summary” section and in more detail in the “Risk
Factors” section of this prospectus. Among our primary targeted investments, the risks associated with CLO equity are generally greater than those
associated with CLO debt.
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Competitive Strengths and Core Competencies
We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of investment opportunities in CLO securities and related investments due to the
following competitive advantages:
• CLO management track record. OFS Advisor has actively managed CLOs for over 15 years and closed on approximately 7,400 loan
transactions aggregating approximately $17 billion in credit investments through CLO vehicles.
• Deep management team experienced in investing in the senior secured loan market. OFS Advisor and its affiliates currently manage five CLO
vehicles. OFS Advisor has an experienced team of twelve people (with an average of 15 years of experience investing in the leveraged loan
market) that is dedicated to investing in senior secured loans and also has access to an internal database of information that OFS Advisor
believes gives it access and insight into a credit universe it has established throughout its longstanding presence in the loan market.
• Specialist in CLO securities. Each member of the Senior Investment Team has been active in the CLO market for the majority of his career and
brings a distinct and complementary skill set that the Advisor believes is necessary to achieve our investment objective. We believe that the
combination of the Advisor's longstanding presence in the CLO market, as well as relationships with CLO collateral managers will enable us
to source and execute investments with attractive economics and terms relative to other CLO market opportunities.
• Deep CLO structural experience and expertise. Members of the Senior Investment Team have significant experience structuring, valuing and
investing in CLOs throughout their careers. The Advisor believes that the initial structuring of a CLO is an important contributor to the
ultimate risk-adjusted returns, and that experienced and knowledgeable investors can add meaningful value relative to other market
participants by selecting those investments with the most advantageous structures. In addition to analyzing CLO structural features and
collateral managers, OFS Advisor can perform due diligence on the underlying loans within the CLOs, given its in-house expertise and
relationships with numerous multi-national lenders and broker dealers.
• Rigorous credit analysis and approval process. The objective of the Advisor’s investment process is to source, evaluate and execute
investments in CLO securities and related investments that the Advisor believes have the potential to outperform the CLO market generally.
This process, augmented by the Advisor's first-hand experience as a CLO manager, is designed to be repeatable and is focused on key areas
for analysis that the Advisor believes are most relevant to potential future performance. The Advisor believes that its investment and security
selection process, its in-house loan investment team, along with its strong emphasis on analyzing the structure of the CLO, differentiates its
approach to investing in CLO securities.
• Alignment of Interests. Our fee structure includes an incentive fee component whereby we pay the Advisor an incentive fee only if our net
income exceeds a hurdle rate.
Recent Developments
Board of Directors
On January 8, 2021, the Board of Directors appointed Catherine M. Fitta as a director to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci
on December 22, 2020. Additionally, Catherine M. Fitta was appointed to the Company's audit committee, and compensation committee and as chair of the
nominating and corporate governance committee.
Results of Operations for the Year and Three Months Ended October 31, 2020
Portfolio Composition
The total fair value of our investment portfolio was $56.9 million at October 31, 2020, which was equal to approximately 73.1% of amortized cost. As of
October 31, 2020, our portfolio had exposure to 23 separate collateral managers.
Interest Income
Interest income was $2.74 million for the three months ended October 31, 2020 compared to $2.79 million in the prior quarter. The approximate $50,000
decrease in interest income was due to a decrease in the weighted effective yield of the investment portfolio.
Expenses
Total expenses for the three months ended October 31, 2020 increased approximately $59,000 compared to the prior quarter.
Management fee expense for the three months ended October 31, 2020 increased approximately $16,000 compared to the prior quarter, primarily due to an
increase in fair value of the investment portfolio.
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Incentive fee expense for the three months ended October 31, 2020 decreased approximately $26,000 compared to the prior quarter, primarily due to an
decrease in net investment income.
Administrative fee expense for the three months ended October 31, 2020 increased approximately $50,000 compared to the prior quarter, primarily due to
an increase in our allocable portion of personnel and software costs of our administrator, OFS Services.
Professional fees and general and administrative expenses for the three months ended October 31, 2020 increased approximately $19,000 compared to the
prior quarter, primarily due to an increase in legal and accounting services.
Net Gain
Investments appreciated approximately $3.1 million during the three months ended October 31, 2020, primarily due to the increase in loan prices in the
broadly syndicated loan market, which underlie our CLO investments.
See also "Results of Operations."
Principal Risks of Investing in the Company
The value of our assets, as well as the market price of our securities, will fluctuate. Our investments should be considered risky, and you may lose all or
part of your investment in us. Investors should consider their financial situation and needs, other investments, investment goals, investment experience,
time horizons, liquidity needs and risk tolerance before investing in our securities. An investment in our securities may be speculative in that it involves a
high degree of risk and should not be considered a complete investment program. We should be evaluated primarily as a long-term investment vehicle, and
our securities are not an appropriate investment for a short-term trading strategy. We can offer no assurance that the returns on our investments will be
commensurate with the risk of investment in us, nor can we provide any assurance that enough appropriate investments that meet our investment criteria
will be available.
The following is a summary of certain principal risks of an investment in us. See “Risk Factors” for a more complete discussion of the risks of
investing in our securities, including certain risks not summarized below.
• Fair Valuation of Our Portfolio Investments. Typically, there will not be a public market for the type of investments in which we invest. As a
result, we will value these securities at least quarterly, or more frequently as may be required from time to time, at fair value. Our
determinations of the fair value of our investments have a material impact on our net earnings through the recording of unrealized
appreciation or depreciation of investments and may cause our NAV on a given date to materially understate or overstate the value that we
may ultimately realize on one or more of our investments.
• Key Personnel Risk. We are dependent upon the key personnel of OFS Advisor for our future success.
• Conflicts of Interest Risk. Our executive officers and directors, and the Advisor and its officers and employees, including the Senior
Investment Team, have several conflicts of interest as a result of the other activities in which they engage. See “Conflicts of Interest.”
• Incentive Fee Risk. Our incentive fee structure may incentivize the Advisor to pursue investments on our behalf that are riskier or more
speculative than would be the case in the absence of such compensation arrangement and use leverage in a manner that adversely impacts our
performance.
• Tax Risks. If we fail to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC under the Code for any reason or become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal
income tax, the resulting corporate taxes could substantially reduce our net assets, the amount of income available for distribution and the
amount of our distributions.
• Distributions and Dividend Risk. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic or other disruptions in the economy, we may reduce, defer or eliminate our
distributions and choose to incur U.S. federal excise tax in order to preserve cash and maintain flexibility.
• Stock Dividend Risk. We have declared, and may in the future declare, taxable dividends that are payable to our stockholders in cash or in
shares of our common stock at the election of stockholders subject to a limitation on the total amount of cash that may be distributed. In
addition, if a significant number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our stock in order to pay taxes owed on distributions, it may
put downward pressure on the trading price of our stock.
• Market Risks. The economic disruption and downturn in the capital markets and the credit markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic
has impaired and may continue to impair our ability to raise capital, has impaired and could continue to impair the availability of suitable
investment opportunities for us and has negatively affected and may continue to negatively affect our business.
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• Events Outside of our Control. Events outside of our control, including public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic, have negatively
affected and could continue to negatively affect our CLO investments and our results of operations.
• Non-Diversification Risk. We are a non-diversified investment company under the 1940 Act and may hold a narrower range of investments
than a diversified fund under the 1940 Act.
• Leverage Risk. The use of leverage, whether directly or indirectly through investments such as CLO equity or subordinated debt securities that
inherently involve leverage, may magnify our risk of loss. CLOs are typically highly leveraged (typically 9 – 13 times), and therefore the
CLO equity of subordinated debt securities in which we invest or intend to invest are subject to a higher risk of loss since the use of leverage
magnifies losses.
• Risks of Investing in CLOs and Other Structured Finance Securities. CLO and structured finance securities present risks similar to other
credit investments, including default (credit), interest rate and prepayment risks. In addition, CLOs and other structured finance securities are
typically governed by a complex series of legal documents and contracts, which increases the possibility of disputes over the interpretation
and enforceability of such documents. For example, some documents governing the loans underlying our CLO investments may allow for
“priming transactions,” in connection with which majority lenders or debtors can amend loan documents to the detriment of other lenders,
amend loan documents in order to move collateral, or amend documents in order to facilitate capital outflow to other parties/subsidiaries in a
capital structure, any of which may adversely affect the rights and security priority of the CLOs in which we are invested. In addition, a
collateral manager or trustee of a CLO may not properly carry out its duties to the CLO, potentially resulting in loss to the CLO. CLOs are
also leveraged vehicles and are subject to leverage risk.
• Risks of Investing in the Subordinated or Equity Tranche of CLOs. We may invest in the subordinated notes that comprise a CLO's equity
tranche, which are junior in priority of payment and are subject to certain payment restrictions generally set forth in an indenture governing
the notes. In addition, CLO equity and subordinated notes generally do not benefit from any creditors’ rights or ability to exercise remedies
under the indenture governing the notes. The subordinated notes are not guaranteed by another party. Subordinated notes are subject to greater
risk than the secured notes issued by the CLO. CLOs are typically highly levered, typically utilizing 9 – 13 times leverage, and therefore the
CLO equity and subordinated debt securities in which we invest or intend to invest are subject to a higher risk of loss. There can be no
assurance that distributions on the assets held by the CLO will be sufficient to make any distributions or that the yield on the subordinated
notes will meet our expectations.
• First Loss Risk of CLO Equity and Subordinated Securities. CLO equity and subordinated debt securities that we may acquire are
subordinated to more senior tranches of CLO debt. If a CLO breaches a covenant, excess cash flow that would otherwise be available for
distribution to the CLO equity tranche investors is diverted to prepay CLO debt investors in order of seniority until such time as the covenant
breach is cured. If the covenant breach is not or cannot be cured, the CLO equity investors (and potentially other debt tranche investors) may
experience a partial or total loss of their investment. For this reason, CLO equity investors are often referred to as being in a first loss position.
CLO equity and subordinated debt securities are subject to increased risks of default relative to the holders of superior priority interests in the
same securities. In addition, at the time of issuance, CLO equity securities are under-collateralized in that the liabilities of a CLO at inception
exceed its total assets. Though not exclusively, we will typically be in a first loss or subordinated position with respect to realized losses on
the assets of the CLOs in which we are invested.
• CLO Rating Downgrade Risk. Ratings agencies have recently undergone reviews of CLO tranches and their broadly syndicated loans in light
of the COVID-19 pandemic's adverse impact on the economic market. Such reviews have, in some cases, resulted in downgrades of broadly
syndicated loans. Downgrades by rating agencies of broadly syndicated loans could adversely impact the financial performance of the CLO
vehicles in which we have invested and their ability to pay equity distributions to the Company in the future.
• High Yield Investment Risks. The CLO equity and subordinated debt securities that we will acquire are typically unrated or rated below
investment grade and are therefore considered “high yield” or “junk” securities and are considered speculative with respect to timely payment
of distributions or interest and reinvestment or repayment of principal. The senior secured loans and other credit-related assets underlying
CLOs are also typically high yield investments that are below investment grade. Investing in CLO equity and subordinated debt securities and
other high yield investments involves greater credit and liquidity risk than investment grade obligations, which may adversely impact our
performance. High-yield investments, including collateral held by CLOs in which we invest, generally have limited liquidity. As a result,
prices of high-yield investments have at times experienced significant and rapid decline when a substantial number of holders (or a few
holders of a significantly large “block” of the securities) decide to sell. In addition, we (or the CLOs in which we invest) may have difficulty
disposing of certain high-yield investments because there may be a thin trading market for such securities.
• Limited Investment Opportunities Risk. The market for CLO securities is more limited than the market for other credit related investments.
Sufficient investment opportunities for our capital may not be available.
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• Interest Rate Risk. The price of certain of our investments may be significantly affected by changes in interest rates. Although interest rates in
the United States continue to be relatively low compared to historic averages, a continuation of the current rising interest rate environment
may increase our exposure to risks associated with interest rates. Moreover, interest rate levels may be impacted by extraordinary monetary
policy initiatives, the effect of which is impossible to predict with certainty. Additionally, there may be a mismatch in the rate at which CLOs
earn interest and the rate at which CLOs pay interest on their debt tranches, which can negatively impact the cash flows on a CLO’s equity
tranche and may in turn adversely affect our cash flows and results of operations.
• Credit Risk. If (1) a CLO in which we invest, (2) an underlying asset of any such CLO or (3) any other type of credit investment in our
portfolio declines in price or fails to pay interest or principal when due because the issuer or debtor, as the case may be, experiences a decline
in its financial status, our income, NAV and/or market price may be adversely impacted.
• Prepayment Risk. The assets underlying the CLO securities in which we invest are subject to prepayment by the underlying corporate
borrowers. In addition, the CLO securities and related investments in which we invest are subject to prepayment risk. If we or a CLO
collateral manager are unable to reinvest prepaid amounts in a new investment with an expected rate of return at least equal to that of the
investment repaid, our investment performance will be adversely impacted.
• Liquidity Risks. To the extent we invest in illiquid instruments, we would not be able to sell such investments at prices that reflect our
assessment of their fair value or the amount paid for such investments by us. Specifically, the subordinated or equity tranche CLO securities
we intend to acquire are illiquid investments and subject to extensive transfer restrictions, and no party is under any obligation to make a
market for subordinated notes. At times, there may be no market for subordinated notes, and we may not be able to sell or otherwise transfer
subordinated notes at their fair value, or at all, in the event that we determine to sell them.
• Counterparty Risks. We may be exposed to counterparty risk, which could make it difficult for us or the CLOs in which we invest to collect on
obligations, thereby resulting in potentially significant losses.
• Loan Accumulation Facilities Risk. Investments in loan accumulation facilities, which acquire loans on an interim basis that are expected to
form part of a CLO, may expose us to market, credit and leverage risks. In particular, in the event a planned CLO is not consummated, or the
loans held in a loan accumulation facility are not eligible for purchase by the CLO, we may be responsible for either holding or disposing of
the loans. This could expose us primarily to credit and/or mark-to-market losses and other risks.
• Hedging Risks. Hedging transactions seeking to reduce risks may result in poorer overall performance than if we had not engaged in such
hedging transactions, and they may also not properly hedge our risks.
• Derivatives Risks. Derivative instruments in which we may invest may be volatile and involve various risks different from, and in certain cases
greater than, the risks presented by more traditional instruments. A small investment in derivatives could have a large potential impact on our
performance, effecting a form of investment leverage on our portfolio. In certain types of derivative transactions, we could lose the entire
amount of our investment; in other types of derivative transactions the potential loss is theoretically unlimited.
• Currency Risk. Although we intend to primarily make investments denominated in U.S. dollars, we may make investments denominated in
other currencies. Our investments denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars will be subject to the risk that the value of such currency
will decrease in relation to the U.S. dollar.
• Risks Related to an Investment in our Securities.
◦

Shares of closed-end management investment companies, including the Company, have in the past frequently traded at discounts to
their net asset values, and as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, have traded at or near historic lows as a result of concerns over
liquidity, leverage restrictions and distribution requirements. We cannot assure you that the market price of shares of our common
stock will not decline below our net asset value per share.

◦

Our common stock price may be volatile and may decrease substantially.

◦

Any amounts that we use to service our preferred dividends, or that we use to redeem our preferred stock, will not be available for
distributions to our common stockholders.

◦

Our common stock is subject to a risk of subordination relative to holders of our debt instruments and holders of our preferred stock.

◦

Holders of our preferred stock have the right to elect two members of our Board of Directors and class voting rights on certain
matters.
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Leverage
We may use leverage to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. We are permitted to obtain leverage using any form of financial leverage instruments,
including funds borrowed from banks or other financial institutions, margin facilities, notes or preferred stock and leverage attributable to reverse
repurchase agreements or similar transactions. Since the completion of our IPO, we have incurred leverage in an amount of approximately 51.6% of our net
assets (as determined immediately before the leverage is incurred), including through the issuance of the Series A Term Preferred Stock in March and April
of 2019 and the issuance of our 6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock due 2023 (the “Series B Term Preferred Stock”) in November of 2020. We currently
anticipate incurring leverage in an amount of approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage for every $1 of equity) over the next twelve
months of operations. With respect to senior securities representing indebtedness (i.e., borrowing or deemed borrowing), other than temporary borrowings
as defined under the 1940 Act, we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 300%, as measured at the time of borrowing and calculated as the
ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior
securities representing indebtedness. With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock, including our Series A Term Preferred
Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock), we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 200%, as measured at the time of the issuance of any
such shares of preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over
the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of
preferred stock. See “Description of Capital Structure — Preferred Stock.”
While we have incurred leverage since the completion of our IPO through the issuance of the Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term
Preferred Stock, and while we anticipate incurring leverage in an amount of approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage for every $1 of
equity) over the next twelve months of operations, we may use leverage opportunistically or not at all and may choose to increase or decrease our leverage
from time to time. We may use different types or combinations of leveraging instruments at any time based on the Advisor’s assessment of market
conditions and the investment environment, including forms of leverage other than preferred stocks and credit facilities. In addition, we may borrow for
temporary, emergency or other purposes as permitted under the 1940 Act, which indebtedness would be in addition to the asset coverage ratios described
above. By leveraging our investment portfolio, we may create an opportunity for increased net income and capital appreciation. However, the use of
leverage also involves significant risks and expenses, which will be borne entirely by our stockholders, and our leverage strategy may not be successful.
For example, the more leverage is employed, the more likely a substantial change will occur in our NAV. Accordingly, any event that adversely affects the
value of an investment would be magnified to the extent leverage is utilized. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Investments — We may leverage
our portfolio, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and will increase the risk of investing in us.”
Operating and Regulatory Structure
We are a non-diversified closed-end management investment company that has registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act. As a
registered closed-end management investment company, we will be required to meet certain regulatory tests. See “Regulation as a Closed-End
Management Investment Company.” In addition, we have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to qualify annually, as a
RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax Matters.”
Conflicts of Interest
Subject to certain 1940 Act restrictions on co-investments with affiliates, OFS Advisor will offer us the right to participate in investment opportunities
that it determines are appropriate for us in view of our investment objective, policies and strategies and other relevant factors. Such offers will be subject to
the exception that, in accordance with OFS Advisor’s allocation policy, we might not participate in each individual opportunity but will, on an overall
basis, be entitled to participate fairly and equitably over time with other entities managed by OFS Advisor and its affiliates.
To the extent that we compete with entities managed by OFS Advisor or any of its affiliates for a particular investment opportunity, OFS Advisor will
allocate investment opportunities across the entities for which such opportunities are appropriate, consistent with (i) its internal allocation policy, (ii) the
requirements of the Advisers Act, and (iii) certain restrictions under the 1940 Act and rules thereunder regarding co-investments with affiliates. OFS
Advisor’s allocation policy is intended to ensure that we may generally share fairly and equitably with other investment funds or other investment vehicles
managed by OFS Advisor or its affiliates in investment opportunities that OFS Advisor determines are appropriate for us in view of our investment
objective, policies and strategies and other relevant factors, particularly those involving a security with limited supply or involving differing classes of
securities of the same issuer that may be suitable for us and such other investment funds or other investment vehicles. Under this allocation policy, if two or
more investment vehicles with similar or overlapping investment strategies are in their investment periods, an available opportunity will be allocated based
on the provisions governing allocations of such investment opportunities in the relevant organizational, offering or similar documents, if any, for such
investment vehicles. In the absence of any such provisions, OFS Advisor will consider the following factors and the weight that should be given with
respect to each of these factors:
• investment guidelines and/or restrictions, if any, set forth in the applicable organizational, offering or similar documents for the investment
vehicles;
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• the status of tax restrictions and tests and other regulatory restrictions and tests;
•

risk and return profile of the investment vehicles;

• suitability/priority of a particular investment for the investment vehicles;
• if applicable, the targeted position size of the investment for the investment vehicles;
• level of available cash for investment with respect to the investment vehicles;
• total amount of funds committed to the investment vehicles; and
• the age of the investment vehicles and the remaining term of their respective investment periods, if any.
When not relying on exemptive relief from the SEC that permits us to co-invest in portfolio companies with certain other funds managed by OFS
Advisor provided we comply with certain conditions (the “Order”), priority as to opportunities will generally be given to clients that are in their “ramp-up”
period, or the period during which the account has yet to reach sufficient scale such that its investment income covers its operating expenses, over the
accounts that are outside their ramp-up period but still within their investment or re-investment periods. However, application of one or more of the factors
listed above, or other factors determined to be relevant or appropriate, may result in the allocation of an investment opportunity to a fund no longer in its
ramp-up period over a fund that is still within its ramp-up period.
In situations where co-investment with such other accounts is not permitted or appropriate, such as when there is an opportunity to invest in different
securities of the same issuer, OFS Advisor will need to decide which account will proceed with the investment. The decision by OFS Advisor to allocate an
opportunity to another entity could cause us to forego an investment opportunity that we otherwise would have made. See “Related-Party Transactions
and Certain Relationships.”
Co-Investment with Affiliates. In certain instances, we may co-invest on a concurrent basis with other accounts managed by the Advisor or certain of
its affiliates, subject to compliance with applicable regulations and regulatory guidance and our written allocation procedures. On August 4, 2020, we
received the Order from the SEC to permit us to co-invest in portfolio companies with certain other funds, including other registered investment companies
and business development companies (“BDCs”), managed by OFS Advisor and certain of its affiliates (the “Affiliated Funds”) in a manner consistent with
our investment objective, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements, subject to compliance with certain conditions.
The Order superseded a previous order that OFS Advisor and certain of the Affiliated Funds received on October 12, 2016, and provides us with greater
flexibility to enter into co-investment transactions with Affiliated Funds. Pursuant to the Order, we are generally permitted to co-invest with Affiliated
Funds if a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the 1940 Act) of our independent directors makes certain conclusions in connection with a
co-investment transaction, including that (1) the terms of the transaction, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable and fair to us and our
stockholders and do not involve overreaching in respect of us or our stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is consistent
with the interests of our stockholders and is consistent with our investment objective and strategies. A copy of our application for exemptive relief,
including all of the conditions, and the related order are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
Conflicts Related to Purchases and Sales. Conflicts may arise when we make an investment in conjunction with an investment being made by another
account managed by OFS Advisor or an affiliate of OFS Advisor (each, an “Affiliated Account”), or in a transaction where an Affiliated Account has
already made an investment. Investment opportunities are, from time to time, appropriate for more than one account in the same, different or overlapping
securities of a portfolio company’s capital structure. Conflicts arise in determining the terms of investments, particularly where these accounts may invest
in different types of securities in a single portfolio company. Questions arise as to whether payment obligations and covenants should be enforced, modified
or waived, or whether debt should be restructured, modified or refinanced.
We may invest in debt and other securities of companies in which Affiliated Accounts hold those same securities or different securities, including
equity securities. In the event that such investments are made by us, our interests will at times conflict with the interests of such Affiliated Accounts,
particularly in circumstances where the underlying company is facing financial distress. Decisions about what action should be taken, particularly in
troubled situations, raise conflicts of interest, including, among other things, whether or not to enforce claims, whether or not to advocate or initiate a
restructuring or liquidation inside or outside of bankruptcy, and the terms of any work-out or restructuring. The involvement of Affiliated Accounts at both
the equity and debt levels could inhibit strategic information exchanges among fellow creditors, including among us or Affiliated Accounts. In certain
circumstances, we or an Affiliated Account may be prohibited from exercising voting or other rights and may be subject to claims by other creditors with
respect to the subordination of their interest.
In the event that we or an Affiliated Account has a controlling or significantly influential position in a portfolio company, that account may have
the ability to elect some or all of the board of directors of such a portfolio company, thereby controlling the policies and operations of such portfolio
company, including the appointment of management, future issuances of securities, payment of dividends, incurrence of debt and entering into
extraordinary transactions. In addition, a controlling account is likely to have the ability to determine, or influence, the outcome of operational matters and
to cause, or prevent, a change in control of such company. Such management and operational decisions may, at times, be in direct conflict with other
accounts that have invested in the same
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portfolio company that do not have the same level of control or influence over the portfolio company.
If additional capital is necessary as a result of financial or other difficulties, or to finance growth or other opportunities, the accounts may or may
not provide such additional capital, and if provided each account will supply such additional capital in such amounts, if any, as determined by OFS Advisor.
In addition, a conflict arises in allocating an investment opportunity if the potential investment target could be acquired by us, an Affiliated Account, or a
portfolio company of an Affiliated Account. Investments by more than one account of OFS Advisor or its affiliates in a portfolio company also raise the
risk of using assets of an account of OFS Advisor or its affiliates to support positions taken by other accounts of OFS Advisor or its affiliates, or that an
account may remain passive in a situation in which it is entitled to vote. In addition, there may be differences in timing of entry into, or exit from, a
portfolio company for reasons such as differences in strategy, existing portfolio or liquidity needs, different account mandates or fund differences, or
different securities being held. These variations in timing may be detrimental to us.
The application of our or an Affiliated Account's governing documents and the policies and procedures of OFS Advisor are expected to vary based
on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each investment by two or more accounts, in particular when those accounts are in different classes of
an issuer’s capital structure (as well as across multiple issuers or borrowers within the same overall capital structure) and, as such, there may be a degree of
variation and potential inconsistencies, in the manner in which potential or actual conflicts are addressed.
Our Structure

Our Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 10 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, IL 60606, and our telephone number is (847) 734-2000. We
maintain a website at www.ofscreditcompany.com. Information contained in our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and you
should not consider that information to be part of this prospectus.
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OFFERINGS
We may offer, from time to time, up to $100 million of our common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights to purchase shares of our common stock
or debt securities, on terms to be determined at the time of the offering. We will offer our securities at prices and on terms to be set forth in one or more
supplements to this prospectus. The offering price per share of our securities, less any underwriting commissions or discounts, generally will not be less
than the net asset value per share of our securities at the time of an offering. However, we may issue shares of our securities pursuant to this prospectus at a
price per share that is less than our net asset value per share (i) in connection with a rights offering to our existing stockholders, (ii) with the prior approval
of the majority (as defined in the 1940 Act) of our common stockholders or (iii) under such other circumstances as the SEC may permit. Any such issuance
of shares of our common stock below net asset value may be dilutive to the net asset value of our common stock. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to
an Investment in our Common Stock.”
Our securities may be offered directly to one or more purchasers, or through agents designated from time to time by us, or to or through underwriters
or dealers. The prospectus supplement relating to an offering will identify any agents or underwriters involved in the sale of our securities, and will disclose
any applicable purchase price, fee, commission or discount arrangement between us and our agents or underwriters or among our underwriters or the basis
upon which such amount may be calculated. See “Plan of Distribution.” We may not sell any of our securities through agents, underwriters or dealers
without delivery of this prospectus and a prospectus supplement describing the method and terms of the offering of such securities.
Set forth below is additional information regarding offerings of our securities:
Listing

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "OCCI".
Our Series A Term Preferred Stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the
symbol "OCCIP".

Use of Proceeds

We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities pursuant to this
prospectus to acquire investments in accordance with our investment objectives and
strategies described in this prospectus and for general working capital purposes. Each
supplement to this prospectus relating to an offering will more fully identify the use
of the proceeds from such offering. See “Use of Proceeds.”
We intend to make regular quarterly distributions in compliance with RIC
requirements and consistent with the goal of maintaining distribution stability and
satisfying the Company’s capital and liquidity needs. See “Distribution Policy” and
“Risk Factors - Our cash distributions to stockholders may change and a portion of
our distributions to stockholders may be a return of capital.”

Distributions

If our distributions exceed our investment company taxable income (“ICTI”) in a tax
year, such excess will represent a return of capital to our stockholders. See “U.S.
Federal Income Tax Matters.” A return of capital distribution will generally not be
taxable to our stockholders. However, a return of capital distribution will reduce a
stockholder’s cost basis in our securities on which the distribution was received,
thereby potentially resulting in a higher reported capital gain or lower reported capital
loss when those securities are sold or otherwise disposed of. Additionally, in order to
maintain a stable level of distributions, we may at times pay out less than all of our
investment income or pay out accumulated undistributed income in addition to
current net investment income. Subject to market conditions, dividend and capital
gains distributions generally are used to purchase additional Shares pursuant to an
automatic distribution reinvestment plan, as summarized below. However, an investor
can choose to receive distributions in cash. Dividend and capital gains distributions
generally are taxable to our stockholders whether they are reinvested in our shares of
common stock or received in cash. See “Distribution Policy” and “Distribution
Reinvestment Plan.”
GAAP earnings are based on the effective yields derived from cash flows from the
CLO securities without regard to timing of income recognition for tax purposes,
which may cause our GAAP earnings to diverge from our ICTI. See “Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Investments - CLO investments involve complex
documentation and accounting considerations.”
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Leverage

Investment Advisory Agreement

We may use leverage to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. We are permitted to
obtain leverage using any form of financial leverage instruments, including funds
borrowed from banks or other financial institutions, margin facilities, notes or
preferred stock and leverage attributable to reverse repurchase agreements or similar
transactions. Since the completion of our IPO, we have incurred leverage in an
amount of approximately 51.6% of our net assets (as determined immediately before
the leverage is incurred. We currently anticipate incurring leverage in an amount of
approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage for every $1 of equity)
over the next twelve months of operations. We may further increase our leverage
through entry into a credit facility or other leveraging instruments. Instruments that
create leverage are generally considered to be senior securities under the 1940 Act.
With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock,
including our Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock), we
are required to have an asset coverage of at least 200%, as measured at the time of the
issuance of any such shares of preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total
assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over
the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness
plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of preferred stock.
With respect to senior securities representing indebtedness (i.e., borrowing or deemed
borrowing), other than temporary borrowings as defined under the 1940 Act, we are
required to have an asset coverage of at least 300%, as measured at the time of
borrowing and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and
indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our
outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness.
The Advisor manages our investments, subject to the supervision of the Board,
pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement. Under the Investment Advisory
Agreement, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the
performance of its duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and
obligations, the Advisor and its related persons are entitled to indemnification from us
for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses arising from the services rendered by
the Advisor under the Investment Advisory Agreement or otherwise as our
investment adviser. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board’s approval of the
Investment Advisory Agreement is available in our annual report.
Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement
will remain in effect if approved annually by our Board or by the affirmative vote of
the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities, including, in either
case, approval by a majority of our Directors who are not “interested persons” of any
party to such agreement, as such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act.
The Investment Advisory Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of its
assignment. The Investment Advisory Agreement may also be terminated by us
without penalty upon not less than 60 days’ written notice to the Advisor and by the
Advisor upon not less than 60 days’ written notice to us. See
“Management — Management and Other Agreements — Investment Advisory
Agreement.”

13

Management Fee and Incentive Fee

We pay the Advisor a fee for its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement
consisting of two components - a base management fee and an incentive fee.
Base management fee. The base management fee is calculated and payable quarterly
in arrears and equals an annual rate of 1.75% of our “Total Equity Base.” “Total
Equity Base” is defined as the NAV of shares of our common stock and the paid-in
capital of our preferred stock, if any. The base management fee is paid by our holders
of common stock and is not paid by holders of preferred stock, if any, or the holders
of any other types of securities that we may issue. Because no part of the base
management fee is based on funds borrowed by us, the base management fee will not
increase when we borrow funds. However, the base management fee will increase if
we issue preferred stock.
Incentive fee. The incentive fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears and
equals 20% of our “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income” for the immediately
preceding quarter, subject to a preferred return, or “hurdle,” of 2.00% of our NAV
(8.00% annualized) and a “catch up” feature. The amount of the incentive fee is not
affected by any realized or unrealized losses that we may suffer. See
“Management - Management Fee and Incentive Fee.” No incentive fee is payable to
the Advisor on capital gains, whether realized or unrealized.
OFS Advisor agreed to waive certain fees in connection with the IPO. For the period
from October 10, 2018 (the consummation of our IPO) to January 31, 2019, OFS
Advisor irrevocably waived the base management fee, without recourse against or
reimbursement by the Company. For the period from October 10, 2018 (the
consummation of our IPO) to October 31, 2018, OFS Advisor irrevocably waived the
incentive fee, without recourse against or reimbursement by the Company. See
“Management — Management Fee and Incentive Fee.”

Other Expenses

The investment team of the Advisor, when and to the extent engaged in providing
investment advisory and management services, and the compensation and routine
overhead expenses of such personnel allocable to such services, are provided and paid
for by OFS Capital Management, LLC. We bear all other costs and expenses of our
operations and transactions. See “Fees and Expenses.”

Administration Agreement

OFS Services, an affiliate of OFS Advisor, provides the administrative services
necessary for us to operate. OFS Services furnishes us with office facilities and
equipment, necessary software licenses and subscriptions and clerical, bookkeeping
and record keeping services at such facilities. OFS Services performs, or oversees the
performance of, our required administrative services, which include being responsible
for the financial records that we are required to maintain and preparing reports to
stockholders and all other reports and materials required to be filed with the SEC or
any other regulatory authority. In addition, OFS Services assists us in determining and
publishing our NAV, oversees the preparation and filing of our tax returns and the
printing and dissemination of reports to our stockholders, and generally oversees the
payment of our expenses and the performance of administrative and professional
services rendered to us by others. OFS Services may retain third parties to assist in
providing administrative services to us. To the extent that OFS Services outsources
any of its functions, we pay the fees associated with such functions at cost without
incremental profit to OFS Services. See “Related-Party Transactions and Certain
Relationships — Administration Agreement.”
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License Agreement

We have entered into a trademark license agreement with the Advisor, which we refer
to as the “License Agreement,” pursuant to which the Advisor has agreed to grant us
a non-exclusive license to use the “OFS” name and logo. See “Related-Party
Transactions and Certain Relationships — License Agreement.”

Taxation

We have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to
qualify annually as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, we generally
will not be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or
capital gains that we receive from our portfolio investments and timely distribute to
our holders of our common stock. To qualify as a RIC and maintain our RIC
treatment, we must meet specific source-of-income and asset diversification
requirements and distribute in each of our taxable years at least 90% of the sum of our
investment company taxable income (“ICTI”), which is generally net ordinary taxable
income plus our net realized short-term capital gains in excess of net realized longterm capital losses and net tax-exempt interest, if any, to holders of our preferred and
common stock. If, in any year, we fail to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC under U.S.
federal income tax laws, we would be taxed as an ordinary corporation. In such
circumstances, we could be required to recognize unrealized net built-in gains, pay
substantial taxes and make substantial distributions before re-qualifying for tax
treatment as a RIC. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax Matters.”

Available Information

We are required to file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with
the SEC. This information is available on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.
This information is also available free of charge by contacting us at OFS Credit
Company, Inc., Attention: Investor Relations, by telephone at 1 (847) 734-2000, or on
our website at www.ofscreditcompany.com.
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FEES AND EXPENSES
The following table is intended to assist you in understanding the costs and expenses that you will bear directly or indirectly as a stockholder. The
expenses shown in the table under “Estimated Annual Expenses” are based on estimated amounts for the next twelve months of operations. The following
table should not be considered a representation of our future expenses. Actual expenses may be greater or less than shown.
Stockholder Transaction Expenses (as a percentage of the offering price)
—

Sales load(1)

—

Offering expenses borne by the Company(2)
Distribution reinvestment plan expenses(3)

$15.00
—

Total stockholder transaction expenses
Estimated Annual Expenses (as a percentage of net assets attributable to common stock):
Base management fee(4)

2.70 %

Incentive fees payable under our investment advisory agreement (20% of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, subject to
hurdle)(5)

2.45 %

(6)

Interest payments on borrowed funds

4.04 %

(7)

Other expenses

4.89 %
(8)

Total annual expenses

14.08 %

(1) In the event that the securities to which this prospectus relates are sold to or through underwriters, a corresponding prospectus supplement will
disclose the applicable sales load and the "Example" below will be updated accordingly.
(2) The prospectus supplement corresponding to each offering will disclose the applicable offering expenses and total stockholder transaction expenses as
a percentage of the offering price.
(3) The expenses of the DRIP are included in “other expenses.” The plan administrator’s fees are paid by us. There are no brokerage charges or other
charges to stockholders who participate in the plan except that, if a participant elects by written notice to the plan administrator to have the plan
administrator sell part or all of the shares held by the plan administrator in the participant’s account and remit the proceeds to the participant, the plan
administrator is authorized to deduct a $15.00 transaction fee plus a $0.10 per share brokerage commission from the proceeds. See “Distribution
Reinvestment Plan.”
(4) Assumes leverage projected to be incurred as of April 30, 2021 in the amount of 51.6% of net assets. We have agreed to pay the Advisor as
compensation under the Investment Advisory Agreement a base management fee at an annual rate of 1.75% of our Total Equity Base, which means the
NAV of shares of our common stock and the paid-in capital of our preferred stock, if any. These management fees are paid by our stockholders and are
not paid by the holders of preferred stock, or the holders of any other types of securities that we may issue. See “Management — Management Fee
and Incentive Fee.”
(5) We have agreed to pay the Advisor as compensation under the Investment Advisory Agreement a quarterly incentive fee equal to 20% of our “PreIncentive Fee Net Investment Income” for the immediately preceding quarter, subject to a quarterly preferred return, or hurdle, of 2.00% of our NAV
(8.00% annualized) and a catch-up feature. Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income includes accrued income that we have not yet received in cash.
No incentive fee is payable to the Advisor on realized capital gains. The incentive fee is paid to the Advisor as follows:
•

no incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income does not exceed the hurdle of 2.00% of our NAV;

•

100% of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income with respect to that portion of such Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any, that
exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter (10.00% annualized). We refer to this portion of our Pre-Incentive
Fee Net Investment Income (which exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of our NAV) as the “catch-up.” The “catch-up” is meant to provide
the Advisor with 20% of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income as if a hurdle did not apply if Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
meets or exceeds 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter; and

•

20% of the amount of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any, that exceeds 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter (10.00%
annualized) is payable to the Advisor (that is, once the hurdle is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20% of all Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment
Income thereafter is paid to the Advisor).

Incentive fees in the table above are based on expected portfolio yields as of April 30, 2021. Actual portfolio returns may differ, which directly impact
incentive fees. See “Management — Management Fee and Incentive Fee.”
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(6) "Interest payments on borrowed funds" represents dividends payable on our $21.3 million of Series A Term Preferred Stock outstanding with a
preferred rate equal to 6.875% per annum, and dividends payable on our $3.0 million of Series B Term Preferred Stock outstanding with a preferred
rate equal to 6.6% per annum, including underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses. We may incur, directly or indirectly, through one
or more special purpose vehicles, indebtedness for borrowed money, as well as leverage in the form of preferred stock and other structures and
instruments, in significant amounts and on terms that the Advisor and our Board deem appropriate, subject to applicable limitations under the 1940
Act. Any such borrowings do not include embedded or inherent leverage in CLO structures in which we invest or intend to invest or in derivative
instruments in which we may invest.
(7) "Other expenses" are estimated for the projected expenses for the quarter ended April 30, 2021, annualized.
(8) “Total annual expenses” is presented as a percentage of net assets attributable to common stockholders, because the holders of shares of our common
stock will bear all of our fees and expenses, all of which are included in this fee table presentation. The indirect expenses that will be associated
with our CLO equity investments are not included in the fee table presentation, but if such expenses were included in the fee table
presentation then our total annual expenses would have been 25.14%.
Example
The following example, required by the SEC, demonstrates the projected dollar amount of total cumulative expenses that would be incurred over various
periods with respect to a hypothetical investment in us. In calculating the following expense amounts, we assumed we would maintain the current amount
of leverage and that our operating expenses would remain at the levels set forth in the table above.
1 Year

You would pay the following expenses on a $1,000 investment, assuming a 5% annual
return

$112

3 Year

$315

5 Year

$492

10 Year

$843

* The example should not be considered a representation of future returns or expenses, and actual returns and expenses may be greater or less
than those shown. While the example assumes, as required by the SEC, a 5.0% annual return, our performance will vary and may result in a return
greater or less than 5.0%. The incentive fee under the Investment Advisory Agreement, assuming a 5.0% annual return, would either not be payable or
would have an insignificant impact on the expense amounts shown above, and is therefore not included in the example. Also, while the example
assumes reinvestment of all dividends at net asset value, participants in our dividend reinvestment plan will receive a number of shares of our common
stock, determined by dividing the total dollar amount of the dividend payable to a participant by the market price per share of our common stock at the
close of trading on the dividend payment date, which may be at, above or below net asset value. See “Dividend Reinvestment Plan” for additional
information regarding our dividend reinvestment plan.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Highlights
The financial highlights table is intended to help you understand our financial performance. The financial highlights for the years ended October 31, 2020
and October 31, 2019, and for the period from October 10, 2018 (commencement of our operations) to October 31, 2018, have been audited by KPMG
LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. Historical data is not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. The
data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes thereto included in this prospectus.

Per share data:
Net asset value per share at beginning of period
Distributions:
Distributions from net investment income (9)
Distributions from return of capital (9)
Total distributions
Net investment income (7)
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments (7)
Net increase (decrease) from operations
Issuance of common stock(8)
Net asset value per share at end of period
Per share market value, end of period
Total return based on market value (1)
Total return based on net asset value (2)
Shares outstanding at end of period
Weighted average shares outstanding
Ratio/Supplemental Data
Average net asset value
Net asset value at end of period
Ratio of total operating expenses to average net assets (4)(6)
Ratio of net investment income to average net assets (5)(6)
Portfolio turnover (3)
Asset coverage of preferred stock

Year Ended October
31, 2020

Year Ended October
31, 2019

$

14.98

$

20.11

$

(1.19)
(0.88)
(2.07)
1.58
(2.71)
(1.13)
(0.20)
11.58

$

—
(2.12)
(2.12)
1.66
(4.69)
(3.03)
0.02
14.98

Period from October
10 (commencement)
through October 31,
2018
$

20.00

$

—
—
—
0.08
0.03
0.11
—
20.11

$

9.83
$
(29.07)%
(5.68)%
3,580,663
3,237,905

16.91
$
1.84 %
(15.75)%
3,061,858
2,601,037

18.78
(6.10)%
0.55 %
2,505,000
2,505,000

$
$

43,665,458
$
41,475,608
$
13.65 %
11.70 %
8.60 %
294.6 %

48,120,908
$
45,855,308
$
9.41 %
9.00 %
28.80 %
315.1 %

50,243,254
50,386,507
4.42 %
7.17 %
5.10 %
—%

(1) Total return based on market value is calculated assuming shares of common stock were purchased at the market price at the beginning of the period,
distributions were reinvested at a price obtained in the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, and shares were sold at the closing market price on the
last day of the period. Total return is not annualized for a period of less than one year.
(2) Total return based on net asset value is calculated assuming shares of common stock were purchased at the net asset value at the beginning of the
period, distributions were reinvested at a price obtained in the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, and shares were sold at the ending net asset
value on the last day of the period. Total return is not annualized for a period of less than one year.
(3) Portfolio turnover rate is calculated using the lesser of period-to-date sales and distributions from portfolio investments or period-to-date purchases
over the average of the invested assets at fair value.
(4) Ratio of total expenses before management fee waiver to average net assets was 13.65%, 9.87% and 6.17% for the year ended October 31, 2020,
October 31, 2019 and period ended October 31, 2018, respectively.
(5) Ratio of net investment income before management fee waiver to average net assets was 11.70%, 8.54% and 5.42% for the year ended October 31,
2020, October 31, 2019 and period ended October 31, 2018, respectively.
(6) Annualized for periods less than one year.
(7) Calculated on the average share method.
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(8) The issuance of common stock on a per share basis reflects the incremental net asset value change as a result of the issuance of shares of common
stock under the equity distribution agreement, the issuance of shares of common stock in the Company's August 2019 rights offering, the issuance of
shares of common stock as common stock distributions, and the anti-dilutive (dilutive) impact from changes in weighted-average shares outstanding
during the period.
(9) The information provided for the year ended October 31, 2020 is based on the Company's estimate of taxable income. The final tax character of the
Company's earnings cannot be determined until the end of the calendar year and may vary from these estimates.
The following table presents the aggregate outstanding borrowings and asset coverage per unit as of October 31, 2020, October 31, 2019 and October 31,
2018:
Involuntary
Asset
Liquidation
Total Amount
Asset Coverage Coverage Per
Preference Per Average Market
Class and Year
Outstanding
Per $1,000(1)
Unit(2)
Unit(3)
Value Per Unit(4)
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock
October 31, 2020
$
21,316,500 $
2,946 $
73.64 $
25.00 $
23.72
October 31, 2019
21,316,500
3,151
78.78
25.00
25.46
October 31, 2018
—
—
—
—
—
(1) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not
represented by senior securities, divided by the class of senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by $1,000 to
determine the “Asset Coverage Per $1,000.”
(2) The Asset Coverage Per Unit is expressed in terms of a ratio per share of outstanding Series A Term Preferred Stock. When expressing in terms of
dollar amounts per share, the asset coverage ratio is multiplied by the involuntary liquidation preference per unit of $25.
(3) The amount to which such class of senior security would be entitled upon the involuntary liquidation of the issuer in preference to any security junior to
it.
(4) Average market value per unit for the Series A Term Preferred Stock represents the average of the daily closing prices as reported on the Nasdaq Capital
Market during the period presented.
Recent Developments
Board of Directors
On January 8, 2021, the Board of Directors appointed Catherine M. Fitta as a director to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci
on December 22, 2020. Additionally, Catherine M. Fitta was appointed to the Company's audit committee, and compensation committee and as chair of the
nominating and corporate governance committee.
January 2021 Financial Update
On February 17, 2021, we announced that management’s unaudited estimate of the range of our NAV per share of our common stock as of January 31,
2021 is between $14.09 and $14.19. This estimate is not a comprehensive statement of our financial condition or results for the month ended January 31,
2021. This estimate did not undergo the Company’s typical quarter-end financial closing procedures and was not approved by the Company’s board of
directors. We advise you that our NAV per share as of January 31, 2021, which will be reported in our monthly report on Form N-PORT, may differ
materially from this estimate.
We believe that the COVID-19 pandemic presents material uncertainty and risks with respect to the underlying value of the Company’s investments,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Further, the operational and financial performance of the Company has been, and may continue to
be, significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which in turn has, and may continue to have, an impact the valuation of the Company’s
investments. As a result, the fair value of the Company’s portfolio investments may be materially impacted after January 31, 2021 by circumstances and
events that are not yet known. To the extent the Company’s portfolio investments are further adversely impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Company may experience a material adverse impact on its future net investment income, the fair value of its portfolio investments, its financial
condition and the financial condition of its portfolio investments.
The preliminary financial data included in this January 2021 Financial update has been prepared by, and is the responsibility of, OFS Credit’s management.
KPMG LLP has not audited, reviewed, compiled, or applied agreed-upon procedures with respect to the preliminary financial data. Accordingly, KPMG
LLP does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto.
Series B Term Preferred Stock Offering
On November 19, 2020, we issued through a private placement 120,000 shares of our 6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock at a price of $24.40625 per
share, raising approximately $2.9 million in gross proceeds. The offering was consummated pursuant to the terms of
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a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) dated November 19, 2020 by and between the Company and the purchaser named therein (the
“Purchaser”). The Purchase Agreement provided for the Series B Term Preferred Stock to be issued to the Purchaser in a private placement in reliance on
an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof and Regulation D
thereunder. We relied upon this exemption from registration based in part on representations made by the Purchaser. The Series B Term Preferred Stock has
not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from
registration. We intend to use the net proceeds from the issuance of the Series B Term Preferred Stock to acquire investments in accordance with our
investment objectives and strategies and for general working capital purposes.
Distributions
On February 8, 2021, our board of directors declared the following distribution on common shares.
Record Date
March 23, 2021

Payable Date
April 30, 2021

Distribution Per Common Share (1)
$0.53

(1) The total amount of cash distributed to all stockholders will be limited to 20% of the total distribution to be paid, excluding any cash paid for fractional
shares. The remainder of the distribution (approximately 80%) will be paid in the form of shares of our common stock. The exact distribution of cash
and stock to any given stockholder will be dependent upon his/her election as well as elections of other stockholders, subject to the pro-rata limitation.
On February 8, 2021, our board of directors declared the following distributions on shares of Series A Term Preferred Stock.
Record Date
February 19, 2021
March 24, 2021
April 23, 2021
May 24, 2021
June 23, 2021
July 23, 2021

Payable Date
February 26, 2021
March 31, 2021
April 30, 2021
May 31, 2021
June 30, 2021
July 30, 2021

Distribution Per Preferred Share
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292

On February 8, 2021, our board of directors declared the following distributions on shares of Series B Term Preferred Stock.
Record Date
February 19, 2021
March 24, 2021
April 23, 2021
May 24, 2021
June 23, 2021
July 23, 2021

Payable Date
February 26, 2021
March 31, 2021
April 30, 2021
May 31, 2021
June 30, 2021
July 30, 2021

Distribution Per Preferred Share
$0.1375
$0.1375
$0.1375
$0.1375
$0.1375
$0.1375

On November 30, 2020, our board of directors declared the following distribution on common shares.
Record Date
December 18, 2020

Payable Date
January 29, 2021

Distribution Per Common Share (1)
$0.52

(1) The total amount of cash distributed to all stockholders will be limited to 20% of the total distribution to be paid, excluding any cash paid for fractional
shares. The remainder of the distribution (approximately 80%) will be paid in the form of shares of our common stock. The exact distribution of cash
and stock to any given stockholder will be dependent upon his/her election as well as elections of other stockholders, subject to the pro-rata limitation.
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On November 19, 2020, our board of directors declared the following distributions on shares of Series B Term Preferred Stock.
Record Date
November 23, 2020
December 24, 2020
January 22, 2021

Payable Date
November 30, 2020
December 31, 2020
January 29, 2021

Distribution Per Preferred Share
$0.055
$0.1375
$0.1375

Non-GAAP Financial Measure - Core Net Investment Income
On a supplemental basis, we disclose Core NII, which is a financial measure calculated and presented on a basis of methodology other than in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). Our non-GAAP measures may differ from similar measures used
by other companies, even if similar terms are utilized to identify such measures. This measure is not provided as a substitute for GAAP NII, but in addition
to it. Core NII represents GAAP NII adjusted for net interest cash distributions received on our CLO equity investments. OFS Advisor uses this
information in its internal analysis of results and believes that this information may be informative in determining the quality of the Company's financial
performance, estimating taxable income, identifying trends in its results and providing meaningful period-to-period comparisons.
For GAAP purposes, interest income from investments in the “equity” class securities of CLO vehicles is recognized in accordance with the effective
interest method, which is based on estimated cash flows to the expected redemption of the investments, and the investments' current amortized cost. The
result is an effective yield for the investments which differs from the actual cash received. The effective yield is recognized as an increase to the amortized
cost of the investment, and distributions received are recognized as a reduction in the amortized cost basis. Accordingly, interest income recognized on
CLO equity securities in the GAAP statement of operations differs from the cash distributions received by the Company during the period (referred to
below as “CLO equity adjustments”).
Our measure of Core NII utilizes the interest account waterfall distributions of the underlying CLOs, determined by the underlying CLOs’ trustees in
accordance with the applicable CLO indentures, in lieu of the GAAP measure of effective-yield interest income. Management believes this measure to be
informative of the cash component of taxable income reported to us by the underlying CLOs. However, such taxable income may also include non-cash
components—such as the amortization of premium or discounts on the underlying CLOs’ commercial loans investments and the amortization of deferred
debt issuance costs on the underlying CLOs’ debt obligations—as well as realized capital gains or losses resulting from the underlying CLOs' trading
activities, which are generally retained in the principal account of (i.e., not distributed by) the underlying CLOs and will be impacted by tax attribute carryover (e.g., loss carry-forwards) within the CLO vehicles. Moreover, the taxable income we recognize may also be influenced by differences between our
fiscal year end and the fiscal year end of any of the CLOs in which we invest, the legal form of the CLO vehicles, and other factors.
For the Company to continue to qualify as a regulated investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we are required, among other things, to
distribute annually at least 90% of our investment company taxable income. Thus, management monitors Core NII as an indication of our estimated taxable
income for a reporting period. We can offer no assurance that these estimates will reflect the final amount or tax character of our earnings, which cannot be
determined until we receive tax reports from the underlying CLOs and prepare our tax returns following the close of our fiscal year. We also note that this
non-GAAP measure may not serve as a useful indicator of taxable earnings, particularly during periods of market disruption and volatility, and, as such, our
taxable income may differ materially from our Core NII.
Three Months Ended October 31, 2020
Per Common Share
Amount
Amount
$1,199,112
$0.35
1,589,952
0.47
$2,789,064
$0.82

GAAP Net investment income
CLO equity adjustments
Core Net investment income
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RISK FACTORS
Investing in our securities involves a number of significant risks. In addition to the other information contained in this prospectus, you should consider
carefully the following information before making an investment in our securities. The risks set out below are not the only risks we face, but they are the
principal risks associated with an investment in us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not presently deemed material by us
might also impair our operations and performance. If any of the following events occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected. In such case, our net asset value and the trading price of our securities could decline, and you may lose all or part of your
investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Structure
Our investment portfolio is recorded at fair value, with our Board having final responsibility for overseeing, reviewing and determining, in
accordance with the 1940 Act, the fair value of our investments. As a result, there will be uncertainty as to the value of our portfolio investments.
Under the 1940 Act, we are required to carry our portfolio investments at market value or, if there is no readily available market value, at fair value as
determined by us in accordance with a written valuation policy adopted by our board of directors. The board of directors will have final responsibility for
overseeing, reviewing and determining, in accordance with the 1940 Act, the fair value of our investments. Typically, there is no public market for the type
of investments we intend to target. As a result, we value these securities at least quarterly based on relevant information compiled by the Advisor and thirdparty pricing services (when available), and with the oversight, review and acceptance by our board of directors.
The determination of fair value and, consequently, the amount of unrealized gains and losses in our portfolio, are to a significant degree subjective and
dependent on a valuation process approved and overseen by our board of directors. Certain factors that may be considered in determining the fair value of
our investments include non-binding indicative bids and the number of trades (and the size and timing of each trade) in an investment. Valuation of certain
investments will also be based, in part, upon third party valuation models which take into account various unobservable inputs. Investors should be aware
that the models, information and/or underlying assumptions utilized by us or such models will not always allow us to correctly capture the fair value of an
asset. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of securities that are not publicly traded like those we hold, are inherently uncertain, they may
fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates. Our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have
been used if an active public market for these securities existed. Our determinations of the fair value of our investments have a material impact on our net
earnings through the recording of unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments and may cause our NAV on a given date to understate or overstate,
possibly materially, the value that we may ultimately realize on one or more of our investments. See “Determination of Net Asset Value.”
Our financial condition and results of operations depend on the Advisor’s ability to effectively manage and deploy capital.
Our ability to achieve our investment objectives depends on the Advisor’s ability to effectively manage and deploy capital, which depends, in turn, on
the Advisor’s ability to identify, evaluate and monitor, and our ability to acquire, investments that meet our investment criteria.
Accomplishing our investment objectives on a cost-effective basis is largely a function of the Advisor’s handling of the investment process, its ability
to provide competent, attentive and efficient services and our access to investments offering acceptable terms, either in the primary or secondary markets.
Even if we are able to grow and build upon our investment operations, any failure to manage our growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The results of our operations will depend on many factors, including the availability
of opportunities for investment, readily accessible short and long-term funding alternatives in the financial markets and economic conditions. Furthermore,
if we cannot successfully operate our business or implement our investment policies and strategies as described in this prospectus, it could adversely impact
our ability to pay dividends. In addition, because the trading methods employed by the Advisor on our behalf are proprietary, stockholders will not be able
to determine details of such methods or whether they are being followed.
We are dependent upon the OFS senior professionals for our future success and upon their access to the investment professionals and partners of
OFSAM and its affiliates.
We do not have any internal management capacity or employees. We depend on the diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the OFS senior
professionals to achieve our investment objectives. Our future success will depend, to a significant extent, on the continued service and coordination of the
OFS senior management team, particularly the members of the Senior Investment Team. Each of these individuals is an employee at will of Orchard First
Source Capital, Inc., OFSAM's staffing subsidiary, and is not subject to an employment contract. In addition, we rely on the services of Richard Ressler,
Chairman of the executive committee of OFSAM and Chairman of the Structured Credit Investment Committee of OFS Advisor and Broadly Syndicated
Investment Committee of OFS Advisor pursuant to a consulting agreement with Orchard Capital Corporation. The departure of Mr. Ressler, any
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of the Senior Investment Team, any of the senior managers of OFSAM, or of a significant number of its other investment professionals, could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to achieve our investment objective.
We expect that OFS Advisor will evaluate, negotiate, structure, close and monitor our investments in accordance with the terms of the Investment
Advisory Agreement. We can offer no assurance, however, that OFS senior professionals will continue to provide investment advice to us. If these
individuals do not maintain their existing relationships with OFS and its affiliates and do not develop new relationships with other sources of investment
opportunities, we may not be able to grow our investment portfolio or achieve our investment objective. In addition, individuals with whom the OFS senior
professionals have relationships are not obligated to provide us with investment opportunities. Therefore, we can offer no assurance that such relationships
will generate investment opportunities for us.
The investment committees that oversee our investment activities (the “Advisor Investment Committees”) are provided by OFS Advisor under the
Investment Advisory Agreement. The loss of any member of the Advisor Investment Committees or of other OFS senior professionals could limit our
ability to achieve our investment objective and operate as we anticipate. This could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operation.
We may face increasing competition for investment opportunities.
We may compete for investments with other investment funds (potentially including private equity funds, mezzanine funds and business development
companies), as well as traditional financial services companies, which could include commercial banks, investment banks, finance companies and other
sources of funding. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than us. For
example, some competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that may not be available to us. In addition, some of our
competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments than we have. These characteristics could allow our competitors to consider a
wider variety of investments, establish more relationships and offer better pricing than we are willing to offer to potential sellers. We may lose investment
opportunities if our competitors are willing to pay more for the types of investments that we intend to target. If we are forced to pay more for our
investments, we may not be able to achieve acceptable returns on our investments or may bear substantial risk of capital loss. An increase in the number
and/or the size of our competitors in our target markets could force us to accept less attractive investments. Furthermore, many of our competitors have
greater experience operating under, or are not be subject to, the regulatory restrictions that the 1940 Act imposes on us as a closed-end management
investment company.
The Advisor and the Administrator each has the right to resign on 60 days’ notice, and we may not be able to find a suitable replacement within
that time, resulting in a disruption in our operations that could adversely affect our financial condition, business and results of operations.
The Advisor has the right under the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administrator has the right under the Administration Agreement to resign
at any time upon 60 days’ written notice, whether we have found a replacement or not. If the Advisor or the Administrator resigns, we may not be able to
find a new investment adviser or hire internal management, or find a new administrator, as the case may be, with similar expertise and ability to provide the
same or equivalent services on acceptable terms within 60 days, or at all. If we are unable to do so quickly, our operations are likely to experience a
disruption, our financial condition, business and results of operations, as well as our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and other payments to
securityholders, are likely to be adversely affected and the market price of our securities may decline. In addition, the coordination of our internal
management and investment activities is likely to suffer if we are unable to identify and reach an agreement with a single institution or group of executives
having the expertise possessed by the Advisor and the Administrator and their affiliates. Even if we are able to retain comparable management and
administration, whether internal or external, the integration of such management and their lack of familiarity with our investment objectives and operations
would likely result in additional costs and time delays that may adversely affect our financial condition, business and results of operations.
Our success will depend on the ability of the Advisor to attract and retain qualified personnel in a competitive environment.
Our growth will require that the Advisor retain and attract new investment and administrative personnel in a competitive market. The Advisor’s ability
to attract and retain personnel with the requisite credentials, experience and skills will depend on several factors including, but not limited to, its ability to
offer competitive wages, benefits and professional growth opportunities. Many of the entities, including investment funds (such as private equity funds,
mezzanine funds and business development companies) and traditional financial services companies, with which it will compete for experienced personnel
will have greater resources than the Advisor will have.
There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment returns.
Our executive officers and directors, and the Advisor and its officers and employees made available to it by an intercompany agreement with OFSAM,
including the Senior Investment Team, have several conflicts of interest as a result of the other activities in which they engage. For example, the members
of the Advisor’s investment team are and may in the future become affiliated with entities engaged in business activities similar to those we intend to
conduct, and may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time. Moreover, each member of the Senior Investment Team is engaged in other business
activities which divert their time and attention. The professional staff available to the Advisor will devote as much time to us as such professionals deem
appropriate to perform their
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duties in accordance with the Investment Advisory Agreement. However, such persons may be committed to providing investment advisory and other
services for other clients, including separately managed accounts and private funds, and engage in other business ventures in which we have no interest. As
a result of these separate business activities, the Advisor may have conflicts of interest in allocating management time, services and functions among us,
other advisory clients and other business ventures. See “Related-Party Transactions and Certain Relationships”
Our incentive fee structure may incentivize the Advisor to pursue speculative investments, use leverage when it may be unwise to do so, refrain
from de-levering when it would otherwise be appropriate to do so, or include optimistic assumptions in the determination of net investment income.
The incentive fee payable by us to the Advisor may create an incentive for the Advisor to pursue investments on our behalf that are riskier or more
speculative than would be the case in the absence of such compensation arrangement. Such a practice could result in our investing in more speculative
securities than would otherwise be the case, which could result in higher investment losses, particularly during economic downturns. The incentive fee
payable to the Advisor is based on our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, as calculated in accordance with our Investment Advisory Agreement.
This may encourage the Advisor to use leverage to increase the return on our investments, even when it may not be appropriate to do so, and to refrain from
de-levering when it may otherwise be appropriate to do so. Under certain circumstances, the use of leverage may increase the likelihood of default, which
would impair the value of our securities. Additionally, we will recognize interest income on our CLO equity tranche investments based in substantial part
on management's multi-year assumptions regarding cash flows derived from such investments. As a result, management's assumptions regarding cash flows
from our investments will have an impact on the amount of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income we recognize for a given period. This may encourage
the Advisor to select assumptions more optimistic than actually achievable given economic conditions and circumstances. See “— Risks Related to Our
Investments — We may leverage our portfolio, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and will increase the risk of
investing in us” and “— CLO investments involve complex documentation and accounting considerations.”
A general increase in interest rates may have the effect of making it easier for the Advisor to receive incentive fees, without necessarily resulting in
an increase in our net earnings.
Given the structure of our Investment Advisory Agreement with OFS Advisor, any general increase in interest rates will likely have the effect of
making it easier for the Advisor to meet the quarterly hurdle rate for payment of income incentive fees under the Investment Advisory Agreement without
any additional increase in relative performance on the part of the Advisor. In the current rising interest rate environment, this risk may increase as interest
rates continue to rise. In addition, in view of the catch-up provision applicable to income incentive fees under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the
Advisor could potentially receive a significant portion of the increase in our investment income attributable to such a general increase in interest rates. If
that were to occur, our increase in net earnings, if any, would likely be significantly smaller than the relative increase in the Advisor’s income incentive fee
resulting from such a general increase in interest rates.
We may be obligated to pay the Advisor incentive compensation even if we incur a loss.
The Advisor is entitled to incentive compensation for each fiscal quarter based, in part, on our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any, for the
immediately preceding calendar quarter above a performance threshold for that quarter. Accordingly, since the performance threshold is based on a
percentage of our NAV, decreases in our NAV make it easier to achieve the performance threshold, and we may be required to pay the Advisor incentive
compensation for a fiscal quarter even if there is a decline in the value of our portfolio.
We may pay an incentive fee on income we do not receive in cash.
The part of the incentive fee payable to OFS Advisor that relates to our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income is computed and paid on income that
may include interest income that has been accrued but not yet received in cash. This fee structure may be considered to involve a conflict of interest for
OFS Advisor to the extent that it may encourage OFS Advisor to favor debt financings that provide for deferred interest, rather than current cash payments
of interest. OFS Advisor may have an incentive to invest in deferred interest securities in circumstances where it would not have done so but for the
opportunity to continue to earn the incentive fee even when the issuers of the deferred interest securities would not be able to make actual cash payments to
us on such securities. This risk could be increased because OFS Advisor is not obligated to reimburse us for any incentive fees received even if we
subsequently incur losses or never receive in cash the deferred income that was previously accrued.
The Advisor’s liability is limited under the Investment Advisory Agreement, and we have agreed to indemnify the Advisor against certain liabilities,
which may lead the Advisor to act in a riskier manner on our behalf than it would when acting for its own account.
Under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Advisor does not assume any responsibility to us other than to render the services called for under the
Investment Advisory Agreement, and it is not responsible for any action of our Board in following or declining to follow the Advisor’s advice or
recommendations. The Advisor maintains a contractual and fiduciary relationship with us. Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the
Advisor, its officers, managers, members, agents, employees and other affiliates are not be liable to us for acts or omissions performed in accordance with
and pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, except
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those resulting from acts constituting willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the Advisor’s duties under the Investment
Advisory Agreement. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify the Advisor and each of its officers, managers, members, agents, employees and other
affiliates from and against all damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees and other amounts reasonably paid in settlement)
incurred by such persons arising out of or based on performance by the Advisor of its obligations under the Investment Advisory Agreement, except where
attributable to willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the Advisor’s duties under the Investment Advisory Agreement.
These protections may lead the Advisor to act in a riskier manner when acting on our behalf than it would when acting for its own account.
The Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement were not negotiated on an arm’s length basis and may not be as favorable
to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.
The Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement were negotiated between related parties. Consequently, their terms, including
fees payable to the Advisor, may not be as favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.
We may not replicate the historical results achieved by OFSAM or other entities managed or sponsored by OFSAM and its other affiliates.
Our primary focus in making investments may differ from OFSAM’s other proprietary investments or the investments of other investment funds,
accounts or other investment vehicles that are or have been managed by OFSAM or its other affiliates. Although OFSAM’s historical concentration has
been investments in debt securities, we intend to pursue an investment strategy that will focus primarily on investments in CLO securities. Because our
investment strategy is different from that of other entities managed by OFSAM, and we cannot assure you that we will replicate the historical results
achieved by OFSAM or its other affiliates, we caution you that our investment returns could be substantially lower than the returns achieved by them in
prior periods. Additionally, current or future market volatility and regulatory uncertainty that is distinct to investments included in our investment strategy
may have an adverse impact on our future performance.
We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results.
We could experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results due to a number of factors, including our ability or inability to make investments
that meet our investment criteria, the interest and other income earned on our investments, the level of our expenses (including the interest or dividend rate
payable on the debt securities or preferred stock we issue), variations in and the timing of the recognition of realized and unrealized gains or losses, the
degree to which we encounter competition in our markets and general economic conditions, such as the market volatility resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic. As a result of these factors, our results for any period should not be relied upon as being indicative of our results in future periods.
Our Board may change our operating policies and strategies without stockholder approval, the effects of which may be adverse.
Our Board has the authority to modify or waive our current operating policies, investment criteria and strategies, other than those that we have deemed
to be fundamental, without prior stockholder approval. We cannot predict the effect any changes to our current operating policies, investment criteria and
strategies would have on our business, NAV, operating results and value of our securities. However, the effects of any such changes could adversely impact
our ability to pay distributions and cause you to lose all or part of your investment.
We will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax if we are unable to maintain our tax treatment as a RIC.
We have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to qualify annually, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, but no
assurance can be given that we will be able to maintain our RIC status. As a RIC, we will not be required to pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes
on our income and capital gains that we timely distribute (or that we are deemed to distribute) to our stockholders.
To maintain RIC status under the Code and to be relieved of U.S. federal income taxes on income and gains distributed to our stockholders, we must
meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification and distribution requirements. The source-of-income requirement will be satisfied if we obtain at
least 90% of our gross income for each year from dividends, interest, gains from the sale of securities or similar sources. The asset diversification
requirement will be satisfied if we meet certain asset composition requirements at the end of each calendar quarter. Failure to meet those requirements may
result in our having to dispose of certain investments quickly in order to prevent the loss of RIC status. Because most of our investments are expected to be
in CLO securities for which there will likely be no active public market, any such dispositions could be made at disadvantageous prices and could result in
substantial losses.
We must also meet an annual distribution requirement to qualify for RIC tax treatment. The distribution requirement for a RIC will be satisfied if we
timely distribute at least 90% of our ICTI to our stockholders on an annual basis (the “Annual Distribution Requirement”). We will be subject, to the extent
we use debt financing or preferred stock, to certain asset coverage ratio requirements under the 1940 Act and financial covenants under loan and credit
agreements that could, under certain circumstances, restrict us from making distributions necessary to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC. If we are unable to
obtain cash from other sources, we could fail

25

to maintain our qualification for the tax benefits available to RICs and, thus, become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax.
If we fail to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC for any reason and become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax, the resulting corporate
taxes could substantially reduce our net assets, the amount of income available for distribution to stockholders and the amount of our distributions and the
amount of funds available for new investments.
U.S. tax reform could have a negative impact on our business and on our stockholders.
Legislative or other actions relating to taxes could have a negative effect on us or our stockholders. The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation
are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service, or “IRS,” and the U.S. Treasury
Department. U.S. federal tax reform legislation enacted in December 2017 made many changes to the Code, including provisions that significantly change
the taxation of business entities, the circumstances in which a foreign corporation will be treated as a “controlled foreign corporation”, the deductibility of
interest expense, and the tax treatment of capital investment. We cannot predict with certainty how any changes in the tax laws might affect us, our
stockholders or our investments. New legislation and any U.S. Treasury regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions interpreting such
legislation could significantly and negatively affect our ability to qualify for tax treatment as a RIC or the U.S. federal income tax consequences to us and
our stockholders of such qualification, or could have other adverse consequences. Investors are urged to consult with their tax advisor with respect to the
status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our common stock.
There is a risk that holders of our equity securities may not receive distributions or that our distributions may not grow or may be reduced over
time.
We intend to make distributions on a quarterly basis, payable monthly, to holders of our common stock out of assets legally available for distribution.
We cannot assure you that we will achieve investment results that will allow us to make a specified level of cash distributions or year-to-year increases in
cash distributions. In addition, due to the asset coverage test applicable to us as a registered closed-end management investment company, we may be
limited in our ability to make distributions.
We may choose to pay distributions in our own common stock, in which case, our stockholders may be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes in
excess of the cash distributions they receive.
We have declared, and may in the future declare, taxable dividends that are payable to our stockholders in cash or in shares of our common stock at the
election of stockholders subject to a limitation on the total amount of cash that may be distributed. For example, on May 26, 2020, our Board declared
dividends of $0.52 per share to stockholders for each of the quarters ending July and October 2020 payable in cash or shares of our common stock at the
election of stockholders subject to a limitation that no more than 10% (relying on the temporary IRS rule that reduced the limitation from 20% to 10% for
distributions declared on or after April 1, 2020, and on or before December 31, 2020) of the total distribution will be payable in cash. Additionally, on
November 30, 2020, our Board declared dividends of $0.52 for the quarter ending January 31, 2020, payable in cash or shares of our common stock at the
election of stockholders subject to a limitation that no more than 20% of the total distribution will be payable in cash. Under certain applicable IRS
guidance, distributions by publicly offered RICs that are payable in cash or in shares of stock at the election of stockholders are treated as taxable
distributions. The IRS has published a revenue procedure indicating that this rule will apply where the total amount of cash to be distributed is limited
provided that the total amount of cash to be distributed is not less than 20% (temporarily reduced to 10% for distributions declared on or after April 1,
2020, and on or before December 31, 2020) of the total distribution. Under this revenue procedure, if too many stockholders elect to receive their
distributions in cash, the cash available for distribution must be allocated among the stockholders electing to receive cash (with the balance of the
distribution paid in stock). In no event will any stockholder electing to receive cash, receive less than the lesser of (a) the portion of the distribution such
stockholder has elected to receive in cash or (b) an amount equal to his, her or its entire distribution times the percentage limitation on cash available for
distribution. If we decide to make any distributions consistent with this revenue procedure that are payable in part in our stock (including our July and
October 2020 distributions previously declared by our Board), taxable stockholders receiving such distributions will be required to include the full amount
of the distribution (whether received in cash, our stock, or a combination thereof) as ordinary income (or as long-term capital gain to the extent such
distribution is properly reported as a capital gain distribution) to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. As a result, a U.S. stockholder may be required to pay tax with respect to such distributions in excess of any cash received. If a U.S. stockholder
sells the stock it receives as a distribution in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to the
distribution, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale. Furthermore, with respect to non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to
withhold U.S. tax with respect to such distributions, including in respect of all or a portion of such distribution that is payable in stock. In addition, if a
significant number of our stockholders determine to sell shares of our stock in order to pay taxes owed on distributions, it may put downward pressure on
the trading price of our stock.
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Due to the COVID-19 pandemic or other disruptions in the economy, we may reduce, defer or eliminate our dividends and choose to incur US federal
excise tax in order preserve cash and maintain flexibility.
As a registered closed-end investment company, we are not required to make any distributions to stockholders other than in connection with our election to
be taxed as a RIC under subchapter M of the Code. In order to maintain our tax treatment as a RIC, we must timely distribute to stockholders for each
taxable year at least 90% of our investment company taxable income (i.e., net ordinary income plus realized net short-term capital gains in excess of
realized net long-term capital losses). If we qualify for taxation as a RIC, we generally will not be subject to corporate-level US federal income tax on our
investment company taxable income and net capital gains (i.e., realized net long-term capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses) that
we timely distribute to stockholders. We will be subject to a nondeductible 4% US federal excise tax on undistributed earnings of a RIC unless we
distribute each calendar year at least the sum of (i) 98.0% of our ordinary income for the calendar year, (ii) 98.2% of our capital gains in excess of capital
losses for the one-year period ending on October 31 of the calendar year, and (iii) any ordinary income and net capital gains that we recognized in
preceding years, but were not distributed during such years, and on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax.
Under the Code, we may satisfy certain of our RIC distribution requirements with dividends paid after the end of our current taxable year, which ends
October 31. In particular, under the Code, we may pay dividends, referred to as “spillover dividends,” that are paid during the following taxable year that
will allow us to maintain our qualification for taxation as a RIC and eliminate our liability for corporate-level U.S. federal income tax. Under these
spillover dividend procedures, we may defer distribution of income earned during the current taxable year for a 12-month period following the close of
such taxable year. For example, we may defer distributions of income earned during our taxable year ending on October 31, 2020, until as late as October
31, 2021. In addition, if we pay a distribution in January of the following year that was declared in October, November, or December of the current year
and is payable to stockholders of record in the current year, the dividend will be treated for all US federal tax purposes as if it were paid on December 31 of
the current year (a “January Dividend”). If we choose to pay a spillover dividend or a distribution of current-year income after the end of the calendar year
(other than a January Dividend), we will incur the 4% U.S. federal excise tax on some or all of the distribution.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic or other disruptions in the economy, we may take certain actions with respect to the timing and amounts of our
distributions in order to preserve cash and maintain flexibility. For example, we may reduce or eliminate our dividends, or defer our dividends to later in the
year, until after the close of the taxable year, or even to the following calendar year. If we defer our dividends, we may incur the 4% U.S. federal excise tax
on such amounts. To further preserve cash, we may combine these reductions or deferrals of dividends with one or more distributions that are payable
partially in our stock as discussed above under “We may choose to pay distributions in our own common stock, in which case, our stockholders may be
required to pay U.S. federal income taxes in excess of the cash distributions they receive.”
We may have difficulty paying our required distributions if we recognize income before or without receiving cash representing such income.
For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we will include in income certain amounts that we have not yet received in cash, such as original issue discount
or market discount, which may arise if we acquire a debt security at a significant discount to par. Such discounts will be included in income before we
receive any corresponding cash payments. We also may be required to include in income certain other amounts that we will not receive in cash.
Since, in certain cases, we may recognize income before or without receiving cash representing such income, we may have difficulty meeting the
Annual Distribution Requirement necessary to maintain RIC tax treatment under the Code. Accordingly, we may have to sell some of our investments at
times and/or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forego new investment opportunities for this purpose.
If we are not able to obtain cash from other sources, we may fail to qualify for RIC tax treatment and thus become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal
income tax.
Our cash distributions to common stockholders may change and a portion of our distributions to common stockholders may be a return of capital.
The amount of our cash distributions may increase or decrease at the discretion of our Board, based upon its assessment of the amount of cash available
to us for this purpose and other factors. Unless we are able to generate sufficient cash through the successful implementation of our investment strategy, we
may need to reduce the level of our cash distributions in the future. In addition, we may not be able to sustain our current level of distributions even if we
successfully implement our investment strategy. Further, to the extent that the portion of the cash generated from our investments that is recorded as interest
income for U.S. federal income tax reporting purposes is less than the amount of our distributions, all or a portion of one or more of our future
distributions, if declared, may comprise a return of capital. Accordingly, holders of common stock should not assume that the sole source of any of our
distributions is ICTI. Any reduction in the amount of our distributions would reduce the amount of cash received by our holders of common stock and
could have a material adverse effect on the market price of shares of our common stock. See “Risks Related to Our Investments — CLO investments
involve complex documentation and accounting considerations”, “Our investments are subject to
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prepayment risk” and “— Any unrealized losses we experience on our portfolio may be an indication of future realized losses, which could reduce our
income available for distribution or to make payments on our other obligations.”
We will incur significant costs as a result of being a publicly traded company.
As a publicly traded company, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated with
the periodic reporting requirements applicable to a company whose securities are registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
“Exchange Act,” as well as additional corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and other rules
implemented by the SEC.
Because we expect to distribute substantially all of our ordinary income and net realized capital gains to our stockholders, we may need additional
capital to finance the acquisition of new investments and such capital may not be available on favorable terms, or at all.
In order to obtain and maintain our RIC tax treatment, among other things, we are required to timely distribute each taxable year at least 90% of our
ICTI. As a result, these earnings will not be available to fund new investments, and we will need additional capital to fund growth in our investment
portfolio. If we fail to obtain additional capital, we could be forced to curtail or cease new investment activities, which could adversely affect our business,
operations and results.
Events outside of our control, including public health crises, have negatively affected and could continue to negatively affect our CLO investments
and our results of operations.
Periods of market volatility may continue to occur in response to pandemics, such as the global COVID-19 pandemic, or other events outside of our
control. These types of events have adversely affected and will continue to adversely affect the Company's operating results. In December 2019, COVID19, caused by a novel strain of the coronavirus, surfaced in Wuhan, China and continues to spread globally including in the United States. In March 2020,
the outbreak of COVID-19 was recognized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization. Shortly thereafter, the President of the United States declared
a National Emergency throughout the United States attributable to such outbreak. The outbreak has become increasingly widespread in the United States,
including in the markets in which the Company operates. This outbreak has led and for an unknown period of time will continue to lead to disruptions in
local, regional, national and global markets and economies affected thereby, including a recession and a steep increase in unemployment in the United
States. In addition to the COVID-19 pandemic having adverse consequences for us and our investments in CLOs and their underlying collateral, those
investments and their collateral have been, and could continue to be, adversely impacted, including through quarantine measures and imposed travel
restrictions. The full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our results of operations will depend to a large extent on future developments and new
information that may emerge regarding the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and the actions taken by authorities and other entities to contain the
COVID-19 pandemic or treat its impact, all of which are beyond our control. These impacts, the duration of which remains uncertain, have and will
continue to adversely affect the Company's operating results.
While several countries, as well as certain states in the United States, have begun to lift public health restrictions with the view to reopening their
economies, recurring COVID-19 outbreaks have led to the re-introduction of such restrictions in certain states in the United States and globally and could
continue to lead to the re-introduction of such restrictions elsewhere. Health advisors warn that recurring COVID-19 outbreaks will continue if reopening is
pursued too soon or in the wrong manner, which may lead to the re-introduction or continuation of certain public health restrictions (such as instituting
quarantines, prohibitions on travel and the closure of offices, businesses, schools, retail stores and other public venues). Additionally, as of late December
2020, travelers from the United States are not allowed to visit Canada, Australia or the majority of countries in Europe, Asia, Africa and South America.
These continued travel restrictions may prolong the global economic downturn.
In addition, although the Federal Food and Drug Administration authorized vaccines for emergency use starting in December 2020, it remains unclear
how quickly the vaccines will be distributed nationwide and globally or when “herd immunity” will be achieved and the restrictions that were imposed to
slow the spread of the virus will be lifted entirely. The delay in distributing the vaccines could lead people to continue to self-isolate and not participate in
the economy at pre-pandemic levels for a prolonged period of time. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, the U.S. economy and most other major
global economies may continue to experience a recession, and we anticipate our business and operations could be materially adversely affected by a
prolonged recession in the United States and other major markets.
General uncertainty surrounding the dangers and impact of COVID-19 (including the preventative measures taken in response thereto and additional
uncertainty regarding new variants of COVID-19 that have emerged in the U.K., South Africa and Brazil) has to date created significant disruption in
supply chains and economic activity. In addition to adverse United States domestic and global macroeconomic effects, including the adverse impacts on our
investments, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and will continue to cause, a reduction in our ability to access capital through the capital markets, and
has otherwise adversely impacted, and will continue to impact, the operation of our business. Many areas within the United States have imposed mandatory
closures for businesses not deemed to be essential. These effects, individually or in the aggregate, have, and will continue to, adversely impact our
business,
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financial condition, operating results and cash flows and such adverse impacts may be material. Any of the foregoing factors, or other cascading effects of
the COVID-19 pandemic that are not currently foreseeable, will materially increase our costs, negatively impact our investment income and damage our
results of operations and liquidity position, possibly to a significant degree. The duration of any such impacts cannot be predicted.
We have been, and may continue to be, adversely impacted by the outbreak of COVID-19 and a potential worsening of the pandemic.
The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a sharp global slowdown of economic activity resulting in a recession, a steep increase in unemployment in the
U.S., and significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. Health advisors warn that additional surges of the pandemic are possible if reopening or
other responses to the pandemic are pursued too soon or in the wrong manner, which may negatively affect or exacerbate the global economy, the United
States economy and the global financial markets. The pandemic had a significant adverse impact on us in 2020, and is expected to continue to adversely
impact us in 2021. Because the pandemic is unprecedented in recent history, and its severity, duration and future economic consequences are difficult to
predict, we cannot predict its future impact on us with any certainty.
Global economic, political and market conditions may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, including our
revenue growth and profitability.
The current worldwide financial markets situation, as well as various social and political tensions in the United States and around the world, may contribute
to increased market volatility, may have long term effects on the United States and worldwide financial markets, and may cause economic uncertainties or
deterioration in the United States and worldwide. For example, the outbreak in December 2019 of COVID-19 continues to adversely impact global
commercial activity and has contributed to significant volatility in financial markets. We monitor developments and seek to manage our investments in a
manner consistent with achieving our investment objective, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in doing so.
In addition, nationalist movements and policies and uncertainty regarding the policies of the current U.S. presidential administration could lead to further
disruption in the global markets. For example, the current U.S. presidential administration and Congress could adopt legislation that could significantly
affect the regulation of U.S. financial markets or withdraw from or renegotiate various trade agreements and take other actions that would change current
trade policies of the United States. We cannot predict which, if any, of these actions will be taken or, if taken, their effect on the financial stability of the
United States. Such actions could have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot predict the
effects of these or similar events in the future on the U.S. economy and securities markets or on our investments. We monitor developments and seek to
manage our investments in a manner consistent with achieving our investment objective, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in doing
so.
On May 24, 2018, President Trump signed into law the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, which increased from $50
billion to $250 billion the asset threshold for designation of "systemically important financial institutions" or "SIFIs" subject to enhanced prudential
standards set by the Federal Reserve Board, staggering application of this change based on the size and risk of the covered bank holding company. On May
30, 2018, the Federal Reserve Board voted to consider changes to the Volcker Rule that would loosen compliance requirements for all banks. The effect of
this change and any further rules or regulations are and could be complex and far-reaching, and the change and any future laws or regulations or changes
thereto could negatively impact our operations, cash flows or financial condition, impose additional costs on us, intensify the regulatory supervision of us
or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may also be subject to risk arising from a default by one of several large institutions that are dependent on one another to meet their liquidity or
operational needs, so that a default by one institution may cause a series of defaults by the other institutions. This is sometimes referred to as “systemic
risk” and may adversely affect financial intermediaries with which we interact in the conduct of our business.
The United Kingdom referendum decision to leave the European Union may create significant risks and uncertainty for global markets and our
investments.
The decision made in the United Kingdom referendum to leave the European Union has led to volatility in global financial markets, and in particular in the
markets of the United Kingdom and across Europe, and may also lead to weakening in consumer, corporate and financial confidence in the United
Kingdom and Europe. On January 31, 2020, the United Kingdom ended its membership in the European Union. Under the terms of the withdrawal
agreement negotiated and agreed to between the United Kingdom and the European Union, the United Kingdom's departure from the European Union was
followed by a transition period which ran until December 31, 2020 and during which the United Kingdom continued to apply European Union law and was
treated for
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all material purposes as if it were still a member of the European Union. On December 24, 2020, the European Union and United Kingdom governments
signed a trade deal that became provisionally effective on January 1, 2021 and that now governs the relationship between the United Kingdom and the
European Union (the “Trade Agreement”). The Trade Agreement implements significant regulation around trade, transport of goods and travel restrictions
between the United Kingdom and the European Union.
The longer term economic, legal, political and social framework to be put in place between the United Kingdom and the European Union are unclear at this
stage and are likely to lead to ongoing political and economic uncertainty and periods of exacerbated volatility in both the United Kingdom and in wider
European markets for some time. In particular, the decision made in the United Kingdom referendum may lead to a call for similar referenda in other
European jurisdictions which may cause increased economic volatility and uncertainty in the European and global markets. This volatility and uncertainty
may have an adverse effect on the economy generally and on our ability, and the ability of our portfolio companies, to execute our respective strategies and
to receive attractive returns.
In particular, currency volatility may mean that our returns and the returns of our portfolio companies will be adversely affected by market movements and
may make it more difficult, or more expensive, for us to implement appropriate currency hedging. Potential declines in the value of the British Pound
and/or the euro against other currencies, along with the potential downgrading of the United Kingdom’s sovereign credit rating, may also have an impact on
the performance of any of our portfolio companies located in the United Kingdom or Europe.
Capital markets are currently in a period of disruption and instability. Such market conditions have materially and adversely affect debt and equity
capital markets in the United States and abroad, which could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The U.S. capital markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruption following the global outbreak of COVID-19 that began in December 2019.
The global impact of the outbreak is rapidly evolving, and many countries have reacted by instituting quarantines, prohibitions on travel and the closure of
offices, businesses, schools, retail stores and other public venues. Businesses are also implementing similar precautionary measures. Such measures, as well
as the general uncertainty surrounding the dangers and impact of COVID-19, have created significant disruption in economic activity. The impact of
COVID-19 has led to significant volatility and declines in the global public equity markets and it is uncertain how long this volatility will continue. As
COVID-19 continues to spread, the potential impacts, including a global, regional or other economic recession, are increasingly uncertain and difficult to
assess. Some economists and major investment banks have expressed concern that the continued spread of the virus globally could lead to a world-wide
economic downturn.
Disruptions in the capital markets caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have increased the spread between the yields realized on risk-free and higher
risk securities, resulting in illiquidity in parts of the capital markets. These and future market disruptions and/or illiquidity would be expected to have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Unfavorable economic conditions also would be expected to
increase our funding costs, limit our access to the capital markets or result in a decision by lenders not to extend credit to us. These events have limited and
could continue to limit our investment originations, limit our ability to grow and have a material negative impact on our operating results and the fair
values of our debt and equity investments.
Additionally, the recent disruption in economic activity caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may continue to have, a negative effect on
the potential for liquidity events involving our investments. The illiquidity of our investments may make it difficult for us to sell such investments to access
capital if required, and as a result, we could realize significantly less than the value at which we have recorded our investments if we were required to sell
them for liquidity purposes. An inability to raise or access capital, and any required sale of all or a portion of our investments as a result, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Adverse developments in the credit markets may impair our ability to secure debt financing.
In past economic downturns, such as the financial crisis in the United States that began in mid-2007 and during other times of extreme market
volatility, many commercial banks and other financial institutions stopped lending or significantly curtailed their lending activity. In addition, in an effort to
stem losses and reduce their exposure to segments of the economy deemed to be high risk, some financial institutions limited routine refinancing and loan
modification transactions and even reviewed the terms of existing facilities to identify bases for accelerating the maturity of existing lending facilities. If
these conditions recur, for example as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it may be difficult for us to obtain desired financing to finance the growth of our
investments on acceptable economic terms, or at all.
So far, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in, and until fully resolved is likely to continue to result in, among other things, increased draws by
borrowers on revolving lines of credit and increased requests by borrowers for amendments, modifications and

30

waivers of their credit agreements to avoid default or change payment terms, increased defaults by such borrowers and/or increased difficulty in obtaining
refinancing at the maturity dates of their loans. In addition, the duration and effectiveness of responsive measures implemented by governments and central
banks cannot be predicted. The commencement, continuation, or cessation of government and central bank policies and economic stimulus programs,
including changes in monetary policy involving interest rate adjustments or governmental policies, may contribute to the development of or result in an
increase in market volatility, illiquidity and other adverse effects that could negatively impact the credit markets and us.
If we are unable to consummate credit facilities on commercially reasonable terms, our liquidity may be reduced significantly. If we are unable to
repay amounts outstanding under any facility we may enter into and are declared in default or are unable to renew or refinance any such facility, it would
limit our ability to initiate significant originations or to operate our business in the normal course. These situations may arise due to circumstances that we
may be unable to control, such as inaccessibility of the credit markets, a severe decline in the value of the U.S. dollar, a further economic downturn or an
operational problem that affects third parties or us, and could materially damage our business. Moreover, we are unable to predict when economic and
market conditions may become more favorable. Even if such conditions improve broadly and significantly over the long term, adverse conditions in
particular sectors of the financial markets could adversely impact our business.
We are a non-diversified management investment company within the meaning of the 1940 Act, and therefore we are not limited with respect to the
proportion of our assets that may be invested in securities of a single issuer.
We are classified as a non-diversified management investment company within the meaning of the 1940 Act, which means that we are not limited by the
1940 Act with respect to the proportion of our assets that we may invest in securities of a single issuer. We may therefore be more susceptible than a
diversified fund to being adversely affected by any single corporate, economic, political or regulatory occurrence. In particular, because our portfolio of
investments may lack diversification among CLO securities and related investments, we are susceptible to a risk of significant loss if one or more of these
CLO securities and related investments experience a high level of defaults on the collateral that they hold. Beyond our asset diversification requirements as
a RIC under the Code, we do not have fixed guidelines for diversification, and our investments could be concentrated in the securities of relatively few
issuers.
Significant stockholders may control the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders or adversely impact the market price of our securities.
To the extent any stockholder, individually or acting together with other stockholders, controls a significant number of our voting securities or any class
of voting securities, they may have the ability to control the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of
directors and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, and may cause actions to be taken that you may not agree with or that
are not in your interests or those of other securityholders.
This concentration of beneficial ownership also might harm the market price of our securities by:
•

delaying, deferring or preventing a change in corporate control;

•

impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us; or

•

discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

Our ability to enter into transactions with our affiliates is restricted, which may limit the scope of investments available to us.
Registered investment companies generally are prohibited under the 1940 Act from knowingly participating in certain transactions with their affiliates
without the prior approval of their independent directors and, in some cases, of the SEC. Those transactions include purchases and sales, and so-called
“joint” transactions, in which a registered investment company and one or more of its affiliates engage in certain types of profit-making activities. Any
person that owns, directly or indirectly, five percent or more of a registered investment company's outstanding voting securities will be considered an
affiliate of the registered investment company for purposes of the 1940 Act, and a registered investment company generally is prohibited from engaging in
purchases or sales of assets or joint transactions with such affiliates, absent the prior approval of the registered investment company’s independent
directors. Additionally, without the approval of the SEC, a registered investment company is prohibited from engaging in purchases or sales of assets or
joint transactions with the registered investment company’s officers, directors, and employees, and advisor (and its affiliates).
Registered investment companies may, however, invest alongside certain related parties or their respective other clients in certain circumstances where
doing so is consistent with current law and SEC staff interpretations. For example, a registered investment company may invest alongside such accounts
consistent with guidance promulgated by the SEC staff permitting the registered investment company and such other accounts to purchase interests in a
single class of privately placed securities so long as certain conditions are met, including that the registered investment company’s advisor, acting on the
registered investment company’s behalf and on behalf of other clients, negotiates no term other than price. Co-investment with such other accounts is not
permitted or appropriate under this guidance when there is an opportunity to invest in different securities of the same issuer or where the different
investments could be expected to result in a conflict between the registered investment company’s interests and those of other accounts. Moreover, except
in certain circumstances, this guidance does not permit a registered investment company to invest in any issuer in which the advisor or other affiliates has
previously invested.
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On August 4, 2020, we received the Order from the SEC, which superseded our prior co-investment exemptive order issued on October 12, 2016, and
which permits us greater flexibility to enter into co-investment transactions. The Order permits us to co-invest in portfolio companies with certain other
funds managed by OFS Advisor or investment advisers controlling, controlled by, or under common control with OFS Advisor provided we comply with
certain conditions. Pursuant to the Order, we are generally permitted to co-invest with such funds if a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of
the 1940 Act) of our independent directors make certain conclusions in connection with a co-investment transaction, including that (1) the terms of the
transactions, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable and fair to us and our stockholders and do not involve overreaching of us or our
stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is consistent with the interests of our stockholders and is consistent with our
investment objective and strategies.
When we invest alongside OFSAM and its affiliates or their respective other clients, OFS Advisor will, to the extent consistent with applicable law,
regulatory guidance, or the Order, allocate investment opportunities in accordance with its allocation policy. Under this allocation policy, if two or more
investment vehicles with similar or overlapping investment strategies are in their investment periods, an available opportunity will be allocated based on
the provisions governing allocations of such investment opportunities in the relevant organizational, offering or similar documents, if any, for such
investment vehicles. In the absence of any such provisions, OFS Advisor will consider the following factors and the weight that should be given with
respect to each of these factors:
•

investment guidelines and/or restrictions, if any, set forth in the applicable organizational, offering or similar documents for the investment
vehicles;

•

status of tax restrictions and tests and other regulatory restrictions and tests;

•

risk and return profile of the investment vehicles;

•

suitability/priority of a particular investment for the investment vehicles;

•

if applicable, the targeted position size of the investment for the investment vehicles

•

level of available cash for investment with respect to the investment vehicles;

•

total amount of funds committed to the investment vehicles; and

•

the age of the investment vehicles and the remaining term of their respective investment periods, if any.

When not relying on the Order, priority as to opportunities will generally be given to accounts that are in their “ramp-up” period over the accounts that
are outside their ramp-up period but still within their investment or re-investment periods. However, application of one or more of the factors listed above,
or other factors determined to be relevant or appropriate, may result in the allocation of an investment opportunity to a fund no longer in its ramp-up period
over a fund that is still within its ramp-up period.
In situations where co-investment with other accounts is not permitted or appropriate, OFS Advisor will need to decide which account will proceed with
the investment. The decision by OFS Advisor to allocate an opportunity to another entity could cause us to forego an investment opportunity that we
otherwise would have made. These restrictions, and similar restrictions that limit our ability to transact business with our officers or directors or their
affiliates, may limit the scope of investment opportunities that would otherwise be available to us.
We may leverage our portfolio, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and will increase the risk of investing in us.
We may incur, directly or indirectly, through one or more special purpose vehicles, indebtedness for borrowed money, as well as leverage in the form of
derivative transactions, preferred stock and other structures and instruments, in significant amounts and on terms that the Advisor and our Board deem
appropriate, subject to applicable limitations under the 1940 Act. Any such borrowings do not include embedded or inherent leverage in the CLO structures
in which we intend to invest or in derivative instruments in which we may invest. Such leverage may be used for the acquisition and financing of our
investments, to pay fees and expenses and for other purposes. Any such leverage we incur may be secured and/or unsecured and senior and/or
subordinated. Moreover, CLOs by their very nature are leveraged vehicles. Accordingly, there may be a layering of leverage in our overall structure.
Leverage creates risks which may adversely affect the return for the holders of shares of our common stock, including:
•

The likelihood of greater volatility of NAV and market price of shares of our common stock;

•

Fluctuations in the interest rates on borrowings and short-term debt;

•

Increased operating costs, which may reduce our total return to the holders of shares of our common stock;

•

The fees and expenses attributed to leverage, including all offering and operating expenses relating to any preferred stock, will be borne by holders
or shares of our common stock; and
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•

The potential for a decline in the value of an investment acquired through leverage while our obligations under such leverage remain fixed.

The more leverage is employed, the more likely a substantial change will occur in our NAV. Accordingly, any event that adversely affects the value of
an investment would be magnified to the extent leverage is utilized. For instance, any decrease in our income would cause net income to decline more
sharply than it would have had we not borrowed. Such a decline could also negatively affect our ability to make dividend payments on shares of our
common stock. Leverage is generally considered a speculative investment technique. Our ability to service any debt that we incur will depend largely on
our financial performance and will be subject to prevailing economic conditions and competitive pressures. The cumulative effect of the use of leverage
with respect to any investments in a market that moves adversely to such investments could result in a substantial loss that would be greater than if our
investments were not leveraged.
As a registered closed-end management investment company, we are generally required to meet certain asset coverage ratios, defined under the 1940
Act, with respect to any senior securities. With respect to senior securities representing indebtedness (i.e., borrowings or deemed borrowings), other than
temporary borrowings as defined under the 1940 Act, we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 300%, as measured at the time of
borrowing and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount
of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness. With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock, including our
Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock), we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 200%, as measured at the
time of the issuance of any such shares of preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented
by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of
any outstanding shares of preferred stock. We presently have $21.3 million of the Series A Term Preferred Stock principal outstanding with a preferred rate
equal to 6.875% per annum issued in March and April of 2019, and $2.9 million of the Series B Preferred Stock principal outstanding with a preferred rate
equal to 6.60% per annum issued in November of 2020.
If our asset coverage ratio declines below 300% (or 200%, as applicable), we would not be able to incur additional debt or issue additional preferred
stock and could be required by law to sell a portion of our investments to repay some debt when it is disadvantageous to do so, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operations, and we would not be able to make certain distributions or pay dividends. The amount of leverage that we employ will
depend on the Advisor’s and our Board’s assessment of market and other factors at the time of any proposed borrowing. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to obtain credit at all or on terms acceptable to us.
In addition, any debt facility into which we may enter would likely impose financial and operating covenants that restrict our business activities,
including limitations that could hinder our ability to finance additional loans and investments or to make the distributions required to maintain our status as
a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code.
Regulations governing our operation as a registered closed-end management investment company affect our ability to raise additional capital and
the way in which we do so. The raising of debt capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.
We may in the future issue debt securities or additional preferred stock and/or borrow money from banks or other financial institutions, which we refer
to collectively as “senior securities,” up to the maximum amount permitted by the 1940 Act. Under the provisions of the 1940 Act, we are permitted, as a
registered closed-end management investment company, to issue senior securities provided we meet certain asset coverage ratios (i.e., 300% for senior
securities representing indebtedness and 200% in the case of the issuance of preferred stock under current law). If the value of our assets declines, we may
be unable to satisfy this test. If that happens, we may be required to sell a portion of our investments and, depending on the nature of our leverage, repay a
portion of our indebtedness (including by redeeming shares of our Series A Term Preferred Stock, our Series B Term Preferred Stock or of a portion of any
future series of preferred stock or notes that may be outstanding) at a time when such sales may be disadvantageous. Also, any amounts that we use to
service our indebtedness would not be available for distributions to our stockholders.
We are not generally able to issue and sell shares of our common stock at a price below the then current NAV per share (exclusive of any distributing
commission or discount). We may, however, sell shares of our common stock at a price below the then current NAV per share if the Board determines that
such sale is in our best interests and a majority of the holders of our common stock approves such sale. In addition, we may generally issue new shares of
our common stock at a price below NAV in rights offerings to existing holders of our common stock, in payment of dividends and in certain other limited
circumstances. If we raise additional funds by issuing more shares of our common stock, then the percentage ownership of the holders of our common
stock at that time will decrease, and holders of our common stock may experience dilution.
Provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws could
deter takeover attempts and have an adverse effect on the price of our securities.
The General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or the DGCL, contains provisions that may discourage, delay or make more difficult a change
in control of us or the removal of our directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
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bylaws contain provisions that limit liability and provide for indemnification of our directors and officers. These provisions and others also may have the
effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control or management. Section 203 of the DGCL, the application of which is subject to any
applicable requirements of the 1940 Act, generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in mergers and other business combinations with
stockholders that beneficially own 15% or more of its voting stock, or with its affiliates, unless its directors or stockholders approve the business
combination in the prescribed manner. Our Board has adopted a resolution exempting any business combination that we engage in from Section 203 of the
DGCL so long as our Board, including a majority of the members of the Board who are not interested persons (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the acquiring
person, first approves the business combination. If our Board does not approve a business combination, Section 203 of the DGCL may discourage third
parties from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating such an offer. We have also adopted measures that may make it
difficult for a third party to obtain control of us, including provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation classifying our Board in three
classes serving staggered three-year terms, and provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizing our Board to classify or
reclassify preferred stock in one or more classes or series, and to cause the issuance of additional shares of our common stock. These provisions, as well as
other provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that
might otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.
Changes in laws or regulations governing our operations may adversely affect our business or cause us to alter our business strategy.
Legal and Regulatory Changes. We, the CLO vehicles in which we invest, and the portfolio companies whose securities are held by such CLO
vehicles will be subject to applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations, including, without limitation, federal securities laws and regulations.
New legislation may be enacted or new interpretations, rulings or regulations could be adopted, including those governing the types of investments we are
permitted to make, any of which could harm us and our stockholders, potentially with retroactive effect. Additionally, any changes to the laws and
regulations governing our operations may cause us to alter our investment strategy in order to avail ourselves of new or different opportunities. Such
changes could result in material differences to the strategies and plans set forth herein and may result in our investment focus shifting from the areas of
expertise of our investment adviser’s senior investment team to other types of investments in which the investment team may have less expertise or little or
no experience. Thus, any such changes, if they occur, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and the value of your investment.
See also, “The application of the risk retention rules under Section 941 of the Dodd-Frank Act and other similar European Union law to CLOs may
have broader effects on the CLO and loan markets in general, potentially resulting in fewer or less desirable investment opportunities for us.”
Loan Securitizations. Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Act, commonly referred to as the “Volcker Rule,” generally prohibits, subject to certain
exemptions, covered banking entities from engaging in proprietary trading or sponsoring, or acquiring or retaining an ownership interest in, a hedge fund or
private equity fund, or “covered funds,” (which have been broadly defined in a way which could include many CLOs). Given the limitations on banking
entities investing in CLOs that are covered funds, the Volcker Rule may adversely affect the market value or liquidity of any or all of the investments we
hold. Although the Volcker Rule and the implementing rules exempt “loan securitizations” from the definition of covered fund, not all CLOs will qualify
for this exemption. For example, CLOs that invest in bonds as well as loans will be treated as covered funds. Accordingly, in an effort to qualify for the
“loan securitization” exemption, many current CLOs have amended their transaction documents to restrict the ability of the issuer to acquire bonds and
certain other securities, which may reduce the return available to holders of CLO equity securities. Furthermore, the costs associated with such amendments
are typically paid out of the cash flow of the CLO, which adversely impacts the return on our investment in any CLO equity. In addition, in order to avoid
covered fund status under the Volcker Rule, it is likely that many future CLOs will contain similar restrictions on the acquisition of bonds and certain other
securities, which may result in lower returns on CLO equity securities than currently anticipated.
The SEC staff could modify its position on certain non-traditional investments, including investments in CLO securities.
The staff of the SEC has undertaken a broad review of the potential risks associated with different asset management activities, focusing on, among
other things, liquidity risk and leverage risk. The staff of the Division of Investment Management of the SEC has, in correspondence with registered
management investment companies, raised questions about the level of, and special risks associated with, investments in CLO securities. While it is not
possible to predict what conclusions, if any, the staff will reach in these areas, or what recommendations, if any, the staff might make to the SEC, the
imposition of limitations on investments by registered management investment companies in CLO securities could adversely impact our ability to
implement our investment strategy and/or our ability to raise capital through public offerings, or could cause us to take certain actions that may result in an
adverse impact on our stockholders, our financial condition and/or our results of operations. We are unable at this time to assess the likelihood or timing of
any such regulatory development.
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Terrorist attacks, acts of war or natural disasters may impact the businesses in which we invest and harm our business, operating results and
financial condition.
Terrorist acts, acts of war or natural disasters may disrupt our operations, as well as the operations of the businesses in which we invest. Such acts have
created, and continue to create, economic and political uncertainties and have contributed to global economic instability. Future terrorist activities, military
or security operations, or natural disasters could further weaken the domestic/global economies and create additional uncertainties, which may negatively
impact the businesses in which we invest directly or indirectly and, in turn, could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and
financial condition. Losses from terrorist attacks and natural disasters are generally uninsurable.
The failure in cybersecurity systems, as well as the occurrence of events unanticipated in our disaster recovery systems and management continuity
planning could impair our ability to conduct business effectively.
The occurrence of a disaster such as a cyberattack against us or against a third party that has access to our data or networks, a natural catastrophe, an
industrial accident, events unanticipated in our disaster recovery systems, or a support failure from external providers, could have an adverse effect on our
ability to conduct business and on our results of operations and financial condition, particularly if those events affect our computer-based data processing,
transmission, storage, and retrieval systems or destroy data. If a significant number of our managers were unavailable in the event of a disaster, our ability
to effectively conduct our business could be severely compromised.
We depend heavily upon computer systems to perform necessary business functions. Despite our implementation of a variety of security measures, our
computer systems could be subject to cyberattacks and unauthorized access, such as physical and electronic break-ins or unauthorized tampering. Like
other companies, we may experience threats to our data and systems, including malware and computer virus attacks, unauthorized access, system failures
and disruptions. If one or more of these events occurs, it could potentially jeopardize the confidential, proprietary and other information processed and
stored in, and transmitted through, our computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations, which could
result in damage to our reputation, financial losses, litigation, increased costs, regulatory penalties and/or customer dissatisfaction or loss.
Third parties with whom we do business may also be sources of cybersecurity or other technological risks. We outsource certain functions and these
relationships allow for the storage and processing of our information, as well as customer, counterparty, employee and borrower information. While we
engage in actions to reduce our exposure resulting from outsourcing, ongoing threats may result in unauthorized access, loss, exposure or destruction of
data, or other cybersecurity incidents, with increased costs and other consequences, including those described above.
We and our service providers have been and may continue to be impacted by quarantines and similar measures enacted by governments in response to
virus pandemics such as COVID-19, which may obstruct the regular functioning of business workforces (including requiring employees to work from
external locations and their homes). Accordingly, the risks described above are heightened under current conditions.
Historical data regarding our business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity does not reflect the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and related containment measures and therefore does not purport to be representative of our future performance.
The information included in this prospectus, in our semi-annual report on Form N-CSR for the six months ended April 30, 2020, in our annual
report on Form N-CSR for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020, and in our other reports filed with the SEC, includes information regarding our business,
results of operations, financial condition and liquidity as of dates and for periods before the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and related containment
measures (including quarantines and governmental orders requiring the closure of certain businesses, limiting travel, requiring that individuals stay at home
or shelter in place and closing borders) and such historical information does not reflect the adverse impact of the pandemic and related containment
measures on our business. Accordingly, investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on historical information regarding our business, results of operations,
financial condition, or liquidity, as that data does not reflect the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and therefore does not purport to be
representative of the future results of operations, financial condition, liquidity or other financial or operating results of us, or our business.
There is uncertainty surrounding potential legal, regulatory and policy changes by new presidential administrations in the United States that may
directly affect financial institutions and the global economy.
As a result of the November 2020 elections in the United States, the Democratic Party gained control of both the Presidency and the Senate from the
Republican Party. Therefore, changes in federal policy, including tax policies, and at regulatory agencies that occur over time through policy and personnel
changes, which may lead to changes involving the level of oversight and focus on the financial services industry or the tax rates paid by corporate entities.
The nature, timing and economic and political effects of potential changes to the current legal and regulatory framework affecting financial institutions
remain highly uncertain. Uncertainty surrounding
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future changes may adversely affect our operating environment and therefore our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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Risks Related to Our Investments
Investing in senior secured loans indirectly through CLO securities involves particular risks.
We are exposed to underlying senior secured loans and other credit investments through investments in CLOs, but may obtain such exposure directly or
indirectly through other means from time to time. Loans may become nonperforming or impaired for a variety of reasons. Such nonperforming or impaired
loans may require substantial workout negotiations or restructuring that may entail, among other things, a substantial reduction in the interest rate and/or a
substantial write-down of the principal of the loan. In addition, because of the unique and customized nature of a loan agreement and the private
syndication of a loan, certain loans may not be purchased or sold as easily as publicly traded securities, and, historically, the trading volume in the loan
market has been small relative to other markets. Loans may encounter trading delays due to their unique and customized nature, and transfers may require
the consent of an agent bank and/or borrower. Risks associated with senior secured loans include the fact that prepayments generally may occur at any time
without premium or penalty. Additionally, under certain circumstances, the equity owners of the borrowers in which CLOs invest may recoup their
investments in the borrower, through a dividend recapitalization, before the borrower makes payments to the lender. For these reasons, an investor in a
CLO may experience a reduced equity cushion or diminution of value in any debt investment, which may ultimately result in the CLO investor
experiencing a loss on its investment before the equity owner of a borrower experiences a loss.
In addition, the portfolios of certain CLOs in which we invest may contain middle market loans. Loans to middle market companies may carry more
inherent risks than loans to larger, publicly traded entities. Middle-market companies may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their
obligations under their debt securities that we hold, which may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of any collateral and a reduction in the
likelihood of our realizing any guarantees we may have obtained in connection with our investment. Such companies typically have shorter operating
histories, narrower product lines and smaller market shares than larger businesses, which tend to render them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions and
market conditions, as well as general economic downturns. These companies may also experience substantial variations in operating results. Additionally,
middle-market companies are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons. Therefore, the death, disability,
resignation or termination of one or more of these persons could have a material adverse impact on a portfolio company and, in turn, on us. Middle-market
companies also may be parties to litigation and may be engaged in rapidly changing businesses with products subject to a substantial risk of obsolescence.
Accordingly, loans made to middle market companies may involve higher risks than loans made to companies that have greater financial resources or are
otherwise able to access traditional credit sources. Middle market loans are less liquid and have a smaller trading market than the market for broadly
syndicated loans and may have default rates or recovery rates that differ (and may be better or worse) than has been the case for broadly syndicated loans or
investment grade securities. There can be no assurance as to the levels of defaults and/or recoveries that may be experienced with respect to middle market
loans in any CLO in which we may invest. As a consequence of the forgoing factors, the securities issued by CLOs that primarily invest in middle market
loans (or hold significant portions thereof) are generally considered to be a riskier investment than securities issued by CLOs that primarily invest in
broadly syndicated loans.
In addition, the portfolios of certain CLOs in which we invest may contain “covenant-lite” loans. We use the term “covenant-lite” loans to refer
generally to loans that do not have a complete set of financial maintenance covenants. Generally, “covenant-lite” loans provide borrower companies more
freedom to negatively impact lenders because their covenants are incurrence-based, which means they are only tested and can only be breached following
an affirmative action of the borrower, rather than by a deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition. Accordingly, to the extent we are exposed to
“covenant-lite” loans, we may have a greater risk of loss on such investments as compared to investments in or exposure to loans with financial
maintenance covenants.
Our investments in CLO securities and other structured finance securities involve certain risks.
Our investments consist primarily of CLO securities, and we may invest in other related structured finance securities. CLOs and structured finance
securities are generally backed by an asset or a pool of assets (typically senior secured loans and other credit-related assets in the case of a CLO) that serve
as collateral. We and other investors in CLO and other structured finance securities ultimately bear the credit risk of the underlying collateral. In the case of
most CLOs, the structured finance securities are issued in multiple tranches, offering investors various maturity and credit risk characteristics, often
categorized as senior, mezzanine and subordinated/equity according to their degree of risk. If there are defaults or the relevant collateral otherwise
underperforms, scheduled payments to senior tranches of such securities take precedence over those of mezzanine tranches, and scheduled payments to
mezzanine tranches have a priority in right of payment to subordinated/equity tranches.
In light of the above considerations, CLO and other structured finance securities may present risks similar to those of the other types of debt obligations
and, in fact, such risks may be of greater significance in the case of CLO and other structured finance securities. For example, investments in structured
vehicles, including equity and subordinated debt securities issued by CLOs, involve risks, including credit risk and market risk. Changes in interest rates
and credit quality may cause significant price fluctuations.
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In addition to the general risks associated with investing in debt securities, CLO securities carry additional risks, including: (1) the possibility that
distributions from collateral assets will not be adequate to make interest or other payments; (2) the quality of the collateral may decline in value or default;
(3) our investments in CLO equity and subordinated debt tranches will likely be subordinate in right of payment to other more senior classes of CLO debt;
and (4) the complex structure of a particular security may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may produce disputes with the issuer or
unexpected investment results. Additionally, changes in the collateral held by a CLO may cause payments on the instruments we hold to be reduced, either
temporarily or permanently. Structured investments, particularly the subordinated interests in which we may invest, are less liquid than many other types of
securities and may be more volatile than the assets underlying the CLOs we may target. In addition, CLO and other structured finance securities may be
subject to prepayment risk. Further, the performance of a CLO or other structured finance security may be adversely affected by a variety of factors,
including the security’s priority in the capital structure of the issuer thereof, the availability of any credit enhancement, the level and timing of payments
and recoveries on and the characteristics of the underlying receivables, loans or other assets that are being securitized, remoteness of those assets from the
originator or transferor, the adequacy of and ability to realize upon any related collateral and the capability of the servicer of the securitized assets. There
are also the risks that the trustee of a CLO does not properly carry out its duties to the CLO, potentially resulting in loss to the CLO. In addition, the
complex structure of the security may produce unexpected investment results, especially during times of market stress or volatility. Investments in
structured finance securities may also be subject to liquidity risk.
Our investments in subordinated or equity CLO securities are more likely to suffer a loss of all or a portion of their value in the event of a default.
We invest in subordinated notes issued by a CLO that comprise the equity tranche, which are junior in priority of payment and are subject to certain
payment restrictions generally set forth in an indenture governing the notes. In addition, CLO subordinated notes generally do not benefit from any
creditors’ rights or ability to exercise remedies under the indenture governing the notes. The subordinated notes are not guaranteed by another party.
Subordinated notes are subject to greater risk than the secured notes issued by the CLO. CLOs are typically highly levered, utilizing up to approximately 913 times leverage, and therefore subordinated notes are subject to a risk of total loss. There can be no assurance that distributions on the assets held by the
CLO will be sufficient to make any distributions or that the yield on the subordinated notes will meet our expectations.
CLOs generally may make payments on subordinated notes only to the extent permitted by the payment priority provisions of an indenture governing
the notes issued by the CLO. CLO indentures generally provide that principal payments on subordinated notes may not be made on any payment date
unless all amounts owing under secured notes are paid in full. In addition, if a CLO does not meet the asset coverage tests or the interest coverage test set
forth in the indenture governing the notes issued by the CLO, cash would be diverted from the subordinated notes to first pay the secured notes in amounts
sufficient to cause such tests to be satisfied.
The subordinated notes are unsecured and rank behind all of the secured creditors, known or unknown, of the issuer, including the holders of the
secured notes it has issued. Relatively small numbers of defaults of instruments underlying CLOs in which we hold subordinated notes may adversely
impact our returns. The leveraged nature of subordinated notes is likely to magnify the adverse impact on the subordinated notes of changes in the market
value of the investments held by the issuer, changes in the distributions on those investments, defaults and recoveries on those investments, capital gains
and losses on those investments, prepayments on those investments and availability, prices and interest rates of those investments.
CLO subordinated notes do not have a fixed coupon and payments on CLO subordinated notes will be based on the income received from the
underlying collateral and the payments made to the secured notes, both of which may be based on floating rates. While the payments on CLO subordinated
notes will vary, CLO subordinated notes may not offer the same level of protection against changes in interest rates as other floating rate instruments. An
increase in interest rates would materially increase the financing costs of CLOs. Since underlying instruments held by a CLO may have LIBOR floors,
there may not be corresponding increases in investment income to the CLO (if LIBOR increases but stays below the LIBOR floor rate of such instruments)
resulting in smaller distribution payments on CLO subordinated notes.
Subordinated notes are illiquid investments and subject to extensive transfer restrictions, and no party is under any obligation to make a market for
subordinated notes. At times, there may be no market for subordinated notes, and we may not be able to sell or otherwise transfer subordinated notes at
their fair value, or at all, in the event that it determines to sell them. Investments in CLO subordinated notes may have complicated accounting and tax
implications.
Our investments in the primary CLO market involve certain additional risks.
Between the pricing date and the effective date of a CLO, the CLO collateral manager will generally expect to purchase additional collateral obligations
for the CLO. During this period, the price and availability of these collateral obligations may be adversely affected by a number of market factors,
including price volatility and availability of investments suitable for the CLO, which could hamper the ability of the collateral manager to acquire a
portfolio of collateral obligations that will satisfy specified concentration limitations and allow the CLO to reach the target initial par amount of collateral
prior to the effective date. An
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inability or delay in reaching the target initial par amount of collateral may adversely affect the timing and amount of interest or principal payments
received by the holders of the CLO debt securities and distributions on the CLO equity securities and could result in early redemptions which may cause
CLO debt and equity investors to receive less than face value of their investment.
Our portfolio of investments may lack diversification among CLO securities or underlying obligors, which may subject us to a risk of significant
loss if one or more of these CLO securities experience a high level of defaults on collateral.
Our portfolio may hold investments in a limited number of CLO securities. Beyond the asset diversification requirements associated with our
qualification as a RIC under the Code, we do not have fixed guidelines for diversification, we do not have any limitations on the ability to invest in any one
CLO, and our investments may be concentrated in relatively few CLO securities. As our portfolio may be less diversified than the portfolios of some larger
funds, we are more susceptible to failure if one or more of the CLOs in which we invest experiences a high level of defaults on its collateral. Similarly, the
aggregate returns we realize may be significantly adversely affected if a small number of investments perform poorly or if we need to write down the value
of any one investment. We may also invest in multiple CLOs managed by the same CLO collateral manager, thereby increasing our risk of loss in the event
the CLO collateral manager were to fail, experience the loss of key portfolio management employees or sell its business.
Even if we maintain adequate diversification across different CLO issuers, we may still be subject to concentration risk since CLO portfolios tend to
have a certain amount of overlap across underlying obligors. This trend is generally exacerbated when demand for bank loans by CLO issuers outpaces
supply. Market analysts have noted that the overlap of obligor names among CLO issuers has increased recently, and is particularly evident across CLOs of
the same year of origination, as well as with CLOs managed by the same collateral manager. To the extent we invest in CLOs which have a high percentage
of overlap, this may increase the likelihood of defaults on our CLO investments occurring together.
We may be subject to risks associated with our investments in the technology industry.
A portion of the obligors of loans underlying our CLO investments operate in the technology industry. Companies that target technology-related
markets face risks, including rapid and sometimes dramatic price erosion of products, the reliance on capital and debt markets to finance large capital
outlays, including fabrication facilities, the reliance on partners outside of the United States, particularly in Asia, and inherent cyclicality of the technology
market in general. As a result of multiple factors, access to capital may be difficult or impossible for companies that are pursuing these markets. The
revenue, income (or losses) and valuations of technology-related companies can and often do fluctuate suddenly and dramatically. In addition, because of
rapid technological change, the average selling prices of products and some services provided by technology-related sectors have historically decreased
over their productive lives. As a result, the average selling prices of products and services offered by the obligors of loans underlying our CLO investments
that operate in technology-related sectors may decrease over time, which could adversely affect their operating results and, correspondingly, the value of
the CLO investments that we may hold. This could, in turn, materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may be subject to risks associated with our exposure to the healthcare and pharmaceuticals industry.
Any of the obligors of loans underlying our CLO investments operating in the healthcare and pharmaceuticals industry are subject to extensive
government regulation and certain other risks particular to that industry. Such obligors are subject to extensive regulation, including Medicare and
Medicaid payment rules and regulation, the False Claims Act and federal and state laws regarding the collection, use and disclosure of patient health
information and the storage handling and administration of pharmaceuticals. If any of the obligors of loans underlying our CLO investments or the
companies to which they provide such technology fail to comply with applicable regulations, they could be subject to significant penalties and claims that
could materially and adversely affect their operations. Companies in the healthcare information or services industry are also subject to the risk that changes
in applicable regulations will render their technology obsolete or less desirable in the marketplace.
Companies in the healthcare information and services industry may also have a limited number of suppliers of necessary components or a limited
number of manufacturers for their products, and therefore face a risk of disruption to their manufacturing process if they are unable to find alternative
suppliers when needed. Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect the operations of the obligors of loans underlying our CLO investments
and, in turn, impair our ability to timely collect payments owed to us.
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Our portfolio is focused on CLO securities, and the CLO securities in which we invest may hold loans that are concentrated in a limited number of
industries.
Our portfolio is focused on securities issued by CLOs and related investments, and the CLOs in which we invest may hold loans that are concentrated
in a limited number of industries. As a result, a downturn in the CLO industry or in any particular industry that the CLOs in which we invest are
concentrated could significantly impact the aggregate returns we realize.
Failure by a CLO in which we are invested to satisfy certain tests will harm our operating results.
The failure by a CLO in which we invest to satisfy financial covenants, including with respect to adequate collateralization and/or interest coverage
tests, could lead to a reduction in its payments to us. In the event that a CLO fails certain tests, holders of CLO senior debt may be entitled to additional
payments that would, in turn, reduce the payments we would otherwise be entitled to receive. Separately, we may incur expenses to the extent necessary to
seek recovery upon default or to negotiate new terms, which may include the waiver of certain financial covenants, with a defaulting CLO or any other
investment we may make. If any of these occur, it could materially and adversely affect our operating results and cash flows.
Negative loan ratings migration may also place pressure on the performance of certain of our investments.
Per the terms of a CLO’s indenture, assets rated “CCC+” or lower or their equivalent in excess of applicable limits generally do not receive full par
credit for purposes of calculation of the CLO’s overcollateralization tests. As a result, a general decrease in ratings across a CLO's loans could cause a CLO
to be out of compliance with its overcollateralization tests. This could cause a diversion of cash flows away from the CLO equity and subordinated debt
tranches in favor of the more senior CLO debt tranches until the relevant overcollateralization test breaches are cured. This could have a negative impact on
our NAV and cash flows.
Our investments in CLOs and other investment vehicles will result in additional expenses to us.
We invest in CLO securities and may invest, to the extent permitted by law, in the securities and other instruments of other investment companies,
including private funds, and, to the extent we so invest, will bear our ratable share of a CLO’s or any such investment vehicle’s expenses, including
management and performance fees. We will also remain obligated to pay management and incentive fees to the Advisor with respect to the assets invested
in the securities and other instruments of other investment vehicles, including CLOs. With respect to each of these investments, each of our common
stockholders will bear his or her share of the management and incentive fee of the Advisor as well as indirectly bearing the management and performance
fees and other expenses of any investment vehicles in which we invest.
In the course of our investing activities, we pay management and incentive fees to the Advisor and reimburse the Advisor for certain expenses it incurs.
As a result, investors in our securities invest on a “gross” basis and receive distributions on a “net” basis after expenses, potentially resulting in a lower rate
of return than an investor might achieve through direct investments.
Our investments in CLO securities may be less transparent to us and our stockholders than direct investments in the collateral.
We invest primarily in equity and subordinated debt tranches of CLOs and other related investments. Generally, there may be less information available
to us regarding the collateral held by such CLOs than if we had invested directly in the debt of the underlying obligors. As a result, our stockholders will
not know the details of the collateral of the CLOs in which we will invest. In addition, none of the information contained in certain monthly reports nor any
other financial information furnished to us as a noteholder in a CLO will be audited and reported upon, nor will an opinion be expressed, by an independent
public accountant. Our CLO investments will also be subject to the risk of leverage associated with the debt issued by such CLOs and the repayment
priority of senior debt holders in such CLOs.
CLO investments involve complex documentation and accounting considerations.
CLOs and other structured finance securities in which we expect to invest are often governed by a complex series of legal documents and contracts. As
a result, the risk of dispute over interpretation or enforceability of the documentation may be higher relative to other types of investments. For example,
some documents governing the loans underlying our CLO investments may allow for “priming transactions,” in connection with which majority lenders or
debtors can amend loan documents to the detriment of other lenders, amend loan documents in order to move collateral, or amend documents in order to
facilitate capital outflow to other parties/subsidiaries in a capital structure, any of which may adversely affect the rights and security priority of the CLOs in
which we are invested.
The accounting and tax implications of the CLO investments that we intend to make are complicated and involve assumptions based on management’s
judgment. In particular, reported earnings from CLO equity securities under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or “GAAP,” are recognized as
an effective yield calculated from estimated total cash flows from the CLO investments over the expected holding periods of the investments, which can be
as long as six to seven years. These estimated cash flows require assumptions regarding future transactions and events within the CLO entities concerning
their portfolios and will be based upon the best information under the circumstances and may require significant management judgment or estimation. The
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principal assumptions included in these estimates include, but are not limited to, prepayment rates, interest rate margins on reinvestments, default rates, loss
on default, and default recovery period within the CLO entities. If any of these assumptions prove to be inaccurate, the estimated cash flows could also be
inaccurate.
GAAP earnings are based on the effective yields derived from cash flows from the CLO securities without regard to timing of income recognition for
tax purposes, which may cause our GAAP earnings to diverge from our ICTI and may result in the characterization of a non-taxable (i.e., return of capital)
distribution from CLO investments as interest income in our financial statements. Conversely, events within the CLO, such as gains from restructuring or
the prepayment of the underlying loans-which may not impact CLO cash flows, can result in taxable income without similar income recognized for GAAP
earnings. These differences between accounting treatment and tax treatment of income from these investments may resolve gradually over time or may
resolve through recognition of a capital gain or loss at maturity, while for reporting purposes the totality of cash flows are reflected in a constant yield to
maturity. Additionally, under certain circumstances, we may be required to take into account income from CLO investments for tax purposes no later than
such income is taken into account for GAAP purposes, which may accelerate our recognition of taxable income.
Current taxable earnings on these investments will generally not be determinable until after the end of the tax year of each individual CLO that ends
within our fiscal year and the CLO sponsor provides its tax reporting to us, even though the investments will generate cash flow throughout our fiscal year.
Since our income tax reporting to stockholders is on a calendar year basis, we will be required to estimate taxable earnings from these investments from
October 31st, the end of our fiscal year, through December 31st. Effective execution of our distribution policy will require us to estimate taxable earnings
from these investments and pay distributions to our stockholders based on these estimates. If our estimates of taxable earnings are greater than actual
taxable earnings from these investments determined as of the end of the calendar year, a portion of the distributions paid during that year may be
characterized as a return of capital. If our estimates of taxable earnings are lower than actual taxable earnings as of the end of the calendar year, we may
incur excise taxes and/or have difficulties maintaining our tax treatment as a RIC. See “—We will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax if
we are unable to maintain treatment as a RIC.”
The application of the risk retention rules under Section 941 of the Dodd-Frank Act and other similar European Union law to CLOs may have
broader effects on the CLO and loan markets in general, potentially resulting in fewer or less desirable investment opportunities for us.
Section 941 of the Dodd-Frank Act added a provision to the Exchange Act, as amended, requiring the seller, sponsor or securitizer of a securitization
vehicle to retain no less than five percent of the credit risk in assets it sells into a securitization and prohibiting such securitizer from directly or indirectly
hedging or otherwise transferring the retained credit risk. The responsible federal agencies adopted final rules implementing these restrictions on October
22, 2014. The risk retention rules became effective with respect to CLOs two years after publication in the Federal Register. Under the final rules, the asset
manager of a CLO is considered the sponsor of a securitization vehicle and is required to retain five percent of the credit risk in the CLO, which may be
retained horizontally in the equity tranche of the CLO or vertically as a five percent interest in each tranche of the securities issued by the CLO. Although
the final rules contain an exemption from such requirements for the asset manager of a CLO if, among other things, the originator or lead arranger of all of
the loans acquired by the CLO retain such risk at the asset level and, at origination of such asset, takes a loan tranche of at least 20% of the aggregate
principal balance, it is possible that the originators and lead arrangers of loans in this market will not agree to assume this risk or provide such retention at
origination of the asset in a manner that would provide meaningful relief from the risk retention requirements for CLO managers.
Collateral managers of “open market CLOs” are no longer required to comply with the U.S. risk retention rules at this time. On February 9, 2018, a
three-judge panel (the “Panel”) of the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit (the “Appellate Court”) ruled in favor of an appeal by the Loan
Syndications and Trading Association (the “LSTA”) against the SEC and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Applicable
Governmental Agencies”) that managers of so-called “open market CLOs” are not “securitizers” under Section 941 of the Dodd-Frank Act and, therefore,
are not subject to the requirements of the U.S. risk retention rules (the “Appellate Court Ruling”). The LSTA was appealing from a judgment entered by the
United States District Court for the District of Columbia (the “D.C. District Court”), which granted summary judgment in favor of the SEC and Federal
Reserve and against the LSTA with respect to its challenges. On April 5, 2018, the D.C. District Court entered an order implementing the Appellate Court
Ruling and thereby vacated the U.S. risk retention rules insofar as they apply to CLO managers of “open market CLOs”.
It is possible that some collateral managers of open market CLOs will decide to dispose of the notes constituting the “eligible vertical interest” or
“eligible horizontal interest” they were previously required to retain, or decide to take other action with respect to such notes that is not otherwise permitted
by the U.S. risk retention rules. As a result of this decision, certain CLO managers of “open market CLOs” will no longer be required to comply with the
U.S. risk retention rules solely because of their roles as managers of “open market CLOs”, and there may be no “sponsor” of such securitization
transactions and no party may be required to acquire and retain an economic interest in the credit risk of the securitized assets of such transactions.
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There can be no assurance or representation that any of the transactions, structures or arrangements currently under consideration by or currently used
by CLO market participants will comply with the U.S. risk retention rules to the extent such rules are reinstated or otherwise become applicable to open
market CLOs. The ultimate impact of the U.S. risk retention rules on the loan securitization market and the leveraged loan market generally remains
uncertain, and any negative impact on secondary market liquidity for securities comprising a CLO may be experienced due to the effects of the U.S. risk
retention rules on market expectations or uncertainty, the relative appeal of other investments not impacted by the U.S. risk retention rules and other
factors.
In the European Union, there has also been an increase in political and regulatory scrutiny of the securitization industry. Regulation EU 2017/2402 of
the European Parliament and the Council of 12 December 2017 laying down a general framework for securitisation and creating a specific framework for
simple, transparent and standardized securitisation (as may be amended from time to time and including any delegated or implementing legislation with
respect thereto, the “Securitization Regulation”) became effective on January 17, 2018 and applies to all new securitizations issued on or after January 1,
2019. The Securitization Regulation repealed and replaced the prior EU risk retention requirements with a single regime that applies to European credit
institutions, investment firms, insurance and reinsurance companies, alternative investment fund managers that manage and/or market their alternative
investment funds in the EU, undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities regulated pursuant to EU Directive 2009/65/EC and the
management companies thereof and, subject to some exceptions, institutions for occupational pension provision (IORPs), each as set out in the
Securitization Regulation (such investors, “EU Affected Investors”). Such EU Affected Investors may be subject to punitive capital requirements and/or
other regulatory penalties with respect to investments in securitizations that fail to comply with the Securitization Regulation.
The Securitization Regulation restricts an EU Affected Investor from investing in securitizations unless, among other things: (a)(i) the originator,
sponsor or original lender with respect to the relevant securitization will retain, on an on-going basis, a net economic interest of not less than 5% with
respect to certain specified credit risk tranches or securitized exposures and (ii) the risk retention is disclosed to the investor in accordance with the
Securitization Regulation; and (b) such investor is able to demonstrate that it has undertaken certain due diligence with respect to various matters, including
the risk characteristics of its investment position and the underlying assets, and that procedures are established for such activities to be monitored on an ongoing basis. There are material differences between the Securitization Regulation and the prior EU risk retention requirements, particularly with respect to
transaction transparency, reporting and diligence requirements and the imposition of a direct compliance obligation on the “sponsor”, “originator” or
“original lender” of a securitization where such entity is established in the EU.
CLOs issued in Europe are generally structured in compliance with the Securitization Regulation so that prospective investors subject to the
Securitization Laws can invest in compliance with such requirements. To the extent a CLO is structured in compliance with the EU Securitization Laws,
our ability to invest in the residual tranches of such CLOs could be limited, or we could be required to hold our investment for the life of the CLO. If a
CLO has not been structured to comply with the Securitization Regulation, it will limit the ability of EEA-regulated institutional investors to purchase CLO
securities, which may adversely affect the price and liquidity of the securities (including the residual tranche) in the secondary market. Additionally, the
Securitization Regulation and any regulatory uncertainty in relation thereto may reduce the issuance of new CLOs and reduce the liquidity provided by
CLOs to the leveraged loan market generally. Reduced liquidity in the loan market could reduce investment opportunities for collateral managers, which
could negatively affect the return of our investments. Any reduction in the volume and liquidity provided by CLOs to the leveraged loan market could also
reduce opportunities to redeem or refinance the securities comprising a CLO in an optional redemption or refinancing and could negatively affect the
ability of obligors to refinance of their collateral obligations, either of which developments could increase defaulted obligations above historic levels.
The Japanese Financial Services Agency (the “JFSA”) recently published a risk retention rule as part of the regulatory capital regulation of certain
categories of Japanese investors seeking to invest in securitization transactions (the “JRR Rule”). The JRR Rule mandates an “indirect” compliance
requirement, meaning that certain categories of Japanese investors will be required to apply higher risk weighting to securitization exposures they hold
unless the relevant originator commits to hold a retention interest equal to at least 5% of the exposure of the total underlying assets in the transaction (the
“Japanese Retention Requirement”) or such investors determine that the underlying assets were not “inappropriately originated.” The Japanese investors to
which the JRR Rule applies include banks, bank holding companies, credit unions (shinyo kinko), credit cooperatives (shinyo kumiai), labor credit unions
(rodo kinko), agricultural credit cooperatives (nogyo kyodo kumiai), ultimate parent companies of large securities companies and certain other financial
institutions regulated in Japan (such investors, “Japanese Affected Investors”). Such Japanese Affected Investors may be subject to punitive capital
requirements and/or other regulatory penalties with respect to investments in securitizations that fail to comply with the Japanese Retention Requirement.
The JRR Rule became effective on March 31, 2019. At this time, there are a number of unresolved questions and no established line of authority,
precedent or market practice that provides definitive guidance with respect to the JRR Rule, and no assurances can be made as to the content, impact or
interpretation of the JRR Rule. In particular, the basis for the determination of whether an asset is “inappropriately originated” remains unclear and,
therefore, unless the JFSA provides further specific clarification, it is possible that CLO securities we have purchased may contain assets deemed to be
“inappropriately originated”
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and, as a result, may not be exempt from the Japanese Retention Requirement. The JRR Rule or other similar requirements may deter Japanese Affected
Investors from purchasing CLO securities, which may limit the liquidity of CLO securities and, in turn, adversely affect the price of such CLO securities in
the secondary market. Whether and to what extent the JFSA may provide further clarification or interpretation as to the JRR Rule is unknown.
We are dependent on the collateral managers of the CLOs in which we invest and those CLOs are generally not registered under the 1940 Act.
We rely on CLO collateral managers to administer and review the portfolios of collateral they manage. The actions of the CLO collateral managers may
significantly affect the return on our investments. The ability of each CLO collateral manager to identify and report on issues affecting its securitization
portfolio on a timely basis could also affect the return on our investments, as we may not be provided with information on a timely basis in order to take
appropriate measures to manage our risks. We also rely on CLO collateral managers to act in the best interests of a CLO it manages. If any CLO collateral
manager were to act in a manner that was not in the best interest of the CLOs (e.g., gross negligence, with reckless disregard or in bad faith), this could
adversely impact the overall performance of such investments.
In addition, the CLOs in which we invest are generally not registered as investment companies under the 1940 Act. As a result, investors in these CLOs
are not afforded the protections that investors in an investment company registered under the 1940 Act would have.
Our investments in CLO securities may be subject to special anti-deferral provisions that could result in us incurring tax or recognizing income
prior to receiving cash distributions related to such income.
Some of the CLOs in which we invest may constitute “passive foreign investment companies,” or “PFICs.” If we acquire interests treated as equity for
U.S. federal income tax purposes in PFICs (including equity tranche investments and certain debt tranche investments in CLOs that are PFICs), we may be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on a portion of any “excess distribution” or gain from the disposition of such investments even if such income is
distributed as a taxable dividend by us to our stockholders. Certain elections may be available to mitigate or eliminate such tax on excess distributions, but
such elections (if available) will generally require us to recognize our share of the PFIC’s income for each tax year regardless of whether we receive any
distributions from such PFIC. We must nonetheless distribute such income to maintain our tax treatment as a RIC. Income derived by us from a PFIC with
respect to which we have made a qualifying elected fund (“QEF”) election will constitute qualifying income for purposes of determining our ability to be
subject to tax as a RIC provided that such income is derived in connection with our business of investing in stocks and securities or the PFIC makes
distributions of that income to us in the same year in which it is included in our taxable income. As such, we may be restricted in our ability to make QEF
elections with respect to our holdings in issuers that could be treated as PFICs in order to limit our tax liability or maximize our after-tax return from these
investments.
If we hold more than 10% of the interests treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes in a foreign corporation that is treated as a controlled
foreign corporation, or “CFC” (including equity tranche investments and certain debt tranche investments in a CLO treated as a CFC), we may be treated as
receiving a deemed distribution (taxable as ordinary income) each tax year from such foreign corporation in an amount equal to our pro rata share of the
corporation’s income for the tax year (including both ordinary earnings and capital gains). If we are required to include such deemed distributions from a
CFC in our income, we will be required to distribute such income to maintain our RIC tax treatment regardless of whether or not the CFC makes an actual
distribution during such tax year. Income derived by us from a CFC will constitute qualifying income for purposes of determining our ability to be subject
to tax as a RIC provided that such income is derived in connection with our business of investing in stocks and securities or the CFC makes distributions of
that income to us in the same year in which it is included in our taxable income. As such, we may limit and/or manage our holdings in issuers that could be
treated as CFCs in order to limit our tax liability or maximize our after-tax return from these investments.
If we are required to include amounts from CLO securities in income prior to receiving the cash distributions representing such income, we may have
to sell some of our investments at times and/or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forgo new
investment opportunities for this purpose. If we are not able to obtain cash from other sources, we may fail to qualify for RIC tax treatment and thus
become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax.
If a CLO in which we invest fails to comply with certain U.S. tax disclosure requirements, such CLO may be subject to withholding requirements
that could materially and adversely affect our operating results and cash flows.
The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (commonly referred to as “FATCA”) imposes a withholding tax of 30% on U.S. source periodic payments to
certain non-U.S. entities, including certain non-U.S. financial institutions and investment funds, unless such non-U.S. entity complies with certain reporting
requirements regarding its U.S. account holders and its U.S. owners. While existing U.S. Treasury regulations would also require withholding on payments
of the gross proceeds from the sale of any property that could produce U.S. source interest or dividends, the U.S. Treasury Department has indicated its
intent to eliminate this requirement in subsequent proposed regulations which state that taxpayers may rely on the proposed regulation until final
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regulations are issued. We expect that most CLOs in which we invest will be treated as non-U.S. financial entities for this purpose, and therefore will be
required to comply with these reporting requirements to avoid the 30% withholding. If a CLO in which we invest fails to properly comply with these
reporting requirements, it could reduce the amount available to distribute to equity and subordinated debt holders in such CLO, which could materially and
adversely affect the fair value of the CLO’s securities and our operating results and cash flows.
Increased competition in the market or a decrease in new CLO issuances may result in increased price volatility or a shortage of investment
opportunities.
In recent years there has been a marked increase in the number of, and flow of capital into, investment vehicles established to pursue investments in
CLO securities whereas the size of this market is relatively limited. While we cannot determine the precise effect of such competition, such increase may
result in greater competition for investment opportunities, which may result in an increase in the price of such investments relative to the risk taken on by
holders of such investments. Such competition may also result under certain circumstances in increased price volatility or decreased liquidity with respect
to certain positions.
In addition, the volume of new CLO issuances varies over time as a result of a variety of factors including new regulations, changes in interest rates,
and other market forces. As a result of increased competition and uncertainty regarding the volume of new CLO issuances, we cannot assure you that we
will deploy all of our capital in a timely manner or at all. Prospective investors should understand that we may compete with other investment vehicles, as
well as investment and commercial banking firms, which have substantially greater resources, in terms of financial wherewithal and research staffs, than
may be available to us.
We and our investments are subject to interest rate risk.
Since we may incur leverage to make investments, our net investment income depends, in part, upon the difference between the rate at which we
borrow funds and the rate at which we invest those funds.
Since the economic downturn that began in 2007, interest rates have generally remained low. Because longer term inflationary pressure may result from
the U.S. government’s fiscal policies and other challenges, because of the relatively low interest rate environment in which we now operate, interest rates
could continue to rise, rather than fall, in the future. In a rising interest rate environment, any leverage that we incur may bear a higher interest rate than
may currently be available to us. There may not, however, be a corresponding increase in our investment income. Any reduction in the rate of return on
new investments relative to the rate of return on our current investments, and any reduction in the rate of return on our current investments, could adversely
impact our net investment income, reducing our ability to service the interest obligations on, and to repay the principal of, our indebtedness, as well as our
capacity to pay distributions to our stockholders.
The fair value of certain of our investments may be significantly affected by changes in interest rates. Although senior secured loans are generally
floating rate instruments, our investments in senior secured loans through CLOs are sensitive to interest rate levels and volatility. Although CLOs are
generally structured to mitigate the risk of interest rate mismatch, there may be some difference between the timing of interest rate resets on the assets and
liabilities of a CLO. Such a mismatch in timing could have a negative effect on the amount of funds distributed to CLO equity investors. In addition, CLOs
may not be able to enter into hedge agreements, even if it may otherwise be in the best interests of the CLO to hedge such interest rate risk. Furthermore, in
the event of a significant rising interest rate environment and/or economic downturn, loan defaults may increase and result in credit losses that may
adversely affect our cash flow, fair value of our assets and operating results. In the event that our interest expense were to increase relative to income, or
sufficient financing became unavailable, our return on investments and cash available for distribution to stockholders or to make other payments on our
securities would be reduced. In addition, future investments in different types of instruments may carry a greater exposure to interest rate risk.
LIBOR Floor Risk. Because CLOs generally issue debt on a floating rate basis, an increase in LIBOR will increase the financing costs of CLOs. Many
of the senior secured loans held by these CLOs have LIBOR floors such that, when LIBOR is below the stated LIBOR floor, the stated LIBOR floor (rather
than LIBOR itself) is used to determine the interest payable under the loans. Therefore, if LIBOR increases but stays below the average LIBOR floor rate
of the senior secured loans held by a CLO, there would not be a corresponding increase in the investment income of such CLOs. The combination of
increased financing costs without a corresponding increase in investment income in such a scenario would result in smaller distributions to equity holders
of a CLO. As of the date of this prospectus, due to recent increases in interest rates, LIBOR has increased above the LIBOR floor set for many senior
secured loans and, as such, as of the date of this prospectus, LIBOR is near or above the weighted average floor of the senior secured loans held by the
CLOs in which we expect to target for investment.
LIBOR Risk. The CLOs in which we invest typically obtain financing at a floating rate based on LIBOR. Regulators and law-enforcement agencies
from a number of governments, including entities in the United States, Japan, Canada and the United Kingdom, have conducted or are conducting civil and
criminal investigations into whether the banks that contribute to the British Bankers’ Association, or the “BBA,” in connection with the calculation of daily
LIBOR may have been under-reporting or otherwise manipulating or attempting to manipulate LIBOR. Several financial institutions have reached
settlements with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or the “CFTC,” the U.S. Department of Justice Fraud Section and the United Kingdom
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Financial Conduct Authority in connection with investigations by such authorities into submissions made by such financial institutions to the bodies that set
LIBOR and other interbank offered rates. In such settlements, such financial institutions admitted to submitting rates to the BBA that were lower than the
actual rates at which such financial institutions could borrow funds from other banks. Additional investigations remain ongoing with respect to other major
banks. There can be no assurance that there will not be additional admissions or findings of rate-setting manipulation or that manipulations of LIBOR or
other similar interbank offered rates will not be shown to have occurred. On February 1, 2014, ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (formerly NYSE
Euronext Rate Administration Limited) took over the administration of LIBOR from the BBA, subject to authorization from the Financial Conduct
Authority and following a period of transition. Any new administrator of LIBOR may make methodological changes to the way in which LIBOR is
calculated or may alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of LIBOR. Any of such actions or other effects from the ongoing investigations
could adversely affect the liquidity and value of our investments. Further, additional admissions or findings of manipulation may decrease the confidence of
the market in LIBOR and lead market participants to look for alternative, non-LIBOR based types of financing, such as fixed rate loans or bonds or floating
rate loans based on non-LIBOR indices. An increase in alternative types of financing at the expense of LIBOR-based CLOs may impair the liquidity of our
investments. Additionally, it may make it more difficult for CLO issuers to satisfy certain conditions set forth in a CLO’s offering documents.
On July 27, 2017, the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it will not compel panel banks to contribute
to LIBOR after 2021. It is unclear if at that time LIBOR will cease to exist or if new methods of calculating LIBOR will be established such that it
continues to exist after 2021. Central banks and regulators in a number of major jurisdictions (for example, United States, United Kingdom, European
Union, Switzerland and Japan) have convened working groups to find, and implement the transition to, suitable replacements for interbank offered rates
(“IBORs”). The E.U. Benchmarks Regulation imposed conditions under which only compliant benchmarks may be used in new contracts after 2021. To
identify a successor rate for U.S. dollar LIBOR, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”), a U.S.-based group convened by the Federal
Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, was formed. The ARRC has identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as its
preferred alternative rate for LIBOR. SOFR is a measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight, collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities, and is based on
directly observable U.S. Treasury-backed repurchase transactions. In addition, on March 25, 2020, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority reaffirmed the
central assumption that firms cannot rely on LIBOR being published after the end of 2021. However, the outbreak of COVID-19 may adversely impact the
timing of many firms’ transition planning, and we continue to assess the potential impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on our transition plans. Although
SOFR appears to be the preferred replacement rate for U.S. dollar LIBOR, at this time, it is not possible to predict the effect of any such changes, any
establishment of alternative reference rates, whether the COVID-19 outbreak will have further effect on LIBOR transition timelines or plans, or other
reforms to LIBOR that may be enacted in the United States, United Kingdom or elsewhere. Furthermore, on November 30, 2020, Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. (ICE) announced that the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (IBA), a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICE and the administrator of
LIBOR, will consider extending the LIBOR transition deadline to June 30, 2023. The announcement was supported by the FCA and the U.S. Federal
Reserve. Despite the announcement, regulators continue to emphasize the importance of LIBOR transition planning.
Recently, the CLOs we have invested in have included, or have been amended to include, language permitting the CLO investment manager, to implement
a market replacement rate (like those proposed by the ARRC of the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York) upon the
occurrence of certain material disruption events. However, we cannot ensure that all CLOs in which we are invested will have such provisions, nor can we
ensure the CLO investment managers will undertake the suggested amendments when able. We believe that because CLO managers and other CLO market
participants have been preparing for an eventual transition away from LIBOR, we do not anticipate such a transition to have a material impact on the
liquidity or value of any of our LIBOR-referenced CLO investments. However, because the future of LIBOR at this time is uncertain and the specific
effects of a transition away from LIBOR cannot be determined with certainty as of the date of this Prospectus, a transition away from LIBOR could:

•
•
•
•

adversely impact the pricing, liquidity, value of, return on and trading for a broad array of financial products, including any LIBOR-linked CLO
investments;
require extensive changes to documentation that governs or references LIBOR or LIBOR-based products, including, for example, pursuant to
time-consuming renegotiations of existing documentation to modify the terms of outstanding investments;
result in inquiries or other actions from regulators in respect of our preparation and readiness for the replacement of LIBOR with one or more
alternative reference rates;
result in disputes, litigation or other actions with CLO investment managers, regarding the interpretation and enforceability of provisions in our
LIBOR-based CLO investments, such as fallback language or other related provisions,
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•
•

including, in the case of fallbacks to the alternative reference rates, any economic, legal, operational or other impact resulting from the
fundamental differences between LIBOR and the various alternative reference rates;
require the transition and/or development of appropriate systems and analytics to effectively transition our risk management processes from
LIBOR-based products to those based on one or more alternative reference rates, which may prove challenging given the limited history of the
proposed alternative reference rates; and
cause us to incur additional costs in relation to any of the above factors.

In addition, the effect of a phase out of LIBOR on U.S. senior secured loans, the underlying assets of the CLOs in which we invest, is currently unclear.
To the extent that any replacement rate utilized for senior secured loans differs from that utilized for a CLO that holds those loans, the CLO would
experience an interest rate mismatch between its assets and liabilities which could have an adverse impact on our net investment income and portfolio
returns.
LIBOR Mismatch. Many underlying corporate borrowers can elect to pay interest based on 1-month LIBOR, 3-month LIBOR and/or other rates in
respect of the loans held by CLOs in which we are invested, in each case plus an applicable spread, whereas CLOs generally pay interest to holders of the
CLO’s debt tranches based on 3-month LIBOR plus a spread. The 3-month LIBOR currently exceeds the 1-month LIBOR by a historically high amount,
which may result in many underlying corporate borrowers electing to pay interest based on 1-month LIBOR. This mismatch in the rate at which CLOs earn
interest and the rate at which they pay interest on their debt tranches negatively impacts the cash flows on a CLO’s equity tranche, which may in turn
adversely affect our cash flows and results of operations. Unless spreads are adjusted to account for such increases, these negative impacts may worsen as
the amount by which the 3-month LIBOR exceeds the 1-month LIBOR increases.
Low Interest Rate Environment. As of the date of this prospectus, interest rates in the United States are at historic lows due to the U.S. Federal
Reserve’s recent lowering of certain interest rates as part of its efforts to ease the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. With the historically low
interest rates, there is a risk that interest rates will rise once the COVID-19 pandemic abates.
The senior secured loans underlying the CLOs in which we invest typically have floating interest rates. A rising interest rate environment may increase
loan defaults, resulting in losses for the CLOs in which we invest. In addition, increasing interest rates may lead to higher prepayment rates, as corporate
borrowers look to avoid escalating interest payments or refinance floating rate loans. See “— Our investments are subject to prepayment risk.” Further, a
general rise in interest rates will increase the financing costs of the CLOs. However, since many of the senior secured loans within CLOs have LIBOR
floors, if LIBOR is below the average LIBOR floor, there may not be corresponding increases in investment income resulting in smaller distributions to
equity investors in these CLOs.
Given the structure of the incentive fee payable to the Adviser, a general increase in interest rates will likely have the effect of making it easier for the
Advisor to meet the quarterly hurdle rate for payment of income incentive fees under the Investment Advisory Agreement without any additional increase
in relative performance on the part of the Advisor.
Our investments are subject to credit risk.
If a CLO in which we invest, an underlying asset of any such CLO or any other type of credit investment in our portfolio declines in price or fails to
pay interest or principal when due because the issuer or debtor, as the case may be, experiences a decline in its financial status, or because the equity owner
of such debtor recoups its investment before the borrower repays its obligations to the lender, either or both our income and NAV may be adversely
impacted. Non-payment would result in a reduction of our income, a reduction in the value of the applicable CLO security or other credit investment
experiencing non-payment and, potentially, a decrease in our NAV. With respect to our investments in CLO securities and credit investments that are
secured, there can be no assurance that liquidation of collateral would satisfy the issuer’s obligation in the event of non-payment of scheduled dividend,
interest or principal or that such collateral could be readily liquidated. In the event of bankruptcy of an issuer, we could experience delays or limitations
with respect to its ability to realize the benefits of any collateral securing a CLO security or credit investment. To the extent that the credit rating assigned
to a security in our portfolio is downgraded, the market price and liquidity of such security may be adversely affected. In addition, if a CLO in which we
invest triggers an event of default as a result of failing to make payments when due or for other reasons, the CLO would be subject to the possibility of
liquidation, which could result in full loss of value to the CLO equity and subordinated debt investors. CLO equity tranches are the most likely tranche to
suffer a loss of all of their value in these circumstances.
Our investments are subject to prepayment risk.
Although the Advisor’s valuations and projections take into account certain expected levels of prepayments, the collateral of a CLO may be prepaid
more quickly than expected. As part of the ordinary management of its portfolio, a CLO will typically generate cash from asset repayments and sales and
reinvest those proceeds in substitute assets, subject to compliance with its
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investment tests and certain other conditions. The earnings with respect to such substitute assets will depend on the quality of reinvestment opportunities
available at the time. The need to satisfy the CLO’s covenants and identify acceptable assets may require the CLO collateral manager to purchase substitute
assets at a lower yield than those initially acquired or require that the sale proceeds be maintained temporarily in cash. Either such action by the CLO
collateral manager may reduce the yield that the CLO collateral manager is able to achieve. A CLO's investment tests may incentivize a CLO collateral
manager to buy riskier assets than it otherwise would, which could result in additional losses. These factors could reduce our return on investment and may
have a negative effect on the fair value of our assets and the market value of our securities.
In addition, the reinvestment period for a CLO may terminate early, which may cause the holders of the CLO’s securities to receive principal payments
earlier than anticipated. Prepayment rates are influenced by changes in interest rates and a variety of factors beyond our control and consequently cannot be
accurately predicted. Early prepayments give rise to increased reinvestment risk, as we or a CLO collateral manager might realize excess cash from
prepayments earlier than expected. There can be no assurance that the CLO collateral managers will be able to reinvest such amounts in an alternative
investment that provides a comparable return relative to the credit risk assumed. If we or a CLO collateral manager are unable to reinvest such cash in a
new investment with an expected rate of return at least equal to that of the investment repaid, this may reduce our net investment income and the fair value
of that asset.
In addition, in most CLO transactions, CLO debt investors, such as us, are subject to prepayment risk in that the holders of a majority of the equity
tranche can direct a call or refinancing of a CLO, which would cause such CLO’s outstanding CLO debt securities to be repaid at par.
We are subject to risks associated with loan assignments and participations.
We, or the CLOs in which we invest, may acquire interests in loans either directly (by way of assignment, or “Assignments”) or indirectly (by way of
participation, or “Participations”). The purchaser by an Assignment of a loan obligation typically succeeds to all the rights and obligations of the selling
institution and becomes a lender under the loan or credit agreement with respect to the debt obligation. In contrast, Participations acquired by us in a
portion of a debt obligation held by a selling institution (the “Selling Institution”) typically result in a contractual relationship only with such Selling
Institution, not with the obligor. We would have the right to receive payments of principal, interest and any fees under the Participation only from the
Selling Institution and only upon receipt by the Selling Institution of such payments from the obligor. In purchasing a Participation, we generally will have
no right to enforce compliance by the obligor with the terms of the loan or credit agreement or other instrument evidencing such debt obligation, nor any
rights of setoff against the obligor, and we may not directly benefit from the collateral supporting the debt obligation in which we purchased the
Participation. As a result, we would assume the credit risk of both the obligor and the Selling Institution. In the event of the insolvency of the Selling
Institution, we will be treated as a general creditor of the Selling Institution in respect of the Participation and may not benefit from any setoff between the
Selling Institution and the obligor.
When we hold a Participation in a debt obligation, we may not have the right to vote to waive enforcement of any default by an obligor. Selling
Institutions commonly reserve the right to administer the debt obligations sold by them as they see fit and to amend the documentation evidencing such
debt obligations in all respects. However, most Participation agreements with respect to senior secured loans provide that the Selling Institution may not
vote in favor of any amendment, modification or waiver that (1) forgives principal, interest or fees, (2) reduces principal, interest or fees that are payable,
(3) postpones any payment of principal (whether a scheduled payment or a mandatory prepayment), interest or fees or (4) releases any material guarantee
or security without the consent of the participant (at least to the extent the participant would be affected by any such amendment, modification or waiver).
A Selling Institution voting in connection with a potential waiver of a default by an obligor may have interests different from ours, and the Selling
Institution might not consider our interests in connection with its vote. In addition, many Participation agreements with respect to senior secured loans that
provide voting rights to the participant further provide that, if the participant does not vote in favor of amendments, modifications or waivers, the Selling
Institution may repurchase such Participation at par. An investment by us in a synthetic security related to a loan involves many of the same considerations
relevant to Participations.
The lack of liquidity in our investments may adversely affect our business.
The securities issued by CLOs generally offer less liquidity than other investment grade or high-yield corporate debt, and are subject to certain transfer
restrictions that impose certain financial and other eligibility requirements on prospective transferees. Other investments that we may purchase in privately
negotiated transactions may also be illiquid or subject to legal restrictions on their transfer. As a result of this illiquidity, our ability to sell certain
investments quickly, or at all, in response to changes in economic and other conditions and to receive a fair price when selling such investments may be
limited, which could prevent us from making sales to mitigate losses on such investments. In addition, CLOs are subject to the possibility of liquidation
upon an event of default, which could result in full loss of value to the CLO equity and subordinated debt investors. CLO equity tranches are the most
likely tranche to suffer a loss of all of their value in these circumstances.
High-yield investments, including collateral held by CLOs in which we invest, generally have limited liquidity. As a result, prices of high-yield
investments have at times experienced significant and rapid decline when a substantial number of holders (or a

47

few holders of a significantly large “block” of the securities) decided to sell. In addition, we (or the CLOs in which we invest) may have difficulty
disposing of certain high-yield investments because there may be a limited trading market (or no trading market) for such securities. To the extent that a
secondary trading market for non-investment grade high-yield investments does exist, it would not be as liquid as the secondary market for highly rated
investments. As secondary market trading volumes increase, new loans frequently contain standardized documentation to facilitate loan trading that may
improve market liquidity. There can be no assurance, however, that future levels of supply and demand in loan trading will provide an adequate degree of
liquidity or that the current level of liquidity will continue. Because holders of such loans are offered confidential information relating to the borrower, the
unique and customized nature of the loan agreement, and the private syndication of the loan, loans are not purchased or sold as easily as publicly traded
securities are purchased or sold. Although a secondary market may exist, risks similar to those described above in connection with an investment in highyield debt investments are also applicable to investments in lower rated loans. Reduced secondary market liquidity would have an adverse impact on the
fair value of the securities and on our direct or indirect ability to dispose of particular securities in response to a specific economic event such as
deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuer of such securities.
We may be exposed to counterparty risk.
We may be exposed to counterparty risk, which could make it difficult for us or the CLOs in which we invest to collect on the obligations represented
by investments and result in significant losses.
We may hold investments (including synthetic securities) that would expose us to the credit risk of our counterparties or the counterparties of the CLOs
in which it invests. In the event of a bankruptcy or insolvency of such a counterparty, we or a CLO in which such an investment is held could suffer
significant losses, including the loss of that part of our or the CLO’s portfolio financed through such a transaction, declines in the value of our investment,
including declines that may occur during an applicable stay period, the inability to realize any gains on our investment during such period and fees and
expenses incurred in enforcing our rights. If a CLO enters into or owns synthetic securities, the CLO may fall within the definition of “commodity pool”
under CFTC rules, and the collateral manager of the CLO may be required to register as a commodity pool operator with the CFTC, which could increase
costs for the CLO and reduce amounts available to pay to the residual tranche.
In addition, with respect to certain swaps and synthetic securities, neither the CLOs nor we would usually have a contractual relationship with the
entities, referred to as “Reference Entities,” whose payment obligations are the subject of the relevant swap agreement or security. Therefore, neither the
CLOs nor we would generally have a right to directly enforce compliance by the Reference Entity with the terms of this kind of underlying obligation, any
rights of set-off against the Reference Entity or any voting rights with respect to the underlying obligation. Neither the CLOs nor we will directly benefit
from the collateral supporting the underlying obligation and will not have the benefit of the remedies that would normally be available to a holder of such
underlying obligation.
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We are subject to risks associated with defaults on an underlying asset held by a CLO.
A default and any resulting loss as well as other losses on an underlying asset held by a CLO may reduce the fair value of our corresponding CLO
investment. A wide range of factors could adversely affect the ability of the borrower of an underlying asset to make interest or other payments on that
asset. To the extent that actual defaults and losses on the collateral of an investment exceed the level of defaults and losses factored into its purchase price,
the value of the anticipated return from the investment will be reduced. The more deeply subordinated the tranche of securities in which we invest, the
greater the risk of loss upon a default. For example, CLO equity is the most subordinated tranche within a CLO and is therefore subject to the greatest risk
of loss resulting from defaults on the CLO’s collateral, whether due to bankruptcy or otherwise. Any defaults and losses in excess of expected default rates
and loss model inputs will have a negative impact on the fair value of our investments, will reduce the cash flows that we receive from our investments,
adversely affect the fair value of our assets and could adversely impact our ability to pay dividends. In addition, the collateral of CLOs may require
substantial workout negotiations or restructuring in the event of a default or liquidation. Any such workout or restructuring is likely to lead to a substantial
reduction in the interest rate of such asset and/or a substantial write-down or write-off of all or a portion the principal of such asset. Any such reduction in
interest rates or principal will negatively affect the fair value of our portfolio.
We are subject to risks associated with loan accumulation facilities.
We may invest capital in loan accumulation facilities, which are short- to medium-term facilities often provided by the bank that will serve as the
placement agent or arranger on a CLO transaction and which acquire loans on an interim basis that are expected to form part of the portfolio of such future
CLO. Investments in loan accumulation facilities have risks that are similar to those applicable to investments in CLOs as described in this prospectus. In
addition, there is also mark-to-market risk in some loan accumulation facilities, and there typically will be no assurance that the future CLO will be
consummated or that the loans held in such a facility are eligible for purchase by the CLO. Furthermore, we likely will have no consent rights in respect of
the loans to be acquired in such a facility and in the event we do have any consent rights, they will be limited. In the event a planned CLO is not
consummated, or the loans are not eligible for purchase by the CLO, we may be responsible for either holding or disposing of the loans. This could expose
us primarily to credit and/or mark-to-market losses, and other risks. Loan accumulation facilities typically incur leverage from three to six times prior to a
CLO’s closing and as such the potential risk of loss will be increased for such facilities that employ leverage.
We are subject to risks associated with the bankruptcy or insolvency of an issuer or borrower of a loan that we hold or of an underlying asset held
by a CLO in which we invest.
In the event of a bankruptcy or insolvency of an issuer or borrower of a loan that we hold or of an underlying asset held by a CLO or other vehicle in
which we invest, a court or other governmental entity may determine that our claims or those of the relevant CLO are not valid or not entitled to the
treatment we expected when making our initial investment decision.
Various laws enacted for the protection of debtors may apply to the underlying assets in our investment portfolio. The information in this and the
following paragraph represents a brief summary of certain points only, is not intended to be an extensive summary of the relevant issues and is applicable
with respect to U.S. issuers and borrowers only. The following is not intended to be a summary of all relevant risks. Similar avoidance provisions to those
described below are sometimes available with respect to non-U.S. issuers or borrowers, but there is no assurance that this will be the case which may result
in a much greater risk of partial or total loss of value in that underlying asset.
If a court in a lawsuit brought by an unpaid creditor or representative of creditors of an issuer or borrower of underlying assets, such as a trustee in
bankruptcy, were to find that such issuer or borrower did not receive fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value for incurring the indebtedness
constituting such underlying assets and, after giving effect to such indebtedness, the issuer or borrower: (1) was insolvent; (2) was engaged in a business for
which the remaining assets of such issuer or borrower constituted unreasonably small capital; or (3) intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts
beyond our ability to pay such debts as they mature, such court could decide to invalidate, in whole or in part, the indebtedness constituting the underlying
assets as a fraudulent conveyance, to subordinate such indebtedness to existing or future creditors of the issuer or borrower or to recover amounts
previously paid by the issuer or borrower in satisfaction of such indebtedness. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of an issuer or borrower of
underlying assets, payments made on such underlying assets could be subject to avoidance as a “preference” if made within a certain period of time (which
may be as long as one year under U.S. Federal bankruptcy law or even longer under state laws) before insolvency.
Our underlying assets may be subject to various laws for the protection of debtors in other jurisdictions, including the jurisdiction of incorporation of
the issuer or borrower of such underlying assets and, if different, the jurisdiction from which it conducts business and in which it holds assets, any of which
may adversely affect such issuer’s or borrower’s ability to make, or a creditor’s ability to enforce, payment in full, on a timely basis or at all. These
insolvency considerations will differ depending on the jurisdiction in which an issuer or borrower or the related underlying assets are located and may
differ depending on the legal status of the issuer or borrower.
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We may be exposed to risks if we invest in the securities of new issuers.
We may indirectly invest in the securities of new issuers and CLOs sponsored by new collateral managers. Investments in relatively new issuers, i.e.,
those having continuous operating histories of less than three years and CLOs sponsored by new collateral managers, may carry special risks and may be
more speculative because such issuers or collateral managers are relatively unseasoned. Such issuers or collateral managers may also lack sufficient
resources, may be unable to generate internally the funds necessary for growth and may find external financing to be unavailable on favorable terms or
even totally unavailable. Certain issuers may be involved in the development or marketing of a new product with no established market, which could lead
to significant losses. Securities of such issuers may have a limited trading market which may adversely affect their disposition and can result in their being
priced lower than might otherwise be the case. If other investors who invest in such issuers seek to sell the same securities when we attempt to dispose of
our holdings, we may receive lower prices than might otherwise be the case.
We may expose ourselves to risks if we engage in hedging transactions.
While we do not currently engage in hedging transactions, if we engage in hedging transactions, we may expose ourselves to risks associated with such
transactions. We may utilize instruments such as forward contracts, currency options and interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors to seek to hedge
against fluctuations in the relative values of our portfolio positions from changes in currency exchange rates and market interest rates. Hedging against a
decline in the values of our portfolio positions does not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the values of such positions or prevent losses if the
values of such positions decline. However, such hedging can establish other positions designed to gain from those same developments, thereby offsetting
the decline in the value of such portfolio positions. Such hedging transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the values of the underlying
portfolio positions increase. It may not be possible to hedge against an exchange rate or interest rate fluctuation that is so generally anticipated that we are
not able to enter into a hedging transaction at an acceptable price. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect correlation
between such hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may prevent us from achieving the intended
hedge and expose us to risk of loss. In addition, it may not be possible to hedge fully or perfectly against currency fluctuations affecting the value of
securities denominated in non-U.S. currencies because the value of those securities is likely to fluctuate as a result of factors not related to currency
fluctuations.
We and our investments may be subject to currency risk.
Any of our investments that are denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars will be subject to the risk that the value of such currency will
decrease in relation to the U.S. dollar. Although we will consider hedging any non-U.S. dollar exposures back to U.S. dollars, an increase in the value of
the U.S. dollar compared to other currencies in which we invest or intend to make investments would otherwise reduce the effect of increases and magnify
the effect of decreases in the prices of our non-U.S. dollar denominated investments in their local markets. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates will
similarly affect the U.S. dollar equivalent of any interest, dividends or other payments made that are denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars.
We and our investments are subject to risks associated with non-U.S. investing.
While we invest primarily in CLOs that hold underlying U.S. assets, these CLOs may be organized outside the United States, and we may also invest in
CLOs that hold collateral that are non-U.S. assets. Investing in foreign entities may expose us to additional risks not typically associated with investing in
U.S. issuers. These risks include changes in exchange control regulations, political and social instability, restrictions on the types or amounts of investment,
expropriation, imposition of foreign taxes, less liquid markets and less available information than is generally the case in the U.S., higher transaction costs,
less government supervision of exchanges, brokers and issuers, less developed bankruptcy laws, difficulty in enforcing contractual obligations, lack of
uniform accounting and auditing standards, currency fluctuations and greater price volatility. Further, we, and the CLOs in which we invest, may have
difficulty enforcing creditor’s rights in foreign jurisdictions.
In addition, international trade tensions may arise from time to time which could result in trade tariffs, embargoes or other restrictions or limitations on
trade. The imposition of any actions on trade could trigger a significant reduction in international trade, supply chain disruptions, an oversupply of certain
manufactured goods, substantial price reductions of goods and possible failure of individual companies or industries, which could have a negative impact
on the value of the CLO securities that we hold.
Foreign markets also have different clearance and settlement procedures, and in certain markets there have been times when settlements have failed to
keep pace with the volume of securities transactions, making it difficult to conduct such transactions. Delays in settlement could result in periods when our
assets are uninvested. Our inability to make intended investments due to settlement problems or the risk of intermediary counterparty failures could cause
us to miss investment opportunities. The inability to dispose of an investment due to settlement problems could result either in losses to us due to
subsequent declines in the value of such investment or, if we have entered into a contract to sell the security, could result in possible liability to the
purchaser. Transaction costs of buying and selling foreign securities also are generally higher than those involved in domestic transactions. Furthermore,
foreign financial markets have, for the most part, substantially less volume than U.S. markets, and securities of many foreign companies are less liquid and
their prices more volatile than securities of comparable domestic companies.
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The economies of individual non-U.S. countries may also differ favorably or unfavorably from the U.S. economy in such respects as growth of gross
domestic product, rate of inflation, volatility of currency exchange rates, depreciation, capital reinvestment, resources self-sufficiency and balance of
payments position.
Any unrealized depreciation we experience on our portfolio may be an indication of future realized losses, which could reduce our income available
for distribution or to make payments on our other obligations.
As a registered closed-end management investment company, we are required to carry our investments at market value or, if no market value is
ascertainable, at the fair value as determined in good faith by our board of directors. Decreases in the market values or fair values of our investments are
recorded as unrealized depreciation. Any unrealized losses in our portfolio could be an indication of an issuer’s inability to meet its repayment obligations
to us with respect to the affected investments. This could result in realized losses in the future and ultimately in reductions of our income available for
distribution or to make payments on our other obligations in future periods.
If our distributions exceed our taxable income and capital gains realized during a taxable year, all or a portion of the distributions made in the same
taxable year may be recharacterized as a return of capital to our common stockholders. A return of capital distribution will generally not be taxable to our
stockholders. However, a return of capital distribution will reduce a stockholder’s cost basis in our securities on which the distribution was received,
thereby potentially resulting in a higher reported capital gain or lower reported capital loss when those securities are sold or otherwise disposed of.
A portion of our income and fees may not be qualifying income for purposes of the income source requirement.
Some of the income and fees that we may recognize will not satisfy the qualifying income requirement applicable to RICs. In order to ensure that such
income and fees do not disqualify us as a RIC for a failure to satisfy such requirement, we may be required to recognize such income and fees indirectly
through one or more entities classified as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Such corporations will be required to pay U.S. corporate
income tax on their earnings, which ultimately will reduce our return on such income and fees.
Downgrades by rating agencies of broadly syndicated loans could adversely impact the financial performance of the CLO vehicles in which we
have invested and their ability to pay equity distributions to the Company in the future.
Ratings agencies have recently undergone reviews of CLO tranches and their broadly syndicated loans in light of the COVID-19 pandemic’s adverse
impact on the economic market. Such reviews have, in some cases, resulted in downgrades of broadly syndicated loans. Such downgrades of broadly
syndicated loans, as well as downgrades of broadly syndicated loans in the future, could adversely impact the financial performance of the CLO vehicles in
which we own equity tranches, thereby limiting the ability of such CLO vehicles to pay equity distributions to the Company in the future. The full extent of
downgrades by ratings agencies of broadly syndicated loans is currently unknown, thereby resulting in a high degree of uncertainty with respect to the
financial performance of the CLO vehicles in which we own equity tranches and ability to pay equity distributions to the Company in the future.
Risks Related to an Investment in our Securities
Due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic, our shares of common stock have traded at a discount from NAV and our Series A Term Preferred Stock
may not trade at a favorable price.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the stocks of registered closed-end investment companies as an industry, including shares of our common
stock, have traded below NAV at or near historic lows as a result of concerns over liquidity, leverage restrictions and distribution requirements. If our
common stock continues to trade below its NAV, we will generally not be able to issue additional shares of our common stock. If additional funds are not
available to us, we could be forced to curtail or cease our new investment activities, and our NAV could decrease and our level of distributions could be
impacted. Additionally, as a result of the volatile market conditions that may result from public health threats, such as the COVID-19 pandemic or any
other illness, we cannot provide any assurance that our Series A Term Preferred Stock will trade at a favorable price.
Our common stock price may be volatile and may decrease substantially.
The trading price of our shares of common stock may fluctuate substantially. The price of our shares of common stock that will prevail in the market
after any offering made pursuant to this prospectus may be higher or lower than the price you pay to purchase shares of our common stock, depending on
many factors, some of which are beyond our control and may not be directly related to our operating performance. These factors include the following:
•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

•

investor demand for our shares;

51

•

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of securities of registered closed-end management investment companies or other
companies in our sector, which are not necessarily related to the operating performance of these companies;

•

changes in regulatory policies or tax guidelines with respect to RICs or registered closed-end management investment companies;

•

failure to qualify as a RIC or the loss of RIC status;

•

any shortfall in revenue or net income or any increase in losses from levels expected by investors or securities analysts;

•

changes, or perceived changes, in the value of our portfolio investments;

•

departures of any members of the Senior Investment Team;

•

operating performance of companies comparable to us; or

•

general economic conditions and trends and other external factors.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. Due to the potential volatility of our share price, we may become the target of securities litigation in the future. Securities litigation could result
in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from our business.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully deploy the proceeds of any offering conducted pursuant to this prospectus within the
timeframe we have contemplated.
We currently anticipate that substantially all of the net proceeds of any offering conducted pursuant to this prospectus will be invested in accordance
with our investment objective within approximately one to three months after the consummation of such offering. We cannot assure you, however, that we
will be able to locate a sufficient number of suitable investment opportunities to allow us to successfully deploy substantially all of the net proceeds of any
such offering in that timeframe. To the extent we are unable to invest substantially all of the net proceeds of any such offering within our contemplated
timeframe after the completion of such offering, our investment income, and in turn our results of operations, will likely be materially adversely affected.
We will have broad discretion over the use of proceeds of any offering conducted pursuant to this prospectus and will use proceeds in part to satisfy
operating expenses.
We will have significant flexibility in applying the proceeds of any offering conducted pursuant to this prospectus and may use the net proceeds from
any such offering in ways with which you may not agree, or for purposes other than those contemplated at the time of such offering. We will also pay
operating expenses, and may pay other expenses such as due diligence expenses of potential new investments, from net proceeds. Our ability to achieve our
investment objective may be limited to the extent that net proceeds of any such offering, pending full investment, are used to pay operating expenses.
SEC regulations may limit the number of shares we may sell under this prospectus.
Under current SEC regulations, for so long as our public float remains less than $75 million, the amount we can raise through primary public offerings
of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements, including sales under this prospectus, is limited to an aggregate of one-third of
our public float. As of February 19, 2021, the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates, or public float, was approximately $48.4
million based on 3,235,053 shares of common stock held by non-affiliates, at a price of $14.95 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our
common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on February 19, 2021. Pursuant to certain SEC rules, in no event will we sell securities registered on this
registration statement in a public primary offering with a value exceeding more than one-third of our public float in any 12-month period so long as our
public float remains below $75.0 million. If our public float decreases, the amount of securities we may sell under this prospectus will also decrease.
Your economic and voting interest in us, as well as your proportionate interest in our net asset value, may be diluted if you do not fully exercise your
subscription rights in any rights offering.
In the event we issue subscription rights to purchase shares of our common stock, stockholders who do not fully exercise their rights should expect that
they will, at the completion of the offer, own a smaller proportional interest in us, including with respect to voting rights, than would otherwise be the case
if they fully exercised their rights. We cannot state precisely the amount of any such dilution in share ownership because we do not know at this time what
proportion of the shares will be purchased as a result of the offer.
In addition, if the subscription price is less than our net asset value per share, then our stockholders would experience an immediate dilution of the
aggregate net asset value of their shares as a result of the offer. The amount of any decrease in net asset
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value is not predictable because it is not known at this time what the subscription price and net asset value per share will be on the expiration date of the
rights offering or what proportion of the shares will be purchased as a result of the offer. Such dilution could be substantial.
If we issue additional preferred stock, the net asset value and market value of our common stock will likely become more volatile.
We cannot assure you that the issuance of additional preferred stock would result in a higher yield or return to the holders of the common stock. The
issuance of additional preferred stock would likely cause the net asset value and market value of the common stock to become more volatile. If the dividend
rate on the preferred stock were to approach the net rate of return on our investment portfolio, the benefit of leverage to the holders of the common stock
would be reduced. If the dividend rate on the preferred stock were to exceed the net rate of return on our portfolio, the leverage would result in a lower rate
of return to the holders of common stock than if we had not issued preferred stock. Any decline in the net asset value of our investments would be borne
entirely by the holders of common stock. Therefore, if the market value of our portfolio were to decline, the leverage would result in a greater decrease in
net asset value to the holders of common stock than if we were not leveraged through the issuance of preferred stock. This greater net asset value decrease
would also tend to cause a greater decline in the market price for the common stock. We might be in danger of failing to maintain the required asset
coverage of the preferred stock or of losing our ratings, if any, on the preferred stock or, in an extreme case, our current investment income might not be
sufficient to meet the dividend requirements on the preferred stock. In order to counteract such an event, we might need to liquidate investments in order to
fund a redemption of some or all of the preferred stock. In addition, we would pay (and the holders of common stock would bear) all costs and expenses
relating to the issuance and ongoing maintenance of the preferred stock, including higher advisory fees if our total return exceeds the dividend rate on the
preferred stock. Holders of preferred stock may have different interests than holders of common stock and may at times have disproportionate influence
over our affairs.
Any amounts that we use to service our indebtedness or preferred dividends, or that we use to redeem our preferred stock, will not be available for
distributions to our common stockholders.
We may in the future issue debt securities or additional shares of preferred stock and/or borrow money from banks or other financial institutions, which
we refer to collectively as “senior securities,” up to the maximum amount permitted by the 1940 Act. Under the provisions of the 1940 Act, we will be
permitted, as a registered closed-end management investment company, to issue senior securities representing indebtedness so long as our asset coverage
ratio with respect thereto, defined under the 1940 Act as the ratio of our gross assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior
securities) to our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness, is at least 300% after each issuance of such senior securities. In addition, we will
be permitted to issue additional shares of preferred stock so long as our asset coverage ratio with respect thereto, defined under the 1940 Act as the ratio of
our gross assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) to our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness, plus
the aggregate involuntary liquidation preference of our outstanding preferred stock, is at least 200% after each issuance of such preferred stock. If the value
of our assets declines, we may be unable to satisfy these tests. If that happens, we may be required to sell a portion of our investments and, depending on
the nature of our leverage, repay a portion of our indebtedness or redeem outstanding shares of preferred stock, in each case at a time when doing so may
be disadvantageous. Any amounts that we use to service our indebtedness or preferred dividends, or that we use to redeem our preferred stock, would not
be available for distributions to our common stockholders.
Our common stock is subject to a risk of subordination relative to holders of our debt instruments and holders of our preferred stock.
Rights of holders of our common stock are subordinated to the rights of holders of our indebtedness and to the rights of holders of our preferred stock.
Therefore, dividends, distributions and other payments to holders of our common stock in liquidation or otherwise may be subject to prior payments due to
the holders of our indebtedness or our preferred stock. In addition, under some circumstances the 1940 Act may provide debt holders with voting rights that
are superior to the voting rights of holders of our equity securities.
Holders of any preferred stock we might issue would have the right to elect members of our Board of Directors and class voting rights on certain
matters.
Except as otherwise provided in our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, Certificate of Designation for the Series A Term Preferred
Stock, the Certificate of Designation for the Series B Term Preferred Stock or as otherwise required by law, (1) each holder of our preferred stock is entitled
to one vote for each share of preferred stock held by such holder on each matter submitted to a vote of our stockholders and (2) the holders of all
outstanding shares of preferred stock and shares of common stock will vote together as a single class; provided that holders of preferred stock, voting
separately as a class, will elect two of our directors and will be entitled to elect a majority of our directors if we fail to pay dividends on any outstanding
shares of preferred stock in an amount equal to two full years of dividends and continuing during that period until we correct that failure. Holders of
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shares of our preferred stock will also vote separately as a class on any matter that materially and adversely affects any preference, right or power of
holders of shares of our preferred stock.
You may not receive distributions or our distributions may decline or may not grow over time.
We cannot assure you that we will achieve investment results or maintain a tax status that will allow or require any specified level of cash distributions
or year-to-year increases in cash distributions. In particular, our future distributions are dependent upon the investment income we receive on our portfolio
investments. To the extent such investment income declines, our ability to pay future distributions may be harmed.
Given the risks described above, an investment in our securities may not be appropriate for all investors. You should carefully consider your
ability to assume these risks before making an investment in our securities.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities pursuant to this prospectus to acquire investments in accordance with our investment
objectives and strategies described in this prospectus and for general working capital purposes. We currently anticipate being able to deploy any remaining
proceeds from any such offering within three months after the completion of such offering, depending on the availability of appropriate investment
opportunities consistent with our investment objectives and market conditions. Any supplement to this prospectus relating to an offering conducted
pursuant to this prospectus will more fully identify the use of proceeds from such offering. During this period, we will invest in temporary investments,
such as cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities and other high-quality debt investments that mature in one year or less, which we expect will
have returns substantially lower than the returns that we anticipate earning from investments in CLO securities and related investments. We cannot assure
you we will achieve our targeted investment pace, which may negatively impact our returns.
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PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DISTRIBUTIONS
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “OCCI.” The following table sets forth, for each fiscal quarter since our initial
public offering, the NAV per share of our common stock, the high and low sales prices for our common stock, such sales prices as a percentage of NAV per
share and quarterly distributions per share.

Period
Fiscal 2021
Second Quarter (through February 19, 2021)
First Quarter
Fiscal 2020
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter
Fiscal 2019
Fourth Quarter

Price Range
High
Low

NAV Per
Share(1)

Premium (Discount) Premium (Discount) of
of High Sales Price
Low Sales Price to
to NAV(2)
NAV(2)
*
*

Distribution per
Share(3)
0.53(7)
0.52(6)

*
*

$ 14.99
$ 14.60

$
$

12.78
9.50

*
*

$
$
$
$

11.58
10.94
9.27
15.92

$
$
$
$

11.30
11.05
16.69
17.40

$
$
$
$

7.92
7.20
4.90
14.65

(2.4)%
1.0 %
80.0 %
9.3 %

(31.6)%
(34.2)%
(47.1)%
(8.0)%

0.52(5)
0.52(4)
0.1734(3)
0.170(3)

$

14.98

$ 17.65

$

16.45

17.8 %

9.8 %

0.167(3)

Third Quarter

$

17.44

$ 18.58

$

17.00

6.5 %

(2.5)%

0.167(3)

Second Quarter

$

18.95

$ 19.00

$

16.26

0.3 %

(14.2)%

0.167(3)

First Quarter
Fiscal 2018
Fourth Quarter (from October 10, 2018
through October 31, 2018)

$

18.82

$ 19.00

$

14.54

1.0 %

(22.7)%

0.167(3)

$

20.11

$ 19.00

$

16.93

(5.5)%

(15.8)%

0.113(3)

14.
(1) Net asset value per share is determined as of the last day in the relevant quarter and therefore may not reflect the net asset value per share on the date
of the high and low sales prices. The net asset values shown are based on outstanding shares at the end of each period.
(2) Calculated as the respective high or low intraday sales price divided by NAV.
(3) Represents the cash distributions payable per month in the specified quarter.
(4) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until July 16, 2020, to elect whether to receive the distribution in
cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 10% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in shares of the
Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.17 million in cash and 168,729 shares of common stock, or approximately
5.2% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than the cash limit
of 10% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who elected to
receive cash. The number of shares of common stock comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $9.00 per share, which equaled
the volume weighted average trading price per share of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on July 15, 16 and 17, 2020.
(5) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until October 15, 2020, to elect whether to receive the
distribution in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 10% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in
shares of the Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.18 million in cash and 167,105 shares of common stock, or
approximately 4.9% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than
the cash limit of 10% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who
elected to receive cash. The number of shares of common stock comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $9.56 per share, which
equaled the volume weighted average trading price per share of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on October 14, 15 and 16,
2020.
(6) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until January 21, 2021, to elect whether to receive the distribution
in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 20% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in shares of the
Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.37 million in cash and 111,491 shares of common stock, or approximately
3.1% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior
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to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than the cash limit of 20% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore
resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who elected to receive cash. The number of shares of common stock
comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $13.36 per share, which equaled the volume weighted average trading price per share
of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on January 20, 21 and 22, 2021.
(7) This distribution will be partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders have until April 22, 2021 to elect whether to receive the
distribution in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 20% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in
shares of the Company’s common stock.
* Not determinable at the time of filing.
Regular Distributions
We intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all or a portion of our reported earnings to stockholders, and at least 90% of our annual ICTI.
Should our annual ICTI exceed our reported earnings, special distributions may be required to maintain our RIC status upon determination of our annual
ICTI. We also intend to make at least annual distributions of all or a portion of our “net capital gains” (which is the excess of net long-term capital gains
over net short-term capital losses). Our quarterly distributions, if any, will be determined by our Board. Any distributions to our stockholders will be
declared out of assets legally available for distribution.
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The following table reflects the cash distributions, including distributions reinvested and returns of capital, if any, per share that we have declared on our
common stock since our IPO.
Distributions in
GAAP Net
excess of GAAP
Investment
Net Investment
Distributions Per Income per
Income per
Months Ended
Record Date
Payment Date
Share
Share
Share(1)
Fiscal 2021
April 30, 2021
March 23, 2021
April 30, 2021(6)
$
0.5300
n/m
n/m
January 31, 2021
December 18, 2020
January 29, 2021(5)
0.5200
n/m
n/m
Fiscal 2020
October 31, 2020
September 15, 2020
July 31, 2020
June 16, 2020
Sub-total for the six months ended October 31, 2020
April 30, 2020
April 23, 2020
March 31, 2020
March 24, 2020
February 29, 2020
February 21, 2020
January 31, 2020
January 24, 2020
December 31, 2019
December 24, 2019
November 30, 2019
November 22, 2019
Sub-total for the six months ended April 30, 2020

October 30, 2020(4)
July 31, 2020(3)

April 30, 2020
March 31, 2020
February 28, 2020
January 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
November 29, 2019
$

Total for fiscal year ended October 31, 2020
Fiscal 2019
October 31, 2019
October 24, 2019
September 30, 2019
September 23, 2019
August 31, 2019
August 23, 2019
July 31, 2019
July 24, 2019
June 30, 2019
June 21, 2019
May 31, 2019
May 24, 2019
Sub-total for the six months ended October 31, 2019
April 30, 2019
April 23, 2019
March 31, 2019
March 22, 2019
February 28, 2019
February 21, 2019
January 31, 2019
January 14, 2019
December 31, 2018
December 10, 2018
November 30, 2018
November 12, 2018
October 31, 2018
November 5, 2018
Sub-total for the six months ended April 30, 2019

$

October 31, 2019
September 30, 2019
August 30, 2019
July 31, 2019
June 28, 2019
May 31, 2019

$

April 30, 2019
March 29, 2019
February 28, 2019
January 31, 2019
December 31, 2018
November 30, 2018
November 16, 2018(2)
$

Total for fiscal year ended October 31, 2019

0.5200
0.5200
1.0400 $

n/m
n/m
0.7500 $

n/m
n/m
0.2900

0.1734
0.1734
0.1734
0.1700
0.1700
0.1700
1.0302
2.0702 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.8300 $
1.5800 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.2002
0.4902

0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
1.0020 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.7800 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.2220

0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1670
0.1130
1.1150
2.1170 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.8800
1.6600 $

n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
n/m
0.2350
0.4570

n/m Not meaningful
(1) This information is not for tax reporting purposes. Each common stockholder will receive a Form 1099-DIV following the end of each calendar year,
which will reflect the actual amounts of taxable ordinary income, capital gain and return of capital paid by us for that calendar year. Return of capital
distributions reported on Form 1099-DIV were 23%, 78%, and -0-%, for calendar years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Investors are urged to consult with their tax advisor concerning the reporting of our distributions.
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(2) The amount of the distribution was proportionately reduced to reflect the number of days remaining in the month after the completion of our IPO.
(3) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until July 16, 2020, to elect whether to receive the distribution in
cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 10% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in shares of the
Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.17 million in cash and 168,729 shares of common stock, or approximately
5.2% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than the cash limit
of 10% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who elected to
receive cash. The number of shares of common stock comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $9.00 per share, which equaled
the volume weighted average trading price per share of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on July 15, 16 and 17, 2020.
(4) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until October 15, 2020, to elect whether to receive the
distribution in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 10% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in
shares of the Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.18 million in cash and 167,105 shares of common stock, or
approximately 4.9% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than
the cash limit of 10% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who
elected to receive cash. The number of shares of common stock comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $9.56 per share, which
equaled the volume weighted average trading price per share of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on October 14, 15 and 16,
2020.
(5) This distribution was partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders had until January 21, 2021, to elect whether to receive the
distribution in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 20% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in
shares of the Company’s common stock. The distribution consisted of approximately $0.37 million in cash and 111,491 shares of common stock, or
approximately 3.1% of the Company's outstanding common stock prior to the distribution. The amount of cash elected to be received was greater than
the cash limit of 20% of the aggregate distribution amount, therefore resulting in the payment of a combination of cash and stock to stockholders who
elected to receive cash. The number of shares of common stock comprising the stock portion was calculated based on a price of $13.36 per share,
which equaled the volume weighted average trading price per share of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on January 20, 21
and 22, 2021.
(6) This distribution will be partially paid in shares of our common stock. Stockholders have until April 22, 2021 to elect whether to receive the
distribution in cash (up to an aggregate maximum cash amount of 20% of the total distribution), excluding any cash paid for fractional shares, or in
shares of the Company’s common stock.
The actual amount of future distributions, if any, remain subject to approval by our Board. We paid the November 2018, December 2018, January 2019
and February 2019 distributions from post-IPO earnings, including interest and capital gains generated by our investment portfolio. However, if we do not
generate sufficient taxable earnings during any applicable monthly period, the distribution may constitute a return of capital, which is a return of a portion
of a stockholder’s original investment in shares of our common stock.
If our distributions from reported earnings exceed our ICTI in a tax year, such excess will represent a return of capital to our stockholders. Additionally,
in order to maintain a stable level of distributions, we may pay out less than all of our investment income or pay out accumulated undistributed income in
addition to current net investment income. To the extent that our net investment income for any year exceeds the total quarterly distributions paid during
the year, we intend to make a special distribution at or near year-end of such excess amount as may be required to qualify for RIC tax treatment. Over time,
we expect that substantially all of our ICTI will be distributed.
We generally intend to reinvest the capital returned to us from our investments. However, GAAP may require us to characterize all or a portion of our
non-taxable (i.e., return of capital) distributions from our CLO investments as interest income. See “Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our Investments CLO investments involve complex documentation and accounting considerations.”
We have adopted a DRIP that provides for reinvestment of our distributions and other distributions on behalf of our stockholders, unless a stockholder
elects to receive cash as provided below. As a result, if our Board authorizes, and we declare, a cash distribution, then our stockholders who have not
“opted out” of the DRIP will have their cash distribution automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock, rather than receiving the cash
distribution. See “Distribution Reinvestment Plan.” Dividend and capital gains distributions generally are taxable to our stockholders whether they are
reinvested in shares of our common stock or received in cash.
Capital Gains Distributions
The 1940 Act currently limits the number of times we may distribute long-term capital gains in any tax year, which may increase the variability of our
distributions and result in certain distributions being comprised more heavily of long-term capital gains eligible
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for favorable income tax rates. In the future, the Advisor may seek Board approval to implement a managed distribution plan for us. The managed
distribution plan would be implemented pursuant to an exemptive order that we would intend to obtain from the SEC granting an exemption from Section
19(b) of the 1940 Act and Rule 19b-1 thereunder to permit us to include long-term capital gains as a part of our regular distributions to stockholders more
frequently than would otherwise be permitted by the 1940 Act (generally once or twice per year). If we implement a managed distribution plan, we would
do so without a vote of our stockholders. There can be no assurance that we will implement such a plan, nor can there be any assurance that SEC relief will
be obtained.
At least annually, we intend to timely distribute any net capital gains (which is the excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital loss)
or, alternatively, to retain all or a portion of the year’s net capital gains and pay U.S. federal income tax on the retained gain. As provided under U.S.
federal income tax law, if we retain all or a portion of such gains and make an election, stockholders of record as of the end of our taxable year will include
their attributable share of the retained gain in their income for the year as a long-term capital gain, and will be entitled to a tax credit or refund for the tax
deemed paid on their behalf by us. We may treat the cash value of tax credit and refund amounts in connection with retained capital gains as a substitute for
equivalent cash distributions.
RIC Distribution Requirement
We have elected, and intend to qualify annually, to be treated as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the Code. Accordingly, we intend to
satisfy certain requirements relating to sources of our income and diversification of our total assets and to satisfy certain distribution requirements, so as to
maintain our RIC tax treatment and to avoid paying U.S. federal income or excise tax. To the extent we qualify as a RIC and satisfy the applicable
distribution requirements, we will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on income and gains timely distributed to our stockholders in the form of
dividends or capital gains distributions.
As a RIC, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our ICTI (as that term is defined in the Code, but without regard to the
deductions for dividend paid) and net capital gains (the excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital loss), if any, that we timely
distribute in each taxable year to stockholders, provided that we distribute an amount at least equal to the sum of 90% of our ICTI and 90% of our net taxexempt interest income for such taxable year. We intend to distribute to stockholders, at least annually, substantially all of our ICTI, net tax-exempt income
and net capital gains. In order to avoid incurring a nondeductible 4% U.S. federal excise tax obligation, the Code requires that we generally distribute (or be
deemed to have distributed) by December 31 of each calendar year an amount at least equal to the sum of (i) 98% of our ordinary income (taking into
account certain deferrals and elections) for such year, (ii) 98.2% of our capital gains net income, generally computed on the basis of the one-year period
ending on October 31 of such year and (iii) 100% of any ordinary income and capital gains net income that we recognized in the prior year (as previously
computed), but were not distributed during such year, and on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax Matters - Taxation
as a Regulated Investment Company”
We are subject to significant and variable differences between our reported earnings under GAAP and our taxable income particularly as it relates to
our CLO equity investments. Because of the tax recognition requirements for CLO vehicles, which may generally constitute “passive foreign investment
companies”, or “PFICs”, taxable income attributed to a CLO equity investment that will be includable in our calculation of ICTI can be dramatically
different from the interest income for financial reporting purposes under GAAP for these investments. Taxable income included in our ICTI will be based
upon the our share of earnings as determined under tax regulations for each CLO entity, which may not be consistent with the distributions we receive from
those investments (significant differences are possible), while reported earnings will be based upon an effective yield calculation (which requires the
calculation of a yield to expected redemption date based upon an estimation of the amount and timing of future distributions irrespective of their tax
character). Our ICTI will be based on the taxable income from our CLO equity investments as well as other sources of taxable income less deductible
expenses incurred in the normal course of our operations, including management and incentive fees, administrative expenses, general and administrative
expenses, and interest expense on any future debt obligations we may incur. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to recognize income from
our CLO investments no later than the time we recognize such income for GAAP purposes. The Company’s final taxable earnings for any fiscal year will
not be known until our tax returns are filed for that period and we will be required to estimate includable income for investor reporting and RIC compliance
purposes, which may result in significant variability in our distributions as special distributions may be required to maintain our RIC status.
Additional Information
The tax treatment and characterization of our distributions may vary substantially from time to time because of the varied nature of our investments. If
our total quarterly distributions in any year exceed the amount of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, any such excess would generally be
characterized as a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent not designated as a capital gain dividend. Under the 1940 Act, for any
distribution that includes amounts from sources other than net income (calculated on a book basis), we are required to provide stockholders a written
statement regarding the components of such distribution. Such a statement will be provided at the time of any distribution believed to include any such
amounts. A return of capital is a distribution to stockholders that is not attributable to our earnings but represents a return of part of the stockholder’s
investment. If our distributions exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits, such excess will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to
the extent of the stockholder’s tax basis in shares of our stock (thus reducing a stockholder’s adjusted tax basis in his or her Shares), and thereafter as
capital gains assuming shares of our stock are held as a capital asset. Upon the sale of shares of our stock, a

60

stockholder generally will recognize capital gains or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized on the sale and the stockholder’s adjusted tax
basis in shares of our stock sold. For example, in year one, a stockholder purchased 100 shares of our common stock at $10 per share. In year two, the
stockholder received a $1-per-share return of capital distribution, which reduced the basis in each share by $1, to give the stockholder an adjusted basis of
$9 per share. In year three, the stockholder sells the 100 shares for $15 per share. Assuming no other transactions during this period, a stockholder would
have a capital gain in year three of $6 per share ($15 minus $9) for a total capital gain of $600.
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SENIOR SECURITIES
Information about our senior securities is shown in the following table as of October 31, 2020, October 31, 2019 and October 31, 2018,
respectively. The reports of our independent registered public accounting firm covering the total amount of senior securities outstanding as of October
31, 2020 and October 31, 2019 are attached as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.

Class and Year(1)
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock
October 31, 2020
October 31, 2019
October 31, 2018

Total Amount
Outstanding(2)
$
$
$

21,316,500
21,316,500
—

Asset Coverage
Per $1,000(3)

Involuntary
Liquidating
Preference
Per Unit(5)

Asset
Coverage Per
Unit(4)

Average
Market Value
Per Unit(6)

$

2,946

$

73.64

$

25.00

$

23.72

$
$

3,151
—

$
$

78.78
—

$
$

25.00
—

$
$

25.46
—

(1) The Company issued an additional series of preferred stock, the Series B Term Preferred Stock, in November 2020, which is not reflected in this table.
(2) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not
represented by senior securities, divided by the class of senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by $1,000 to
determine the “Asset Coverage Per $1,000.”
(3) The Asset Coverage Per Unit is expressed in terms of a ratio per share of outstanding Series A Term Preferred Stock. When expressing in terms of
dollar amounts per share, the asset coverage ratio is multiplied by the involuntary liquidation preference per unit of $25.
(4) The amount to which such class of senior security would be entitled upon the involuntary liquidation of the issuer in preference to any security junior to
it.
(5) Average market value per unit for the Series A Term Preferred Stock represents the average of the daily closing prices as reported on the Nasdaq Capital
Market during the period presented.
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BUSINESS
OFS Credit Company, Inc. is a non-diversified, externally managed closed-end management investment company that has registered as an investment
company under the 1940 Act. We were formed as a Delaware corporation on September 1, 2017.
Investment Objectives
Our primary investment objective is to generate current income, with a secondary objective to generate capital appreciation. We have elected, and
intend to qualify annually, to be treated as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes under subchapter M of the Code. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax
Matters.”
Under normal market conditions, we invest at least 80% of our assets, or net assets plus borrowings, in floating rate credit-based instruments and other
structured credit investments including (i) CLO debt and subordinated (i.e., residual or equity) securities; (ii) traditional corporate credit investments,
including leveraged loans and high yield bonds; (iii) opportunistic credit investments, including stressed and distressed credit situations and long/short
credit investments; and (iv) other credit-related instruments. The CLOs in which we invest or intend to invest are collateralized by portfolios consisting
primarily of below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans with a large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry sectors. As part
of the 80%, we may also invest in other securities and instruments that are related to these investments or that the Advisor believes are consistent with our
investment objectives, including senior debt tranches of CLOs and loan accumulation facilities. The amount that we invest in these other securities and
instruments may vary from time to time and, as such, may constitute a material part of our portfolio on any given date, all as based on the Advisor’s
assessment of prevailing market conditions. The CLO securities in which we will primarily seek to invest are unrated or rated below investment grade and
are considered speculative with respect to timely payment of interest and repayment of principal. Unrated and below investment grade securities are also
sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. These investment objectives are not fundamental policies of ours and may be changed by our Board on 60 days’
notice to our stockholders.
The recent global outbreak of COVID-19 has disrupted economic markets and the prolonged economic impact is uncertain. The operational and
financial performance of our investments depends on future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, and such uncertainty may in
turn impact the valuation of our investments. We believe that the market for CLO-related assets continues to provide us with opportunities to generate
attractive risk-adjusted returns over the long term.
Investment Strategy
When we acquire securities at the inception of a CLO in an originated transaction (i.e., the primary CLO market), we invest in CLO securities that the
Advisor believes have the potential to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns and to outperform other similar CLO securities issued around the same time.
When we acquire existing CLO securities, we invest in CLO securities that the Advisor believes have the potential to generate attractive risk-adjusted
returns.
We pursue a differentiated strategy within the CLO market focused on:
•

proactive sourcing and identification of investment opportunities;

•

utilization of a methodical and rigorous investment analysis and due diligence process both structurally and on a loan-level basis;

•

utilization of our in-house CLO investment team and related investment processes to provide credit analysis of each underlying loan portfolio
within the CLO securities;

•

active involvement at the CLO structuring and formation stage; and

•

taking, in many instances, significant stakes in CLO equity and subordinated debt tranches.

We believe that the Advisor’s extensive relationships with CLO collateral managers and other market participants, its CLO structural expertise and its
in-house CLO investment team enable us to source and execute investments consistent with our investment objectives and provide investors with loan-level
expertise and analysis. The Adviser may negotiate enhanced economics for us and any other accounts that may be co-investing in return for providing
relative certainty of CLO equity placement, which is often the most difficult tranche to place. These enhanced returns may take the form of (i) CLO
management fee rebates, (ii) bank arrangement fee concessions or (iii) other forms of economic enhancement.
When we make a significant primary market investment in a particular CLO tranche, we generally expect to be able to influence certain of the CLO’s
key terms and conditions. Specifically, the Advisor believes that, although typically exercised in limited circumstances, the protective rights associated with
holding a majority position in a CLO equity tranche (such as the ability to call the CLO after the non-call period, to refinance/reprice certain CLO debt
tranches after a period of time and to influence potential amendments to the governing documents that may arise) may reduce our risk in these investments.
We may acquire a majority position in a CLO tranche directly or we may benefit from the advantages of a majority position where both we and other
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accounts managed by the Advisor or other parties collectively hold a majority position. See “— Other Investment Techniques — Co-Investment with
Affiliates.”
We seek to construct a broad and varied portfolio of CLO securities, including with respect to:
•

number of borrowers underlying each CLO;

•

industry type of a CLO’s underlying borrowers;

•

number and investment style of CLO collateral managers; and

•

CLO vintage period.

The Advisor has a long-term oriented investment philosophy and seeks to invest primarily with a view to hold securities until maturity. However, on an
ongoing basis, the Advisor actively monitors each investment and may sell positions if circumstances have changed from the time of investment or if the
Advisor believes it is in our best interest to do so.
CLO Overview
Our investments in CLOs are comprised primarily of investments in the equity and subordinated debt tranches of CLOs. We focus on securitization
vehicles that pool portfolios of primarily below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans, which pools of underlying assets are often referred to as a
CLO’s “collateral.” The vast majority of the portfolio of most CLOs consists of first lien senior secured loans although many CLOs enable the CLO
collateral manager to invest up to approximately 10% of the portfolio in other assets, including second lien loans, unsecured loans, DIP loans and fixed rate
loans.
CLOs are generally required to hold a portfolio of assets that is highly diversified by underlying borrower and industry, and is subject to certain asset
concentration limitations. Most CLOs are structured to allow for reinvestment of proceeds of repayments of assets over a specific period of time (typically
four to five years). We target cash flow CLOs, for which the terms and covenants of the structure are typically based primarily on the cash flow generated
by, and the par value (as opposed to the market price) of, the CLO collateral. These covenants include collateral coverage tests, interest coverage tests and
collateral quality tests. CLO payment provisions are detailed in a CLO’s indenture and are referred to as the “priority of payments” or “waterfall.”
A CLO funds the purchase of its investment portfolio through the issuance of CLO equity and debt instruments in the form of multiple, primarily
floating rate debt, tranches. The CLO debt tranches typically have a stated coupon and are rated “AAA” (or its equivalent) at the most senior level down to
“BB” or “B” (or its equivalent), which is below investment grade, at the most junior level by Moody’s, S&P and/or Fitch. Unrated and below investment
grade and unrated securities are sometimes referred to as “junk” securities. CLO debt tranches are not impacted by defaults and realized losses until total
losses exceed the value of the equity tranche.
The CLO equity tranche, which is in the first loss position, is unrated and subordinated to the debt tranches and typically represents approximately 8%
to 11% of a CLO’s capital structure. A CLO’s equity tranche represents the first loss position in the CLO. The holders of CLO equity tranche interests are
typically entitled to any cash reserves that form part of the structure when such reserves are permitted to be released. The CLO equity tranche captures
available payments at the bottom of the payment waterfall, after operational and administrative costs of the CLO and servicing of the debt securities.
Economically, the equity tranche benefits from the difference between the interest received from the investment portfolio and the interest paid to the
holders of debt tranches of the CLO structure. Should a default or decrease in expected payments to a particular CLO occur, that deficiency typically first
affects the equity tranche in that holders of that position generally will be the first to have their payments decreased by the deficiency.
Each tranche within a typical CLO has voting rights on any amendments that would have a material effect on such tranche. Neither the debt tranches nor
equity tranche of CLOs have voting rights on the management of the underlying investment portfolio. The holders of the equity tranches of CLOs typically
have the right to approve and/or replace the CLO collateral manager after such CLO manager has triggered a default. The equity tranche of a CLO also
typically has the ability to call the debt tranches following a non-call period. Debt tranches of CLOs typically do not have the right to call the other CLO
security tranches.
Generally, the loans underlying the CLOs in which we invest or expect to invest will have financial maintenance covenants, which are used to
proactively address materially adverse changes in a portfolio company’s financial performance. However, some of the loans underlying the CLOs in which
we invest may be referred to as “covenant-lite” loans. We use the term “covenant-lite” to refer generally to loans that do not have a complete set of
financial maintenance covenants. Generally, “covenant-lite” loans provide borrower companies more freedom to negatively impact lenders because their
covenants are incurrence-based, which means they are only tested and can only be breached following an affirmative action of the borrower, rather than by
a deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition. Typically, the indenture governing a CLO will permit only a certain percentage of the loans underlying
a CLO to be "covenant lite." Accordingly, to the extent we are exposed to “covenant-lite” loans, we may have a greater risk of loss on such investments as
compared to investments in or exposure to loans with financial maintenance covenants.

64

The CLO structure highlighted below is a hypothetical structure provided for illustrative purposes only and the structure of CLOs in which we invest
may vary substantially from the example set forth below.

CLOs generally do not face refinancing risk on the CLO debt since a CLO’s indenture requires that the maturity dates of a CLO’s assets (typically 5 – 8
years from the date of issuance of a senior secured loan) be shorter than the maturity date of the CLO’s liabilities (typically 11 – 12 years from the date of
issuance). In the current market environment, we expect investment opportunities in CLO equity to present more attractive risk-adjusted returns than CLO
debt, although we expect to make investments in CLO debt and related investments, in certain cases, to complement the CLO equity investments that we
make. As market conditions change, our investment focus may vary from time to time between CLO equity and CLO debt investments.
CLOs have two priority-of-payment schedules (commonly called “waterfalls”), which are detailed in a CLO’s indenture, that govern how cash
generated from a CLO’s underlying collateral is distributed to the CLO debt and equity investors. One waterfall (the interest waterfall) applies to interest
payments received on a CLO’s underlying collateral. The second waterfall (the principal waterfall) applies to cash generated from principal on the
underlying collateral, primarily through loan repayments and sales.
Through the interest waterfall, any excess interest-related cash flow available after the required quarterly interest payments to CLO debt investors are
made and certain CLO expenses (such as administration and management fees) are paid is then distributed to the CLO’s equity investors each quarter,
subject to compliance with certain tests. The Advisor believes that excess interest-related cash flow is an important driver of CLO equity returns. In
addition, relative to certain other high-yielding credit investments, such as mezzanine or subordinated debt, CLO equity is expected to have a shorter
payback period with higher front-end loaded quarterly cash flows (historically, often in excess of 20% per annum of face value) during the early years of a
CLO’s life if there is no disruption in the interest waterfall due to a failure to remain in compliance with certain tests.
Most CLOs are revolving structures that generally allow for reinvestment over a specific period of time (typically 4 – 5 years from the closing of the
CLO). Specifically, a CLO’s collateral manager normally has broad latitude — within a specified set of asset eligibility and diversity criteria — to manage
and modify a CLO’s portfolio over time. We believe that skilled CLO collateral managers can add significant value through a combination of (1) their
credit expertise and (2) a strong understanding of how to manage effectively within the rules-based structure of a CLO and optimize CLO equity returns.
After the CLO’s reinvestment period has ended, in accordance with the CLO’s principal waterfall, cash generated from principal payments or other
proceeds are generally distributed to repay CLO debt investors in order of seniority. That is, the AAA tranche investors are repaid first, the AA tranche
investors second and so on, with any remaining principal being distributed to the equity tranche investors. In certain instances, principal may be reinvested
after the end of the reinvestment period. The Advisor believes these reinvestment provisions are generally beneficial to holders of the CLO’s equity.
CLOs contain a variety of covenants that are designed to enhance the credit protection of CLO debt investors, including overcollateralization tests
(“overcollateralization tests”) and interest coverage tests (“IC Tests”). The overcollateralization tests and IC Tests require CLOs to maintain certain levels
of overcollateralization (measured as par value of assets to liabilities subject to certain adjustments) and interest coverage, respectively. If a CLO breaches
an overcollateralization test or IC Test, excess cash flow that would otherwise be available for distribution to the CLO equity tranche investors is diverted
to prepay CLO debt investors in order of seniority until such time as the covenant breach is cured. If the covenant breach is not or cannot be cured, the
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CLO equity investors (and potentially other debt tranche investors) may experience a partial or total loss of their investment. For this reason, CLO equity
investors are often referred to as being in a first loss position.
Most CLOs also have interest diversion tests, which also act to ensure that CLOs maintain adequate overcollateralization. If a CLO breaches an interest
diversion test, excess interest cash flow that would otherwise be available for distribution to the CLO equity tranche investors is diverted to acquire new
collateral obligations until the test is satisfied. Such diversion would lead to payments to the equity investors being delayed and/or reduced.
Cash flow CLOs do not have mark-to-market triggers and, with limited exceptions (such as the proportion of assets rated “CCC+” or lower (or their
equivalent) by which such assets exceed a specified concentration limit, discounted purchases and defaulted assets), CLO covenants are calculated using
the par value of collateral, not the market value or purchase price. As a result, a decrease in the market price of a CLO’s performing portfolio does not
generally result in a requirement for the CLO collateral manager to sell assets (i.e., no forced sales) or for CLO equity investors to contribute additional
capital (i.e., no margin calls).
Overview of Senior Secured Loans
Senior secured loans represent a large and mature segment of the U.S. corporate credit market. According to S&P Capital IQ, as of December 31, 2020,
the amount of institutional senior secured loans outstanding was approximately $1.19 trillion.
Broadly syndicated senior secured loans are typically originated and structured by banks on behalf of corporate borrowers with proceeds often used for
leveraged buyout transactions, mergers and acquisitions, recapitalizations, refinancings, and financing capital expenditures. Broadly syndicated senior
secured loans are typically distributed by the arranging bank to a diverse group of investors primarily consisting of: CLOs; senior secured loan and high
yield bond mutual funds; and closed-end funds, hedge funds, banks, insurance companies; and finance companies. According to S&P Capital IQ, CLOs
represent the largest source of capital for institutional senior secured loans, representing a range of approximately 40% to 72% of the demand for newly
issued highly leveraged loans from 2009 through September 30, 2020.
Senior secured loans are floating rate instruments, typically making quarterly interest payments based on a spread over LIBOR. LIBOR is based on
rates that contributor banks in London charge each other for interbank deposits and is typically used to set coupon rates on floating rate debt securities.
We believe that senior secured loans have historically represented an attractive and stable base of collateral for CLOs. In particular, the primary
attributes of senior secured loans include:
•

Senior: Senior position in a company’s capital structure

•

Secured: First lien security interest in a company’s assets

•

Floating Rate: Reduces interest rate risk associated with fixed rate bonds

•

Low LTV: On average, senior secured loans historically have had a loan-to-value ratio of approximately 40% – 60% at the time of origination
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The table below depicts a representative capital structure for a company issuing a senior secured loan and illustrates the cushion provided by
subordinated debt and equity capital. There is no assurance that all companies in which the Company invests will have this type of cushion provided by
subordinated debt and equity capital.

We believe that the attractive historical performance of CLO securities is attributable, in part, to the relatively low historical average default rate and
relatively high historical average recovery rate on senior secured loans, which comprise the vast majority of most CLO portfolios. The graph below
illustrates the lagging 12-month default rate by principal amount of the S&P/LSTA Leveraged Loan Index from December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2020.
The average lagging 12-month default rate during this period of time was 1.95% and the lagging 12-month default rate as of December 31, 2020 was
3.83%. There are no assurances that these average lagging default rates will not increase.

Over time, the senior secured loan market has experienced relatively consistent total returns. Specifically, from a total return perspective, since 2001 the
S&P/LSTA Leveraged Loan Index experienced only two down years (2008 and 2015).
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CLO Market Opportunity
We believe that CLO securities represent a large and attractive market. The chart below illustrates annual CLO issuance according to Morgan Stanley
research.
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We believe that many investors have little to no exposure to CLO securities because of the complexity of CLO securities and because most investors
do not have the requisite experience, skills and resources in-house to devote to fully understanding the asset class. We believe knowledgeable and
experienced investors with specialized experienced in CLO securities can earn an attractive risk-adjusted return and outperform the CLO market generally.
Depending on the Advisor’s assessment of market conditions, our investment focus may vary from time to time between CLO equity and CLO debt
investments.
We believe that CLO equity has the following attractive fundamental attributes:
•

Potential for strong absolute and risk-adjusted returns: We believe that CLO equity offers the potential for attractive, risk adjusted total returns
compared to the returns experienced in the U.S. public equity markets.

•

Expected shorter duration high-yielding credit investment with the potential for high quarterly cash distributions: Relative to certain other
high-yielding credit investments, such as mezzanine or subordinated debt, CLO equity is expected to have a shorter payback period with higher
front-end loaded quarterly cash flows during the early years of a CLO’s life.

•

Expected protection against rising interest rates: Because a CLO’s asset portfolio is typically comprised primarily of floating rate loans and the
CLO’s liabilities are also generally floating rate instruments, we expect CLO equity to provide potential protection against rising interest rates
whenever LIBOR exceeds above the average LIBOR floor on a CLO’s assets. However, CLO equity is still subject to other forms of interest rate
rise. However, CLO equity is still subject to other forms of interest rate risk. For a discussion of the interest rate risks associated with CLO equity,
see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Investments — We and our investments are subject to interest rate risk” and “— CLO Overview.”

•

Expected low-to-moderate correlation with fixed income and equity markets: Because CLO assets and liabilities are primarily floating rate, we
expect CLO equity investments to have a low-to-moderate correlation with U.S. fixed income securities over the long term. In addition, CLOs
generally allow for the reinvestment of principal during the reinvestment period regardless of the market price of the underlying collateral.
Provided the CLO remains in compliance with its covenants, we expect CLO equity investments to have a low-to-moderate correlation with the
U.S. public equity markets over the long term.

The equity tranche represents the most junior tranche in the CLO capital structure. The equity tranche is typically not rated and is subordinated to the
debt tranches. The holders of equity tranche interests are typically entitled to any cash reserves that form part of the structure at the point at which such
reserves are permitted to be released. The equity tranche captures available payments at the bottom of the payment waterfall, after operational and
administrative costs of the CLO and servicing of the debt securities. Economically, the equity tranche benefits from the difference between the interest
received from the senior secured loans held by the CLO and the interest paid to the holders of debt tranches of the CLO structure. Should a default or
decrease in expected payments to a particular CLO occur, that deficiency typically first affects the equity tranche in that holders of that position generally
will be the first to have their payments decreased by the deficiency. The equity tranche of a CLO is the most sensitive to defaults and realized losses as it is
the most subordinated tranche in the CLO’s capital structure, whereas CLO debt tranches are not impacted by defaults and realized losses until total losses
exceed the value of the equity tranche.
Each tranche within a CLO has voting rights on any amendments that would have a material effect on such tranche. Neither the debt tranches nor equity
tranche of CLOs have voting rights on the management of the underlying senior secured loan portfolio of the CLO. The holders of the equity tranches of
CLOs typically have the right to approve and/or replace the CLO collateral manager after such CLO manager has triggered a default. The equity tranche of
a CLO has the ability to call the debt tranches following a non-call period. Debt tranches of CLOs do not have the right to call the other CLO security
tranches.
CLO securities are also subject to a number of risks as discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus. Among our primary targeted
investments, the risks associated with CLO equity are generally greater than those associated with CLO debt.
Competitive Strengths and Core Competencies
We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of investment opportunities in CLO securities and related investments due to the following
competitive advantages:
• CLO management track record. OFS Advisor has actively managed CLOs for over 15 years and invested in approximately 7,400 loan transactions
aggregating approximately $17 billion in credit investments through CLO vehicles.
• Deep management team experienced in investing in the senior secured loan market. OFS Advisor and its affiliates currently manage five CLO
vehicles. OFS Advisor has an experienced team of twelve people (with an average of 15 years of experience investing in the leveraged loan
market) that is dedicated to investing in senior secured loans, which also has
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access to an internal database of information that gives OFS Advisor access and insight into a large credit universe it has established throughout its
longstanding presence in the loan market.
• Specialist in CLO securities. Each member of the Senior Investment Team has been involved with the CLO market for the majority of his career
and brings a distinct and complementary skill set that the Advisor believes is necessary for our success. We believe that the combination of the
Advisor’s broad and often longstanding relationships with CLO collateral managers will enable us to source and execute investments with
attractive economics and terms relative to other CLO market opportunities.
• Deep CLO structural experience and expertise. Members of the Senior Investment Team have significant experience structuring, valuing and
investing in CLOs throughout their careers. The Advisor believes that the initial structuring of a CLO is an important contributor to the ultimate
risk-adjusted returns, and that experienced and knowledgeable investors can add meaningful value relative to other market participants by
selecting those investments with the most advantageous structures. In addition to analyzing CLO structural features and collateral managers, OFS
Advisor can perform due diligence on the underlying loans within the CLOs, given its in-house expertise and relationships with numerous multinational lenders and broker dealers.
• Rigorous credit analysis and approval process. The objective of the Advisor’s investment process is to source, evaluate and execute investments in
CLO securities and related investments that the Advisor believes have the potential to outperform the CLO market generally. This process,
augmented by the first-hand CLO industry experience of the Senior Investment Team, is designed to be repeatable and is focused on key areas for
analysis that the Advisor believes are most relevant to potential future performance. The Advisor believes that its investment and security
selection process, its in-house loan investment team, along with its strong emphasis on analyzing the structure of the CLO, differentiates its
approach to investing in CLO securities. See “— Investment Process.”
• Alignment of Interests. Our fee structure includes an incentive fee component whereby we pay the Advisor an incentive fee only if our net income
exceeds a hurdle rate. See “Management — Management Fee and Incentive Fee.”
Investment Process
The objective of the Advisor’s investment process is to source, evaluate and execute investments in CLO securities and related investments that the
Advisor believes have the potential to outperform the CLO market generally. This process, augmented by the Advisor's first-hand experience as a CLO
manager, is designed to be repeatable and is focused on key areas for analysis that the Advisor believes are most relevant to potential future performance.
The Advisor seeks to implement its investment process in a methodical and disciplined fashion.
Proactive Sourcing of Investment Opportunities
The Senior Investment Team maintains regular dialogue with many CLO collateral managers and the investment banks active in the CLO market. The
Advisor believes that there are in excess of 105 active CLO collateral managers. The Advisor has met or conducted calls with, and maintains relationships
with, many of these firms. In addition, members of the Senior Investment Team have longstanding relationships with many CLO collateral managers, some
dating back over a decade. The Advisor takes a partnership approach with CLO collateral managers, seeking to serve as a knowledgeable, value-added and
stable long-term capital provider that will invest not just in their CLOs, but in many instances, alongside such collateral managers at the underlying
borrower level given our Advisor's in-house loan investment team.
Investment Analysis and Due Diligence
The Advisor employs an established, disciplined investment analysis and due diligence process that we believe is more akin to a private equity style
approach than to the typical process used by many investors in freely tradable fixed income securities, such as CLO equity and debt. The Advisor views its
investment analysis and due diligence process as broadly being comprised of four key areas for evaluation: (1) analysis of a CLO collateral manager’s
investment strategy and approach, (2) analysis of the experience of a CLO collateral manager and its investment team, (3) analysis of a CLO collateral
manager’s historical investment performance across both CLO and total return strategies, if applicable, and (4) analysis of the particular CLO’s structure
and the targeted underlying loans, including the negotiation of terms and protections where appropriate.
In its investment analysis and due diligence, the Advisor includes, among other activities, requesting that prospective CLO collateral managers
complete an extensive questionnaire, the Advisor reviews historical investment returns based on data provided by third parties and the CLO collateral
manager and the utilization of a third-party firm to conduct background checks on the key entities and professionals associated with the CLO collateral
manager.
CLO Structural Analysis and Valuation
Members of the Senior Investment Team have significant experience structuring, valuing and investing in CLOs throughout their careers and the
Advisor believes that its first-hand experience with, and knowledge, of CLO structures is a core competency.
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The Advisor believes that the initial structuring of a CLO is an important factor in the ultimate risk-adjusted returns, and that experienced and
knowledgeable investors can add meaningful value relative to other market participants by selecting those investments with the most advantageous
structures.
When we make a primary market investment in a particular CLO tranche, we utilize our expertise and experience to influence certain of the CLO’s key
terms and conditions. In particular, the Advisor believes that the protective rights associated with holding a CLO equity tranche (such as the ability to call
the CLO after the non-call period, to refinance/reprice certain CLO debt tranches after a period of time and to influence potential amendments to the
governing documents that may arise) may reduce our risk in these investments. We may acquire a majority position in a CLO tranche directly or we may
benefit from the advantages of a majority position where both we and other parties hold a majority position. OFS intends to analyze, in addition to the CLO
structural features and collateral managers, all of the underlying loans within the CLOs given its in-house CLO investment team. OFS Advisor and its
affiliates currently manage five CLO vehicles. OFS Advisor has a dedicated CLO team of ten personnel with average experience in the leveraged loan
market of over 15 years as well as an internal database of information spanning over 20 years that gives OFS access and insight into a large credit universe.
See “— Other Investment Techniques — Co-Investment with Affiliates.”
Portfolio Review/Risk Monitoring
Active investment monitoring is a critical component of the Advisor’s risk management and mitigation objectives. Such monitoring also contributes to
the ongoing due diligence of the CLO collateral managers in the context of existing and potential future investments.
From data contained primarily within the CLO trustee reports (which detail each asset in the CLO portfolio as well as any purchases and sales that the
CLO collateral manager made during the period), as well as third party data providers, the Advisor updates its internal portfolio monitoring reports. The
reports contain summaries of metrics we analyze for each CLO security as well as a listing of watch list credits within each CLO that our Advisor has
identified based on its screens and general market intelligence as well as from communications with the CLO collateral managers. The Advisor then
typically holds regular calls with the CLO market participants to discuss the watch list credits and portfolio activity as well as loan market and CLO market
developments. Additional factors that the Advisor actively monitors, which these regular calls help to illuminate, include any shifts in investment strategy,
personnel changes or other organizational developments which may impact future performance and/or the market.
In addition, the Advisor reviews the quarterly CLO cash distributions received and analyzes the reason for any deviations from the Advisor’s
projections. The Advisor has a long-term oriented investment philosophy and seeks to invest primarily with a buy-and-hold mentality, however, the
Advisor may sell positions if circumstances have changed from the time of underwriting or if the Advisor deems doing so is in our best interest.
Portfolio
As of October 31, 2020, we have invested in the equity tranches of 34 CLO vehicles, 30 of which have a reinvestment period ending in 2022 or
beyond. The total amortized cost and fair value of the portfolio were $77.8 million and $56.9 million, respectively, as of October 31, 2020. The following
table summarizes the CLO equity tranches in which we have investments as of October 31, 2020:

Company and Investment - Structured Finance Notes(1)(2)(8)
Allegro CLO VII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

Interest
Maturity
(6) Date
Rate/Estimated Yield(3)
13.15%

6/13/2031

Anchorage Capital CLO 1-R Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.39%

Atlas Senior Loan Fund X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes
Atlas Senior Loan Fund IX Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (4)
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Amortized
Cost
$

Fair Value (5)

2,385,321 $

1,831,976

4/13/2031

1,679,275

1,426,016

4.77%

1/15/2031

3,215,920

1,509,229

0.00%

4/20/2028

613,266

224,191

Company and Investment - Structured Finance Notes(1)(2)(8)

Interest
Maturity
(6) Date
Rate/Estimated Yield(3)

Battalion CLO IX Ltd.
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

20.75%
20.71%

7/15/2031
7/15/2031

Battalion CLO XI Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.68%

BlueMountain Fuji U.S. CLO III, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

Amortized
Cost

713,050 $
1,170,294
1,883,344

612,631
1,005,499
1,618,130

10/24/2029

4,026,350

3,353,925

20.65%

1/15/2030

2,705,656

2,099,642

Crown Point CLO 4 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

14.67%

4/20/2031

4,050,947

3,213,212

Dryden 30 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

7.70%

11/15/2028

495,228

356,806

Dryden 38 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

13.48%

7/15/2030

1,725,802

1,358,750

Dryden 41 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

15.20%

4/15/2031

1,603,483

1,348,216

Dryden 53 CLO, Ltd.
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

18.90%
23.28%

1/15/2031
1/15/2031

2,324,159
333,779
2,657,938

2,074,556
324,149
2,398,705

Dryden 76 CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

18.68%

10/20/2032

1,810,637

1,681,974

Elevation CLO 2017-7, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

10.81%

7/15/2030

3,349,296

2,568,342

Elevation CLO 2017-8, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

10.96%

10/25/2030

1,422,481

1,004,970

TCI-Flatiron CLO 2017-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

18.65%

5/15/2030

1,974,755

1,767,349

Flatiron CLO 18 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.50%

4/17/2031

3,612,597

3,160,678

Greenwood Park CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

13.64%

4/15/2031

3,212,698

2,812,028
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$

Fair Value (5)

Company and Investment - Structured Finance Notes(1)(2)(8)
Halcyon Loan Advisors Funding 2018-1 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

Interest
Maturity
(6) Date
Rate/Estimated Yield(3)

Amortized
Cost

16.02%

7/20/2031

HarbourView CLO VII-R, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (4)

0.00%

11/18/2026

1,886,533

141,873

Madison Park Funding XXIII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

15.31%

7/27/2047

2,965,165

2,524,525

Marble Point CLO X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

6.19%

10/15/2030

4,871,442

2,728,673

Marble Point CLO XI Ltd.
Income Notes

6.37%

12/18/2047

1,152,307

573,473

MidOcean Credit CLO VII Ltd.
Income Notes

5.99%

7/15/2029

2,020,653

1,167,414

MidOcean Credit CLO VIII Ltd.
Income Notes

17.26%

2/20/2031

2,407,869

2,093,891

MidOcean Credit CLO IX Ltd.
Income Notes

16.07%

7/20/2031

2,044,049

1,763,494

Niagara Park CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

19.77%

7/17/2032

1,497,775

1,423,932

Octagon Investment Partners 39, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

24.02%

10/20/2030

2,406,871

2,459,389

Sound Point CLO IV-R, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

6.71%

4/18/2031

1,430,483

904,757

THL Credit Wind River 2014-3 CLO Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

7.73%

10/22/2031

1,960,989

990,848

Venture 33 CLO Limited
Subordinated Notes

8.14%

7/15/2031

2,349,754

1,279,296

Vibrant CLO X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

15.80%

10/20/2031

3,515,479

2,623,005

Voya CLO 2017-4, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

9.00%

10/15/2030

796,303

536,282
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$

2,269,217 $

Fair Value (5)
1,516,610

Company and Investment - Structured Finance Notes(1)(2)(8)
ZAIS CLO 3, Limited
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

Interest
Maturity
(6) Date
Rate/Estimated Yield(3)
6.44%
6.44%

Total Structured Finance Notes

7/15/2031
7/15/2031

Amortized
Cost

Fair Value (5)

$

667,055 $
1,131,881
1,798,936

157,218
266,773
423,991

$

77,798,819 $

56,885,592

(1) These investments are generally subject to certain limitations on resale, and may be deemed to be "restricted securities" under the Securities Act.
(2) Structured finance investments, including income notes and subordinated notes, are considered CLO subordinated debt positions. CLO subordinated
debt positions are entitled to recurring distributions which are generally equal to the remaining cash flow of payments made by underlying securities
less contractual payments to debt holders and fund expenses. These securities are colloquially referred to as CLO equity.
(3) The rate disclosed is the estimated effective yield, generally established at purchase and re-evaluated upon receipt of distributions, and based upon
projected amounts and timing of future distributions and the projected amount and timing of terminal principal payments at the time of estimation. The
estimated effective yield and investment cost may ultimately not be realized. As of October 31, 2020, the Company's weighted-average effective yield
on its aggregate CLO structured finance positions, based on current amortized cost, was 13.32%. See "Risks Related to Our Investments—CLO
investments involve complex documentation and accounting considerations."
(4) As of October 31, 2020, the effective accretable yield has been estimated to be 0%, as the aggregate amount of projected distributions, including
projected distributions related to liquidation of the underlying portfolio upon the security's anticipated optional redemption, is less than current
amortized cost. Projected distributions are periodically monitored and re-evaluated. All actual distributions will be recognized as reductions to
amortized cost until such time, if and when occurring, a future aggregate amount of then-projected distributions exceeds the security's then-current
amortized cost.
(5) The fair value of all investments was determined using significant, unobservable inputs, and was determined in good faith by the Board.
(6) Maturity date represents the contractual maturity date of the CLO subordinated debt positions. Projected cash flows, including the projected amount
and timing of terminal principal payments which may be projected to occur prior to the contractual maturity date, were utilized in deriving the
effective yield of the investments.
(7) Security issued by an affiliate of named issuer.
(8) We do not "control" and are not an "affiliate" of any of our portfolio investments, each as defined in the 1940 Act. In general, under the 1940 Act, we
would be presumed to "control" a portfolio investment if we owned 25% or more of its voting securities and would be an "affiliate" of a portfolio
investment if we owned 5% or more of its voting securities.
About OFS and Our Advisor
OFS (which refers to the collective activities and operations of OFSAM and its subsidiaries and certain affiliates) is an established investment platform.
The principal business address of OFS Advisor is 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois, 60606. As of September 30, 2020, OFS had 47
full-time employees. OFS is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois and also has offices in New York, New York and Los Angeles, California.
Our investment activities are managed by OFS Advisor, our investment adviser. OFS Advisor is responsible for sourcing potential investments,
conducting research and diligence on potential investments and placement agents, analyzing investment opportunities, structuring our investments and
monitoring our investments and portfolio companies on an ongoing basis. OFS Advisor is a registered investment adviser under the Advisers Act and a
subsidiary of OFSAM, our parent company prior to the completion of our IPO. OFSAM is owned directly or indirectly by Richard Ressler, Bilal Rashid,
and Jeffrey A. Cerny or related entities. For information concerning the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock by OFSAM and its owners,
see "Control Persons and Principal Holders of Securities."
OFS Advisor’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive to us and OFS Advisor is free to furnish similar services to other
entities, including other funds affiliated with OFS Advisor, so long as its services to us are not impaired. OFS Advisor also serves as the investment adviser
to CLO funds and other assets, including OFS Capital, a publicly-traded BDC, and Hancock Park, a non-traded BDC. OFS Advisor also provides subadvisory services to CMFT Securities Investments, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of CIM Real Estate Finance Trust, Inc., a corporation that qualifies as
a real estate investment trust.
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Additionally, OFS Advisor serves as sub-adviser to CIM RACR, an externally managed registered investment company that operates as an interval fund
that invests primarily in a combination of real estate, credit and related investments.
Our relationship with OFS Advisor is governed by and dependent on the Investment Advisory Agreement and may be subject to conflicts of interest.
OFS Advisor provides us with advisory services in exchange for a base management fee and incentive fee; see “Management—Management and Other
Agreements—Investment Advisory Agreement.” Our Board is charged with protecting our interests by monitoring how OFS Advisor addresses these and
other conflicts of interest associated with its management services and compensation. While our Board is not expected to review or approve each
borrowing or incurrence of leverage, our independent directors will periodically review OFS Advisor’s services and fees as well as its portfolio
management decisions and portfolio performance.
OFS Advisor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of OFSAM, which makes experienced investment professionals available to OFS Advisor and provides
access to the senior investment personnel of OFS and its affiliates through an intercompany agreement. These OFSAM personnel provide us with access to
deal flow generated by OFS and its affiliates in the ordinary course of their businesses and committed members of OFS Advisor’s investment committee.
As our investment adviser, OFS Advisor is obligated to allocate investment opportunities among us and any other clients fairly and equitably over time in
accordance with its allocation policy.
OFS Advisor capitalizes on the deal origination and sourcing, credit underwriting, due diligence, investment structuring, execution, portfolio
management and monitoring experience of OFS’s professionals. The Senior Investment Team, including Bilal Rashid, Jeff Cerny, Glen Ostrander and
Kenneth A. Brown, provides services to OFS Advisor. These professionals have developed a broad network of contacts within the investment community,
averaging over 20 years of experience structuring and investing in CLOs and debt securities. In addition, these managers have gained extensive experience
investing in assets that will constitute our primary focus and have expertise in investing across all types of CLO investments. See “Management” for
additional information regarding our portfolio managers.
Other Investment Techniques
Debt Securities. Our Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock represent leverage in our capital structure. We may also incur
additional leverage to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. We are permitted to obtain leverage using any form of financial leverage instruments, including
funds borrowed from banks or other financial institutions, margin facilities, notes or preferred stock and leverage attributable to reverse repurchase
agreements or similar transactions. We currently anticipate incurring leverage in an amount of approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage
for every $1 of equity) over the next twelve months of operations. Instruments that create leverage are generally considered to be senior securities under the
1940 Act. With respect to senior securities representing indebtedness (i.e., borrowing or deemed borrowing), other than temporary borrowings as defined
under the 1940 Act, we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 300%, as measured at the time of borrowing and calculated as the ratio of our
total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities
representing indebtedness. With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock, including our Series A Term Preferred Stock and
Series B Term Preferred Stock), we are required to have an asset coverage of at least 200%, as measured at the time of the issuance of any such shares of
preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate
amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of preferred
stock. See “Description of our Capital Stock — Preferred Stock.”
While we currently anticipate incurring leverage of approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage for every $1 of equity) over the next
twelve months of operations, we may use leverage opportunistically and may choose to increase or decrease our leverage. We may use different types or
combinations of leveraging instruments at any time based on the Advisor’s assessment of market conditions and the investment environment, including
forms of leverage other than preferred stock and/or credit facilities. In addition, we may borrow for temporary, emergency or other purposes as permitted
under the 1940 Act, which indebtedness would be in addition to the asset coverage ratios described above. By leveraging our investment portfolio, we may
create an opportunity for increased net income and capital appreciation. However, the use of leverage also involves significant risks and expenses, which
will be borne entirely by our stockholders, and our leverage strategy may not be successful. For example, the more leverage is employed, the more likely a
substantial change will occur in our NAV. Accordingly, any event that adversely affects the value of an investment would be magnified to the extent
leverage is utilized. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Investments — We may leverage our portfolio, which would magnify the potential for
gain or loss on amounts invested and will increase the risk of investing in us.” The Advisor intends to leverage our portfolio only when it believes that
the potential return on the additional investments acquired through the use of leverage is likely to exceed the costs incurred in connection with the use of
leverage. There can be no assurance that we will borrow in order to leverage our assets or, if we do borrow, what percentage of our assets such borrowings
will represent.
To the extent the income derived from investments purchased with funds received from leverage exceeds the cost of leverage, our return will be greater
than if leverage had not been used. Conversely, if the income from the securities purchased with such
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funds is not sufficient to cover the cost of leverage or if we incur capital losses, our return will be less than if leverage had not been used, and therefore the
amount available for distribution to stockholders as dividends and other distributions will be reduced or potentially eliminated. The Advisor may determine
to maintain our leveraged position if it expects that the long-term benefits to our stockholders of maintaining the leveraged position will outweigh the
current reduced return. We may be required to maintain minimum average balances in connection with borrowings or to pay a commitment or other fee to
maintain a line of credit; either of these requirements will increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate. In addition, capital raised through the
issuance of preferred stock, such as our Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock, or borrowing will be subject to dividend
payments or interest costs that may or may not exceed the income and appreciation on the assets purchased with the proceeds of such leverage. The
issuance of preferred stock or notes involves offering expenses and other costs and may limit our freedom to pay distributions on shares of our common
stock or to engage in other activities. All costs of offering and servicing any of the leverage methods we may use will be borne entirely by our stockholders.
The interests of persons with whom we enter into leverage arrangements (such as bank lenders, note holders and preferred stockholders) will not
necessarily be aligned with the interests of our stockholders and such persons will generally have claims on our assets that are senior to those of our
stockholders.
In connection with a credit facility, any lender may impose specific restrictions as a condition to borrowing. The credit facility fees may include, among
other things, up front structuring fees and ongoing commitment fees (including fees on amounts undrawn on the facility) in addition to the traditional
interest expense on amounts borrowed. The credit facility may involve a lien on our assets. Similarly, to the extent we issue preferred shares or notes, we
may be subject to fees, covenants and investment restrictions required by a national securities rating agency, as a result. Such covenants and restrictions
imposed by a rating agency or lender may include asset coverage or portfolio composition requirements that are more stringent than those imposed on us
by the 1940 Act. While it is not anticipated that these covenants or restrictions will significantly impede the Advisor in managing our portfolio in
accordance with our investment objectives and policies, if these covenants or guidelines are more restrictive than those imposed by the 1940 Act, we would
not be able to utilize as much leverage as we otherwise could, which could reduce our investment returns. In addition, we expect that any notes we issue or
credit facility we enter into would contain covenants that, among other things, may impose geographic exposure limitations, credit quality minimums,
liquidity minimums, concentration limitations and currency hedging requirements on us. These covenants would also likely limit our ability to pay
distributions in certain circumstances, incur additional debt, change fundamental investment policies and engage in certain transactions, including mergers
and consolidations. Such restrictions could cause the Advisor to make different investment decisions than if there were no such restrictions and could limit
the ability of the Board and stockholders to change fundamental investment policies. See "Regulation as a closed-end management investment company
— Investment restrictions."
Our willingness to utilize leverage, and the amount of leverage we will assume, will depend on many factors, the most important of which are market
conditions and interest rates. Successful use of a leveraging strategy may depend on our ability to predict correctly interest rates and market movements,
and there is no assurance that a leveraging strategy will be successful during any period in which it is employed. Any leveraging of shares of our common
stock cannot be achieved until the proceeds resulting from the use of leverage have been invested in accordance with our investment objectives and
policies. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Investments — We may leverage our portfolio, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss
on amounts invested and will increase the risk of investing in us.”
Preferred Stock. We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The costs of any offering of preferred stock will be borne
immediately at such time by the holders of our common stock and result in a reduction of the NAV per share of our common stock at that time. Under the
requirements of the 1940 Act, we must, immediately after the issuance of any preferred stock, including the issuance of the Series A Term Preferred Stock
and Series B Term Preferred Stock, have an “asset coverage” of at least 200%. Asset coverage means the ratio by which the value of our total assets, less
all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities (as defined in the 1940 Act), bears to the aggregate amount of senior securities
representing our indebtedness, if any, plus the aggregate liquidation preference of the preferred stock. If we seek a rating of preferred stock, which we did
not seek for our Series A Term Preferred Stock or our Series B Term Preferred Stock, additional asset coverage requirements, which may be more
restrictive than those imposed by the 1940 Act, may be imposed. See “Description of Capital Structure — Preferred Stock.”
Leverage Effects. The extent that we employ leverage, if any, will depend on many factors, the most important of which are investment outlook,
market conditions and interest rates. Successful use of a leveraging strategy depends on the Advisor’s ability to predict correctly interest rates and market
movements. There is no assurance that a leveraging strategy will be successful during any period in which it is employed. We may incur additional
leverage, including through entry into a credit facility, opportunistically or not at all and may choose to increase or decrease our leverage.
The following table is furnished in response to requirements of the SEC. It is designed to illustrate the effects of leverage on total return of shares of
our common stock, assuming hypothetical annual investment portfolio total returns, net of expenses (consisting of income and changes in the value of
investments held in our portfolio) of (10)%, (5)%, 0%, 5% and 10%. These
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assumed investment portfolio returns are hypothetical figures and are not necessarily indicative of the investment portfolio returns that we expect to
experience. Actual returns may be higher or lower than those appearing in the table.
Hypothetical portfolio return (net of expenses)
Corresponding return to common stockholder(1)

(10)%
(19.29)%

(5)%
(11.71)%

0%
(4.13)%

5%
3.45%

10%
11.03%

(1) Assumes projected investments of approximately $68.4 million and $23.3 million of leverage (which reflects $21.316 million of Series A Term
Preferred Stock and $3.0 million of Series B Term Preferred Stock and assumes net assets of $45.1 million and total cost of leverage of approximately
8.0%.
Our portfolio must have an annual return of at least 2.72% in order to cover the annual dividend payments on the Series A Term Preferred Stock and
Series B Term Preferred Stock that are projected as of April 30, 2021.
“Corresponding return to common stockholder” is composed of two elements: Our net investment income and gains or losses on the value of the
securities we own. As required by SEC rules, the table above assumes that we are more likely to suffer capital losses than to have capital appreciation. For
example, to assume a total return of 0% we must assume that the interest we receive on our debt security investments is entirely offset by losses in the
value of those investments.
Temporary Defensive Position. We may take a temporary defensive position and invest all or a substantial portion of our total assets in cash or cash
equivalents, government securities or short-term fixed income securities. To the extent that defensive positions represent a significant portion of our
investments, we likely will not achieve our investment objectives.
Co-Investment with Affiliates. In certain instances, we may co-invest on a concurrent basis with affiliates of the Advisor, subject to compliance with
applicable regulations and regulatory guidance and our written allocation procedures. On August 4, 2020, we received the Order from the SEC to permit us
to co-invest in portfolio companies with certain Affiliated Funds, including other registered investment companies and BDCs managed by OFS Advisor, in
a manner consistent with our investment objective, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements, subject to compliance
with certain conditions. The Order superseded a previous order that OFS Advisor and certain of the Affiliated Funds received on October 12, 2016 and
provides us with greater flexibility to enter into co-investment transactions with Affiliated Funds. Pursuant to the Order, we are generally permitted to coinvest with Affiliated Funds if a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the 1940 Act) of our independent directors makes certain conclusions in
connection with a co-investment transaction, including that (1) the terms of the transaction, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable and fair to
us and our stockholders and do not involve overreaching in respect of us or our stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is
consistent with the interests of our stockholders and is consistent with our investment objective and strategies. A copy of our application for exemptive
relief, including all of the conditions, and the related order are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
Closed-End Fund Structure
Common stock of closed-end funds frequently trade at prices lower than their NAV. We cannot predict whether shares of our common stock will trade
at, above or below NAV. In addition to NAV, the market price of shares of our common stock may be affected by such factors as our dividend stability and
dividend levels, which are in turn affected by expenses, and market supply and demand. In recognition of the possibility that shares of our common stock
may trade at a discount from their NAV, and that any such discount may not be in the best interest of stockholders, the Board, in consultation with the
Advisor may from time to time review possible actions to reduce any such discount. There can be no assurance that the Board will decide to undertake any
of these actions or that, if undertaken, such actions would result in shares of our common stock trading at a price equal to or close to NAV per share of
common stock. See “Description of Capital Structure — Repurchase of Shares and Other Discount Measures.”
Competition
We compete for investments in CLO securities with other investment funds (including business development companies, mutual funds, pension funds,
private equity funds and hedge funds) as well as traditional financial services companies such as commercial banks, investment banks, finance companies
and insurance companies.
Additionally, because we believe competition for higher yielding investment opportunities generally has increased, we believe many new investors
have entered the CLO market over the past few years. As a result of these new entrants, competition for investment opportunities in CLO securities may
intensify. Many of these entities have greater financial and managerial resources than we do. We believe we are able to compete with these entities on the
basis of the Advisor’s deep and highly-specialized CLO market experience, longstanding relationships with many CLO collateral managers and willingness
to commit to a significant portion of a CLO tranche.
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ADDITIONAL INVESTMENTS AND TECHNIQUES
Our primary investment strategies are described elsewhere in this prospectus. The following is a description of the various investment strategies that
may be engaged in, whether as a primary or secondary strategy, and a summary of certain attendant risks. The Advisor may not buy any of the following
instruments or use any of the following techniques unless it believes that doing so will help to achieve our investment objectives.
Investment in Debt Securities, Other Types of Credit Instruments and Other Credit Investments
We anticipate that our loan portfolio may contain investments of the following types with the following characteristics:
Senior Secured First-Lien Loans. We obtain security interests in the assets of the borrowers as collateral in support of the repayment of these loans (in
certain cases, subject to a payment waterfall). The collateral takes the form of first-priority liens on specified assets of the borrower and, typically, firstpriority pledges of the ownership interests in the borrower. Our first lien loans may provide for moderate loan amortization in the early years of the loan,
with the majority of the amortization deferred until loan maturity. When we enter into an agreement amongst multiple lenders with respect to an investment
in a senior secured loan, we may not be in a first-out position.
Senior Secured Unitranche Loans. Unitranche loans are loans that combine both senior and subordinated debt into one loan under which the borrower
pays a single blended interest rate that is intended to reflect the relative risk of the secured and unsecured components. We may structure our unitranche
loans as senior secured loans. We will generally obtain security interests in the assets of these borrowers as collateral in support of the repayment of these
loans. This collateral may take the form of first-priority liens on the assets of a portfolio company and, typically, first-priority pledges of the ownership
interests in the company. We believe that unitranche lending may represent a significant growth opportunity for us, offering the borrower the convenience
of dealing with one lender, which may result in a higher blended rate of interest to us than we might realize in a traditional multi-tranche structure.
Unitranche loans typically provide for moderate loan amortization in the initial years of the facility, with the majority of the amortization deferred until loan
maturity. Unitranche loans generally allow the borrower to make a large lump sum payment of principal at the end of the loan term, and there is a risk of
loss if the borrower is unable to pay the lump sum or refinance the amount owed at maturity. In many cases, we will be the sole lender, or we, together with
our affiliates, will be the sole lender, of unitranche loans, which can afford us additional influence with a borrower in terms of monitoring and, if necessary,
remediation in the event of under-performance.
Senior Secured Second-lien Loans. Second-lien senior secured loans obtain security interests in the assets of these portfolio companies as collateral in
support of the repayment of such loans. This collateral typically takes the form of second-priority liens on the assets of a borrower, and we may enter into
an inter-creditor agreement with the holders of the borrower’s first-lien senior secured debt. These loans typically provide for no contractual loan
amortization in the initial years of the facility, with all amortization deferred until loan maturity.
Subordinated (“Mezzanine”) Loans. These investments are typically structured as unsecured, subordinated loans that typically provide for relatively
high, fixed interest rates that provide us with significant current interest income. These loans typically will have interest-only payments (often representing
a combination of cash pay and payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest) in the early years, with amortization of principal deferred to maturity. Mezzanine loans
generally allow the borrower to make a large lump sum payment of principal at the end of the loan term, and there is a risk of loss if the borrower is unable
to pay the lump sum or refinance the amount owed at maturity. Mezzanine investments are generally more volatile than secured loans and may involve a
greater risk of loss of principal. Mezzanine loans often include a PIK feature (meaning a feature allowing for the payment of interest in the form of
additional principal amount of the loan instead of in cash), which effectively operates as negative amortization of loan principal, thereby increasing credit
risk exposure over the life of the loan.
High Yield Securities. We may invest in high yielding, fixed income securities rated below investment grade (e.g., rated below “Baa” by Moody’s or
below “BBB” by S&P or Fitch). The Advisor anticipates investing in securities that are rated CCC or below or their equivalent, or are unrated fixedincome securities. Below investment grade securities are also sometimes referred to as “junk” securities.
Debt obligations rated in the lower ratings categories, or which are unrated, involve greater volatility of price and risk of loss of principal and income.
In addition, lower ratings reflect a greater possibility of an adverse change in financial condition affecting the ability of the issuer to make payments of
interest and principal.
The market price and liquidity of lower rated fixed income securities generally respond to short-term corporate and market developments to a greater
extent than do the price and liquidity of higher rated securities because such developments are perceived to have a more direct relationship to the ability of
an issuer of such lower rated securities to meet its ongoing debt obligations.
Reduced volume and liquidity in the high yield bond market or the reduced availability of market quotations will make it more difficult to dispose of
the bonds and to value accurately our assets. In addition, our investments in high yield securities may be susceptible to adverse publicity and investor
perceptions, whether or not justified by fundamental factors.
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Synthetic Securities Risk. We may acquire loans through investment in synthetic securities or interests in lease agreements that have the general
characteristics of loans and are treated as loans for withholding tax purposes. In addition to the credit risks associated with directly or indirectly holding
senior secured loans and high-yield debt securities, with respect to synthetic strategy, we will usually have a contractual relationship only with the
counterparty of such synthetic security, and not with the reference obligor of the reference obligation. We generally will have no right to directly enforce
compliance by the reference obligor with the terms of the reference obligation nor will it have any rights of setoff against the reference obligor or rights
with respect to the reference obligation. We will not directly benefit from the collateral supporting the reference obligation and will not have the benefit of
the remedies that would normally be available to a holder of such reference obligation. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of the counterparty, we
may be treated as a general creditor of such counterparty, and will not have any claim with respect to the reference obligation. Consequently, we will be
subject to the credit risk of the counterparty as well as that of the reference obligor. As a result, concentrations of synthetic securities in any one
counterparty subject us to an additional degree of risk with respect to defaults by such counterparty as well as by the reference obligor.
Defaulted Securities. We may invest in defaulted securities. The risk of loss due to default may be considerably greater with lower-quality securities
because they are generally unsecured and are often subordinated to other debt of the issuer. Investing in defaulted debt securities involves risks such as the
possibility of complete loss of the investment where the issuer does not restructure to enable it to resume principal and interest payments. If the issuer of a
security in our portfolio defaults, we may have unrealized losses on the security, which may lower our NAV. Defaulted securities tend to lose much of their
value before they default. Thus, our NAV may be adversely affected before an issuer defaults. In addition, we may incur additional expenses if we must try
to recover principal or interest payments on a defaulted security.
Certificates of Deposit, Bankers’ Acceptances and Time Deposits. We may acquire certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances and time deposits.
Certificates of deposit are negotiable certificates issued against funds deposited in a commercial bank for a definite period of time and earning a specified
return. Bankers’ acceptances are negotiable drafts or bills of exchange, normally drawn by an importer or exporter to pay for specific merchandise, which
are “accepted” by a bank, meaning in effect that the bank unconditionally agrees to pay the face value of the instrument on maturity. Certificates of deposit
and bankers’ acceptances acquired by us will be dollar-denominated obligations of domestic banks, savings and loan associations or financial institutions at
the time of purchase, have capital, surplus and undivided profits in excess of $100 million (including assets of both domestic and foreign branches), based
on latest published reports, or less than $100 million if the principal amount of such bank obligations are fully insured by the U.S. government. In addition
to purchasing certificates of deposit and bankers’ acceptances, to the extent permitted under our investment objectives and policies stated in this prospectus,
we may make interest-bearing time or other interest-bearing deposits in commercial or savings banks. Time deposits are non-negotiable deposits
maintained at a banking institution for a specified period of time at a specified interest rate.
Commercial Paper and Short-Term Notes. We may invest a portion of our assets in commercial paper and short-term notes. Commercial paper consists
of unsecured promissory notes issued by corporations. Issues of commercial paper and short-term notes will normally have maturities of less than nine
months and fixed rates of return, although such instruments may have maturities of up to one year. Commercial paper and short-term notes will consist of
issues rated at the time of purchase “A-2” or higher by S&P, “Prime-1” or “Prime-2” by Moody’s, or similarly rated by another nationally recognized
statistical rating organization or, if unrated, will be determined by the Advisor to be of comparable quality.
CLO Class M Note and Participation Agreements. We may acquire CLO Class M Notes and participation agreements with CLO collateral managers.
There is not an active secondary market for CLO Class M notes and participation agreements. Further, CLO Class M notes and participation agreements
may have significant restrictions on transfer and require continued ownership of certain amounts of CLO equity in the related CLO for the instrument to be
valid. CLO Class M notes and participation agreements are also subject to the risk of early call of the CLO, with no make-whole or other yield protection
provisions.
Zero Coupon Securities. Among the debt securities in which we may invest are zero coupon securities. Zero coupon securities are debt obligations that
do not entitle the holder to any periodic payment of interest prior to maturity or a specified date when the securities begin paying current interest. They are
issued and traded at a discount from their face amount or par value, which discount varies depending on the time remaining until cash payments begin,
prevailing interest rates, liquidity of the security and the perceived credit quality of the issuer. The market prices of zero coupon securities generally are
more volatile than the prices of securities that pay interest periodically and in cash and are likely to respond to changes in interest rates to a greater degree
than do other types of debt securities having similar maturities and credit quality. Original issue discount earned on zero coupon securities must be included
in our income. Thus, to quality for tax treatment as a RIC and to avoid a certain excise tax on undistributed income, we may be required to distribute as a
dividend an amount that is greater than the total amount of cash we actually receive. These distributions must be made from our cash assets or, if necessary,
from the proceeds of sales of portfolio securities. We will not be able to purchase additional income-producing securities with cash used to make such
distributions, and our current income ultimately could be reduced as a result.
U.S. Government Securities. We may invest in debt securities issued or guaranteed by agencies, instrumentalities and sponsored enterprises of the U.S.
Government. Some U.S. government securities, such as U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds, and mortgage-related securities guaranteed by the
Government National Mortgage Association, are supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S.; others, such as those of the Federal Home Loan Banks
(“FHLBs”) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”), are
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supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury; others, such as those of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”), are
supported by the discretionary authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the agency’s obligations; and still others, such as those of the Student Loan
Marketing Association, are supported only by the credit of the issuing agency, instrumentality or enterprise. Although U.S. Government-sponsored
enterprises, such as the FHLBs, FHLMC, FNMA and the Student Loan Marketing Association, may be chartered or sponsored by Congress, they are not
funded by Congressional appropriations, and their securities are not issued by the U.S. Treasury or supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S.
Government and involve increased credit risks. Although legislation has been enacted to support certain government sponsored entities, including the
FHLBs, FHLMC and FNMA, there is no assurance that the obligations of such entities will be satisfied in full, or that such obligations will not decrease in
value or default. It is difficult, if not impossible, to predict the future political, regulatory or economic changes that could impact the government sponsored
entities and the values of their related securities or obligations. In addition, certain governmental entities, including FNMA and FHLMC, have been subject
to regulatory scrutiny regarding their accounting policies and practices and other concerns that may result in legislation, changes in regulatory oversight
and/or other consequences that could adversely affect the credit quality, availability or investment character of securities issued by these entities. U.S.
Government debt securities generally involve lower levels of credit risk than other types of debt securities of similar maturities, although, as a result, the
yields available from U.S. Government debt securities are generally lower than the yields available from such other securities. Like other debt securities,
the values of U.S. government securities change as interest rates fluctuate. Fluctuations in the value of portfolio securities will not affect interest income on
existing portfolio securities but will be reflected in our NAV.
Distressed Securities
We may invest in distressed investments including loans, loan participations, or bonds, many of which are not publicly traded and which may involve a
substantial degree of risk. In certain periods, there may be little or no liquidity in the markets for these securities or instruments. In addition, the prices of
such securities or instruments may be subject to periods of abrupt and erratic market movements and above-average price volatility. It may be more
difficult to value such securities and the spread between the bid and asked prices of such securities may be greater than normally expected. If the Advisor’s
evaluation of the risks and anticipated outcome of an investment in a distressed security should prove incorrect, we may lose a substantial portion or all of
our investment or we may be required to accept cash or securities with a value less than our original investment.
Equity Securities
Equity Securities. Equity securities typically consist of either a direct minority equity investment in common or membership/partnership interests or
preferred stock of a company, and are typically not control-oriented investments. Our preferred equity investments, if any, may contain a fixed dividend
yield based on the par value of the equity security. Preferred equity dividends may be paid in cash at a stipulated date, usually quarterly, and are
participating and/or cumulative. We may structure such equity investments to include provisions protecting our rights as a minority-interest holder, as well
as a “put,” or right to sell such securities back to the issuer, upon the occurrence of specified events. In many cases, we may also seek to obtain registration
rights in connection with these equity interests, which may include demand and “piggyback” registration rights, which grants us the right to register our
equity interest when either the portfolio company or another investor in the portfolio company files a registration statement with the SEC to issue
securities. Our equity investments, if any, will typically be made in connection with debt investments to the same companies.
Warrants. In some cases, we may receive nominally priced warrants to buy a minority equity interest in the borrower in connection with a loan. As a
result, as a borrower appreciates in value, we may achieve additional investment return from this equity interest. We may structure such warrants to include
provisions protecting our rights as a minority-interest holder, as well as a put to sell such securities back to the issuer, upon the occurrence of specified
events. In many cases, we may also seek to obtain registration rights in connection with these equity interests, which may include demand and “piggyback”
registration rights.
Investment in Other Investment Companies
We may invest in securities of other investment companies subject to statutory limitations prescribed by the 1940 Act. These limitations include in
certain circumstances a prohibition on us acquiring more than 3% of the voting shares of any other investment company, and a prohibition on investing
more than 5% of our total assets in securities of any one investment company or more than 10% of our total assets in securities of all investment
companies.
We will indirectly bear our proportionate share of any management fees and other expenses paid by such other investment companies, in addition to the
fees and expenses that we regularly bear. Although we do not expect to do so in the foreseeable future, we are authorized to invest substantially all of our
assets in a single open-end investment company or series thereof that has substantially the same investment objectives, policies and fundamental
restrictions as us.
Exchange-Traded Notes (“ETNs”)
We may invest in ETNs. ETNs are a type of senior, unsecured, unsubordinated debt security issued by financial institutions that combines both aspects
of bonds and Exchange-Traded Funds (“ETFs”). An ETN’s returns are based on the performance of a market index minus fees and expenses. Similar to
ETFs, ETNs are listed on an exchange and traded in the secondary market. However, unlike an ETF, an ETN can be held until the ETN’s maturity, at which
time the issuer will pay a return linked to the performance of the
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market index to which the ETN is linked minus certain fees. Unlike regular bonds, ETNs do not make periodic interest payments and principal is not
protected. ETNs are subject to credit risk and the value of an ETN may drop due to a downgrade in the issuer’s credit rating, despite the underlying market
benchmark or strategy remaining unchanged. The value of an ETN may also be influenced by time to maturity, level of supply and demand for the ETN,
volatility and lack of liquidity in underlying assets, changes in the applicable interest rates, changes in the issuer’s credit rating, and economic, legal,
political, or geographic events that affect the referenced underlying asset. When we invest in ETNs we will bear our proportionate share of any fees and
expenses borne by the ETN. Our decision to sell our ETN holdings may be limited by the availability of a secondary market. In addition, although an ETN
may be listed on an exchange, the issuer may not be required to maintain the listing and there can be no assurance that a secondary market will exist for an
ETN.
Preferred Securities
Preferred securities in which we may invest include, but are not limited to, trust preferred securities, monthly income preferred securities, quarterly
income bond securities, quarterly income debt securities, quarterly income preferred securities, corporate trust securities, traditional preferred stock,
contingent-capital securities, hybrid securities (which have characteristics of both equity and fixed-income instruments) and public income notes. Preferred
securities are typically issued by corporations, generally in the form of interest-bearing notes or preferred securities, or by an affiliated business trust of a
corporation, generally in the form of beneficial interests in subordinated debentures or similarly structured securities. The preferred securities market
consists of both fixed and adjustable coupon rate securities that are either perpetual in nature in that they have no maturity dates or have stated maturity
dates.
Demand Deposit Accounts
We may hold a significant portion of our cash assets in interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing demand deposit accounts at our custodian or another
depository institution insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). The FDIC is an independent agency of the U.S. government, and
FDIC deposit insurance is backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government. We expect to hold cash that exceeds the amounts insured by the FDIC
for such accounts. As a result, in the event of a failure of a depository institution where we hold such cash, our cash is subject to the risk of loss.
Simultaneous Investments
Investment decisions, made by the Advisor on our behalf, are made independently from those of the other funds and accounts advised by the Advisor
and its affiliates. If, however, such other accounts wish to invest in, or dispose of, the same securities as us, available investments will be allocated
equitably between us and other accounts. This procedure may adversely affect the size of the position we obtain or disposed of or the price we pay.
Short Sales
We may engage in short selling to the extent permitted by the federal securities laws and rules and interpretations thereunder. To the extent we engage
in short selling in foreign (non-U.S.) jurisdictions, we will do so to the extent permitted by the laws and regulations of such jurisdiction. When we engage
in a short sale of a security, we must, to the extent required by law, borrow the security sold short and deliver it to the counterparty. We may have to pay a
fee to borrow particular securities and generally would be obligated to pay over any payments received on such borrowed securities.
If the price of the security sold short increases between the time of the short sale and the time that we replace the borrowed security, we will incur a
loss; conversely, if the price declines, we will realize a capital gain. Any gain will be decreased, and any loss increased, by borrowing and other transaction
costs.
To the extent we engage in short sales, we will provide collateral to the broker-dealer for whom we borrowed the security sold short. We may (i)
maintain additional asset coverage in the form of segregated or “earmarked” liquid assets equal to the current market value of the securities sold short, (ii)
ensure that such positions are covered by offsetting positions until we replace the borrowed security or (iii) treat such securities as senior securities
representing indebtedness for purposes of the 1940 Act. A short sale is “against the box” to the extent that we contemporaneously own, or have the right to
obtain at no added cost, securities identical to those sold short.
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MANAGEMENT
Our Board is responsible for the overall management and supervision of our business and affairs, including the appointment of advisers and subadvisers. Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, our Board has appointed OFS Advisor as our investment adviser.
The Advisor Investment Committees, which include the Pre-Allocation Investment Committee, Broadly Syndicated Investment Committee and
Structured Credit Investment Committee, are responsible for the overall asset allocation decisions and the evaluation and approval of investments of OFS
Advisor’s advisory clients that invest in CLO securities.
The purpose of the Structured Credit Investment Committee is to evaluate and approve our prospective investments, subject at all times to the oversight
of our Board. The Structured Credit Investment Committee, which is comprised of Richard Ressler (Chairman), Jeffrey Cerny, Bilal Rashid, Glen
Ostrander and Kenneth A. Brown, is responsible for the evaluation and approval of all the investments we make. The members of the Senior Investment
Team are our portfolio managers and are primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the portfolio. The Senior Investment Team is supported
by a team of analysts and investment professionals.
The process employed by the Advisor Investment Committees, including the Structured Credit Investment Committee is intended to bring the diverse
experience and perspectives of the committees' members to the investment process. The Structured Credit Investment Committee serves to provide
investment consistency and adherence to our core investment philosophy and policies. The Structured Credit Investment Committee also determines
appropriate investment sizing and implements ongoing monitoring requirements of our investments.
In addition to reviewing investments, the meetings of the Structured Credit Investment Committee serve as a forum to discuss credit views and
outlooks. Potential transactions and deal flow are reviewed on a regular basis. Members of the Advisor's investment team are encouraged to share
information and views on credits with members of the Structured Credit Investment Committee early in their analysis. We believe this process improves the
quality of the analysis and assists the investment professionals in working efficiently.
None of the members of the Senior Investment Team or the Structured Credit Investment Committee is employed by us or receives any direct
compensation from us. Certain Senior Investment Team members have ownership and financial interests in, and may receive compensation and/or profit
distributions from, OFSAM, an affiliate of our Advisor, and/or its subsidiaries. These individuals receive compensation from OFS Advisor that includes an
annual base salary, an annual discretionary bonus and a portion of the distributions made by OFS Advisor, a portion of which may relate to the incentive
fee or carried interest earned by OFS Advisor in connection with its services to us. See “Control Persons and Principal Stockholders” for additional
information about equity interests held by certain of these individuals.
Messrs. Rashid, Cerny, and Brown also perform a similar role for other pooled investment vehicles managed or sub-advised by OFS Advisor and its
affiliates, including OFS Capital, Hancock Park, and CIM RACR, with a total amount of approximately $2.2 billion of committed assets under
management as of September 30, 2020 from which OFS Advisor and OFSAM may receive incentive fees. See “Related-Party Transactions and Certain
Relationships” for a description of OFS Advisor’s allocation policy governing allocations of investments among us and other investment vehicles with
similar or overlapping strategies, as well as a description of certain other relationships between us and OFS Advisor. See “Prospectus Summary—
Conflicts of Interest” and “Risk Factors—We have potential conflicts of interest related to obligations that OFS Advisor or its affiliates may have to
other clients” for a discussion of potential conflicts of interests.
Portfolio Managers
Information regarding the Structured Credit Investment Committee as of October 31, 2020 is as follows:
Name (1)
Richard Ressler
Bilal Rashid(2)
Jeffrey A. Cerny(2)
Glen Ostrander(2)
Kenneth A. Brown(2)

Age
62
49
57
46
47

Position
Chairman of Structured Credit Investment Committee
President and Senior Managing Director of OFSC and OFS Advisor
Senior Managing Director of OFSC and OFS Advisor
Managing Director of OFSC and OFS Advisor
Managing Director of OFSC and OFS Advisor

(1) The address for each member of the Senior Investment Team is c/o OFS Capital Management, LLC, 10 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, IL
60606.
(2) Member of the Senior Investment Team.
Members of the Structured Credit Investment Committee Who Are Not Our Directors or Officers
Richard S. Ressler is the founder and President of Orchard Capital Corp. ("Orchard Capital"), a firm through which Mr. Ressler oversees companies in
which Orchard Capital or its affiliates invest. Through his affiliation with Orchard Capital, Mr. Ressler serves
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in various senior capacities with, among others, CIM Group, LLC (together with its controlled affiliates, "CIM"), a vertically-integrated owner, operator
and developer of real assets, as well as a lender of debt secured by real assets, OFSAM, a full-service provider of capital and leveraged finance solutions to
U.S. corporations, and OCV Management, LLC ("OCV"), an investor, owner and operator of technology companies. Mr. Ressler also serves as a board
member for various public and private companies in which Orchard Capital or its affiliates invest, including as chairman of j2 Global, Inc. (NASDAQ
"JCOM"), director of Presbia PLC (NASDAQ "LENS"), and chairman of CIM Commercial Trust Corporation (NASDAQ "CMCT"). Mr. Ressler served as
Chairman and CEO of JCOM from 1997 to 2000 and, through an agreement with Orchard Capital, currently serves as its non-executive Chairman. Mr.
Ressler has served as a director of LENS since January 2015 and as chairman of CMCT since March 2014. Since February 2018, Mr. Ressler has also
served as chief executive officer, president and a director of CIM Real Estate Finance Trust, Inc., CIM Income NAV, Inc. and Cole Office & Industrial
REIT (CCIT III), Inc., three publicly held non-listed REITs managed by affiliates of CIM, and as chairman of the board for each of these entities since
August 2018. Mr. Ressler has also served as a director of Cole Credit Property Trust V, Inc. and Cole Office & Industrial REIT (CCIT II), Inc., two other
public non-traded REITs managed by affiliates of CIM, since January 2019. Mr. Ressler co-founded CIM in 1994 and, through an agreement with Orchard
Capital, chairs its executive, investment, credit, allocation and asset management committees. CIM Capital, LLC, its relying advisers, and CIM Capital IC
Management LLC, affiliates of CIM, are registered with the SEC as investment advisers. Mr. Ressler co-founded the predecessor of OFSAM in 2001 and,
through an agreement with Orchard Capital, chairs its executive committee. OFS Capital Management, LLC and OFS CLO Management, LLC, affiliates of
OFSAM, are registered with the SEC as investment advisers. Mr. Ressler co-founded OCV in 2016 and, through an agreement with Orchard Capital, chairs
its executive committee. OCV relies on an exemption from registration with the SEC.
Glen Ostrander is a Managing Director of OFS Advisor and focuses on structured products investment activities of the firm, capital markets related
activities, fundraising, and strategic initiatives. Mr. Ostrander has more than 19 years of experience in investing, banking and debt capital markets relating
to securitization, corporate credit, and structured credit. Mr. Ostrander has been involved in the CLO market since the late 1990s, with experience in the
creation and full life cycle of various types of CLOs through multiple credit cycles. Prior to joining OFS in 2009, Mr. Ostrander worked within the Global
Markets & Investment Banking division at Merrill Lynch. Prior to joining Merrill Lynch, he was a Vice President at Wachovia Capital Markets from 1998
to 2006, and worked at International Business Machines and Koch Industries. Throughout his experience at Wachovia Capital Markets, Merrill Lynch, and
OFS, Mr. Ostrander has been in involved in the structuring of CLO transactions, investing throughout the CLO capital structure, and the creation and
vetting of CLO managers. Mr. Ostrander holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Belmont Abbey College.
Kenneth A. Brown is a Managing Director of OFS Advisor and is responsible for leading the underwriting, credit monitoring and trading functions for
the Broadly Syndicated Loan Group at OFS, as well as managing relationships with agent/investment banks. Mr. Brown’s experience spans more than 25
years working in leveraged finance and public accounting. Mr. Brown has been involved in the leveraged finance/CLO market since the late 1990s, with
experience underwriting, managing, and sourcing leveraged loans as well as managing CLO’s through multiple cycles. Prior to joining OFS in 2007, Mr.
Brown was a Vice President at GE Antares Capital, wherein Mr. Brown focused on direct underwriting/portfolio management activities, including workout
situations, focused on private equity-backed transactions. Prior to GE Antares Capital, Mr. Brown was at First Source Financial, focused on underwriting
direct and participation interests, as well as managing portfolios of leveraged loans. Mr. Brown started his career with Arthur Andersen LLP, a national
public accounting firm, as an auditor. Mr. Brown holds a Bachelor of Science in Accountancy from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign and a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Chicago’s Booth School of Business, with concentrations in Finance and Strategic Management.
Mr. Brown has also earned his CPA certification.
The table below shows the dollar range of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by the members of the Senior Investment Team.

Name of Senior Investment Team Member

Dollar Range of Equity Securities Beneficially Owned as of October 31,
2020 (1)(2)

Bilal Rashid

$100,001 - $500,000(3)

Jeffrey A. Cerny

$100,001 - $500,000(3)

Glen Ostrander

$50,001 - $100,000

Kenneth A. Brown

$10,001 - $50,000

(1) Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 16a-1(a)(2) of the Exchange Act of 1934.
(2) Dollar ranges are as follows: None, $1 – $10,000, $10,001 – $50,000, $50,001 – $100,000, $100,001 – $500,000, $500,001 – $1,000,000 and over
$1,000,000.
(3) Mr. Rashid and Mr. Cerny beneficially own securities of the Company directly, through their indirect ownership of an affiliate of OFS Advisor, and
through their indirect ownership of OFSAM.
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The following table sets forth other accounts within each category listed for which members of the Senior Investment Team are jointly and primarily
responsible for day-to-day portfolio management as of October 31, 2020. Each of the accounts is subject to a performance fee.

Portfolio Manager

Registered
Investment Companies(1)
Number of
Total Assets
Accounts
(in millions)

Bilal Rashid
Jeffrey A. Cerny
Glen Ostrander
Kenneth A. Brown

3
3
3
1

Other Pooled
Investment Vehicle
Number of
Total Assets
Accounts
(in millions)

$ 588.7
$ 588.7
$ 588.7
$ 588.7

9
9
9
9

$ 1,504.1
$ 1,504.1
$ 1,504.1
$ 1,504.1

(1) Includes, for purposes of this table, closed-end funds that have elected to be regulated as BDCs.
Management and Other Agreements
Investment Advisory Agreement. Subject to the overall supervision of the Board, the Advisor manages the day-to-day operations of, and provides
investment advisory and management services to, us. Under the terms of our Investment Advisory Agreement, OFS Advisor:
• determines the composition of our portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to our portfolio and the manner of implementing such
changes;
• identifies, evaluates and negotiates the structure of the investments we make (including performing due diligence on our prospective
investments);
• closes and monitors the investments we make; and
• provides us with other investment advisory, research and related services as we may from time to time require.
OFS Advisor’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and both it and its members, officers and employees are free to
furnish similar services to other persons and entities so long as its services to us are not impaired. A discussion regarding the basis for our Board's approval
of our Investment Advisory Agreement is included in our annual report filed on December 18, 2020.
Duration and Termination. Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect if approved
annually by our Board or by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities, including, in either case, approval by a
majority of our Directors who are not “interested persons” of any party to such agreement, as such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. The
Investment Advisory Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of its assignment. The Investment Advisory Agreement may also be terminated
by us without penalty upon not less than 60 days’ written notice to the Advisor and by the Advisor upon not less than 60 days’ written notice to us.
Indemnification. The Investment Advisory Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of
its duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, the Advisor and its affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees,
members, managers, partners, and stockholders are entitled to indemnification from us for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of the Advisor’s services under the Investment Advisory
Agreement or otherwise as our investment adviser.
Management Fee and Incentive Fee
We pay the Advisor a fee for its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement consisting of two components — a base management fee and an
incentive fee.
The base management fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears and equals an annual rate of 1.75% of our “Total Equity Base.” “Total Equity
Base” means the NAV of shares of our common stock and the paid-in capital of our preferred stock, including the Series A Term Preferred Stock. These
management fees are paid by the holders of shares of our common stock and are not paid by holders of preferred stock, including the Series A Term
Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock, or the holders of any other types of securities that we may issue. Base management fees for any partial
calendar quarter will be appropriately pro-rated. The base management fee does not increase when we borrow funds, but will increase if we issue additional
preferred stock, which we may do within the next twelve months of operations.
In addition, we pay the Advisor an incentive fee based on our performance. The incentive fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears and equals
20% of our “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income” for the immediately preceding quarter, subject to a preferred return, or “hurdle,” and a “catch up”
feature. No incentive fees are payable to our investment adviser in respect of any capital
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gains. For this purpose, “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income” means interest income, dividend income and any other income (including any other
fees, such as commitment, origination, structuring, diligence and consulting fees or other fees that we receive from an investment) accrued during the
calendar quarter, minus our operating expenses for the quarter (including the base management fee, expenses payable under the Administration Agreement
to OFS Services, and any interest expense and dividends paid on any issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee). Pre-Incentive
Fee Net Investment Income includes accrued income that we have not yet received in cash, as well as any such amounts received (or accrued) in kind. PreIncentive Fee Net Investment Income does not include any capital gains or losses, and no incentive fees are payable in respect of any capital gains and no
incentive fees are reduced in respect of any capital losses.
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets at the end of the immediately preceding calendar
quarter, is compared to a hurdle of 2.00% of our NAV per quarter (8.00% annualized). For such purposes, our quarterly rate of return is determined by
dividing our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income by our reported net assets as of the prior period end. Our net investment income used to calculate
this part of the incentive fee is also included in the calculation of the Total Equity Base which is used to calculate the 1.75% base management fee.
The incentive fee is paid to the Advisor as follows:
• no incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income does not exceed the hurdle of 2.00% of our
NAV;
• 100% of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income with respect to that portion of such Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any,
that exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter (10.00% annualized). We refer to this portion of our PreIncentive Fee Net Investment Income (which exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of our NAV) as the “catch-up.” The “catch-up” is
meant to provide the Advisor with 20% of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income as if a hurdle did not apply if this net investment
income meets or exceeds 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter; and
• 20% of the amount of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any, that exceeds 2.50% of our NAV in any calendar quarter (10.00%
annualized) is payable to the Advisor (that is, once the hurdle is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20% of all Pre-Incentive Fee Net
Investment Income thereafter is paid to the Advisor).
OFS Advisor agreed to waive certain fees in connection with the IPO. For the period from October 10, 2018 (the consummation of our IPO) to January
31, 2019, OFS Advisor irrevocably waived the base management fee, without recourse against or reimbursement by the Company. For the period from
October 10, 2018 (the consummation of our IPO) to October 31, 2018, OFS Advisor irrevocably waived the incentive fee, without recourse against or
reimbursement by the Company.
You should be aware that a rise in the general level of interest rates may be expected to lead to higher interest rates applicable to our investments.
Accordingly, an increase in interest rates would make it easier for us to meet or exceed the hurdle rate and may result in a substantial increase of the
amount of incentive fees payable to the Advisor.
No incentive fee is payable to the Advisor on capital gains, whether realized or unrealized. In addition, the amount of the incentive fee is not affected
by any realized or unrealized losses that we may suffer.
The following is a graphical representation of the calculation of the incentive fee as well as examples of its application.
Quarterly Incentive Fee Based on Net Investment Income

Examples of Quarterly Incentive Fee Calculation (amounts expressed as a percentage of the value of net assets, and are not annualized)*
Alternative 1:
Assumptions
Investment income (including interest, distributions, fees, etc.) = 1.25%
Hurdle rate(1) = 2.00%
Base management fee(2) = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)(3) = 0.25%
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Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
(investment income – (base management fee + other expenses)) = 0.5625%
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income does not exceed the hurdle rate, therefore there is no incentive fee.
Alternative 2:
Assumptions
Investment income (including interest, distributions, fees, etc.) = 2.70%
Hurdle rate(1) = 2.00%
Base management fee(2) = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)(3) = 0.25%
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
(investment income – (base management fee + other expenses)) = 2.0125%
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income exceeds the hurdle rate, therefore there is an incentive fee.
Incentive fee = (100% × “catch-up”) + (the greater of 0% AND (20% × (Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income – 2.50%)))
= (100.0% × (Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income – 2.00%)) + 0%
= 100.0% × (2.0125% – 2.00%)
= 100.0% × 0.0125%
= 0.0125%
Alternative 3:
Assumptions
Investment income (including interest, distributions, fees, etc.) = 3.25%
Hurdle rate(1) = 2.00%
Base management fee(2) = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)(3) = 0.25%
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
(investment income – (base management fee + other expenses)) = 2.5625%
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income exceeds the hurdle rate, therefore there is a incentive fee.
Incentive fee = (100% × “catch-up”) + (the greater of 0% AND (20% × (Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income – 2.50%)))
= (100.0% × (2.50% – 2.00%)) + (20% × (Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income – 2.50%))
= (100.0% × (2.50% – 2.00%)) + (20% × (2.5625% – 2.50%))
= 0.5000% + .0125%
= 0.5125%
(*)The hypothetical amount of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income shown is based on a percentage of net assets.
(1) Represents 8.0% annualized hurdle rate.
(2) Represents 1.75% annualized base management fee.
(3) Excludes organizational and offering expenses as they will be paid for by OFS Advisor.
Other Expenses
The Advisor’s investment team, when and to the extent engaged in providing investment advisory and management services, and the compensation and
routine overhead expenses of such personnel allocable to such services, are provided and paid for by the Advisor. We will bear all other costs and expenses
of our operations and transactions, including (without limitation):
• the cost of calculating our net asset value, including the cost of any third-party valuation services;
• the cost of effecting sales and repurchases of shares of our common stock and other securities;
• fees payable to third parties relating to making investments, including out-of-pocket fees and expenses associated with performing due
diligence and reviews of prospective investments;
• transfer agent and custodial fees;
• out-of-pocket fees and expenses associated with marketing efforts;
• federal and state registration fees and any stock exchange listing fees;
• U.S. federal, state and local taxes;
• independent directors’ fees and expenses;
• brokerage commissions;
• fidelity bond, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and other insurance premiums;
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• direct costs, such as printing, mailing and long-distance telephone;
• fees and expenses associated with independent audits and outside legal costs;
• costs associated with our reporting and compliance obligations under the 1940 Act and other applicable U.S. federal and state securities laws;
and
• other expenses incurred by either OFS Services or us in connection with administering our business, including payments under the
Administration Agreement that will be based upon our allocable portion (subject to the review and approval of our board of directors) of
salaries and overhead.
License Agreement. We have entered into the License Agreement with OFSAM pursuant to which OFSAM has granted us a non-exclusive, royaltyfree license to use the “OFS” name and logo. Under the License Agreement, we have a right to use the “OFS” name and logo, for so long as the Advisor or
one of its affiliates remains our investment adviser. The License Agreement is terminable by either party at any time in its sole discretion upon 60 days’
prior written notice and is also terminable by OFSAM in the case of certain events of non-compliance. Other than with respect to this license, we have no
legal right to the “OFS” name and logo.
Compensation. The Advisor pays its investment professionals out of its total revenues, including the advisory fees earned with respect to providing
advisory services to us. Professional compensation at the Advisor is structured so that key professionals benefit from strong investment performance
generated on the accounts that the Advisor manages and from their longevity with the Advisor. Certain members of the Senior Investment Team may have
direct or indirect equity ownership interests in the Advisor and related long-term incentives. Members of the Senior Investment Team also receive a fixed
base salary and some receive an annual market and performance-based cash bonus. The bonus is based on both quantitative and qualitative analysis of
several factors, including the profitability of the Advisor and the contribution of the individual employee. Many of the factors considered by management
in reaching its compensation determinations will be impacted by our long-term performance and the value of our assets as well as the portfolios managed
for the Advisor’s other clients.
Administration Agreement. OFS Services, an affiliate of OFS Advisor, provides the administrative services necessary for us to operate. OFS Services
furnishes us with office facilities and equipment, necessary software licenses and subscriptions and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at
such facilities. OFS Services performs, or oversees the performance of, our required administrative services, which include being responsible for the
financial records that we are required to maintain and preparing reports stockholders and all other reports and materials required to be filed with the SEC or
any other regulatory authority. In addition, OFS Services assists us in determining and publishing our net asset value, oversees the preparation and filing of
our tax returns and the printing and dissemination of reports to our stockholders, and generally oversees the payment of our expenses and the performance
of administrative and professional services rendered to us by others. OFS Services may retain third parties to assist in providing administrative services to
us. Payments under the Administration Agreement are equal to an amount based upon our allocable portion (subject to the review and approval of our
Board) of OFS Services’ overhead in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including rent, information technology, and our
allocable portion of the cost of our officers, including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief compliance officer, chief accounting officer,
corporate secretary, and their respective staffs. The Administration Agreement may be renewed annually with the approval of our board of directors,
including a majority of our directors who are not “interested persons.” The Administration Agreement may be terminated by either party without penalty
upon 60 days’ written notice to the other party. To the extent that OFS Services outsources any of its functions we pay the fees associated with such
functions at cost without incremental profit to OFS Services.
Custodian and Transfer Agent
U.S. Bank National Association, as our custodian, holds our assets, settles all portfolio trades and collects most of the valuation data required for
calculating our NAV.
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is our transfer agent, dividend disbursing agent and redemption and paying agent.
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RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS
We have entered into agreements with OFS Advisor and its affiliates in which certain members of our senior management have ownership and financial
interests.
Investment Advisory Agreement
We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement with OFS Advisor and will pay OFS Advisor a base management fee and incentive fee.
Additionally, we rely on investment professionals from OFS Advisor to assist our Board with the valuation of our portfolio investments. OFS Advisor’s
base management fee and incentive fee are based on the value of our investments and there may be a conflict of interest when personnel of OFS Advisor
are involved in the valuation process for our portfolio investments. In addition, the incentive fee payable by us to OFS Advisor may create an incentive for
OFS Advisor to cause us to make more speculative investments or increase our debt outstanding more than would be the case in the absence of such
compensation arrangement.
License Agreement
We have entered into a license agreement with OFSAM, the parent company of OFS Advisor, under which OFSAM grants us a non-exclusive, royaltyfree license to use the name “OFS.”
Administration Agreement
We have entered into the Administration Agreement, pursuant to which OFS Services furnishes us with office facilities and equipment, necessary
software licenses and subscriptions and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at such facilities. Under our Administration Agreement, OFS
Services performs, or oversees the performance of, our required administrative services, which include, among other things, being responsible for the
financial records that we are required to maintain and preparing reports to our stockholders and all other reports and materials required to be filed with the
SEC or any other regulatory authority.
Investment Committees, Investment Allocation and Transactions with Certain Affiliates
OFS Advisor and its affiliates manage other assets and funds and may manage other entities in the future, including registered investment companies
and BDCs, and these other funds and entities may have similar or overlapping investment strategies. The Advisor Investment Committees are responsible
for the overall asset allocation decisions and the evaluation and approval of investments of OFS Advisor’s or its affiliates' CLO advisory clients. The
Structured Credit Investment Committee, which is comprised of Richard Ressler (Chairman), Jeffrey Cerny, Bilal Rashid, Glen Ostrander and Kenneth A.
Brown, is responsible for the evaluation and approval of all the investments made by us directly or through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, as appropriate.
The Structured Credit Investment Committee also determines appropriate investment sizing and implement ongoing monitoring requirements of our
investments.
Our senior management, members of the Advisor Investment Committees, members of the Senior Investment Team and other investment professionals
from OFSAM or its other affiliates are serving or may serve as officers, directors or principals of (i) entities that operate in the same or a related line of
business as we do, (ii) entities in which we invest or in which we are considering making an investment or (iii) investment funds or other investment
vehicles managed by OFS Advisor or its affiliates. Through these and other relationships, these individuals may obtain material non-public information that
might restrict our ability to buy or sell the securities of a company under the policies of the Company or applicable law.
Similarly, OFS Advisor and/or its affiliates have other clients with similar, different or competing investment objectives. In serving in these multiple
capacities, they may have obligations to other clients or investors in those entities, the fulfillment of which may not be in the best interests of us or our
stockholders. An investment opportunity that is suitable for multiple clients of OFS Advisor and its affiliates may not be capable of being shared among
some or all of such clients and affiliates due to the limited scale of the opportunity or other factors, including regulatory restrictions imposed by the 1940
Act. There can be no assurance that OFS Advisor’s or its affiliates’ efforts to allocate any particular investment opportunity fairly and equitably among all
clients for whom such opportunity is appropriate will result in an allocation of all or part of such opportunity to us. Not all conflicts of interest can be
expected to be resolved in our favor. As a result, we may not be given the opportunity to participate in certain investments made by investment funds,
accounts or other investment vehicles managed by OFS Advisor and its affiliates or by members of our investment committees.
We are prohibited under the 1940 Act from participating in certain transactions with our affiliates without the prior approval of our independent
directors and, in some cases, of the SEC. Those transactions include purchases and sales, and so-called “joint” transactions, in which we and one or more of
our affiliates are engaging together in certain types of profit-making activities. Any person that owns, directly or indirectly, five percent or more of our
outstanding voting securities will be our affiliate for purposes of the 1940 Act, and we are generally prohibited from engaging in purchases or sales of
assets or joint transactions with such affiliates, absent the prior approval of our independent directors. Additionally, without the approval of the SEC, we
are prohibited from engaging in purchases or sales of assets or joint transactions with the following affiliated persons: (a) our officers, directors, and
employees; (b) OFS Advisor and its affiliates; and (c) OFSAM or its affiliates.
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We may, however, invest alongside OFSAM and its affiliates or their respective other clients in certain circumstances where doing so is consistent with
current law and SEC staff interpretations. For example, we may invest alongside such accounts consistent with guidance promulgated by the SEC staff
permitting us and such other accounts to purchase interests in a single class of privately placed securities so long as certain conditions are met, including
that OFS Advisor, acting on our behalf and on behalf of other clients, negotiates no term other than price. Co-investment with such other accounts is not
permitted or appropriate under this guidance when there is an opportunity to invest in different securities of the same issuer or where the different
investments could be expected to result in a conflict between our interests and those of other accounts. Moreover, except in certain circumstances, this
guidance does not permit us to invest in any issuer in which OFSAM and its affiliates or a fund managed by OFSAM or its affiliates has previously
invested.
On August 4, 2020, we received the Order from the SEC, which superseded the prior co-investment exemptive order issued to OFS Advisor and certain
funds it manages, which permits us greater flexibility to enter into co-investment transactions. The Order permits us to co-invest in portfolio companies
with certain other funds managed by OFS Advisor or investment advisers controlling, controlled by, or under common control with OFS Advisor in a
manner consistent with such regulated funds’ investment objectives, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements and
other pertinent factors, subject to compliance with the Order. Pursuant to the Order, we are generally permitted to co-invest with such funds if a “required
majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the 1940 Act) of our independent directors make certain conclusions in connection with a co-investment
transaction, including that (1) the terms of the transactions, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable and fair to us and our stockholders and do
not involve overreaching of us or our stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is consistent with the interests of our
stockholders and is consistent with our investment objective and strategies.
OFS Advisor will seek to allocate investment opportunities among us and other eligible accounts in a manner that is fair and equitable over time and
consistent with its allocation policy. Under this allocation policy, if two or more investment vehicles with similar or overlapping investment strategies are in
their investment periods, an available opportunity will be allocated based on the provisions governing allocations of such investment opportunities in the
relevant organizational, offering or similar documents, if any, for such investment vehicles. In the absence of any such provisions, OFS Advisor will
consider the following factors and the weight that should be given with respect to each of these factors:
• investment guidelines and/or restrictions, if any, set forth in the applicable organizational, offering or similar documents for the investment
vehicles;
• status of tax restrictions and tests and other regulatory restrictions and tests;
• risk and return profile of the investment vehicles;
• suitability/priority of a particular investment for the investment vehicles;
• if applicable, the targeted position size of the investment for the investment vehicles;
• level of available capital for investment with respect to the investment vehicles;
• total amount of funds committed to the investment vehicles; and
• the age of the investment vehicles and the remaining term of their respective investment periods, if any.
When not relying on the Order, priority as to opportunities will generally be given to clients that are in their “ramp-up” period, or the period during
which the account has yet to reach sufficient scale such that its investment income covers its operating expenses, over the accounts that are outside their
ramp-up period but still within their investment or re-investment periods. However, application of one or more of the factors listed above, or other factors
determined to be relevant or appropriate, may result in the allocation of an investment opportunity to a fund no longer in its ramp-up period over a fund that
is still within its ramp-up period.
In situations where co-investment with other accounts is not permitted or appropriate, OFS Advisor will need to decide which account will proceed
with the investment. The decision by OFS Advisor to allocate an opportunity to another entity could cause us to forego an investment opportunity that we
otherwise would have made. These restrictions, and similar restrictions that limit our ability to transact business with our officers or directors or their
affiliates, may limit the scope of investment opportunities that would otherwise be available to us.
Conflicts may arise when we make an investment in conjunction with an investment being made by another Affiliated Account, or in a transaction
where an Affiliated Account has already made an investment. Investment opportunities are, from time to time, appropriate for more than one account in the
same, different or overlapping securities of a portfolio company’s capital structure. Conflicts arise in determining the terms of investments, particularly
where these accounts may invest in different types of securities in a single portfolio company. Questions arise as to whether payment obligations and
covenants should be enforced, modified or waived, or whether debt should be restructured, modified or refinanced.
We may invest in debt and other securities of companies in which Affiliated Accounts hold those same securities or different securities, including
equity securities. In the event that such investments are made by us, our interests will at times conflict with the interests of such Affiliated Accounts,
particularly in circumstances where the underlying company is facing financial distress.
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Decisions about what action should be taken, particularly in troubled situations, raise conflicts of interest, including, among other things, whether or not to
enforce claims, whether or not to advocate or initiate a restructuring or liquidation inside or outside of bankruptcy, and the terms of any work-out or
restructuring. The involvement of Affiliated Accounts at both the equity and debt levels could inhibit strategic information exchanges among fellow
creditors, including among us or Affiliated Accounts. In certain circumstances, we or an Affiliated Account may be prohibited from exercising voting or
other rights and may be subject to claims by other creditors with respect to the subordination of their interest.
In the event that we or an Affiliated Account has a controlling or significantly influential position in a portfolio company, that account may have the
ability to elect some or all of the board of directors of such a portfolio company, thereby controlling the policies and operations of such portfolio company,
including the appointment of management, future issuances of securities, payment of dividends, incurrence of debt and entering into extraordinary
transactions. In addition, a controlling account is likely to have the ability to determine, or influence, the outcome of operational matters and to cause, or
prevent, a change in control of such a company. Such management and operational decisions may, at times, be in direct conflict with other accounts that
have invested in the same portfolio company that do not have the same level of control or influence over the portfolio company.
If additional capital is necessary as a result of financial or other difficulties, or to finance growth or other opportunities, the accounts may or may not
provide such additional capital, and if provided each account will supply such additional capital in such amounts, if any, as determined by OFS Advisor. In
addition, a conflict arises in allocating an investment opportunity if the potential investment target could be acquired by us, an Affiliated Account, or a
portfolio company of an Affiliated Account. Investments by more than one account of OFS Advisor or its affiliates in a portfolio company also raise the
risk of using assets of an account of OFS Advisor or its affiliates to support positions taken by other accounts of OFS Advisor or its affiliates, or that an
account may remain passive in a situation in which it is entitled to vote. In addition, there may be differences in timing of entry into, or exit from, a
portfolio company for reasons such as differences in strategy, existing portfolio or liquidity needs, different account mandates or fund differences, or
different securities being held. These variations in timing may be detrimental to us.
The application of our or an Affiliated Account's governing documents and the policies and procedures of OFS Advisor are expected to vary based on
the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each investment by two or more accounts, in particular when those accounts are in different classes of an
issuer’s capital structure (as well as across multiple issuers or borrowers within the same overall capital structure) and, as such, there may be a degree of
variation and potential inconsistencies, in the manner in which potential or actual conflicts are addressed.
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CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES
The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock as of February 19, 2021 by:
• each person, or group of affiliated persons, known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our Common
Stock or Preferred Stock as of such date, based on currently available Schedules 13D and 13G filed with the U.S. Securities Exchange
Commission, or the SEC;
• each of our directors;
• our officers; and
• all of our directors and officers as a group.
The number of shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock beneficially owned by each person or entity is determined in accordance with the
applicable rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to shares of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock. The information is
not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Unless otherwise indicated, to our knowledge, all persons named in the table have
sole voting and investment power with respect to their applicable shares, except to the extent authority is shared by spouses under state community
property laws. The Company’s directors are divided into two groups - independent directors and interested directors. Interested directors are “interested
persons” of OFS Credit Company, Inc. as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the 1940 Act. Unless
otherwise indicated, the address of all officers and directors is c/o OFS Credit Company, Inc., 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606.
The inclusion of any shares deemed beneficially owned in this table does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership of those shares.
There were, as of February 23, 2021, approximately 4 holders of record and 4,313 beneficial holders of our Common Stock and approximately one
holder of record and 1,451 beneficial holders of our Preferred Stock.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Holders of more than 5% of our common stock:
Richard S. Ressler (4)
Holders of more than 5% of our preferred stock:
Karpus Management, Inc. (5)
183 Sully’s Trail
Pittsford, NY 14534
The HCM Master Fund Limited
119 Washington Ave
Miami Beach, FL 33139
Eagle Point Credit Management LLC (7)
600 Steamboat Road, Suite 202
Greenwich, CT 06830
Independent Directors:
Kathleen M. Griggs
Catherine M. Fitta (6)
Romita Shetty
Interested Directors:
Jeffrey A. Cerny (4)
Bilal Rashid (4)
Officers who are not Directors:
Jeffery S. Owen
Tod K. Reichert
Mukya S. Porter
All Directors and officers as a group (8 persons)

Percentage of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned(1)

Dollar Range of Common
Stock Beneficially Owned by
Directors(2)(3)

13.4%

N/A

0

N/A

N/A

0

N/A

0

0
0
0

Total Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
507,570

Total Number of
Shares of Preferred
Stock Beneficially
Owned

Percentage of
Dollar Range of Preferred
Preferred Stock
Stock Beneficially Owned
Beneficially Owned(1)
by Directors(2)(3)
N/A

N/A

143,408

14.7%

N/A

N/A

120,000

12.3%

N/A

N/A

N/A

56,867

5.8%

N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

0
0
0

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

139,925
139,691

3.7%
3.7%

$100,00 - $500,000
$100,00 - $500,000

0
0

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

0
8,554
0
161,280

N/A
*
N/A
4.3%

N/A
N/A
N/A

0
0
0
0

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A

________________________________

0

* Represents less than one percent (1%).
(1) Applicable percentage of ownership for each holder is based on 3,790,095 shares of Common Stock outstanding and 972,660 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding on February 19, 2021.
(2) Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 16a-1(a)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or the Exchange Act. None of the reported shares held by Jeffrey A. Cerny, Bilal
Rashid and Tod K. Reichert are pledged as security.
(3) The dollar range of our equity securities beneficially owned is calculated by multiplying the closing price of our Common Stock as reported on The Nasdaq Capital Market on February 19, 2021, by the number of shares
beneficially owned.
(4) Information is based on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on January 13, 2020 and Form 4s filed with the SEC on October 16, 2020. The shares attributed to Mr. Ressler, whose address is 4700 Wilshire Boulevard, Los
Angeles, CA 90010, in the table above are owned by OI3, LLC (“OI3”) and Orchard First Source Asset Management, LLC (“OFSAM”). 380,680 shares of the 507,570 shares attributed to Mr. Ressler in the table above
are owned by OI3. OI3 is a wholly owned subsidiary of The OI3 2019 Trust (the “Trust”), a trust established by Mr. Ressler for the benefit of his family members. Mr. Ressler serves as investment trustee for the Trust
with sole investment authority. Orchard Capital Corporation (“OCC”), a firm controlled by Mr. Ressler, is the manager of OI3 and has sole investment authority with respect to assets held by OI3. 126,890 shares of the
(i) 507,570 shares attributed to Mr. Ressler and (ii) 139,691 and 139,925 shares owned by each of Messrs. Rashid and Cerny, respectively, are owned by OFSAM and certain of its subsidiaries. OFSAM is owned
directly or indirectly by Mr. Rashid, Mr. Cerny and OI3. Through his positions with the Trust and OCC, Mr. Ressler may be deemed to beneficially own the shares held by OI3 and OFSAM. Mr. Ressler disclaims
beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. Neither of Messrs. Rashid nor Cerny is a beneficial owner of the Company’s common stock held by OFSAM for purposes of
Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act. The shares held by OFSAM are pledged as security for a revolving credit facility.
(5) Information is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2021 by Karpus Management, Inc. d/b/a Karpus Investment Management.
(6) On January 8, 2021, the Board of Directors appointed Catherine M. Fitta as a director to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci on December 22, 2020.
(7) Information is based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 2, 2021 by Eagle Point Credit Management LLC.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
We have three classes of directors, currently consisting of one Class I director, two Class II directors and two Class III directors. At each annual
meeting of stockholders, directors are elected for a full term of three years to succeed those whose terms are expiring. The terms of the three classes are
staggered in a manner so that only one class is elected by stockholders annually.
The Board of Directors
The Board currently consists of five members, Messrs Rashid and Cerny, Catherine M. Fitta, Kathleen M. Griggs and Romita Shetty. On January 8,
2021, the Board appointed Catherine M. Fitta as a director to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci on December 22, 2020.
Additionally, Catherine M. Fitta was appointed to the Company's audit committee, and compensation committee and as chair of the nominating and
corporate governance committee.
At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors are elected for a full term of three years to succeed those whose terms are expiring. The terms of the
three classes are staggered in a manner so that only one class is elected by stockholders annually.The term of one class expires each year. The terms of Ms.
Griggs and Mr. Cerny expire at the 2021 annual meeting; the term of Mr. Rashid expires at the 2022 annual meeting; and the terms of Ms. Shetty and
Catherine M. Fitta expire at the 2023 annual meeting. Mses. Shetty and Griggs also serve as preferred stock directors. Subsequently, each class of directors
will stand for election at the conclusion of its respective term. Such classification may prevent replacement of a majority of the directors for up to a twoyear period.
The directors and our officers are listed below. Except as indicated, each individual has held the office shown or other offices in the same company for
the last five years. The “Independent Directors” consist of those directors who are not “interested persons,” as that term is defined under the 1940 Act, of
the Company. Conversely, “Interested Director(s)” consist of those directors who are “interested persons” of the Company. Certain of our officers and
directors also are officers or managers of the Advisor.
Information regarding our Board is as follows:

Name,
Address(1)and
Age

Position(s) held
with Company

Term of Office
and Length of
Time Served

Principal Occupation, Other Business Experience During
the Past Five Years

Number of
Portfolios in
Fund
Complex
Overseen by
Director (2)

Other
Directorships
Held by Director

1

None

Independent Directors
Kathleen M.
Griggs(3)
Age: 65

Director

2018 - Current

Ms. Griggs has been a managing director of Griggs Consulting,
LLC, a consulting and advisory firm, since 2014. Prior to that,
Ms. Griggs served as the Chief Financial Officer of j2 Global,
Inc. from 2007 to 2014. Ms. Griggs also previously served as a
Director, Audit Committee Chair and Governance Committee
member for Chad Therapeutics, Inc. from 2001 to 2009. Ms.
Griggs received a Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Administration from the University of Redlands and a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Southern
California in Los Angeles. Ms. Griggs’ term as a Class III
director will expire in 2021.
Ms. Griggs, the chair of our audit committee, brings to our Board
years of accounting expertise. Her knowledge of accounting
principles, financial reporting rules and regulations, the
evaluation of financial results and the oversight of the financial
reporting process makes her an asset to our Board.
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Catherine M.
Fitta Age: 49

Director

2021 - current

Ms. Fitta currently serves as Principal of Burren Green, the
management and technology consulting practice she established in
2015. From 2008 to 2012, Ms. Fitta served as EMEA Head,
Business Planning & Technology for Barclays Global Banking
Division, and from 2012 to 2015, was Global Head, Business
Planning & Technology. Ms. Fitta also worked at Lehman
Brothers from 2007 to 2008 as Deputy Global Head, Business
Planning & Technology where she managed business and
technical staff across various geographies and architected the
division’s first IT Governance Council. During her tenure as Chief
Integration Officer, Criminal Justice for the New York City’s
Mayor’s Office from 2003 to 2007, she led strategic planning and
execution for technology integration across 17 criminal justice
agencies in New York City and New York State. From 2002 to
2003, Ms. Fitta also worked as a functional manager on
engagements within the Public Sector & Health Care Practices at
Deloitte Consulting. Since 2007, through a number of operational
and consulting roles in investment banking, Ms. Fitta has gained
extensive consulting, CIO and COO experience across
geographies and sectors and has spear-headed an array of strategic
initiatives that fueled large-scale business transformations and
addressed myriad compliance, risk and regulatory matters. Ms.
Fitta earned her MBA from Columbia Business School and her
BA in the Classics cum laude from Harvard University. Ms.
Fitta’s term as a Class II director will expire in 2023.

1

None

2

OFS Capital, a
BDC managed
by OFS Advisor

Ms. Fitta’s vast management experience and expertise across
various sectors and industries, including financial services,
qualifies her for service on our Board. Ms. Fitta is a strategist and
results-oriented problem-solver whose understanding of
operations, technology and risk management enhances the diverse
skillset and composition of our Board.
Romita
Shetty(3)
Age: 54

Director

2018 - Current

Ms. Shetty has served as a principal of DA Companies, parent of DA
Capital LLC, a global investment manager specializing in credit and
special situations, since 2010. Ms. Shetty has 30 years of experience in
fixed income and credit. At DA Capital she has focused on special
situations, structured credit and private investments. She has also served in
a management capacity as President of DA Capital Asia Pte Ltd. In 20072008 she ran the Global Special Opportunities group at Lehman Brothers
which invested proprietary capital. Prior to that she co-ran North
American structured equity and credit markets and the Global Alternative
Investment product businesses at RBS from 2004 to 2006. Previously she
worked at JP Morgan from 1997 to 2004 where she ran their Global
Structured Credit Derivatives as well as Financial Institutions Solutions
and CDO businesses. She started her career at Standard & Poor’s in 1990
where she worked on a wide variety of credit ratings including municipal
bonds, financial institutions and asset-backed securities and managed a
part of their ABS ratings business. Ms. Shetty holds a BA (Honors) in
History from St Stephens College, India and a Master of International
Affairs from Columbia University. Ms. Shetty's term as a Class II director
will expire in 2023.
Ms. Shetty, the chair of our compensation committee, has vast experience
in fixed income and credit management and expertise in the Company’s
intended investments qualifies her for service on our Board. Ms. Shetty’s
background has enabled her to cultivate an enhanced understanding of
operations and strategy with an added layer of risk management
experience that is an important aspect of the composition of our Board.
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Name,
Address and
Age

Position(s) held
with Company

Term of Office and
Length of Time
Served

Principal Occupation, Other Business Experience During
the Past Five Years

Number of
Portfolios in
Fund Complex
Overseen by
Director (1)

Other
Directorships
Held by Director

Interested Directors
Bilal Rashid
Age: 49

Director,
Chairman,
President and
Chief
Executive
Officer

Director (Since
2017);
Chairman (Since
2018); and
President and Chief
Executive Officer
(Since 2017)

Mr. Rashid has served as our Chairman of the board of directors
since 2018 and President and Chief Executive Officer since
2017. He is also Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Hancock Park, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of OFS Capital, Director of CIM Real
Assets and Credit Fund, President and a Senior Managing
Director of Orchard First Source Capital, Inc. (“OFSC”) and
OFS Advisor, Chief Executive Officer of OFSAM, and a
member of OFSAM’s investment and executive committees.
Prior to joining OFSC in 2008, Mr. Rashid was a managing
director in the global markets and investment banking division
at Merrill Lynch. Mr. Rashid has more than 20 years of
experience in investing as it relates to corporate credit and
structured credit, debt capital markets and investment banking.
Before joining Merrill Lynch in 2005, he was a vice president at
Natixis Capital Markets, which he joined from Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”). Prior to CIBC, he
worked as an investment analyst in the project finance area at
the International Finance Corporation, which is part of the
World Bank. Prior to that, Mr. Rashid was a financial analyst at
Lehman Brothers. Mr. Rashid has a B.S. in Electrical
Engineering from Carnegie Mellon University and an MBA
from Columbia University. Mr. Rashid’s term as a Class I
Director will expire in 2022.
Through his years of work in investment banking, capital
markets and in sourcing, leading and managing investments, Mr.
Rashid has developed expertise and skills that are relevant to
understanding the risks and opportunities that OFS Credit faces
and which are critical to implementing our strategic goals and
evaluating our operational performance.
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4

OFS Capital, a
BDC managed by
OFS Advisor,
Hancock Park,
another BDC
managed by OFS
Advisor and CIM
RACR, a
registered
investment
company subadvised by OFS
Advisor

Jeffrey A.
Cerny
Age: 57

Director, Chief
Financial
Officer and
Treasurer

Director (Since
2017)
Chief Financial
Officer and
Treasurer (Since
2017)

Mr. Cerny has served as our Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer since 2018. Mr. Cerny also serves as the Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer of Hancock Park, a director,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of OFS Capital, a Senior
Managing Director of OFSC and OFS Advisor, as a Vice
President of OFSAM, as a member of OFSAM’s investment and
executive committees and as a member of various OFSAM, and
OFSAM affiliates, investment committees. Mr. Cerny oversees
the finance and accounting functions of the aforementioned
entities as well as underwriting, credit monitoring and CLO
portfolio compliance for OFS Advisor’s syndicated senior loan
business. Prior to joining OFSC in 1999, Mr. Cerny held various
positions at Sanwa Business Credit Corporation, American
National Bank and Trust Company of Chicago and Charter Bank
Group, a multi-bank holding company. Mr. Cerny holds a B.S.
in Finance from Northern Illinois University, a Masters of
Management in Finance and Economics from Northwestern
University’s J.L. Kellogg School of Management, and a J.D.
from DePaul University’s School of Law. Mr. Cerny’s term as a
Class III Director will expire in 2021.

2

OFS Capital
Corporation, a
BDC managed
by OFS Advisor

Mr. Cerny brings to our Board extensive accounting and
financial experience and expertise. He is also an experienced
investor, including lending, structuring and workouts which
makes him an asset to our Board. The breadth of his background
and experience enables Mr. Cerny to provide unique insight into
our strategic process and into the management of our investment
portfolio.

(1) The address of each director is 10 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, IL 60606.
(2) The “Fund Complex” includes the Company, OFS Capital and Hancock Park, each of which are advised by OFS Advisor, and CIM RACR, which is
subadvised by OFS Advisor.
(3) Designated as a preferred stock director.
Officers Who Are Not Directors
Information regarding the Company’s officers who are not directors is as follows:
Name
Jeffery S. Owen
Mukya S. Porter
Tod K. Reichert

Age
56
46
59

Position
Chief Accounting Officer
Chief Compliance Officer
Corporate Secretary

The following is information concerning the business experience of our officers.
Jeffery S. Owen has served as our Chief Accounting Officer since 2017 and has served as the Chief Accounting Officer of Hancock Park Corporate
Income, Inc. and OFS Capital Corporation since 2016. Mr. Owen also serves as the Chief Accounting Officer and Controller of OFS Advisor. Mr. Owen
has over 25 years of experience in public and private accounting. Prior to joining OFSAM in November of 2015, Mr. Owen served as Senior Vice President
of Corporate Accounting for Northern Trust Corporation. Before joining Northern Trust Corporation in 2010, he held various positions at Aon Corporation,
Web Street, Inc., CNA Financial Corporation, and Ernst & Young LLP, an international public accounting firm. Mr. Owen holds a Bachelor of
Accountancy from the University of Oklahoma and a Masters of Business Administration, cum laude, from The University of Chicago Graduate School of
Business. Mr. Owen is also a Certified Public Accountant and a CFA charterholder.
Mukya S. Porter has served as our Chief Compliance Officer since 2017 and has served as the Chief Compliance Officer of Hancock Park Corporate
Income, Inc., OFS Capital Corporation and OFS Advisor since 2017, and CIM Real Assets & Credit Fund since 2019, in which capacity she oversees the
compliance and risk management functions. Prior to her appointment, Ms. Porter served as Deputy Chief Compliance Officer and General CounselCompliance of CIM Group, having joined the firm in August 2016 and is responsible for management of the day-to-day responsibilities of CIM’s
compliance program. From June 2012 to August 2016,
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Ms. Porter served as a Senior Vice President of Compliance at Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. ("Oaktree"), an alternative investment adviser, where she
was responsible for oversight of the firm’s code of ethics program and the day-to-day management of an affiliated limited-purpose broker dealer. Prior to
Oaktree, Ms. Porter held the position of Vice President and Senior Compliance Officer at Pacific Investment Management Company (“PIMCO”) from 2010
to 2012 and prior to that, from 2004 to 2010, worked, first, as a Vice President in the Legal department at Morgan Stanley Global Wealth Management and,
subsequently, as a Vice President of Compliance at Morgan Stanley Investment Management. Ms. Porter received a Bachelor of Science degree, magna
cum laude, in Biology from Howard University in 1996 and a J.D. from the University of California, Berkeley School of Law in 2001.
Tod K. Reichert has served as our Corporate Secretary since 2017, as the Corporate Secretary of Hancock Park Corporate Income, Inc. and OFS
Capital Corporation since 2017, and as Managing Director, Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel of OFS Advisor, in which capacity he
oversees the legal and operational functions of the firm. Mr. Reichert has over 20 years of experience as a strategic business partner, providing advice on
general corporate governance and transactional matters, with a focus on securities laws, compliance, corporate finance, debt and equity investments, and
mergers and acquisitions. Prior to joining OFS Advisor, Mr. Reichert served as General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary of
MCG Capital Corporation (Nasdaq: MCGC), managing the legal and compliance departments, overseeing complex litigation, and providing securities law,
disclosure and transactional advice to the Board and senior management team, while serving as a member of the MCG credit committee and the Small
Business Investment Company investment committee. Prior to joining MCG, Mr. Reichert worked as an attorney in private practice in New York, Princeton
and Boston. Mr. Reichert received his J.D. from the Rutgers University School of Law - Newark and his BFA from the University of North Carolina.
Compensation of Directors
The following table shows information regarding the compensation received by our independent directors for our fiscal year ended October 31, 2020.
Name
Independent Directors
Robert J. Cresci(4)
Kathleen M. Griggs
Romita Shetty
Interested Directors
Bilal Rashid(2)
Jeffrey Cerny(2)

All Other
Compensation(2)

Fees Earned(1)
$
$
$

60,000
60,000
60,000

Total Compensation
from OFS Credit
— $
— $
— $

—
—

—
—

60,000
60,000
60,000

Total Compensation
from Fund Complex(3)
$
$
$

172,500
60,000
60,000

—
—

—
—

(1) Each independent director receives an annual fee of $50,000. In addition, the chairman of each committee receives an annual fee of $10,000 for his or
her additional services in this capacity. The annual fee that each independent director receives will increase to $75,000 when the Company's net asset
value reaches $125.0 million. We also reimburse our independent directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending our Board and
committee meetings. We have obtained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance on behalf of our directors and officers.
(2) No compensation is paid to directors who are "interested persons."
(3) The Fund Complex includes the Company, OFS Capital, Hancock Park and CIM RACR.
(4) On January 8, 2021, the Board appointed Catherine M. Fitta as a director to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci on
December 22, 2020.
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Director Ownership of Company Shares
The table below sets forth the dollar range of the value of shares of our common stock that are owned beneficially by each director as of October 31,
2020. For purposes of this table, beneficial ownership is defined to mean a direct or indirect pecuniary interest.
Dollar Range of Equity
Securities in the Company
as of October 31, 2020(1)

Name of Director

Independent Directors
Catherine M. Fitta
Kathleen M. Griggs
Romita Shetty
Interested Directors

None
None
None

Bilal Rashid

Over $100,000(2)

Jeffrey A. Cerny

Over $100,000(2)

(1) Dollar ranges are as follows: None, $1 – $10,000, $10,001 – $50,000, $50,001 – $100,000 and over $100,000.
(2) Mr. Rashid and Mr. Cerny beneficially own securities of the Company through their indirect ownership of an affiliate of OFS Advisor. Mr. Rashid and
Mr. Cerny each own shares of our common stock directly and each may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of the Company's common stock that
OFSAM owns.
Corporate Governance
Board Determination of Independence
Under applicable Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an “independent director” if, in the opinion of our Board, that person does not have a
relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The Nasdaq Marketplace Rules
provide that a director of a registered closed end fund, shall be considered to be independent if he or she is not an “interested person” of the Company, as
defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act defines an “interested person” to include, among other things, any person who
has, or within the past two years had, a material business or professional relationship with us.
Our Board has determined that none of Mses. Griggs, Shetty and Fitta who currently comprise our audit, compensation and nominating and corporate
governance committees, has a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director
and that each of these directors is “independent” as that term is defined under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.
In determining the independence of the directors listed above, our Board also considered each of the statutory requirements, polices and relationships
discussed in “Related-Party Transactions and Certain Relationships” and “Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons.”
Board Meetings and Attendance
Board Meetings
The Board held nine meetings during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020.
Director Attendance at Annual Meetings of Stockholders
We encourage each director to make a diligent effort to attend each annual meeting of stockholders. Romita Shetty, Robert J. Cresci and Bilal Rashid
attended the 2019 annual meeting, and Robert J. Cresci, Jeffrey A. Cerny, Bilal Rashid and Romita Shetty attended the 2020 annual meeting.
Board Leadership Structure; Independent Lead Director
Our Board monitors and performs an oversight role with respect to our business and affairs, including with respect to investment practices and
performance, compliance with regulatory requirements and the services, expenses and performance of service providers to us. Among other things, our
Board approves the appointment of our investment adviser and our officers, reviews and monitors the services and activities performed by our investment
adviser and our officers, and approves the engagement, and reviews the performance of, our independent registered public accounting firm.
Our Board understands that there is no single, generally accepted approach to providing board leadership and that given the dynamic and competitive
environment in which we operate, the right board leadership structure may vary as circumstances warrant.
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Consistent with this understanding, the independent directors consider the board’s leadership structure on an annual basis. This consideration includes the
pros and cons of alternative leadership structures in light of our operating and governance environment at the time, with the goal of achieving the optimal
model for effective oversight of management by the board.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Board currently combines the role of Chairman of the Board with the role of Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), coupled with a Lead Independent
Director position to further strengthen the governance structure. Our Board believes this provides an efficient and effective leadership model for the
Company. Combining the Chairman and CEO roles fosters clear accountability, effective decision-making and alignment on corporate strategy.
Moreover, the Board believes that its governance practices provide adequate safeguards against any potential risks that might be associated with having
a combined Chairman and CEO.
Specifically:
• Three of the five current directors of the Company are independent directors;
• All of the members of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee are independent
directors;
• The Board and its committees regularly conduct scheduled meetings in executive session, out of the presence of Mr. Rashid and other members
of management;
• The Board and its committees regularly conduct meetings that specifically include Mr. Rashid; and
• The Board and its committees remain in close contact with, and receive reports on various aspects of the Company’s management and
enterprise risk directly from, the Company’s senior management and independent auditors.
Lead Independent Director
The Board has appointed a Lead Independent Director to provide an additional measure of balance, ensure the Board’s independence, and enhance the
Board’s ability to fulfill its management oversight responsibilities. Ms. Griggs currently serves as the Lead Independent Director. The Lead Independent
Director:
• Presides over all meetings of the directors at which the Chairman is not present, including executive sessions of the independent directors;
• Works with the Chairman of the Board in the preparation of the agenda for each board meeting and in determining the need for special
meetings of the Board;
• Frequently consults with the Chairman and CEO about strategic policies;
• Provides the Chairman and CEO with input regarding board meetings;
• Serves as a liaison between the Chairman and CEO and the independent directors;
• Consults with the Chairman and CEO on matters relating to corporate governance and board performance; and
• Otherwise assumes such responsibilities as may be assigned to him by the independent directors.
While we currently do not have a policy mandating an independent lead director, the Board believes that at this time, having an independent director
fulfill the lead director role is the right approach for the Company. Having a combined Chairman and CEO, coupled with a majority of independent,
experienced directors who evaluate the Board and themselves at least annually, including a Lead Independent Director with specified responsibilities on
behalf of the independent directors, provides the right leadership structure for the Company and is best for the Company and its stockholders at this time.
Board of Directors Role in Risk Oversight
Our management team has the primary responsibility for risk management and must develop appropriate processes and procedures to identify, manage
and mitigate risks. Our Board, through its oversight role, supervises our risk management activities to ensure that the risk management processes designed
and implemented by our executives are adapted to and integrated with the Board’s corporate strategy, designed to support the achievement of organizational
objectives, functioning as directed and that necessary steps are taken to foster a culture of risk-adjusted decision-making throughout the enterprise.
A fundamental part of risk management is not only understanding the risks a company faces and what steps management is taking to manage those
risks, but also understanding what level of risk is appropriate for the company. The involvement of the full Board in setting our business strategy is a key
part of its assessment of management’s appetite for risk and also a determination of what constitutes an appropriate level of risk for us. Through dedicated
sessions focusing entirely on corporate strategy, the full Board will
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review in detail the company’s short- and long-term strategies, including consideration of significant risks facing the Company and their potential impact.
Our Board will perform its risk oversight function primarily through: (i) its standing committees, which report to the entire Board and are comprised
solely of independent directors; and (ii) active monitoring of our chief compliance officer and our compliance policies and procedures. For example,
management of cybersecurity risks is the responsibility of the full Board. Oversight of other risks is delegated to specific committees.
Oversight of our investment activities extends to oversight of the risk management processes employed by OFS Advisor as part of its day-to-day
management of our investment activities. The Board anticipates reviewing risk management processes at both regular and special board meetings
throughout the year, consulting with appropriate representatives of OFS Advisor, as necessary, and periodically requesting the production of risk
management reports or presentations. The goal of the Board’s risk oversight function is to ensure that the risks associated with our investment activities are
accurately identified, thoroughly investigated and responsibly addressed. Investors should note, however, that the Board’s oversight function cannot
eliminate all risks or ensure that particular events do not adversely affect the value of investments.
We believe that our approach to risk oversight, as described above, optimizes our ability to assess inter-relationships among the various risks, make
informed cost-benefit decisions and approach emerging risks in a proactive manner for the Company. We also believe that our risk structure complements
our current Board leadership structure, as it allows our independent directors, through the three fully independent Board committees and otherwise, to
exercise oversight of the actions of management in identifying risks and implementing risk management policies and controls. We believe that the role of
our Board in risk oversight is effective and appropriate given the extensive regulation to which we are already subject as a registered closed-end investment
company under the 1940 Act. As a registered closed-end investment company, we are required to comply with certain regulatory requirements that control
the levels of risk in our business and operations. For example, we are limited in our ability to enter into transactions with our affiliates, including investing
in any portfolio company in which one of our affiliates currently has an investment.
Code of Business Conduct
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to, among others, our executive officers, including our Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, as well as every officer, director and employee of the Company. Requests for copies should be sent in writing to our Chief
Compliance Officer, Mukya S. Porter, at OFS Credit Company, Inc., 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606. The Company’s Code of
Business Conduct is also available on our website at www.ofscreditcompany.com. In addition, we intend to post on our website all disclosures that are
required by law or Nasdaq Capital Market listing standards concerning any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of this code.
If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant a waiver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct, we will promptly disclose the nature
of the amendment or waiver on our website at www.ofscreditcompany.com.
Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons
The audit committee of our Board is required to review and approve any transactions with related persons (as such term is defined in Item 404 of
Regulation S-K).
Corporate Governance Documents
We maintain a corporate governance webpage at the “Governance Documents” link under the “Investor Relations” link at www.ofscreditcompany.com.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Board Committee charters are available at our corporate governance webpage at www.ofscreditcompany.com and are
also available to any stockholder who requests them by writing to OFS Credit Company, Inc., 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606,
Attention: Tod K. Reichert, Corporate Secretary.
Executive Sessions and Communicating with the Board of Directors
The independent directors serving on our Board intend to meet in executive sessions at the conclusion of each regularly scheduled meeting of the
Board, and additionally as needed, without the presence of any directors or other persons who are part of the Company’s management. These executive
sessions of our Board will be presided over by our Company’s Lead Independent Director.
Our Board will give appropriate attention to written communications that are submitted by stockholders, and will respond if and as appropriate. The
Chairman of the Board (if an independent director), or the lead director (if one is appointed), or otherwise the chairperson of the nominating and corporate
governance committee, with advice and assistance from the general counsel and chief compliance officer and, if requested, outside legal counsel, is
primarily responsible for monitoring communications from stockholders and for providing copies of summaries of such communications to the other
directors as he or she considers appropriate.
Communications are forwarded to all directors if they relate to important substantive matters and include suggestions or comments that the Chairman of
the Board considers to be important for the directors to know. In general, communications relating to corporate governance and corporate strategy are more
likely to be forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances and matters as to which we tend to receive repetitive
or duplicative communications.
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Stockholders who wish to send communications on any topic to the Board should address such communications to the OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Board of Directors, c/o Tod K. Reichert, Corporate Secretary, OFS Credit Company, Inc., 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606.
Board Meetings and Committees
Our Board has established three standing committees: audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance. Our audit, compensation and
nominating and corporate governance committees each operate under a charter that has been approved by our Board. Current copies of the audit,
compensation and nominating and corporate governance committee charters are posted in the Corporate Governance section of our website located
at www.ofscreditcompany.com.
Our Board has determined that all of the members of each of the Board’s standing committees are independent as defined under the rules of the Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc. including, in the case of all members of the audit committee, the independence requirements contemplated by Rule 10A-3 under the
Exchange Act.
Audit Committee
The audit committee consists of Mses. Griggs, Shetty and Fitta. Ms. Griggs is the chair of the audit committee. Ms. Fitta was appointed to the audit
committee to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci on December 22, 2020. No member of the audit committee is an “interested
person” of the Company, as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Our audit committee’s responsibilities include:
• appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our independent registered public accounting firm;
• overseeing the work of our independent registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and consideration of certain reports
from such firm;
• reviewing and discussing with management our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures;
• monitoring our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures;
• discussing our risk management processes and procedures;
• establishing policies regarding hiring employees from the independent registered public accounting firm and procedures for the receipt and
retention of accounting related complaints and concerns;
• meeting independently with our independent registered public accounting firm and management;
• reviewing and approving or ratifying any related person transactions; and
• preparing the audit committee report required by SEC rules.
Our board of directors has determined that Ms. Griggs is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by applicable SEC rules. The Audit Committee
held 8 meetings in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020.
Compensation Committee
The compensation committee consists of Mses. Griggs, Shetty and Fitta. Ms. Shetty is the chair of the compensation committee. Ms. Fitta was
appointed to the compensation committee to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of Robert J. Cresci on December 22, 2020. No member of the
compensation committee is an “interested person” of the Company, as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Our compensation committee’s
responsibilities include:
• reviewing and approving the reimbursement by the Company of the compensation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, Chief Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary; and
• reviewing and recommending for approval by the Board the compensation, if any, paid to directors that are not “interested persons” of the
company as such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act.
Currently none of the Company’s executive officers is directly compensated by the Company. However, the Company reimburses the Administrator for
the allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by the Administrator in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement,
including an allocable share of the compensation of certain of the Company’s executive officers. The Compensation Committee held one meeting in the
fiscal year ended October 31, 2020.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Mses. Griggs, Shetty and Fitta. Ms. Fitta is the chair of the nominating and corporate
governance committee. Ms. Fitta was appointed to the nominating and corporate governance committee to fill the vacancy created by the untimely death of
Robert J. Cresci on December 22, 2020. No member of the nominating and corporate
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governance committee is an “interested person” of the Company, as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Our nominating and corporate governance
committee’s responsibilities include:
• identifying individuals qualified to become Board members;
• recommending to the Board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the Board’s committees;
• reviewing and making recommendations to the Board with respect to management succession planning; and
• overseeing an annual evaluation of the Board.
The processes and procedures followed by our nominating and corporate governance committee in identifying and evaluating director candidates are
described below under the heading “Director Nomination Process, Including Diversity Considerations.” The nominating and corporate governance
committee held one meeting in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020.
Director Nomination Process, Including Diversity Considerations
The process followed by our nominating and corporate governance committee to identify and evaluate director candidates includes requests to board
members and others for recommendations, meetings from time to time to evaluate biographical information and background material relating to potential
candidates and interviews of selected candidates by members of the nominating and corporate governance committee and other members of the Board, as
applicable.
In considering whether to recommend any particular candidate for inclusion in the Board’s slate of recommended director nominees, the nominating
and corporate governance committee applies the criteria included in its charter. These criteria include the candidate’s integrity, business acumen, knowledge
of our business and industry, experience, diligence, conflicts of interest and the ability to act in the interests of all stockholders. The nominating and
corporate governance committee does not assign specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for each prospective
nominee.
We believe that our directors have an appropriate balance of knowledge, experience, attributes, skills and expertise required for our Board as a whole
and that we have sufficient independent directors to comply with applicable law and regulations. We believe that our directors have a broad range of
personal and professional characteristics, including: leadership; management ability; financial experience; the ability to act with integrity and sound
judgment; the capacity to demonstrate innovative thinking, consider strategic proposals, assist with the development of our strategic plan and oversee its
implementation; the ability to oversee our risk management efforts; and the commitment to preparation for, and attendance at, board and committee
meetings.
Our Board does not have a specific diversity policy, but considers diversity of race, religion, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, disability,
cultural background and professional experiences in evaluating candidates for board membership. We believe diversity is important because a variety of
viewpoints contribute to an effective decision-making process.
Stockholders may recommend individuals to the nominating and corporate governance committee for consideration as potential director candidates by
submitting their names, together with appropriate biographical information and background materials, to the nominating and corporate governance
committee, c/o Tod K. Reichert, Corporate Secretary, OFS Credit Company, Inc., 10 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, Illinois 60606. Assuming
that appropriate biographical and background material has been provided on a timely basis, the nominating and corporate governance committee will
evaluate stockholder-recommended candidates by following substantially the same process, and applying substantially the same criteria, as it follows for
candidates submitted by others.
Stockholders also have the right under our bylaws to directly nominate director candidates, without any action or recommendation on the part of the
nominating and corporate governance committee or our Board, by following the procedures set forth in our bylaws.
Compensation of Executive Officers
None of our officers receives direct compensation from us. Mr. Rashid, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Cerny, our Chief Financial
Officer, Mr. Owen, our Chief Accounting Officer, Ms. Porter, our Chief Compliance Officer and Mr. Reichert, our Corporate Secretary, are paid by
OFSAM, subject to reimbursement by us, pursuant to the Administration Agreement, for an allocable portion of such compensation for services rendered
by such persons to us.
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DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE
The NAV per share of the outstanding shares of our common stock is determined quarterly by dividing the value of total assets minus liabilities by the
total number of shares of our common stock outstanding at the date as of which the determination is made.
In calculating the value of our investment assets each quarter, we will assess whether a sufficient number of market quotations are available or whether
a sufficient number of indicative prices from pricing services or brokers or dealers have been received. Investments for which sufficient market quotations
are available will be valued at such market quotations. Otherwise we intend to undertake, on a quarterly basis, a valuation process as described below:
• For each investment, a basic review process will be completed by OFS Advisor's investment professionals. The basic review on every
investment will be reviewed and either reaffirmed or revised by OFS Advisor’s investment committee.
• Each investment will be valued by OFS Advisor.
• The preliminary valuations will be documented and then submitted to OFS Advisor’s investment committee for ratification.
• Third-party valuation firm(s) will provide valuation services as requested, by reviewing OFS Advisor's investment committee’s preliminary
valuations. OFS Advisor’s investment committee’s preliminary fair value conclusions on each of our assets for which sufficient market
quotations are not readily available will be reviewed and assessed by a third-party valuation firm at least once in every 12-month period, and
more often as determined by the audit committee of our Board or required by our valuation policy. Such valuation assessment may be in the
form of positive assurance, range of values or other valuation method based on the discretion of our Board.
• The audit committee of the Board will review the preliminary valuations of OFS Advisor’s investment committee and independent valuation
firms and, if appropriate, recommend the approval of the valuations by the Board.
• Our Board will discuss valuations and determines the fair value of each investment in the portfolio in good faith based on the input of OFS
Advisor, the audit committee and, where appropriate, the respective independent valuation firm.
See “Risks - A substantial portion of our portfolio investments may be recorded at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the direction
of our board of directors and, as a result, there may be uncertainty regarding the value of our portfolio investments.”
We will follow Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820 - Fair Value Measurement for measuring fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair values
are determined with market observations, models or other valuation techniques, valuation inputs, and assumptions market participants would use in pricing
an asset or liability. Valuation inputs are organized in a hierarchy that gives the highest priority to prices for identical assets or liabilities quoted in active
markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three levels of inputs in the fair value hierarchy are described below:
• Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity can access at the measurement
date.
• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. If the asset or
liability has a specified term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include:
(i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, (ii) quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active, (iii) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, and (iv) inputs that are derived principally from
or corroborated by observable market data.
• Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, and situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the
measurement date.
The inputs into the determination of fair value will be based upon the best information available to OFS Advisor (or to third-party valuation firms hired
by OFS Advisor to review its investment committee's preliminary valuations) under the circumstances and may require significant management judgment
or estimation. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s
level within the fair value hierarchy will be based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety will require judgment, and will consider factors specific to the investment.
We expect to assess the levels of the investments at each measurement date, and recognize transfers between levels on the measurement dates. All of
our investments, which will be measured at fair value, are expected to be categorized as Level 3 based upon the expected lowest level of significant input to
the valuations. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety will require judgment, and will consider
factors specific to the investment.
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Consistent with the policies and methodologies to be adopted by the Board, we will perform detailed investment valuations, including an analysis of
our investment purchase commitments, using both the market and income approaches as appropriate. There is no one methodology to estimate investment
value and, in fact, for any one investment, value is generally best expressed as a range of values. As noted above, we will also engage one or more
independent valuation firms(s) to conduct independent appraisals of our investments to develop the range of values, from which we may derive a single
estimate of value.
Application of our valuation methodologies will involve a significant degree of judgment by management. Fair values of new investments or
investments where an arm’s length transaction occurred in the same security will generally be assumed to equal their cost for up to three months after their
initial purchase.
Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of Level 3 investments, the fair value of the investments may differ significantly from the
values that may have been used had a ready market or observable inputs exist for such investments and may differ materially from the values that may
ultimately be received or settled. Further, such investments will generally be subject to legal and other restrictions, or otherwise will be less liquid than
publicly traded instruments. If we are required to liquidate a portfolio investment in a forced or liquidation sale, we might realize significantly less than the
value at which such investment will have previously been recorded. Our investments will be subject to market risk. Market risk is the potential for changes
in the value due to market changes. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the investments are traded.
Rule 2a-5 under the 1940 Act was recently adopted by the SEC and establishes requirements for determining fair value in good faith for purposes of the
1940 Act. We intend to comply with the requirements of Rule 2a-5 on or before the compliance date in September 2022.
Determinations in connection with offerings
In connection with future offerings of shares of our common stock (excluding rights offerings), our Board or an authorized committee thereof will be
required to make a good faith determination that we are not selling shares of our common stock at a price below the then current net asset value of our
common stock at the time at which the sale is made. Our Board or an authorized committee thereof will consider the following factors, among others, in
making such determination:
• the NAV per share of common stock disclosed in the most recent periodic report that we filed with the SEC;
• our management’s assessment of whether any material change in the NAV per share of common stock has occurred (including through the
realization of gains on the sale of our portfolio securities) during the period beginning on the date of the most recently disclosed net asset
value per share of common stock and ending as of a time within 48 hours (excluding Sundays and holidays) of the sale of our common stock;
and
• the magnitude of the difference between (i) a value that our Board or an authorized committee thereof has determined reflects the current (as of
a time within 48 hours, excluding Sundays and holidays) NAV of our common stock, which is based upon the NAV of shares of our common
stock disclosed in the most recent periodic report that we filed with the SEC, as adjusted to reflect our management’s assessment of any
material change in the NAV of shares of our common stock since the date of the most recently disclosed NAV of shares of our common stock,
and (ii) the offering price of the shares of our common stock in the proposed offering.
Moreover, to the extent that there is a possibility that we may (i) issue share of common stock at a price per share below the then current net asset value
per share at the time at which the sale is made or (ii) trigger the undertaking (which we provide in certain registration statements we file with the SEC) to
suspend the offering of shares of our common stock if the NAV per share fluctuates by certain amounts in certain circumstances until the prospectus is
amended, our Board will elect, in the case of clause (i) above, either to postpone the offering until such time that there is no longer the possibility of the
occurrence of such event or to undertake to determine the NAV per share of common stock within two days prior to any such sale to ensure that such sale
will not be below our then current NAV per share, and, in the case of clause (ii) above, to comply with such undertaking or to undertake to determine the
NAV per share to ensure that such undertaking has not been triggered.
These processes and procedures are part of our compliance policies and procedures. Records will be made contemporaneously with all determinations
described in this section and these records will be maintained with other records that we are required to maintain under the 1940 Act.
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DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN
We have adopted a DRIP that provides for reinvestment of our distributions and other distributions on behalf of our holders of common stock,
unless a holder of common stock elects to receive cash as provided below. As a result, if our Board authorizes, and we declare, a cash distribution, then our
holders of common stock who have not “opted out” of our DRIP will have their cash distribution automatically reinvested in additional shares of our
common stock, rather than receiving the cash distribution.
No action is required on the part of a holder of common stock to have their cash distribution reinvested in shares of our common stock. A
registered holder of common stock may elect to receive an entire distribution in cash by notifying American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, the
plan administrator and our transfer agent and registrar, in writing so that such notice is received by the plan administrator no later than 10 days prior to the
record date for distributions to holders of common stock. The plan administrator will set up an account for shares acquired through the DRIP for each
holder of common stock who has not elected to receive distributions in cash and hold such shares in non-certificated form. Upon request by a holder of
common stock participating in the plan, received in writing not less than 10 days prior to the record date, the plan administrator will, instead of crediting
shares to the participant’s account, issue a certificate registered in the participant’s name for the number of whole shares and a check for any fractional
share.
Those holders of common stock whose shares are held by a broker or other financial intermediary may receive distributions in cash by notifying
their broker or other financial intermediary of their election.
We will use primarily newly issued shares of our common stock to implement the DRIP, whether shares of our common stock are trading at a
premium or at a discount to net asset value. However, we reserve the right to direct the plan administrator to purchase shares in the open market in
connection with our implementation of the plan. The number of shares to be issued to a holder of common stock is determined by dividing the total dollar
amount of the distribution payable to such holder of common stock by the market price per share of common stock at the close of regular trading on the
Nasdaq Capital Market on the valuation date for such distribution. Market price per share of common stock on that date will be the closing price for such
shares on the Nasdaq Capital Market or, if no sale is reported for such day, at the average of their reported bid and asked prices. The number of shares to be
outstanding after giving effect to payment of the distribution cannot be established until the value per share at which additional shares will be issued has
been determined and elections of our holders of common stock have been tabulated.
There will be no brokerage charges or other charges to holders of common stock who participate in the DRIP. The plan administrator’s fees will be
paid by us. If a participant elects by written notice to the plan administrator to have the plan administrator sell part or all of the shares held by the plan
administrator in the participant’s account and remit the proceeds to the participant, the plan administrator is authorized to deduct a $15.00 transaction fee
plus a $0.10 per share brokerage commission from the proceeds.
Holders of common stock who receive distributions in the form of stock are subject to the same U.S. federal tax consequences as are holders of
common stock who elect to receive their distributions in cash; however, since their cash distributions will be reinvested, such holders of common stock will
not receive cash with which to pay any applicable taxes on reinvested distributions. A holder of common stock’s basis for determining gain or loss upon the
sale of stock received in a distribution from us will be equal to the total dollar amount of the distribution payable to the holder of common stock. Any stock
received in a distribution will have a new holding period for tax purposes commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are credited to the
U.S. holder of common stock’s account.
Participants may terminate their accounts under the DRIP by notifying the plan administrator via its website at www.amstock.com, by filling out
the transaction request form located at the bottom of their statement and sending it to the plan administrator. Such termination will be effective immediately
if the participant’s notice is received by the plan administrator not less than 10 days prior to any distribution record date; otherwise, such termination will
be effective only with respect to any subsequent distribution. The DRIP may be terminated by us upon notice in writing mailed to each participant at least
30 days prior to any record date for the payment of any distribution by us. All correspondence concerning the DRIP should be directed to the plan
administrator by mail American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, P.O. Box 922, Wall Street Station, New York, New York 10269, or by the plan
administrator’s Interactive Voice Response System at (800) 937-5449.
If you withdraw or the plan is terminated, you will receive the number of whole shares in your account under the plan and a cash payment for any
fraction of a share in your account.
If you hold shares with a brokerage firm that does not participate in the plan, you will not be able to participate in the plan and any distribution
reinvestment may be effected on different terms than those described above. Consult your financial advisor for more information.
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The DRIP was suspended in connection with the Board's declaration of distributions payable in cash and common stock for each of the quarters ending
on July 31, 2020, October 31, 2020, January 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021.
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U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX MATTERS
The following discussion is a general summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to us and to an investment in shares of our
common stock. This summary does not purport to be a complete description of the U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to such an investment.
For example, we have not described tax consequences that may be relevant to certain types of holders subject to special treatment under U.S. federal
income tax laws, including stockholders subject to the alternative minimum tax, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, persons that hold our
shares as part of a hedge or straddle, dealers in securities, a trader in securities that elects to use a market-to-market method of accounting for its securities
holdings, pension plans and trusts, and financial institutions. This summary assumes that investors hold our common stock as capital assets (within the
meaning of the Code). The discussion is based upon the Code, Treasury regulations, and administrative and judicial interpretations, each as of the date of
this prospectus and all of which are subject to change, possibly retroactively, which could affect the continuing validity of this discussion. See "Risk
Factors - Risks Related to Our Business and Structure - U.S. tax reform could have a negative impact on our business and on our stockholders." We
have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, or “IRS” regarding any offering of securities pursuant to this prospectus.
This summary does not discuss any aspects of U.S. estate or gift tax or foreign, state or local tax. It does not discuss the special treatment under U.S.
federal income tax laws that could result if we invested in tax-exempt securities or certain other investment assets.
A “U.S. stockholder” generally is a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock who is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:
•

A citizen or individual resident of the United States;

•

A corporation or other entity treated as a corporation, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United
States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia;

•

A trust if a court within the United States is asked to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more United
States persons have the authority to control all substantive decisions of the trust (or a trust that has made a valid election to be treated as a U.S.
trust); or

•

An estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

A “Non-U.S. stockholder” generally is a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock who is not a U.S. stockholder.
If a partnership (including an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds shares of our common stock, the tax treatment
of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A prospective stockholder that is a
partner of a partnership holding shares of our common stock should consult his, her or its tax advisers with respect to the purchase, ownership and
disposition of shares of our common stock.
Tax matters are complicated and the tax consequences to an investor of an investment in our shares will depend on the facts of his, her or its particular
situation. We encourage investors to consult their own tax advisers regarding the specific consequences of such an investment, including tax reporting
requirements, the applicability of U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax laws, eligibility for the benefits of any applicable tax treaty and the effect of any
possible changes in the tax laws.
Election to be Taxed as a RIC
We have elected, and intend to qualify annually, to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, we generally will not have to pay
corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any income that we timely distribute to our stockholders as dividends. To qualify as a RIC, we must, among
other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements (as described below). In addition, in order to be eligible for pass-through
tax treatment as a RIC, we must distribute to our stockholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of our “investment company taxable income,” which is
generally our net ordinary income plus the excess of realized net short-term capital gains over realized net long-term capital losses, or the “Annual
Distribution Requirement.”
Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company
If we:
•

qualify as a RIC; and

•

satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement,

then we will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the portion of our income we distribute (or that we are deemed to distribute) to stockholders. We
are subject to U.S. federal income tax at the regular corporate rates on any income or capital gains not distributed (or deemed distributed) to our
stockholders.
We are subject to a 4% nondeductible U.S. federal excise tax on certain undistributed income unless we distribute in a timely manner an amount at least
equal to the sum of (1) 98% of our net ordinary income for each calendar year, (2) 98.2% of our capital gain
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net income for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (3) any income and net capital gains that we recognized in preceding years,
but were not distributed in such years and on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax, or the “Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.” We generally will
endeavor in each year to make sufficient distributions to our stockholders to avoid any U.S. federal excise tax on our earnings.
In order to qualify as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must, among other things:
•

derive in each taxable year at least 90% of our gross income from dividends, interest, payments with respect to loans of certain securities, gains
from the sale of stock or other securities, net income from certain “qualified publicly traded partnerships,” or other income derived with respect to
our business of investing in such stock or securities, or the “90% Income Test”; and

•

diversify our holdings so that at the end of each quarter of the taxable year:
◦

at least 50% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash equivalents, U.S. Government securities, securities of other RICs, and other
securities if such other securities of any one issuer do not represent more than 5% of the value of our assets or more than 10% of the
outstanding voting securities of the issuer; and

◦

no more than 25% of the value of our assets is invested in the securities, other than U.S. government securities or securities of other
RICs, of one issuer, of two or more issuers that are controlled, as determined under applicable Code rules, by us and that are engaged in
the same or similar or related trades or businesses, or of certain “qualified publicly traded partnerships,” or the “Diversification Tests.”

Certain of our investment practices may be subject to special and complex U.S. federal income tax provisions that may, among other things: (i)
disallow, suspend or otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions; (ii) convert lower taxed long-term capital gain into higher taxed shortterm capital gain or ordinary income; (iii) convert an ordinary loss or a deduction into a capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited); (iv) cause
us to recognize income or gain without a corresponding receipt of cash, which may require us make a distribution to our stockholders in order to satisfy the
Annual Distribution Requirement and the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement, even though we will not have received any corresponding cash amount; (v)
adversely affect the time as to when a purchase or sale of securities is deemed to occur; (vi) adversely alter the characterization of certain complex financial
transactions; and (vii) produce income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Income Test described above. We will monitor our
transactions and may make certain tax elections in order to mitigate the potential adverse effect of these provisions.
Our investment in foreign securities may be subject to non-U.S. withholding taxes. In that case, our yield on those securities would be decreased.
Stockholders will generally not be entitled to claim a credit or deduction with respect to non-U.S. taxes paid by us.
Some of the CLO vehicles in which we may invest may constitute PFICs. If we acquire shares in PFICs (including equity tranche investments in CLO
vehicles that are PFICs), we may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on a portion of any “excess distribution” or gain from the disposition of such shares
even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by us to our stockholders. Additional charges in the nature of interest may be imposed on us in
respect of deferred taxes arising from any such excess distributions or gains. If we invest in a PFIC and elect to treat the PFIC as a “qualified electing fund”
under the Code, or “QEF,” in lieu of the foregoing requirements, we will be required to include in income each year our proportionate share of the ordinary
earnings and net capital gain of the QEF, even if such income is not distributed to us. Alternatively, we can elect to mark-to-market at the end of each
taxable year our shares in a PFIC. In that case, we would recognize as ordinary income any increase in the value of such shares, and as ordinary loss any
decrease in such value to the extent it does not exceed prior increases included in our income. Under either election, we may be required to recognize
taxable income in excess of our distributions from PFICs and our proceeds from dispositions of PFIC stock during that year, and we must distribute such
income to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.
If we hold more than 10% of the shares in a foreign corporation that is treated as a controlled foreign corporation, or “CFC,” (including equity tranche
investments in a CLO vehicle treated as CFC) we may be treated as receiving a deemed distribution (taxable as ordinary income) each year from such
foreign corporation in an amount equal to our pro rata share of the corporation’s income for the tax year (including both ordinary earnings and capital
gains), whether or not the corporation makes an actual distribution during such year. This deemed distribution is required to be included in the income of a
U.S. Shareholder of a CFC regardless of whether the shareholder has made a QEF election with respect to such CFC. In general, a foreign corporation will
be classified as a CFC if more than 50% of the shares of the corporation, measured by reference to combined voting power or value, is owned (directly,
indirectly or by attribution) by U.S. Shareholders. A “U.S. Shareholder,” for this purpose, is any U.S. person that possesses (actually or constructively) 10%
or more of the combined value or voting power of all classes of shares of a corporation. If we are treated as receiving a deemed distribution from a CFC,
we will be required to include such distribution in our investment company taxable income regardless of whether we receive any actual distributions from
such CFC, and we must distribute such income to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.
Income inclusions from a QEF or a CFC will be “good income” for purposes of the 90% Income Test provided that they are derived in connection with
our business of investing in stocks and securities or the QEF or the CFC distribute such income to us in the same taxable year in which the income is
included in our income.
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Although we do not presently expect to do so, we are authorized to borrow funds and to sell assets in order to satisfy distribution requirements.
However, under the 1940 Act, we are not permitted to make distributions to our stockholders while our debt obligations and other senior securities are
outstanding unless certain “asset coverage” tests are met. See “Regulation as a Registered Closed-End Management Investment Company — Senior
Securities.” Moreover, our ability to dispose of assets to meet our distribution requirements may be limited by (1) the illiquid nature of our portfolio and/or
(2) other requirements relating to our status as a RIC, including the Diversification Tests. If we dispose of assets in order to meet the Annual Distribution
Requirement or the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement, we may make such dispositions at times that, from an investment standpoint, are not
advantageous.
Under Section 988 of the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates between the time we accrue income, expenses or other
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and the time we actually collect such income or pay such expenses or liabilities are generally treated as
ordinary income or loss. Similarly, gains or losses on foreign currency forward contracts and the disposition of debt obligations denominated in a foreign
currency, to the extent attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates between the acquisition and disposition dates, are also treated as ordinary income or
loss.
Gain or loss realized by us from the sale or exchange of warrants acquired by us as well as any loss attributable to the lapse of such warrants generally
will be treated as capital gain or loss. The treatment of such gain or loss as long-term or short-term will depend on how long we held a particular warrant.
Upon the exercise of a warrant acquired by us, our tax basis in the stock purchased under the warrant will equal the sum of the amount paid for the warrant
plus the strike price paid on the exercise of the warrant.
FATCA generally imposes a withholding tax of 30% on payments of U.S. source interest and dividends to certain non-U.S. entities, including certain
non-U.S. financial institutions and investment funds, unless such non-U.S. entity complies with certain reporting requirements regarding its United States
account holders and its United States owners. While existing U.S. Treasury regulations would also require withholding on payments of gross proceeds from
the sale of any property that could produce U.S. source interest of dividends, the U.S. Treasury Department has indicated its intent to eliminate this
requirement in subsequent proposed regulations, which state that taxpayers may rely on the proposed regulations until final regulations are issued. Most
CLO vehicles in which we invest will be treated as non-U.S. financial entities for this purpose, and therefore will be required to comply with these
reporting requirements to avoid the 30% withholding. If a CLO vehicle in which we invest fails to properly comply with these reporting requirements, it
could reduce the amounts available to distribute to equity and subordinated debt holders in such CLO vehicle, which could materially and adversely affect
our operating results and cash flows.
The remainder of this discussion assumes that we qualify as a RIC and have satisfied the Annual Distribution Requirement and quarterly
Diversification Tests.
Taxation of U.S. Stockholders
Distributions by us generally are taxable to U.S. stockholders as ordinary income or capital gains. Distributions of our “investment company taxable
income” (which is, generally, our net ordinary income plus realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses) will be
taxable as ordinary income to U.S. stockholders to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, whether paid in cash or reinvested in
additional common stock. To the extent such distributions paid by us to non-corporate U.S. stockholders (including individuals) are attributable to
dividends from U.S. corporations and certain qualified foreign corporations, such distributions, or “Qualifying Dividends” may be eligible for a maximum
tax rate of 20%. In this regard, it is anticipated that distributions paid by us will generally not be attributable to dividends and, therefore, generally will not
qualify for the 20% maximum rate applicable to Qualifying Dividends. Distributions of our net capital gains (which are generally our realized net longterm capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses) and properly reported by us as “capital gain dividends” will be taxable to a U.S.
stockholder as long-term capital gains that are currently taxable at a maximum rate of 20% in the case of individuals, trusts or estates, regardless of the U.S.
stockholder’s holding period for his, her or its common stock and regardless of whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional common stock.
Distributions in excess of our earnings and profits first will reduce a U.S. stockholder’s adjusted tax basis in such stockholder’s common stock and, after
the adjusted basis is reduced to zero, will constitute capital gains to such U.S. stockholder.
For purposes of determining (1) whether the Annual Distribution Requirement is satisfied for any year and (2) the amount of capital gain dividends
paid for that year, we may, under certain circumstances, elect to treat a dividend that is paid during the following taxable year as if it had been paid during
the taxable year in question. If we make such an election, the U.S. stockholder will still be treated as receiving the dividend in the taxable year in which the
distribution is made. However, any dividend declared by us in October, November or December of any calendar year, payable to stockholders of record on
a specified date in such a month and actually paid during January of the following year, will be treated as if it had been received by our U.S. stockholders
on December 31 of the year in which the dividend was declared.
If an investor purchases shares of our common stock shortly before the record date of a distribution, the price of the shares will include the value of the
distribution and the investor will be subject to tax on the distribution even though economically it may represent a return of his, her or its investment.
A U.S. stockholder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss if the stockholder sells or otherwise disposes of his, her or its shares of our common
stock. The amount of gain or loss will be measured by the difference between such stockholder’s adjusted tax
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basis in the common stock sold and the amount of the proceeds received in exchange. Any gain arising from such sale or disposition generally will be
treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the stockholder has held his, her or its shares for more than one year. Otherwise, it will be classified as short-term
capital gain or loss. However, any capital loss arising from the sale or disposition of shares of our common stock held for six months or less will be treated
as long-term capital loss to the extent of the amount of capital gain dividends received, or undistributed capital gain deemed received, with respect to such
shares. In addition, all or a portion of any loss recognized upon a disposition of shares of our common stock may be disallowed if other shares of our
common stock are purchased (whether through reinvestment of distributions or otherwise) within 30 days before or after the disposition.
The maximum rate on long-term capital gains for non-corporate taxpayers is 20%. In addition, individuals with modified adjusted gross incomes in
excess of $200,000 ($250,000 in the case of married individuals filing jointly), and adjusted gross incomes, for certain estates and trusts are subject to an
additional 3.8% tax on their “net investment income,” which generally includes net income from interest, dividends, annuities, royalties, and rents, and net
capital gains (other than certain amounts earned from trades or businesses). Corporate U.S. stockholders currently are subject to U.S. federal income tax on
net capital gain at the maximum 21% rate also applied to ordinary income. Non-corporate U.S. stockholders with net capital losses for a year (i.e., capital
losses in excess of capital gains) generally may deduct up to $3,000 of such losses against their ordinary income each year; any net capital losses of a noncorporate stockholder in excess of $3,000 generally may be carried forward and used in subsequent years as provided in the Code. Corporate stockholders
generally may not deduct any net capital losses for a year, but may carry back such losses for three years or carry forward such losses for five years.
We or the applicable withholding agent will report to each of our U.S. stockholders, as promptly as possible after the end of each calendar year, the
amounts includible in such U.S. stockholder’s taxable income for such year as ordinary income and as long-term capital gain. In addition, the federal tax
status of each year’s distributions generally will be reported to the IRS (including the amount of dividends, if any, eligible for the 20% maximum rate).
Dividends paid by us generally will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction or the preferential tax rate applicable to Qualifying Dividends
because our income generally will not consist of dividends. Distributions may also be subject to additional state, local and foreign taxes depending on a
U.S. stockholder’s particular situation.
We may be required to withhold U.S. federal income tax, or “backup withholding” from all distributions to any U.S. stockholder (other than a
corporation, a financial institution, or a stockholder that otherwise qualifies for an exemption) (1) who fails to furnish us with a correct taxpayer
identification number or a certificate that such stockholder is exempt from backup withholding or (2) with respect to whom the IRS notifies us that such
stockholder has failed to properly report certain interest and dividend income to the IRS and to respond to notices to that effect. An individual’s taxpayer
identification number is his or her social security number. Any amount withheld under backup withholding is allowed as a credit against the U.S.
stockholder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, provided that proper information is provided to the IRS.
Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders
Whether an investment in our common stock is appropriate for a Non-U.S. stockholder will depend upon that person’s particular circumstances. An
investment in the shares by a Non-U.S. stockholder may have adverse tax consequences. Non-U.S. stockholders should consult their tax advisers before
investing in our common stock.
Distributions (whether actual or constructive distributions) of our “investment company taxable income” to Non-U.S. stockholders (including interest
income and realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized long-term capital losses, which generally would be free of withholding if paid to NonU.S. stockholders directly) will be subject to withholding of U.S. federal tax at a 30% rate (or lower rate provided by an applicable treaty) to the extent of
our current and accumulated earnings and profits unless an applicable exception applies.
We or the applicable withholding agent generally are not required to withhold any amounts with respect to certain distributions of (i) U.S. source
interest income, and (ii) net short term capital gains in excess of net long term capital losses, in each case to the extent we properly report such distributions
as “interest-related dividends” or “short-term capital gain dividends” and certain other requirements were satisfied. We anticipate that a portion of our
distributions will be eligible for this exemption from withholding; however, we cannot determine what portion of our distributions (if any) will be eligible
for this exception until after the end of our taxable year. No certainty can be provided that any of our distributions will be reported as eligible for this
exception. Furthermore, in the case of shares of our common stock held through an intermediary, the intermediary may withhold U.S. federal income tax
even if we report the payment as an interest-related dividend or short-term capital gain dividend. If the distributions are effectively connected with a U.S.
trade or business of the Non-U.S. stockholder, we will not be required to withhold U.S. federal income tax if the Non-U.S. stockholder complies with the
applicable certification and disclosure requirements, although the distributions will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S.
persons. (Special certification requirements apply to a Non-U.S. stockholder that is a foreign partnership or a foreign trust, and such entities are urged to
consult their own tax advisers.)
Actual or deemed distributions of our net capital gains to a stockholder that is a Non-U.S. stockholder, and gains realized by a Non-U.S. stockholder
upon the sale or redemption of our common stock, will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless the distributions or gains, as the case may be, are
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. stockholder (and, if

109

an income tax treaty applies, are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the Non-U.S. stockholder in the United States,) or, in the case of
an individual, the Non-U.S. stockholder was present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and certain other conditions are met.
Distributions of our net capital gains in the form of deemed rather than actual distributions, a stockholder that is a Non-U.S. stockholder will be entitled
to a U.S. federal income tax credit or tax refund equal to the stockholder’s allocable share of the corporate-level U.S. federal income tax we pay on the
capital gains deemed to have been distributed; however, in order to obtain the refund, the Non-U.S. stockholder must obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification
number and file a U.S. federal income tax return even if the Non-U.S. stockholder would not otherwise be required to obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification
number or file a U.S. federal income tax return.
For a corporate Non-U.S. stockholder, distributions and gains realized upon the sale or redemption of our common stock that are effectively connected
to a U.S. trade or business may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional “branch profits tax” at a 30% rate (or at a lower rate if provided for
by an applicable treaty).
Under the distribution reinvestment plan, our stockholders who have not “opted out” of our distribution reinvestment plan will have their cash
distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock, rather than receiving the cash distributions. If the distribution is a
distribution of our investment company taxable income, is not properly reported by us as a short-term capital gains dividend or interest-related dividend
(assuming extension of the exemption discussed above), and is not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. stockholder (and, if
a treaty applies, is not attributable to a permanent establishment), the amount distributed (to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits)
will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at a 30% rate (or lower rate provided by an applicable treaty) and only the net after-tax amount will be
reinvested in our common stock. If the distribution is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. stockholder (and no withholding
applies because applicable certifications are provided by the Non-U.S. stockholder), generally the full amount of the distribution will be reinvested in the
plan and will nevertheless be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the ordinary income rates applicable to U.S. persons. The Non-U.S. stockholder will
have an adjusted basis in the additional shares of common stock purchased through the plan equal to the amount reinvested. The additional shares will have
a new holding period commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are credited to the Non-U.S. stockholder’s account.
A Non-U.S. stockholder who is a non-resident alien individual, and who is otherwise subject to withholding of federal tax, may be subject to
information reporting and backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax on dividends unless the Non-U.S. stockholder provides us or the dividend paying
agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E or an acceptable substitute form or otherwise meets documentary evidence requirements for
establishing that it is a Non-U.S. stockholder or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding.
FATCA generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on payments of certain types of income to foreign financial institutions, or “FFIs” unless such FFIs
either (i) enter into an agreement with the U.S. Treasury to report certain required information with respect to accounts held by U.S. persons (or held by
foreign entities that have U.S. persons as substantial owners) or (ii) reside in a jurisdiction that has entered into an intergovernmental agreement, or “IGA”
with the United States to collect and share such information and are in compliance with the terms of such IGA and any enabling legislation or regulations.
The types of income subject to the tax include U.S. source interest and dividends. While existing U.S. Treasury regulations would also require withholding
on payments of the gross proceeds from the sale of any property that could produce U.S. source interest or dividends, the U.S. Treasury Department has
indicated its intent to eliminate this requirement in subsequent proposed regulations, which state that taxpayers may rely on the proposed regulations until
final regulations are issued. The information required to be reported includes the identity and taxpayer identification number of each account holder that is
a U.S. person and transaction activity within the holder’s account. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, this legislation also imposes a 30%
withholding on payments to foreign entities that are not FFIs unless the foreign entity certifies that it does not have a greater than 10% U.S. owner or
provides the withholding agent with identifying information on each greater than 10% U.S. owner. Depending on the status of a Non-U.S. stockholder and
the status of the intermediaries through which they hold their shares, Non-U.S. stockholders could be subject to this 30% withholding tax with respect to
distributions on their shares of our common stock and potentially proceeds from the sale of their shares. Under certain circumstances, a Non-U.S.
stockholder might be eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes.
Non-U.S. persons should consult their own tax advisers with respect to the U.S. federal income tax and withholding tax, and state, local and foreign tax
consequences of an investment in the shares.
Failure to Qualify as a Regulated Investment Company
If we fail to qualify for taxation as a RIC for any taxable year, we would be subject to tax on all of our taxable income at regular corporate rates,
regardless of whether we make any distributions to our stockholders. Distributions would not be required, and any distributions would be taxable to our
stockholders as ordinary dividend income, and provided that certain holding periods and other requirements are met, could be eligible for the 20%
maximum rate to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to certain limitations under the Code, corporate distributees would
be eligible for the dividends-received deduction. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated first as a
return of capital to the extent of
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the stockholder’s tax basis, and any remaining distributions would be treated as a capital gain. To requalify as a RIC in a subsequent taxable year, we would
be required to satisfy the RIC qualification requirements for that year and dispose of any earnings and profits from any year in which we failed to qualify as
a RIC. Subject to a limited exception applicable to RICs that qualified as such under Subchapter M of the Code for at least one year prior to disqualification
and that requalify as a RIC no later than the second year following the non-qualifying year, we could be subject to tax on any unrealized net built-in gains
in the assets held by it during the period in which it failed to qualify as a RIC that are recognized within the subsequent five years, unless we made a special
election to pay corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on such built-in gain at the time of its requalification as a RIC.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR SECURITIES
This prospectus contains a summary of the common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights to purchase shares of common stock and debt securities.
These summaries are not meant to be a complete description of each security. However, this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will
contain the material terms and conditions for each security offered thereby.
The following are our authorized classes of securities as of February 19, 2021:
Amount
Authorized

Title of Class

Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share
Series A Term Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share
Series B Term Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share

90,000,000
10,000,000
920,000
125,000
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Amount Held by Us or
for Our Account

Amount Outstanding
Exclusive of Amounts Shown
Under

None
None
None
None

3,790,095
972,660
852,660
120,000

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK
The following description is based on relevant portions of the DGCL and on our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. This
summary is not necessarily complete, and we refer you to the DGCL and our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws for a more
detailed description of the provisions summarized below.
Capital Stock
Our authorized stock consists of 90,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
$0.001 per share. There are no outstanding options or warrants to purchase our stock. No stock has been authorized for issuance under any equity
compensation plans. Under Delaware law, our stockholders generally are not personally liable for our debts or obligations.
Common Stock
All shares of our common stock have equal rights as to earnings, assets, dividends and voting and, when they are issued, will be duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Distributions may be paid to holders of our common stock if, as and when authorized by the Board and
declared by us out of funds legally available therefrom. Shares of our common stock have no preemptive, exchange, conversion or redemption rights and
are freely transferable, except when their transfer is restricted by U.S. federal and state securities laws or by contract. In the event of our liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, each share of common stock would be entitled to share ratably in all of our assets that are legally available for distribution after
we pay all debts and other liabilities and subject to any preferential rights of holders of our preferred stock, if any preferred stock is outstanding at such
time. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors. Except as
provided with respect to any other class or series of stock, holders of shares of our common stock will possess exclusive voting power. There is no
cumulative voting in the election of directors.
Distribution Reinvestment Plan. We have adopted a DRIP that provides for reinvestment of our distributions on behalf of our holders of common stock,
unless the holder of common stock elects to receive cash by notifying the plan administrator, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, in writing
no later than 10 days prior to the record date for distributions to holders of common stock. If our Board authorizes, and we declare, a cash distribution, then
our holders of common stock who have not “opted out” of our DRIP will have their cash distribution automatically reinvested in additional shares of our
common stock, rather than receiving the cash distribution. See “-Distribution Reinvestment Plan.”
Preferred Stock
We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of February 19, 2021, we had 972,660 shares of preferred stock outstanding. Our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Board to classify and reclassify any unissued shares of preferred stock into other classes
or series of preferred stock without stockholder approval. Any time that we issue preferred stock, costs of the offering will be borne immediately at such
time by holders of our common stock and result in a reduction of the NAV per share of common stock at that time. Prior to issuance of shares of each class
or series of preferred stock, the Board is required by Delaware law and by our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to set the terms,
preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions
of redemption for each class or series of preferred stock. Thus, the Board could authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock with terms and
conditions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders
of shares of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest. You should note, however, that any issuance of preferred stock must comply with the
requirements of the 1940 Act. The 1940 Act requires that (1) immediately after issuance of preferred stock and before any dividend or other distribution is
made with respect to shares of our common stock and before any purchase of shares of our common stock is made, we maintain an asset coverage ratio of
at least 200%, as measured at the time of the issuance of any such shares of preferred stock, including the Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term
Preferred Stock, and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate
amount our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of preferred stock,
after deducting the amount of such dividend, distribution or purchase price, as the case may be, and (2) the holders of shares of preferred stock, including
the Series A Term Preferred Stock and Series B Term Preferred Stock, must be entitled as a class to elect two directors at all times and to elect a majority of
the directors if dividends on such preferred stock are in arrears by two years or more. Some matters under the 1940 Act require the separate vote of the
holders of any issued and outstanding preferred stock. We believe that the availability for issuance of preferred stock will provide us with increased
flexibility in structuring future financings and acquisitions.
Series A Term Preferred Stock
We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and we have designated 920,000 shares as Series A Term Preferred Stock. At the
time of issuance, the Series A Term Preferred Stock was fully paid and non-assessable and had no preemptive, conversion or exchange rights or rights to
cumulative voting.
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Redemption. We are required to redeem all outstanding shares of the Series A Term Preferred Stock on March 31, 2024 at a redemption price of
$25 per share, or the “Liquidation Preference,” plus accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption. If we fail to
maintain asset coverage (as defined in Section 18(h) of the 1940 Act) of at least 200% as provided in the certificate of designation for the Series A Term
Preferred Stock and such failure is not cured as of the close of business on the asset coverage cure date, we will fix a redemption date and proceed to
redeem the number of shares of preferred stock, including the Series A Term Preferred Stock, as described below at a price per share equal to the
Liquidation Preference plus. At any time on or after March 31, 2021, we may, at our sole option, redeem the outstanding shares of the Series A Term
Preferred Stock at a redemption price per share equal to the Liquidation Preference plus accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, to, but excluding, the
date of redemption.
Ranking and Liquidation. The shares of Series A Term Preferred Stock, together with the Series B Term Preferred Stock and all other preferred
stock that we may issue from time to time in accordance with the 1940 Act, if any, will rank senior to our common stock as to payment of dividends and the
distribution of our assets upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of our affairs and subordinate to the rights of holders of any future senior
indebtedness. The shares of Series A Term Preferred Stock will rank equally in right with all other preferred stock that we may issue from time to time in
accordance with the 1940 Act, if any, as to payment of dividends and the distribution of our assets upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of our
affairs. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Series A Term Preferred
Stock will be entitled to receive out of our assets available for distribution to stockholders, after satisfying claims of creditors but before any distribution or
payment will be made in respect of the common stock, a liquidation distribution equal to the Liquidation Preference plus an amount equal to all unpaid
dividends and distributions accumulated to, but excluding, the date fixed for such distribution or payment (whether or not earned or declared by us, but
excluding interest thereon), and such holders will be entitled to no further participation in any distribution or payment in connection with any such
liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
Dividends. Holders of the Series A Term Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends and distributions at a dividend rate of
6.875% of the Liquidation Preference, or $1.71875 per share per year (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances as described below), when, as and if
declared by, or under authority granted by, our board of directors out of funds legally available for payment and in preference to dividends and distributions
on shares of our common stock. No interest or sum of money in lieu of interest will be payable in respect of any dividend payment or payments on any
Series A Term Preferred Stock which may be in arrears. Upon our failure to pay dividends for at least two years, the holders of Series A Term Preferred
Stock will acquire certain additional voting rights.
Voting Rights. Except for matters that do not require the vote of holders of the Series A Term Preferred Stock under the 1940 Act and except as otherwise
provided in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, in the certificate of designation or as otherwise required by applicable law,
each holder of shares of the Series A Term Preferred Stock will be entitled to one vote for each share of Series A Term Preferred Stock held on each matter
submitted to a vote of our stockholders and the holders of outstanding shares of our preferred stock, including the Series A Term Preferred Stock, and
shares of our common stock shall vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to stockholders; provided that holders of preferred stock, including
Series A Term Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, are entitled to elect at least two of our directors and, if we fail to pay dividends on any
outstanding shares of preferred stock, including the Series A Term Preferred Stock, in an amount equal to two full years of dividends, and continuing until
such failure is cured, will be entitled to elect a majority of our directors.
Repurchase Program. On June 11, 2020, our Board authorized a program under which we may repurchase up to $10.0 million of our outstanding
shares of Series A Term Preferred Stock. Under this program, we may, but are not obligated to, repurchase our outstanding Series A Term Preferred Stock
in the open market from time to time through June 11, 2022. The timing and amount of the Series A Term Preferred Stock to be repurchased will depend on
a number of factors, including then-existing market conditions, liquidity, prospects for future access to capital, contractual restrictions, alternative
investment opportunities and other factors. In addition, any repurchases will also be conducted in accordance with the 1940 Act. There are no assurances
that we will engage in any repurchases.
Series B Term Preferred Stock
We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and we have designated 125,000 shares as Series B Term Preferred Stock. At the
time of issuance, the Series B Term Preferred Stock was fully paid and non-assessable and had no preemptive, conversion or exchange rights or rights to
cumulative voting.
Redemption. We are required to redeem all outstanding shares of the Series B Term Preferred Stock on November 19, 2023 at a redemption price
of $25 per share, or the “Liquidation Preference,” plus accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption. If we fail to
maintain asset coverage (as defined in Section 18(h) of the 1940 Act) of at least 200% as provided in the certificate of designation for the Series B Term
Preferred Stock and such failure is not cured as of the close of business on the
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asset coverage cure date, we will fix a redemption date and proceed to redeem the number of shares of preferred stock, including the Series B Term
Preferred Stock, as described below at a price per share equal to the Liquidation Preference plus. At any time on or after March 31, 2021, we may, at our
sole option, redeem the outstanding shares of the Series B Term Preferred Stock at a redemption price per share equal to the Liquidation Preference plus
accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption.
Ranking and Liquidation. The shares of Series B Term Preferred Stock, together with the Series A Term Preferred Stock and all other preferred
stock that we may issue from time to time in accordance with the 1940 Act, if any, will rank senior to our common stock as to payment of dividends and the
distribution of our assets upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of our affairs and subordinate to the rights of holders of any future senior
indebtedness. The shares of Series B Term Preferred Stock will rank equally in right with all other preferred stock that we may issue from time to time in
accordance with the 1940 Act, if any, as to payment of dividends and the distribution of our assets upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up of our
affairs. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Series B Term Preferred
Stock will be entitled to receive out of our assets available for distribution to stockholders, after satisfying claims of creditors but before any distribution or
payment will be made in respect of the common stock, a liquidation distribution equal to the Liquidation Preference plus an amount equal to all unpaid
dividends and distributions accumulated to, but excluding, the date fixed for such distribution or payment (whether or not earned or declared by us, but
excluding interest thereon), and such holders will be entitled to no further participation in any distribution or payment in connection with any such
liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
Dividends. Holders of the Series B Term Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends and distributions at a dividend rate of
6.60% of the Liquidation Preference, or $1.65 per share per year (subject to adjustment in certain circumstances as described below), when, as and if
declared by, or under authority granted by, our board of directors out of funds legally available for payment and in preference to dividends and distributions
on shares of our common stock. No interest or sum of money in lieu of interest will be payable in respect of any dividend payment or payments on any
Series B Term Preferred Stock which may be in arrears. Upon our failure to pay dividends for at least two years, the holders of Series B Term Preferred
Stock will acquire certain additional voting rights.
Voting Rights. Except for matters that do not require the vote of holders of the Series B Term Preferred Stock under the 1940 Act and except as otherwise
provided in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws, in the certificate of designation or as otherwise required by applicable law,
each holder of shares of the Series B Term Preferred Stock will be entitled to one vote for each share of Series B Term Preferred Stock held on each matter
submitted to a vote of our stockholders and the holders of outstanding shares of our preferred stock, including the Series B Term Preferred Stock, and
shares of our common stock shall vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to stockholders; provided that holders of preferred stock, including
the Series B Term Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, are entitled to elect at least two of our directors and, if we fail to pay dividends on any
outstanding shares of preferred stock, including the Series B Term Preferred Stock, in an amount equal to two full years of dividends, and continuing until
such failure is cured, will be entitled to elect a majority of our directors.
Provisions of the DGCL and Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Limitation on Liability of Directors and Officers; Indemnification and Advance of Expenses. The indemnification of our officers and directors is
governed by Section 145 of the DGCL, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Subsection (a) of DGCL Section 145
empowers a corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action,
suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact
that the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines
and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if (1) such person acted in
good faith, (2) in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and (3) with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, such person had no reasonable cause to believe the person’s conduct was unlawful.
Subsection (b) of DGCL Section 145 empowers a corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any
threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that the person is
or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or
agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably
incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner the person
reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation, and except that no indemnification may be made in respect of any
claim, issue or matter as to which such person has been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Delaware Court of
Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability
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but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Delaware Court of
Chancery or such other court deems proper.
DGCL Section 145 further provides that to the extent that a present or former director or officer is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense
of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in subsections (a) and (b) of Section 145, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person will be
indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or
proceeding. In all cases in which indemnification is permitted under subsections (a) and (b) of Section 145 (unless ordered by a court), it will be made by
the corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the present or former director, officer, employee or
agent is proper in the circumstances because the applicable standard of conduct has been met by the party to be indemnified. Such determination must be
made, with respect to a person who is a director or officer at the time of such determination, (1) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to
such action, suit or proceeding, even though less than a quorum, (2) by a committee of such directors designated by majority vote of such directors, even
though less than a quorum, (3) if there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion or (4) by the
stockholders.
The statute authorizes the corporation to pay expenses incurred by an officer or director in advance of the final disposition of a proceeding upon receipt
of an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to whom the advance will be made, to repay the advances if it is ultimately determined that he or she was
not entitled to indemnification. DGCL Section 145 also provides that indemnification and advancement of expenses permitted under such Section are not to
be exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of
stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise. DGCL Section 145 also authorizes the corporation to purchase and maintain liability insurance on
behalf of its directors, officers, employees and agents regardless of whether the corporation would have the statutory power to indemnify such persons
against the liabilities insured.
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that our directors will not be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for
breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the fullest extent permitted by the current DGCL or as the DGCL may hereafter be amended. DGCL Section 102(b)
(7) provides that the personal liability of a director to a corporation or its stockholders for breach of fiduciary duty as a director may be eliminated except
for liability (1) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which
involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 174 of the DGCL, relating to unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful
stock purchases or redemption of stock, or (4) for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit.
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides for the indemnification of any person to the full extent permitted, and in the manner
provided, by the current DGCL or as the DGCL may hereafter be amended.
Delaware Anti-Takeover Law. The DGCL and our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could
make it more difficult for a potential acquirer to acquire us by means of a tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions are expected to
discourage certain coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with
our Board. These measures may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.
These provisions could have the effect of depriving stockholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by
discouraging a third party from seeking to obtain control over us. Such attempts could have the effect of increasing our expenses and disrupting our normal
operations. We believe that the benefits of these provisions outweigh the potential disadvantages of discouraging any such acquisition proposals because
the negotiation of such proposals may improve their terms. Our Board has considered these provisions and has determined that the provisions are in the
best interests of us and our stockholders generally.
We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. In general, these provisions prohibit a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder
became an interested stockholder, unless:
•

prior to such time, the board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming
an interested stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced; or

•

on or after the date the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at a meeting of stockholders, by at least twothirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines “business combination” to include the following:
•

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

•

any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of 10% or more of either the aggregate market value of
all the assets of the corporation or the aggregate market value of all the outstanding stock of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;
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•

subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the
interested stockholder;

•

any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the
corporation owned by the interested stockholder; or

•

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or
through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the
corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by any of these entities or persons.
If our Board does not approve a business combination, Section 203 of the DGCL may discourage third parties from trying to acquire control of us and
increase the difficulty of consummating such an offer.
Election of Directors. Under the DGCL, unless our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws provide otherwise (which our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws do not), a plurality of all the votes cast is sufficient to elect a director.
Classified Board of Directors. Our Board is divided into three classes of directors serving staggered three-year terms, with the term of office of only
one of the three classes expiring each year. A classified board may render a change in control of us or removal of our incumbent management more
difficult. We believe, however, that the longer time required to elect a majority of a classified board of directors helps to ensure the continuity and stability
of our management and policies.
Number of Directors; Removal; Vacancies. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that the number of directors will be set
only by the Board in accordance with our Bylaws. Our Bylaws provide that a majority of our entire Board may at any time increase or decrease the number
of directors. However, unless our Bylaws are amended, the number of directors may never be less than four nor more than nine. Under our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, any vacancy on the Board, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board, may be filled
only by vote of a majority of the directors then in office. The limitations on the ability of our stockholders to fill vacancies could make it more difficult for
a third party to acquire, or discourage a third-party from seeking to acquire, control of us.
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that a director may be removed only for cause, as defined in our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and then only by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors.
Action by Stockholders. Stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of stockholders in accordance with the procedures set
forth in our Bylaws. These provisions, combined with the requirements of our Bylaws regarding special meetings of stockholders discussed below, may
have the effect of delaying consideration of a stockholder proposal until the next annual meeting.
Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Nominations and Stockholder Proposals. Our Bylaws provide that with respect to an annual meeting
of stockholders, nominations of persons for election to the board of directors and the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders may be made
only (a) by or at the direction of the Board, (b) pursuant to our notice of meeting or (c) by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has
complied with the advance notice procedures of the Bylaws. Nominations of persons for election to the Board at a special meeting may be made only by or
at the direction of the Board, and provided that the Board has determined that directors will be elected at the meeting, by a stockholder who is entitled to
vote at the meeting and who has complied with the advance notice provisions of the Bylaws.
The purpose of requiring stockholders to give us advance notice of nominations and other business is to afford our Board a meaningful opportunity to
consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees and the advisability of any other proposed business and, to the extent deemed necessary or desirable
by our Board, to inform stockholders and make recommendations about such qualifications or business, as well as to provide a more orderly procedure for
conducting meetings of stockholders. Although our Bylaws do not give our Board any power to disapprove stockholder nominations for the election of
directors or proposals recommending certain action, they may have the effect of precluding a contest for the election of directors or the consideration of
stockholder proposals if proper procedures are not followed and of discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect
its own slate of directors or to approve its own proposal without regard to whether consideration of such nominees or proposals might be harmful or
beneficial to us and our stockholders.
Stockholder Meetings. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special
meetings of the stockholders can only be called by the chairman of the Board, the vice chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer, or two or more
Board members. In addition, our Bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of
stockholders, including proposed nominations of candidates for election to the Board. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or
nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board, or by a stockholder of record on the record
date for the meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely written notice in proper form to the secretary of the
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stockholder’s intention to bring such business before the meeting. These provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next stockholder meeting
stockholder actions that are favored by the holders of our outstanding voting securities.
Conflict with the 1940 Act. Our Bylaws provide that, if and to the extent that any provision of the DGCL or any provision of our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws conflicts with any provision of the 1940 Act, the applicable provision of the 1940 Act will control.
Potential Conversion to Open-End Fund
We may be converted to an open-end management investment company at any time if approved by each of the following: (i) a majority of the directors
then in office, (ii) the holders of not less than 75% of our outstanding shares entitled to vote thereon and (iii) such vote or votes of the holders of any class
or classes or series of shares as may be required by the 1940 Act. The composition of our portfolio likely could prohibit us from complying with
regulations of the SEC applicable to open-end management investment companies. Accordingly, conversion likely would require significant changes in our
investment policies and may require liquidation of a substantial portion of relatively illiquid portions of our portfolio, to the extent such positions are held.
In the event of conversion, shares of our common stock would cease to be listed on the Nasdaq or any other national securities exchange or market system.
The Board believes, however, that the closed-end structure is desirable, given our investment objectives and policies. Investors should assume, therefore,
that it is unlikely that the Board would vote to convert us to an open-end management investment company.
Repurchase of Shares and Other Discount Measures
Because shares of common stock of closed-end management investment companies that are listed on an exchange frequently trade at a discount to their
NAVs, the Board may from time to time determine that it may be in the interest of the holders of our common stock to take certain actions intended to
reduce such discount. The Board, in consultation with the Advisor, will review at least annually the possibility of open market repurchases and/or tender
offers for shares of our common stock and will consider such factors as the market price of shares of our common stock, the NAV of shares of our common
stock, the liquidity of our assets, the effect on our expenses, whether such transactions would impair our status as a RIC or result in a failure to comply with
applicable asset coverage requirements, general economic conditions and such other events or conditions, which may have a material effect on our ability
to consummate such transactions. There are no assurances that the Board will, in fact, decide to undertake either of these actions or, if undertaken, that such
actions will result in shares of our common stock trading at a price which is equal to or approximates their NAV.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR PREFERRED STOCK
We are authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of February 19, 2021, we had 972,660 shares of preferred stock outstanding,
consisting of 852,660 shares of Series A Term Preferred Stock and 120,000 shares of Series B Term Preferred Stock. See “Description of our Capital
Stock - Preferred Stock” for a description of our outstanding preferred stock. We may issue additional preferred stock from time to time in one or more
series without stockholder approval. Prior to issuance of shares of each series, our Board is required by Delaware law and by our Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation to set the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other
distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each series. Thus, the Board could authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock
with terms and conditions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium
price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest. You should note, however, that any such an issuance must adhere to the
requirements of the 1940 Act, Delaware law and any other limitations imposed by law.
With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock), we are required under current law to have an asset coverage of at
least 200%, as measured at the time of the issuance of any such shares of preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and
indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the
aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of preferred stock. In addition the 1940 Act requires that (i) the holders of shares of preferred
stock must be entitled as a class to elect two directors at all times and to elect a majority of the directors if dividends or other distribution on the preferred
stock are in arrears by two years or more and (ii) such class of stock have complete priority over any other class of stock as to distribution of assets and
payment of dividends or other distributions, which shall be cumulative. Some matters under the 1940 Act require the separate vote of the holders of any
issued and outstanding preferred stock. We believe that the availability for issuance of preferred stock will provide us with increased flexibility in
structuring future financings and acquisitions.
For any series of preferred stock that we may issue, our Board will determine and the certificate of designation and the prospectus supplement
relating to such series will describe:
•

the designation and number of shares of such series;

•

the rate and time at which, and the preferences and conditions under which, any dividends or other distributions will be paid on shares of
such series, as well as whether such dividends or other distributions are participating or non-participating;

•

any provisions relating to convertibility or exchangeability of the shares of such series, including adjustments to the conversion price of
such series;

•

the rights and preferences, if any, of holders of shares of such series upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs;

•

the voting powers, if any, of the holders of shares of such series;

•

any provisions relating to the redemption of the shares of such series;

•

any limitations on our ability to pay dividends or make distributions on, or acquire or redeem, other securities while shares of such series
are outstanding;

•

any conditions or restrictions on our ability to issue additional shares of such series or other securities;

•

if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations; and

•

any other relative powers, preferences and participating, optional or special rights of shares of such series, and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions thereof.

All shares of preferred stock that we may issue will be of equal rank and identical except as to the particular terms thereof that may be fixed by our
Board, and all shares of each series of preferred stock will be identical except as to the dates from which dividends or other distributions, if any, thereon
will be cumulative. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplement related to any preferred stock being offered, as well as the complete
certificate of designation that contains the terms of the applicable series of preferred stock.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS
The following is a general description of the terms of the subscription rights we may issue from time to time. Particular terms of any subscription
rights we offer will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to such subscription rights.
We may issue subscription rights to our stockholders to purchase common stock. Subscription rights may be issued independently or together with
any other offered security and may or may not be transferable by the person purchasing or receiving the subscription rights. In connection with any
subscription rights offering to our stockholders, we may enter into a standby underwriting, backstop or other arrangement with one or more persons
pursuant to which such persons would purchase any offered securities remaining unsubscribed for after such subscription rights offering. In connection
with a subscription rights offering to our stockholders, we would distribute certificates evidencing the subscription rights and a prospectus supplement to
our stockholders on the record date that we set for receiving subscription rights in such subscription rights offering. Our common stockholders will
indirectly bear all of the expenses incurred by us in connection with any subscription rights offerings, regardless of whether any common stockholder
exercises any subscription rights.
A prospectus supplement will describe the particular terms of any subscription rights we may issue, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the period of time the offering would remain open (which shall be open a minimum number of days such that all record holders would be
eligible to participate in the offering and shall not be open longer than 120 days);
the title and aggregate number of such subscription rights;
the exercise price for such subscription rights (or method of calculation thereof);
the currency or currencies, including composite currencies, in which the price of such subscription rights may be payable;
if applicable, the designation and terms of the securities with which the subscription rights are issued and the number of subscription
rights issued with each such security or each principal amount of such security;
the ratio of the offering (which, in the case of transferable rights, will require a minimum of three shares to be held of record before a
person is entitled to purchase an additional share);
the number of such subscription rights issued to each stockholder;
the extent to which such subscription rights are transferable and the market on which they may be traded if they are transferable;
the date on which the right to exercise such subscription rights shall commence, and the date on which such right shall expire (subject to
any extension);
if applicable, the minimum or maximum number of subscription rights that may be exercised at one time;
the extent to which such subscription rights include an over-subscription privilege with respect to unsubscribed securities and the terms of
such over-subscription privilege;
any termination right we may have in connection with such subscription rights offering;
the terms of any rights to redeem, or call such subscription rights;
information with respect to book-entry procedures, if any;
the terms of the securities issuable upon exercise of the subscription rights;
the material terms of any standby underwriting, backstop or other purchase arrangement that we may enter into in connection with the
subscription rights offering;
if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the issuance or exercise of such subscription
rights; and
any other terms of such subscription rights, including exercise, settlement and other procedures and limitations relating to the transfer and
exercise of such subscription rights.

Each subscription right will entitle the holder of the subscription right to purchase for cash or other consideration such amount of shares of
common stock at such subscription price as shall in each case be set forth in, or be determinable as set forth in, the prospectus supplement relating to the
subscription rights offered thereby. Subscription rights may be exercised as set forth in the prospectus supplement beginning on the date specified therein
and continuing until the close of business on the expiration date for such subscription rights set forth in the prospectus supplement. After the close of
business on the expiration date, all unexercised subscription rights will become void.
Upon receipt of payment and the subscription rights certificate properly completed and duly executed at the corporate trust office of the
subscription rights agent or any other office indicated in the prospectus supplement we will forward, as soon as practicable, the shares of common stock
purchasable upon such exercise. If less than all of the rights represented by such subscription rights certificate are exercised, a new subscription certificate
will be issued for the remaining rights. Prior to exercising their subscription rights, holders of subscription rights will not have any of the rights of holders
of the securities purchasable upon such exercise. To the extent permissible under applicable law, we may determine to offer any unsubscribed offered
securities directly to
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persons other than stockholders, to or through agents, underwriters or dealers or through a combination of such methods, as set forth in the applicable
prospectus supplement.

121

DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEBT SECURITIES
We may issue debt securities in one or more series. The specific terms of each series of debt securities will be described in the particular
prospectus supplement relating to that series. The prospectus supplement may or may not modify the general terms found in this prospectus and will be
filed with the SEC. For a complete description of the terms of a particular series of debt securities, you should read both this prospectus and the prospectus
supplement relating to that particular series.
As required by federal law for all bonds and notes of companies that are publicly offered, the debt securities are governed by a document called an
“indenture.” An indenture is a contract between us and the financial institution acting as trustee on your behalf, and is subject to and governed by the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The trustee has two main roles. First, the trustee can enforce your rights against us if we default. There are some
limitations on the extent to which the trustee acts on your behalf, described in the second paragraph under “ - Events of Default - Remedies if an Event of
Default Occurs.” Second, the trustee performs certain administrative duties for us with respect to our debt securities.
This section includes a description of the material provisions of the indenture. Because this section is a summary, however, it does not describe every
aspect of the debt securities and the indenture. We urge you to read the indenture because it, and not this description, defines your rights as a holder of debt
securities. A copy of the form of indenture is attached as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. We will file a
supplemental indenture with the SEC in connection with any debt offering, at which time the supplemental indenture would be publicly available. See
“SEC Filing Information” for information on how to obtain a copy of the indenture.
The prospectus supplement, which will accompany this prospectus, will describe the particular terms of any series of debt securities being offered,
including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the designation or title of the series of debt securities;
the total principal amount of the series of debt securities;
the percentage of the principal amount at which the series of debt securities will be offered;
the date or dates on which principal will be payable;
the rate or rates (which may be either fixed or variable) and/or the method of determining such rate or rates of interest, if any;
the date or dates from which any interest will accrue, or the method of determining such date or dates, and the date or dates on which any
interest will be payable;
whether any interest may be paid by issuing additional securities of the same series in lieu of cash (and the terms upon which any such
interest may be paid by issuing additional securities);
the terms for redemption, extension or early repayment, if any;
the currencies in which the series of debt securities are issued and payable;
whether the amount of payments of principal, premium or interest, if any, on a series of debt securities will be determined with reference
to an index, formula or other method (which could be based on one or more currencies, commodities, equity indices or other indices) and
how these amounts will be determined;
the place or places, if any, other than or in addition to the City of New York, of payment, transfer, conversion and/or exchange of the debt
securities;
the denominations in which the offered debt securities will be issued;
the provision for any sinking fund;
any restrictive covenants;
any Events of Default (as defined in “Events of Default” below);
whether the series of debt securities are issuable in certificated form;
any provisions for defeasance or covenant defeasance;
any special federal income tax implications, including, if applicable, U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to original issue
discount;
whether and under what circumstances we will pay additional amounts in respect of any tax, assessment or governmental charge and, if
so, whether we will have the option to redeem the debt securities rather than pay the additional amounts (and the terms of this option);
any provisions for convertibility or exchangeability of the debt securities into or for any other securities;
whether the debt securities are subject to subordination and the terms of such subordination;
whether the debt securities are secured and the terms of any security interest;
the listing, if any, on a securities exchange; and
any other terms.
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The debt securities may be secured or unsecured obligations. Unless the prospectus supplement states otherwise, principal (and premium, if any)
and interest, if any, will be paid by us in immediately available funds.
We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of indebtedness if our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at least
equal to 300% immediately after each such issuance. See "Regulation as a Closed-End Management Investment Company." We may also borrow
amounts up to 5% of the value of our total assets for temporary or emergency purposes without regard to asset coverage. For a discussion of the risks
associated with leverage, see “Risk Factors - Risks Relating to Our Business and Structure-Regulations governing our operation as a registered closedend management investment company affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so. The raising of debt capital may
expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.”
General
The indenture provides that any debt securities proposed to be sold under this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement (“offered
debt securities”) and any debt securities issuable upon the exercise of warrants or upon conversion or exchange of other offered securities (“underlying debt
securities”) and any debt securities issuable upon the exercise of warrants or upon conversion or exchange of other offered securities (“underlying debt
securities”) may be issued under the indenture in one or more series.
For purposes of this prospectus, any reference to the payment of principal of, or premium or interest, if any, on, debt securities will include
additional amounts if required by the terms of the debt securities.
The indenture does not limit the amount of debt securities that may be issued thereunder from time to time. Debt securities issued under the
indenture, when a single trustee is acting for all debt securities issued under the indenture, are called the “indenture securities.” The indenture also provides
that there may be more than one trustee thereunder, each with respect to one or more different series of indenture securities. See “ — Resignation of
Trustee” below. At a time when two or more trustees are acting under the indenture, each with respect to only certain series, the term “indenture securities”
means the one or more series of debt securities with respect to which each respective trustee is acting. In the event that there is more than one trustee under
the indenture, the powers and trust obligations of each trustee described in this prospectus will extend only to the one or more series of indenture securities
for which it is trustee. If two or more trustees are acting under the indenture, then the indenture securities for which each trustee is acting would be treated
as if issued under separate indentures.
Except as described under “— Events of Default” and “— Merger or Consolidation” below, The indenture does not contain any provisions that
give you protection in the event we issue a large amount of debt or we are acquired by another entity.
We refer you to the prospectus supplement for information with respect to any deletions from, modifications of or additions to the Events of
Default or our covenants that are described below, including any addition of a covenant or other provision providing event risk protection or similar
protection.
We have the ability to issue indenture securities with terms different from those of indenture securities previously issued and, without the consent
of the holders thereof, to reopen a previous issue of a series of indenture securities and issue additional indenture securities of that series unless the
reopening was restricted when that series was created.
We expect that we will usually issue debt securities in book entry only form represented by global securities. See “— Global Securities” below.
Conversion and Exchange
If any debt securities are convertible into or exchangeable for other securities, the prospectus supplement will explain the terms and conditions of
the conversion or exchange, including the conversion price or exchange ratio (or the calculation method), the conversion or exchange period (or how the
period will be determined), if conversion or exchange will be mandatory or at the option of the holder or us, provisions for adjusting the conversion price or
the exchange ratio and provisions affecting conversion or exchange in the event of the redemption of the underlying debt securities. These terms may also
include provisions under which the number or amount of other securities to be received by the holders of the debt securities upon conversion or exchange
would be calculated according to the market price of the other securities as of a time stated in the prospectus supplement.
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Issuance of Securities in Registered Form
We may issue the debt securities in registered form, in which case we may issue them either in book-entry form only or in “certificated” form.
Debt securities issued in book-entry form will be represented by global securities. We expect that we will usually issue debt securities in book-entry only
form represented by global securities.
Book-Entry Holders
We will issue registered debt securities in book-entry form only, unless we specify otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement. This means
debt securities will be represented by one or more global securities registered in the name of a depositary that will hold them on behalf of financial
institutions that participate in the depositary’s book-entry system. These participating institutions, in turn, hold beneficial interests in the debt securities
held by the depositary or its nominee. These institutions may hold these interests on behalf of themselves or customers.
Under the indenture, only the person in whose name a debt security is registered is recognized as the holder of that debt security. Consequently, for
debt securities issued in book-entry form, we will recognize only the depositary as the holder of the debt securities and we will make all payments on the
debt securities to the depositary. The depositary will then pass along the payments it receives to its participants, which in turn will pass the payments along
to their customers who are the beneficial owners. The depositary and its participants do so under agreements they have made with one another or with their
customers; they are not obligated to do so under the terms of the debt securities.
As a result, investors will not own debt securities directly. Instead, they will own beneficial interests in a global security, through a bank, broker or
other financial institution that participates in the depositary’s book-entry system or holds an interest through a participant. As long as the debt securities are
represented by one or more global securities, investors will be indirect holders, and not holders, of the debt securities.
Street Name Holders
In the future, we may issue debt securities in certificated form or terminate a global security. In these cases, investors may choose to hold their
debt securities in their own names or in “street name.” Debt securities held in street name are registered in the name of a bank, broker or other financial
institution chosen by the investor, and the investor would hold a beneficial interest in those debt securities through the account he or she maintains at that
institution.
For debt securities held in street name, we will recognize only the intermediary banks, brokers and other financial institutions in whose names the
debt securities are registered as the holders of those debt securities, and we will make all payments on those debt securities to them. These institutions will
pass along the payments they receive to their customers who are the beneficial owners, but only because they agree to do so in their customer agreements
or because they are legally required to do so. Investors who hold debt securities in street name will be indirect holders, and not holders, of the debt
securities.
Legal Holders
Our obligations, as well as the obligations of the applicable trustee and those of any third parties employed by us or the applicable trustee, run only
to the legal holders of the debt securities. We do not have obligations to investors who hold beneficial interests in global securities, in street name or by any
other indirect means. This will be the case whether an investor chooses to be an indirect holder of a debt security or has no choice because we are issuing
the debt securities only in book-entry form.
For example, once we make a payment or give a notice to the holder, we have no further responsibility for the payment or notice even if that
holder is required, under agreements with depositary participants or customers or by law, to pass it along to the indirect holders but does not do so.
Similarly, if we want to obtain the approval of the holders for any purpose (for example, to amend an indenture or to relieve us of the consequences of a
default or of our obligation to comply with a particular provision of an indenture), we would seek the approval only from the holders, and not the indirect
holders, of the debt securities. Whether and how the holders contact the indirect holders is up to the holders.
When we refer to you in this Description of our Debt Securities, we mean those who invest in the debt securities being offered by this prospectus,
whether they are the holders or only indirect holders of those debt securities. When we refer to your debt securities, we mean the debt securities in which
you hold a direct or indirect interest.
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Special Considerations for Indirect Holders
If you hold debt securities through a bank, broker or other financial institution, either in book-entry form or in street name, we urge you to check with that
institution to find out:
• how it handles securities payments and notices;
• whether it imposes fees or charges;
• how it would handle a request for the holders’ consent, if ever required;
• whether and how you can instruct it to send you debt securities registered in your own name so you can be a holder, if that is permitted in the
future for a particular series of debt securities;
• how it would exercise rights under the debt securities if there were a default or other event triggering the need for holders to act to protect their
interests; and
• if the debt securities are in book-entry form, how the depositary’s rules and procedures will affect these matters.
Global Securities
As noted above, we usually will issue debt securities as registered securities in book-entry form only. A global security represents one or any other
number of individual debt securities. Generally, all debt securities represented by the same global securities will have the same terms.
Each debt security issued in book-entry form will be represented by a global security that we deposit with and register in the name of a financial
institution or its nominee that we select. The financial institution that we select for this purpose is called the depositary. Unless we specify otherwise in the
applicable prospectus supplement, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, known as DTC, will be the depositary for all debt securities
issued in book-entry form.
A global security may not be transferred to or registered in the name of anyone other than the depositary or its nominee, unless special termination
situations arise. We describe those situations below under “ - Termination of a Global Security.” As a result of these arrangements, the depositary, or its
nominee, will be the sole registered owner and holder of all debt securities represented by a global security, and investors will be permitted to own only
beneficial interests in a global security. Beneficial interests must be held by means of an account with a broker, bank or other financial institution that in
turn has an account with the depositary or with another institution that has an account with the depositary. Thus, an investor whose security is represented
by a global security will not be a holder of the debt security, but only an indirect holder of a beneficial interest in the global security.
Special Considerations for Global Securities
As an indirect holder, an investor’s rights relating to a global security will be governed by the account rules of the investor’s financial institution and of the
depositary, as well as general laws relating to securities transfers. The depositary that holds the global security will be considered the holder of the debt
securities represented by the global security.
If debt securities are issued only in the form of a global security, an investor should be aware of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

an investor cannot cause the debt securities to be registered in his or her name and cannot obtain certificates for his or her interest in the debt
securities, except in the special situations we describe below;
an investor will be an indirect holder and must look to his or her own bank or broker for payments on the debt securities and protection of his or
her legal rights relating to the debt securities, as we describe under “ - Issuance of Securities in Registered Form” above;
an investor may not be able to sell interests in the debt securities to some insurance companies and other institutions that are required by law to
own their securities in non-book-entry form;
an investor may not be able to pledge his or her interest in a global security in circumstances where certificates representing the debt securities
must be delivered to the lender or other beneficiary of the pledge in order for the pledge to be effective;
the depositary’s policies, which may change from time to time, will govern payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to an
investor’s interest in a global security. We and the trustee have no responsibility for any aspect of the depositary’s actions or for its records of
ownership interests in a global security. We and the trustee also do not supervise the depositary in any way;
if we redeem less than all the debt securities of a particular series being redeemed, the Company will typically, but is not required to, follow
DTC’s practice to determine by lot the amount to be redeemed from each of its participants holding that series;
an investor is required to give notice of exercise of any option to elect repayment of its debt securities, through its participant, to the applicable
trustee and to deliver the related debt securities by causing its participant to transfer its interest in those debt securities, on DTC’s records, to the
applicable trustee;
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•
•

DTC requires that those who purchase and sell interests in a global security deposited in its book-entry system use immediately available funds;
your broker or bank may also require you to use immediately available funds when purchasing or selling interests in a global security; and
financial institutions that participate in the depositary’s book-entry system, and through which an investor holds its interest in a global security,
may also have their own policies affecting payments, notices and other matters relating to the debt securities; there may be more than one financial
intermediary in the chain of ownership for an investor, we do not monitor and are not responsible for the actions of any of those intermediaries.

Termination of a Global Security
If a global security is terminated for any reason, interests in it will be exchanged for certificates in non-book-entry form (certificated securities).
After that exchange, the choice of whether to hold the certificated debt securities directly or in street name will be up to the investor. Investors must consult
their own banks or brokers to find out how to have their interests in a global security transferred on termination to their own names, so that they will be
holders. We have described the rights of legal holders and street name investors under “ — Issuance of Securities in Registered Form” above.
The prospectus supplement may list situations for terminating a global security that would apply only to the particular series of debt securities
covered by the prospectus supplement. If a global security is terminated, only the depositary, and not we or the applicable trustee, is responsible for
deciding the investors in whose names the debt securities represented by the global security will be registered and, therefore, who will be the holders of
those debt securities.
Payment and Paying Agents
We will pay interest to the person listed in the applicable trustee’s records as the owner of the debt security at the close of business on a particular
day in advance of each due date for interest, even if that person no longer owns the debt security on the interest due date. That day, usually about two weeks
in advance of the interest due date, is called the “record date.” Because we will pay all the interest for an interest period to the holders on the record date,
holders buying and selling debt securities must work out between themselves the appropriate purchase price. The most common manner is to adjust the
sales price of the debt securities to prorate interest fairly between buyer and seller based on their respective ownership periods within the particular interest
period. This prorated interest amount is called “accrued interest.”
Payments on Global Securities
We will make payments on a global security in accordance with the applicable policies of the depositary as in effect from time to time. Under
those policies, we will make payments directly to the depositary, or its nominee, and not to any indirect holders who own beneficial interests in the global
security. An indirect holder’s right to those payments will be governed by the rules and practices of the depositary and its participants, as described under “
— Special Considerations for Global Securities.”
Payments on Certificated Securities
We will make payments on a certificated debt security as follows. We will pay interest that is due on an interest payment date to the holder at his
or her address shown on the trustee’s records as of the close of business on the regular record date at our office and/or at other offices that may be specified
in the prospectus supplement. We will make all payments of principal and premium, if any, by check at the office of the applicable trustee in New York,
New York and/or at other offices that may be specified in the prospectus supplement or in a notice to holders against surrender of the debt security.
Alternatively, at our option, we may pay any cash interest that becomes due on the debt security by mailing a check to the holder at his, her or its
address shown on the trustee’s records as of the close of business on the regular record date or by transfer to an account at a bank in the United States, in
either case, on the due date.
Payment When Offices Are Closed
If any payment is due on a debt security on a day that is not a business day, we will make the payment on the next day that is a business day.
Payments made on the next business day in this situation will be treated under the indenture as if they were made on the original due date, except as
otherwise indicated in the attached prospectus supplement. Such payment will not result in a default under any debt security or the indenture, and no
interest will accrue on the payment amount from the original due date to the next day that is a business day.
Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how they will receive payments on their debt
securities.
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Events of Default
You will have rights if an Event of Default occurs in respect of the debt securities of your series and is not cured, as described later in this subsection.
The term “Event of Default” in respect of the debt securities of your series means any of the following (unless the prospectus supplement relating to such
debt securities states otherwise):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

we do not pay the principal of, or any premium on, a debt security of the series on its due date, and do not cure this default within five days;
we do not pay interest on a debt security of the series when due, and such default is not cured within 30 days;
we do not deposit any sinking fund payment in respect of debt securities of the series on its due date, and do not cure this default within five days;
we remain in breach of a covenant in respect of debt securities of the series for 60 days after we receive a written notice of default stating we are
in breach (the notice must be sent by either the trustee or holders of at least 25% of the principal amount of debt securities of the series);
we file for bankruptcy or certain other events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization occur and remain undischarged or unstayed for a period
of 90 days; or
on the last business day of each of 24 consecutive calendar months, we have an asset coverage of less than 100%; or
any other Event of Default in respect of debt securities of the series described in the applicable prospectus supplement occurs.

An Event of Default for a particular series of debt securities does not necessarily constitute an Event of Default for any other series of debt securities
issued under the same or any other indenture. The trustee may withhold notice to the holders of debt securities of any default, except in the payment of
principal, premium or interest, if it considers the withholding of notice to be in the best interests of the holders.
Remedies if an Event of Default Occurs
If an Event of Default has occurred and has not been cured, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the debt securities of the
affected series may declare the entire principal amount of all the debt securities of that series to be due and immediately payable. This is called a
declaration of acceleration of maturity. In certain circumstances, a declaration of acceleration of maturity may be canceled by the holders of a majority in
principal amount of the debt securities of the affected series.
The trustee is not required to take any action under the indenture at the request of any holders unless the holders offer the trustee protection from
expenses and liability reasonably satisfactory to it (called an “indemnity”). If indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee is provided, the holders of a
majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of the relevant series may direct the time, method and place of conducting any lawsuit or
other formal legal action seeking any remedy available to the trustee. The trustee may refuse to follow those directions in certain circumstances. No delay
or omission in exercising any right or remedy will be treated as a waiver of that right, remedy or Event of Default.
Before you are allowed to bypass your trustee and bring your own lawsuit or other formal legal action or take other steps to enforce your rights or
protect your interests relating to the debt securities, the following must occur:
•
•
•
•

you must give the trustee written notice that an Event of Default with respect to the relevant series of debt securities has occurred and remains
uncured;
the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of all outstanding debt securities of the relevant series must make a written request that the trustee
take action because of the default and must offer reasonable indemnity to the trustee against the cost and other liabilities of taking that action;
the trustee must not have taken action for 60 days after receipt of the above notice and offer of indemnity and/or security; and
the holders of a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of that series must not have given the trustee a direction inconsistent with the
above notice during that 60-day period.
However, you are entitled at any time to bring a lawsuit for the payment of money due on your debt securities on or after the due date.
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Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how to give notice or direction to or make a
request of the trustee and how to declare or cancel an acceleration of maturity.
Each year, we will furnish to each trustee a written statement of certain of our officers certifying that to their knowledge we are in compliance with the
indenture and the debt securities, or else specifying any default.
Waiver of Default
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of the affected series may waive any past defaults other than
•
•

the payment of principal, any premium or interest; or
in respect of a covenant that cannot be modified or amended without the consent of each holder.

Merger or Consolidation
Under the terms of the indenture, we are generally permitted to consolidate or merge with another entity. We may also be permitted to sell all or
substantially all of our assets to another entity. However, unless the prospectus supplement relating to certain debt securities states otherwise, we may not
take any of these actions unless all the following conditions are met:
•
•

•
•

where we merge out of existence or sell our assets substantially as an entirety, the resulting entity must agree to be legally responsible for our
obligations under the debt securities;
the merger or sale of assets must not cause a default on the debt securities and we must not already be in default (unless the merger or sale would
cure the default). For purposes of this no-default test, a default would include an Event of Default that has occurred and has not been cured, as
described under “Events of Default” above. A default for this purpose would also include any event that would be an Event of Default if the
requirements for giving us a notice of default or our default having to exist for a specific period of time were disregarded;
we must deliver certain certificates and documents to the trustee; and
we must satisfy any other requirements specified in the prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of debt securities.

Modification or Waiver
There are three types of changes we can make to the indenture and the debt securities issued thereunder.
Changes Requiring Approval
First, there are changes that we cannot make to debt securities without specific approval of all holders. The following is a list of those types of
changes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

change the stated maturity of the principal of or interest on a debt security;
reduce any amounts due on a debt security;
reduce the amount of principal payable upon acceleration of the maturity of a security following a default;
adversely affect any right of repayment at the holder’s option;
change the place or currency of payment on a debt security (except as otherwise described in the prospectus or prospectus supplement);
impair your right to sue for payment;
adversely affect any right to convert or exchange a debt security in accordance with its terms;
modify the subordination provisions in the indenture in a manner that is adverse to outstanding holders of the debt securities;
reduce the percentage of holders of debt securities whose consent is needed to modify or amend the indenture;
reduce the percentage of holders of debt securities whose consent is needed to waive compliance with certain provisions of the indenture
or to waive certain defaults;
modify any other aspect of the provisions of the indenture dealing with supplemental indentures, modification and waiver of past
defaults, changes to the quorum or voting requirements or the waiver of certain covenants; and
change any obligation we have to pay additional amounts.

Changes Not Requiring Approval
The second type of change does not require any vote by the holders of the debt securities. This type is limited to clarifications, establishment of
the form or terms of new securities of any series permitted by the indenture, and certain other changes
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that would not adversely affect holders of the outstanding debt securities in any material respect. We also do not need any approval to make any change that
affects only debt securities to be issued under the indenture after the change takes effect.
Changes Requiring Majority Approval
Any other change to the indenture and the debt securities would require the following approval:
•
•

if the change affects only one series of debt securities, it must be approved by the holders of a majority in principal amount of that series; and
if the change affects more than one series of debt securities issued under the same indenture, it must be approved by the holders of a majority in
principal amount of all of the series affected by the change, with all affected series voting together as one class for this purpose.

The holders of a majority in principal amount of all of the series of debt securities issued under an indenture, voting together as one class for this
purpose, may waive our compliance with some of our covenants in that indenture. However, we cannot obtain a waiver of a payment default or of any of
the matters covered by the bullet points included above under “ — Changes Requiring Approval.”
Further Details Concerning Voting
When taking a vote, we will use the following rules to decide how much principal to attribute to a debt security:
•
•
•

for original issue discount securities, we will use the principal amount that would be due and payable on the voting date if the maturity of these
debt securities were accelerated to that date because of a default;
for debt securities whose principal amount is not known (for example, because it is based on an index), we will use a special rule for that debt
security described in the prospectus supplement; and
for debt securities denominated in one or more foreign currencies, we will use the U.S. dollar equivalent.

Debt securities will not be considered outstanding, and therefore not eligible to vote, if we have deposited or set aside in trust money for their payment
or redemption or if we, any other obligor, or any affiliate of us or any obligor own such debt securities. Debt securities will also not be eligible to vote if
they have been fully defeased as described later under “ — Defeasance — Full Defeasance.”
We will generally be entitled to set any day as a record date for the purpose of determining the holders of outstanding indenture securities that are
entitled to vote or take other action under the indenture. If we set a record date for a vote or other action to be taken by holders of one or more series, that
vote or action may be taken only by persons who are holders of outstanding indenture securities of those series on the record date and must be taken within
eleven months following the record date.
Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how approval may be granted or denied if we seek
to change the indenture or the debt securities or request a waiver.
Defeasance
The following provisions will be applicable to each series of debt securities unless we state in the applicable prospectus supplement that the
provisions of covenant defeasance and full defeasance will not be applicable to that series.
Covenant Defeasance
Under current U.S. federal tax law, we can make the deposit described below and be released from some of the restrictive covenants in the
indenture under which the particular series was issued. This is called “covenant defeasance.” In that event, you would lose the protection of those restrictive
covenants but would gain the protection of having money and government securities set aside in trust to repay your debt securities. In order to achieve
covenant defeasance, we must do the following:
•
•

if the debt securities of the particular series are denominated in U.S. dollars, we must deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of such debt
securities a combination of money and U.S. government or U.S. government agency notes or bonds that will generate enough cash to make
interest, principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates;
we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel confirming that, under current U.S. federal income tax law, we may make the above
deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit and just repaid the debt securities
ourselves at maturity; and
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•

we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel stating that the above deposit does not require registration by us under the 1940 Act,
as amended, and a legal opinion and officers’ certificate stating that all conditions precedent to covenant defeasance have been complied with.

If we accomplish covenant defeasance, you can still look to us for repayment of the debt securities if there were a shortfall in the trust deposit or the
trustee is prevented from making payment. For example, if one of the remaining Events of Default occurred (such as our bankruptcy) and the debt
securities became immediately due and payable, there might be a shortfall. Depending on the event causing the default, you may not be able to obtain
payment of the shortfall.
Full Defeasance
If there is a change in U.S. federal tax law, as described below, we can legally release ourselves from all payment and other obligations on the debt
securities of a particular series (called “full defeasance”) if we put in place the following other arrangements for you to be repaid:
•
•

•

if the debt securities of the particular series are denominated in U.S. dollars, we must deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of such debt
securities a combination of money and United States government or United States government agency notes or bonds that will generate enough
cash to make interest, principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates;
we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion confirming that there has been a change in current U.S. federal tax law or an IRS ruling that allows
us to make the above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit and just
repaid the debt securities ourselves at maturity. Under current U.S. federal tax law, the deposit and our legal release from the debt securities would
be treated as though we paid you your share of the cash and notes or bonds at the time the cash and notes or bonds were deposited in trust in
exchange for your debt securities and you would recognize gain or loss on the debt securities at the time of the deposit; and
we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel stating that the above deposit does not require registration by us under the 1940 Act,
as amended, and a legal opinion and officers’ certificate stating that all conditions precedent to defeasance have been complied with.

If we ever did accomplish full defeasance, as described above, you would have to rely solely on the trust deposit for repayment of the debt securities.
You could not look to us for repayment in the unlikely event of any shortfall. Conversely, the trust deposit would most likely be protected from claims of
our lenders and other creditors if we ever became bankrupt or insolvent.
Form, Exchange and Transfer of Certificated Registered Securities
Holders may exchange their certificated securities, if any, for debt securities of smaller denominations or combined into fewer debt securities of larger
denominations, as long as the total principal amount is not changed.
Holders may exchange or transfer their certificated securities, if any, at the office of their trustee. We have appointed the trustee to act as our agent for
registering debt securities in the names of holders transferring debt securities. We may appoint another entity to perform these functions or perform them
ourselves.
Holders will not be required to pay a service charge to transfer or exchange their certificated securities, if any, but they may be required to pay any tax
or other governmental charge associated with the transfer or exchange. The transfer or exchange will be made only if our transfer agent is satisfied with the
holder’s proof of legal ownership.
If we have designated additional transfer agents for your debt security, they will be named in the prospectus supplement. We may appoint additional
transfer agents or cancel the appointment of any particular transfer agent. We may also approve a change in the office through which any transfer agent
acts.
If any certificated securities of a particular series are redeemable and we redeem less than all the debt securities of that series, we may block the
transfer or exchange of those debt securities during the period beginning 15 days before the day we mail the notice of redemption and ending on the day of
that mailing, in order to freeze the list of holders to prepare the mailing. We may also refuse to register transfers or exchanges of any certificated securities
selected for redemption, except that we will continue to permit transfers and exchanges of the unredeemed portion of any debt security that will be partially
redeemed.
Resignation of Trustee
Each trustee may resign or be removed with respect to one or more series of indenture securities provided that a successor trustee is appointed to act with
respect to these series. In the event that two or more persons are acting as trustee with respect to different
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series of indenture securities under the indenture, each of the trustees will be a trustee of a trust separate and apart from the trust administered by any other
trustee.
The Trustee under the Indenture
We intend to use a nationally recognized financial institution to serve as the trustee under the indenture.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
We may offer, from time to time, up to $100,000,000 of our common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights to purchase shares of our common stock,
or debt securities in one or more underwritten public offerings, at-the-market offerings, negotiated transactions, block trades, best efforts or a combination
of these methods. We s may sell securities directly or through agents we designate from time to time. Any underwriter or agent involved in the offer and
sale of the securities will be named in the applicable prospectus supplement. A prospectus supplement or supplements will also describe the terms of the
offering of the securities, including: the purchase price of the securities and the proceeds, if any, we will receive from the sale; any overallotment options
under which underwriters may purchase additional securities from us; any agency fees or underwriting discounts and other items constituting agents’ or
underwriters’ compensation; the public offering price; any discounts or concessions allowed or re-allowed or paid to dealers; and any securities exchange
or market on which the securities may be listed. Only underwriters named in the prospectus supplement will be underwriters of the securities offered by
such prospectus supplement.
The distribution of the securities may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed, at
prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices, or at negotiated prices, provided, however, that the offering
price per share of our common stock, less any underwriting commissions or discounts, must equal or exceed the NAV per share of our common stock at the
time of the offering except (1) in connection with a rights offering to our existing stockholders, (2) with the consent of the majority of our common
stockholders, (3) the conversion of a convertible security in accordance with its terms or (4) under such circumstances as the SEC may permit. The price at
which securities may be distributed may represent a discount from prevailing market prices.
In connection with the sale of the securities, underwriters or agents may receive compensation from us or from purchasers of the securities, for whom
they may act as agents, in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. Our common stockholders will indirectly bear such fees and expenses as well
as any other fees and expenses incurred by us in connection with any sale of securities. Underwriters may sell the securities to or through dealers and such
dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for
whom they may act as agents. Underwriters, dealers and agents that participate in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters under
the Securities Act, and any discounts and commissions they receive from us and any profit realized by them on the resale of the securities may be deemed
to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Any such underwriter or agent will be identified and any such compensation
received from us will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The maximum aggregate commission or discount to be received by any
member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or independent broker-dealer will not be greater than 8% of the gross proceeds of the sale of
securities offered pursuant to this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement. We may also reimburse the underwriter or agent for certain fees
and legal expenses incurred by it.
Any underwriter may engage in overallotment, stabilizing transactions, short-covering transactions and penalty bids in accordance with Regulation M
under the Exchange Act. Overallotment involves sales in excess of the offering size, which create a short position. Stabilizing transactions permit bids to
purchase the underlying security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum price. Syndicate-covering or other short-covering
transactions involve purchases of the securities, either through exercise of the overallotment option or in the open market after the distribution is completed,
to cover short positions. Penalty bids permit the underwriters to reclaim a selling concession from a dealer when the securities originally sold by the dealer
are purchased in a stabilizing or covering transaction to cover short positions. Those activities may cause the price of the securities to be higher than it
would otherwise be. If commenced, the underwriters may discontinue any of the activities at any time.
Any underwriters that are qualified market makers on the Nasdaq Capital Market may engage in passive market making transactions in our common
stock on Nasdaq Capital Market in accordance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act, during the business day prior to the pricing of the offering,
before the commencement of offers or sales of our common stock. Passive market makers must comply with applicable volume and price limitations and
must be identified as passive market makers. In general, a passive market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of the highest independent bid
for such security; if all independent bids are lowered below the passive market maker’s bid, however, the passive market maker’s bid must then be lowered
when certain purchase limits are exceeded. Passive market making may stabilize the market price of the securities at a level above that which might
otherwise prevail in the open market and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
We may sell securities directly or through agents we designate from time to time. We will name any agent involved in the offering and sale of securities
and we will describe any commissions we will pay the agent in the applicable prospectus supplement. Unless the prospectus supplement states otherwise,
our agent will act on a best-efforts basis for the period of its appointment.
Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, each series of securities will be a new issue with no trading market, other than our
common stock and Series A Term Preferred Stock, which are traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market. We may elect to list any other series of securities on
any exchanges, but we are not obligated to do so. We cannot guarantee the liquidity of the trading markets for any securities.
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Under agreements that we may enter, underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of shares of our securities may be entitled to
indemnification by us against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribution with respect to payments that the agents or
underwriters may make with respect to these liabilities. Underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us in the
ordinary course of business.
If so indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will authorize underwriters or other persons acting as our agents to solicit offers by certain
institutions to purchase our securities from us pursuant to contracts providing for payment and delivery on a future date. Institutions with which such
contracts may be made include commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies, educational and charitable
institutions and others, but in all cases such institutions must be approved by us. The obligations of any purchaser under any such contract will be subject to
the condition that the purchase of our securities shall not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of the jurisdiction to which such purchaser is
subject. The underwriters and such other agents will not have any responsibility in respect of the validity or performance of such contracts. Such contracts
will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the prospectus supplement, and the prospectus supplement will set forth the commission payable for
solicitation of such contracts.
We may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated
transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this
prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by us or
borrowed from us or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of stock, and may use securities received from us in settlement
of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of stock. The third parties in such sale transactions will be underwriters and, if not identified
in this prospectus, will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement.
In order to comply with the securities laws of certain states, if applicable, our securities offered hereby will be sold in such jurisdictions only through
registered or licensed brokers or dealers.
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REGULATION AS A CLOSED-END MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT COMPANY
General
As a registered closed-end management investment company, we are subject to regulation under the 1940 Act. Under the 1940 Act, unless authorized
by vote of a majority of our outstanding voting securities, we may not:
•

change our classification to an open-end management investment company;

•

alter any of our fundamental policies, which are set forth below in “— Investment Restrictions”; or

•

change the nature of our business so as to cease to be an investment company.

A majority of our outstanding voting securities means the lesser of: (a) 67% of our voting securities present or represented by proxy at a meeting if the
holders of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities are present or represented at the meeting; or (b) more than 50% of our outstanding voting
securities.
Fidelity Bond; Indemnification. As with other companies regulated by the 1940 Act, a registered closed-end management investment company must
adhere to certain substantive regulatory requirements. We will be required to provide and maintain a bond issued by a reputable fidelity insurance company
to protect us. Furthermore, as a registered closed-end management investment company, we will be prohibited from protecting any director or officer
against any liability to us or our stockholders arising from willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in
the conduct of such person’s office.
Issuance Price of Shares. We will generally not be able to issue and sell shares of our common stock at a price below the then current NAV per share
(exclusive of any distributing commission or discount). See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to an Investment in our Securities — Regulations governing
our operation as a registered closed-end management investment company affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so.
The raising of debt capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.” We may generally issue new shares of our
common stock at a price below NAV in rights offerings to existing stockholders, in payment of dividends and in certain other limited circumstances.
Senior Securities. As a registered closed-end management investment company, we may use leverage to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. We are
permitted to obtain leverage using any form of financial leverage instruments, including funds borrowed from banks or other financial institutions, margin
facilities, notes or preferred stock and leverage attributable to reverse repurchase agreements or similar transactions. Since the completion of our IPO, we
have incurred leverage in an amount of approximately 51.6% of our net assets projected as of April 30, 2021 (as determined immediately before the
leverage is incurred), including through the issuance of the Series A Term Preferred Stock in March and April of 2019 and the Series B Term Preferred
Stock in November of 2020. We currently anticipate incurring leverage in an amount of approximately 50% of our net assets (i.e., $0.50 of leverage for
every $1 of equity) over the next twelve months of operations. Instruments that create leverage are generally considered to be senior securities under the
1940 Act. With respect to senior securities representing indebtedness (i.e., borrowing or deemed borrowing), other than temporary borrowings as defined
under the 1940 Act, we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 300%, as measured at the time of borrowing and calculated as the ratio of our
total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate amount of our outstanding senior securities
representing indebtedness. With respect to senior securities that are stocks (i.e., shares of preferred stock, including our Series A Term Preferred Stock and
Series B Term Preferred Stock), we are required to have an asset coverage ratio of at least 200%, as measured at the time of the issuance of any such shares
of preferred stock and calculated as the ratio of our total assets (less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) over the aggregate
amount our outstanding senior securities representing indebtedness plus the aggregate liquidation preference of any outstanding shares of preferred stock. If
our asset coverage ratio declines below 300% (or 200%, as applicable), we would not be able to incur additional debt or issue additional preferred stock,
and could be required by law to sell a portion of our investments to repay some debt when it is disadvantageous to do so, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operations, and we would not be able to make certain distributions or pay dividends. In addition, we may borrow for temporary,
emergency or other purposes as permitted under the 1940 Act, which indebtedness would be in addition to the asset coverage ratios described above.
Asset Segregation and Coverage. We may “set aside” liquid assets (often referred to as “asset segregation”), or engage in other SEC- or staff-approved
measures, to “cover” open positions with respect to certain portfolio management techniques, such as entering into certain Derivative Transactions, or
purchasing securities on a when-issued or delayed delivery basis, that may be considered senior securities under the 1940 Act. The ability of registered
closed-end funds to enter into such transactions is limited under the 1940 Act. On October 28, 2020, the SEC adopted a rule that modifies the conditions by
which registered closed-end funds can enter into, or “cover” open positions pursuant to, certain Derivative Transactions that involve potential future
payment obligations (the “Derivatives Rule”). The Derivatives Rule requires registered closed-end funds engaging in Derivative Transactions to develop
and implement a derivatives risk management program, to comply with an outer limit on asset coverage ratio based on a VaR (“value-at-risk”) test, and to
report its derivatives activity to its board of directors on a regular basis. The Derivatives Rule also contains exceptions to these conditions for any fund that
limits its exposure to derivative positions to 10 percent of its net assets.
We intend to “cover” our derivative positions by segregating an amount of cash and/or liquid securities as required by the 1940 Act and the Derivatives
Rule thereunder. “Covered” positions that would otherwise be deemed to create leverage are not counted as
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senior securities for the purposes of calculating asset coverage ratios under the 1940 Act. We may not cover an applicable derivative transaction if it is not
necessary to do so to comply with the 1940 Act limitations on the issuance of senior securities and, in the view of the Advisor, the assets that would have
been used to cover could be better used for a different purpose. However, these transactions, even if covered, may represent a form of economic leverage
and will create risks. The potential loss on derivative instruments may be substantial relative to the initial investment therein. In addition, these segregation
and coverage requirements could result in us maintaining securities positions that we would otherwise liquidate, segregating assets at a time when it might
be disadvantageous to do so or otherwise restricting portfolio management. Such segregation and cover requirements will not limit or offset losses on
related positions.
Investment Restrictions
Our investment objectives and our investment policies and strategies described in this prospectus, except for the seven investment restrictions
designated as fundamental policies under this caption, are not fundamental and may be changed by the Board without stockholder approval.
As referred to above, the following seven investment restrictions are designated as fundamental policies and as such cannot be changed without the
approval of the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities:
1.

We may not borrow money, except as permitted by (i) the 1940 Act, or interpretations or modifications by the SEC, SEC staff or other authority
with appropriate jurisdiction, or (ii) exemptive or other relief or permission from the SEC, SEC staff or other authority with appropriate
jurisdiction;

2.

We may not engage in the business of underwriting securities issued by others, except to the extent that we may be deemed to be an underwriter in
connection with the disposition of portfolio securities;

3.

We may not purchase or sell physical commodities or contracts for the purchase or sale of physical commodities. Physical commodities do not
include futures contracts with respect to securities, securities indices, currency or other financial instruments;

4.

We may not purchase or sell real estate, which term does not include securities of companies which deal in real estate or mortgages or investments
secured by real estate or interests therein, except that we reserve freedom of action to hold and to sell real estate acquired as a result of our
ownership of securities;

5.

We may not make loans, except to the extent permitted by (i) the 1940 Act, or interpretations or modifications by the SEC, SEC staff or other
authority with appropriate jurisdiction, or (ii) exemptive or other relief or permission from the SEC, SEC staff or other authority with appropriate
jurisdiction;

6.

We may not issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted by (i) the 1940 Act, or interpretations or modifications by the SEC, the SEC
staff or other authority with appropriate jurisdiction, or (ii) exemptive or other relief or permission from the SEC, SEC staff or other authority with
appropriate jurisdiction; and

7.

We may not invest in any security if as a result of such investment, 25% or more of the value of our total assets, taken at market value at the time
of each investment, are in the securities of issuers in any particular industry except (a) securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government and
its agencies and instrumentalities or tax-exempt securities of state and municipal governments or their political subdivisions (however, not
including private purpose industrial development bonds issued on behalf of non-government issuers), or (b) as otherwise provided by the 1940
Act, as amended from time to time, and as modified or supplemented from time to time by (i) the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC
under the 1940 Act, as amended from time to time, and (ii) any exemption or other relief applicable to us from the provisions of the 1940 Act, as
amended from time to time. For purposes of this restriction, in the case of investments in loan participations between us and a bank or other
lending institution participating out the loan, we will treat both the lending bank or other lending institution and the borrower as “issuers.” For
purposes of this restriction, an investment in a CLO, collateralized bond obligation, collateralized debt obligation or a swap or other derivative will
be considered to be an investment in the industry (if any) of the underlying or reference security, instrument or asset.

The latter part of certain of our fundamental investment restrictions (i.e., the references to “except to the extent permitted by (i) the 1940 Act, or
interpretations or modifications by the SEC, the SEC staff or other authority with appropriate jurisdiction, or (ii) exemptive or other relief or permission
from the SEC, SEC staff or other authority with appropriate jurisdiction”) provides us with flexibility to change our limitations in connection with changes
in applicable law, rules, regulations or exemptive relief. The language used in these restrictions provides the necessary flexibility to allow our Board to
respond efficiently to these kinds of developments without the delay and expense of a stockholder meeting.
Whenever an investment policy or investment restriction set forth in this prospectus states a maximum percentage of assets that may be invested in any
security or other asset or describes a policy regarding quality standards, such percentage limitation or standard shall be determined immediately after and as
a result of our acquisition of such security or asset. Accordingly, any later increase or decrease resulting from a change in values, assets or other
circumstances or any subsequent rating change made by a rating agency (or
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as determined by the Advisor if the security is not rated by a rating agency) will not compel us to dispose of such security or other asset. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, we must always be in compliance with the borrowing policies set forth above.
Code of Ethics
We and OFS Advisor have each adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act that establishes procedures for personal
investments and restricts certain personal securities transactions. Personnel subject to each code may invest in securities for their personal investment
accounts, including securities that may be purchased or held by us, so long as such investments are made in accordance with the code’s requirements. Our
code of ethics is available, free of charge, on our website at www.ofscreditcompany.com. In addition, the code of ethics is attached as an exhibit to our
annual report on Form N-CSR and is available on the EDGAR Database on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also obtain copies of the
code of ethics, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following e-mail address: publicinfo@sec.gov.
Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures
We have delegated our proxy voting responsibility to the Advisor. The Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures of the Advisor are set forth below. The
guidelines will be reviewed periodically by the Advisor and our Independent Directors, and, accordingly, are subject to change. For purposes of these Proxy
Voting Policies and Procedures described below, “we,” “our” and “us” refers to OFS Capital Management, LLC.
Introduction
An investment adviser registered under the Advisers Act has a fiduciary duty to act solely in the best interests of its clients. As part of this duty, we
recognize that we must vote client securities in a timely manner free of conflicts of interest and in the best interests of our clients.
These policies and procedures for voting proxies for our investment advisory clients are intended to comply with Section 206 of, and Rule 206(4)-6
under, the Advisers Act.
Proxy Policies
Based on the nature of our investment strategy, we do not expect to receive proxy proposals but may from time to time receive amendments, consents
or resolutions applicable to investments held by us. It is our general policy to exercise our voting or consult authority in a manner that serves the interests
of our stockholders. We may occasionally be subject to material conflicts of interest in voting proxies due to business or personal relationships it maintains
with persons having an interest in the outcome of certain votes. If at any time we becomes aware of a material conflict of interest relating to a particular
proxy proposal, our CCO will review the proposal and determine how to vote the proxy in a manner consistent with interests of our stockholders.
Proxy Voting Records
Information regarding how we voted proxies relating to portfolio securities will be available: (1) without charge, upon request, by calling collect (847)
734-2000; and (2) on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also obtain information about how we voted proxies by making a written request
for proxy voting information to: OFS Capital Management, LLC, 10 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 2500, Chicago, IL 60606.
Privacy Policy
Your privacy is very important to us. This Privacy Notice sets forth OFS Credit Company, Inc.’s (“our,” “we,” or “the Company”) policies with respect
to non-public personal information provided to us. These policies apply to stockholders in the Company and may be changed at any time, provided a notice
of such change is given to you. This notice replaces all previous statements of our privacy policy.
Information We Collect
You may provide us with non-public personal information, such as your name, address, e-mail address, social security and/or tax identification number,
assets and/or income information: (i) in a trading confirmation or other related account or transaction documentation; (ii) in correspondence and
conversations with us and our representatives; and (iii) through transactions in the Company.
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Where do we obtain your personal data?
We may collect, and may have collected, information about you from a number of sources, including from you directly:
WHAT
1

Information that you give us

2

Information we obtain from
others

HOW
● when you provide, or provided, it to us in correspondence and conversations
● when you have made / make transactions
● publicly available and accessible directories and sources
● tax authorities, including those that are based outside the jurisdiction where you are located if you are
subject to tax in another jurisdiction
● governmental and competent regulatory authorities to whom we have regulatory obligations
● credit agencies
● fraud prevention and detection agencies and organizations

Why do we process your personal data?
We may process your personal data for the following reasons:
WHY
1

2

3

Obligations

HOW
It is necessary to perform our obligations to:
● administer, manage and set up your investment
● facilitate the transfer of funds, and administering and facilitating any other transactions

It is necessary for compliance with an applicable legal or regulatory obligation to which we are subject to:
● verify the identity and addresses of our investors (and, if applicable their beneficial owners)
● comply with requests from regulatory, governmental, tax and law enforcement authorities
Compliance with
● conduct surveillance and investigation
law
● carry out audit checks
● maintain statutory registers
● prevent and detect fraud
● comply with the U.S Office of Foreign Assets Control list and other governmental sanctions lists
For our legitimate interests or those of a third party to:
● address or investigate any complaints, claims, proceedings or disputes
● provide you with, and inform you about, our investment products and services
● monitor and improve our relationships with investors
● send direct marketing communications to you
● comply with applicable regulatory obligations
● manage our risk and operations
● comply with our accounting and tax reporting requirements
● comply with our audit requirements
● assist with internal compliance with our policies and process
● ensure appropriate group management and governance
● keep our internal records
Our legitimate
● prepare reports on incidents / accidents
interests
● protect our business against fraud, breach of confidence, theft of proprietary materials, and other financial or
business crimes (to the extent that this is not required of us by law)
● analyze and manage commercial risks
● seek professional advice, including legal advice
● enable any actual or proposed assignee or transferee, participant or sub-participant of the partnership’s or our rights
or obligations to evaluate proposed transactions
● facilitate business asset transactions involving the Company or related investment vehicles
● monitor communications to/from us using our systems
● protect the security and integrity of our IT systems
We only rely on these interests where we have considered that, on balance, our legitimate interests are not overridden by
your interests, fundamental rights or freedoms.

How We Share Information We Collect
We may share any of the non-public personal information collected from our stockholders, or prospective or former stockholders with our affiliates,
such as our investment adviser, and to certain service providers such as our accountants, attorneys, auditors, transfer agents and brokers, in each case for
our everyday business purposes, such as to facilitate the acceptance and management of
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your investment or account and our relationship with you, or as otherwise permitted by applicable law. We may also disclose the information we collect:
(iii) As Authorized - if you request or authorize disclosure of the information, in each case in accordance with the agreements governing your
investment;
1.

As required by law - for example, to cooperate with any government regulators, self-regulatory organization or law enforcement authorities;

2.

As otherwise permitted by law - for example, (i) to service providers who maintain, process or service the Company; (ii) in connection with the
making, management or disposition of any fund investment; (iii) as otherwise necessary to effect, administer or enforce investment or fund
transactions; or (iv) in connection with a sale or other transfer of the Company. We may also share information with attorneys, accountants, other
service providers and with persons otherwise acting in a representative or fiduciary capacity on behalf of investors or the fund;

3.

To service providers - we may share information with service providers that perform marketing services on our behalf.

We do not, and will not, sell personal data to third parties.
Consent and your right to withdraw it
We do not generally rely on obtaining your consent to process your personal data. If we do, you have the right to withdraw this consent at any time.
Please contact us at 1-833-687-3622 or send us an email at privacy@ofsmanagement.com at any time if you wish to do so.
Personal data from minors
We do not offer financial services and products to minors and do not intend to collect personal information from children under the age of 16. We
follow all local legal requirements with respect to the collection and processing of a minor’s personal information.
Retention and deletion of your information
As a general principle, we do not retain your personal data for longer than we need it. We keep your personal data only for as long as it is required by
us for our legitimate business purposes, to perform our contractual obligations, or where longer, such longer period as is required by law or regulatory
obligations which apply to us. For example, we will generally retain personal information about you throughout the life cycle of any investment you are
involved in.
Your GDPR rights
Individuals located in the EU may have certain data protection rights, including:
•

the right to access your personal data

•

the right to restrict the use of your personal data

•

the right to have incomplete or inaccurate data corrected

•

the right to ask us to stop processing your personal data

•

the right to require us to delete your personal data in some limited circumstances

•

the right to request information, with respect to our practices within the 12 months prior to your request, regarding the specific personal data we
have collected from you, the sources from which we obtained it, the purposes for which we collected, used and shared the personal data, and the
categories of third parties with whom we have shared it.

You also have a right to object to processing of your personal data where that processing is carried out for our legitimate interest or for direct
marketing.
You also have the right in some circumstances to request for us to “port” your personal data in a portable, re-usable format to other organizations
(where this is possible).
You also have the right to lodge a complaint about the processing of your personal data with your local data protection authority.
You may exercise your right to make these requests/objections by contacting us at 1-833-687-3622 or sending us an email at
privacy@ofsmanagement.com at any time if you wish to do so.
Your rights under the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”)
Residents of California may have certain data protection rights under CCPA relating to certain personal information, including:
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•

the right to disclosure of personal data collected and processed

•

the right to “opt-out” of personal data to be sold

•

the right to require us to delete your personal data in some limited circumstances
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Nonpublic information of individual consumer investors is subject to the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and the disclosures in the main section of this
notice.
Your Right to Request Disclosure of Information We Collect and Share about You
If you are a California resident, the CCPA grants you the right to request certain information about our practices with respect to personal information.
In particular, you can request the following:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

The categories of your personal information that we’ve collected.
The specific pieces of your personal information that we’ve collected.
The categories of sources from which we collected personal information.
The business or commercial purposes for which we collected personal information.
The categories of third parties with which we shared personal information.

You can submit a request to us for the following additional information regarding the categories of personal information that we’ve shared with service
providers who provide services for us, like processing your bill.
To exercise your CCPA rights with request to this information, contact us at 1-833-687-3622 or send us an email at
privacy@ofsmanagement.com at any time.
Your Right to Request the Deletion of Personal Information
Upon your request, we will delete the personal information we have collected about you, except for situations when that information is necessary for us
to: provide you with a product or service that you requested; perform a contract we entered into with you; maintain the functionality or security of our
systems; comply with or exercise rights provided by the law; or use the information internally in ways that are compatible with the context in which you
provided the information to us, or that are reasonably aligned with your expectations based on your relationship with us.
To exercise your right to request the deletion of your personal information, please contact us at 1-833-687-3622 or sending us an email at
privacy@ofsmanagement.com at any time if you wish to do so.
Your Right to Ask Us Not to Sell Your Personal Information
We do not, and will not, sell your personal information.
Our Support for the Exercise of Your Data Rights
We are committed to providing you control over your personal information. If you exercise any of these rights explained in this section of the Privacy
Policy, we will not disadvantage you. You will not be denied or charged different prices or rates for goods or services or provided a different level or
quality of goods or services.
How We Will Handle a Request to Exercise Your Rights
For requests for access or deletion, we will first acknowledge receipt of your request. We will provide a substantive response to your request as soon as
we can, generally within 45 days from when we receive your request, although we may be allowed to take longer to process your request under certain
circumstances. If we expect your request is going to take us longer than normal to fulfil, we’ll let you know.
When you make a request to access or delete your personal information, we will take steps to verify your identity. These steps may include asking you
for personal information, such as your name, address, or other information we maintain about you. If we are unable to verify your identity with the degree
of certainty required, we will not be able to respond to the request. We will notify you to explain the basis of the denial.
You may also designate an authorized agent to submit requests on your behalf. If you do so, you will be required to verify your identity by providing
us with certain personal information as described above. Additionally, we will also require that you provide the agent with written permission to act on your
behalf, and we will deny the request if the agent is unable to submit proof to us that you have authorized them to act on your behalf.
You may exercise your right to make these requests/objections by contacting us at 1-833-687-3622 or sending us an email at
privacy@ofsmanagement.com at any time if you wish to do so. These requests for disclosure are generally free.
We may not, and will not, discriminate against any California Consumer who exercises his/her rights as set forth in this policy.
Concerns or queries
We take your concerns very seriously. We encourage you to bring to our attention any concerns you may have about our processing your personal data.
This Privacy Notice was drafted with simplicity and clarity in mind. We are, of course, happy to provide any further information or explanation
needed. Our contact details are below.
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Safeguards and Compliance
Except as permitted by law, we require all non-affiliated third-party service providers to whom we disclose non-public personal information about our
customers to enter into confidentiality agreements with us.
We implement and maintain reasonable security appropriate to the nature of the personal information that we collect, use, retain, transfer or otherwise
process, and will take reasonable steps to protect your personal data against loss or theft, as well as from unauthorized access, disclosure, copying, use or
modification, regardless of the format in which it is held. While we are committed to developing, implementing, maintaining, monitoring and updating a
reasonable information security program, unfortunately, no data transmission over the Internet or any wireless network can be guaranteed to be 100%
secure. Data security incidents and breaches can occur due to vulnerabilities, criminal exploits or other factors that cannot reasonably be prevented.
Accordingly, while our reasonable security program is designed to manage data security risks and thus help prevent data security incidents and breaches, it
cannot be assumed that the occurrence of any given incident or breach results from our failure to implement and maintain reasonable security. As a result,
while we strive to protect your personal information, you acknowledge that: (a) there are security and privacy limitations of the Internet which are beyond
our control; (b) the security, integrity, and privacy of any and all information and data exchanged between you and us through the website cannot be
guaranteed; and (c) any such information and data may be viewed or tampered with in transit by a third party.
If you have any questions regarding this policy or the treatment of your non-public personal information, please contact us at 1-833-687-3622 or send
us an email at privacy@ofsmanagement.com.
Exemptive Relief
We are generally prohibited under the 1940 Act from knowingly participating in certain transactions with our affiliates without the prior approval of our
Board who are not interested persons and, in some cases, prior approval by the SEC. The SEC has interpreted the prohibition on transactions with affiliates
to prohibit all “joint transactions” between entities that share a common investment adviser. Further, the 1940 Act generally prohibits registered closed-end
funds and BDCs from making certain negotiated co-investments with certain affiliates absent an order from the SEC permitting the funds to do so. On
August 4, 2020, we received the Order from the SEC to permit us to co-invest in portfolio companies with certain Affiliated Funds, including other
registered investment companies and BDCs, managed by OFS Advisor, in a manner consistent with our investment objective, positions, policies, strategies
and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements, subject to compliance with certain conditions. The Order superseded a previous order that OFS Advisor
and certain of the Affiliated Funds received on October 12, 2016 and provides us with greater flexibility to enter into co-investment transactions with
Affiliated Funds. Pursuant to the Order, we are generally permitted to co-invest with Affiliated Funds if a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o)
of the 1940 Act) of our independent directors makes certain conclusions in connection with a co-investment transaction, including that (1) the terms of the
transaction, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable and fair to us and our stockholders and do not involve overreaching in respect of us or
our stockholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is consistent with the interests of our stockholders and is consistent with our
investment objective and strategies. The Order is subject to additional terms and conditions; there can be no assurance that we will be permitted to coinvest with certain of our affiliates other than in the circumstances currently permitted by regulatory guidance and in compliance with conditions of the
Order.
The staff of the SEC has granted no-action relief permitting purchases of a single class of privately placed securities provided that the adviser
negotiates no term other than price and certain other conditions are met. As a result, unless under the Order, we only expect to co-invest on a concurrent
basis with certain funds advised by OFS Advisor when each of us will own the same securities of the issuer and when no term is negotiated other than
price. Any such investment would be made, subject to compliance with existing regulatory guidance, applicable regulations and OFS Advisor’s allocation
policy. If opportunities arise that would otherwise be appropriate for us and for another fund advised by OFS Advisor to invest in different securities of the
same issuer, OFS Advisor will need to decide which fund will proceed with the investment. The decision by OFS Advisor to allocate an opportunity to
another entity could cause us to forego an investment opportunity that we otherwise would have made. Moreover, except in certain circumstances, we will
be unable to invest in any issuer in which another fund advised by OFS Advisor has previously invested.
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BROKERAGE ALLOCATION
Since we will acquire and dispose of many of our investments in privately negotiated transactions, many of the transactions that we engage in will not
require the use of broker-dealers or the payment of brokerage commissions or dealer spreads. Subject to policies established by our Board, the Advisor will
be primarily responsible for selecting brokers and dealers to execute transactions with respect to the publicly traded securities portion of our portfolio
transactions and the allocation of brokerage commissions. The Advisor does not expect to execute transactions through any particular broker or dealer but
will seek to obtain the best net results for us under the circumstances, taking into account such factors as price (including the applicable brokerage
commission or dealer spread), size of order, difficulty of execution and operational facilities of the firm and the firm’s risk and skill in positioning blocks of
securities. The Advisor generally will seek reasonably competitive trade execution costs but will not necessarily pay the lowest spread or commission
available. Subject to applicable legal requirements and consistent with Section 28(e) of the Exchange Act, the Advisor may select a broker based upon
brokerage or research services provided. In return for such services, we may pay a higher commission than other brokers would charge if the Advisor
determines in good faith that such commission is reasonable in relation to the services provided.
LEGAL MATTERS
Certain legal matters in connection with the offering of our securities will be passed upon for us by Eversheds Sutherland (US) LLP, Washington, DC.
Certain legal matters in connection with the offering of our securities will be passed upon for the underwriters, if any, by the counsel named in the
applicable prospectus supplement.
CUSTODIAN AND TRANSFER AGENT
Our portfolio securities are held pursuant to a custodian agreement between us and U.S. Bank National Association. The principal business address of
U.S. Bank is 190 S. LaSalle Street, 8th Floor, Chicago, IL 60603.
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC serves as our transfer agent, registrar, dividend disbursement agent, stockholder servicing agent,
redemption and paying agent, as well as agent for our DRIP Plan. The principal business address of American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is
6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219.
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm located at 200 E. Randolph St., Suite 5500, Chicago, IL, 60601, provides audit services,
tax services, and services with respect to filings with the SEC. The financial statements as of October 31, 2020, and for the year ended October 31, 2020
have been included in this prospectus in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP appearing elsewhere herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts
in accounting and auditing.
SEC FILING INFORMATION
We have filed this prospectus with the SEC on Form N-2 (file numbers 333-234420 and 811-23299), together with all amendments and related exhibits,
a “Registration Statement,” under the Securities Act, with respect to our securities offered by this Registration Statement. Our Registration Statement may
be obtained from the SEC at www.sec.gov. See the cover page of this prospectus for information about how to obtain a paper copy of the prospectus
without charge.
We file with or submit to the SEC annual, semi-annual, and monthly reports, proxy statements and other information meeting the informational
requirements of the Exchange Act and the 1940 Act. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information filed electronically by us with the SEC which are available on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. Copies of these reports, proxy and
information statements and other information may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following e-mail address:
publicinfo@sec.gov. This information will also be available free of charge by contacting us at OFS Credit Company, Inc., Attention: Investor Relations, by
telephone at (847) 734-2000, or on our website at www.ofscreditcompany.com.
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OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Statement of Assets and Liabilities
October 31, 2020
Assets:
Investments at fair value (amortized cost of $77,798,819)
Cash
Other assets
Total assets

$

Liabilities:
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock (net of deferred debt issuance costs of $567,094)
Payable to adviser and affiliates
Accrued professional fees
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

56,885,592
6,447,062
259,527
63,592,181

20,749,406
1,098,411
191,375
77,381
22,116,573

Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Net assets
Net assets consists of:
Common stock, par value of $0.001 per share; 90,000,000 shares authorized and 3,580,663 shares issued and outstanding as of
October 31, 2020
Paid-in capital in excess of par
Total distributable losses
Total net assets
Net asset value per share
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

41,475,608

$

$

3,581
53,304,762
(11,832,735)
41,475,608

$

11.58

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Statement of Operations
Year Ended October 31, 2020
Investment income:
Interest income

$

11,070,549

Operating expenses:
Interest expense
Management fees
Incentive fees
Administration fees
Professional fees
Board of directors fees
Other expenses
Total operating expenses

1,632,085
1,071,760
1,217,173
880,584
532,284
180,000
448,131
5,962,017

Net investment income

5,108,532

Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments:
Net unrealized depreciation on investments
Net loss on investments

(8,785,474)
(8,785,474)
$

Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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(3,676,942)

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year ended October 31,
2020
2019
Changes in net assets resulting from operations:
Net investment income
Net realized gain on investments
Net unrealized depreciation on investments
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations

$

Distributions paid to common stockholders:
Common stock distributions from net investment income
Common stock distributions from return of capital
Distributions paid to common stockholders
Capital share transactions:
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of offering costs
Common stock issued from reinvestment of stockholder distributions
Common stock distributions
Net increase in net assets resulting from capital transactions
Net decrease in net assets
Net assets at the beginning of the year
Net assets at the end of the year

$

Capital share transactions:
Common stock shares outstanding at the beginning of the year
Sale of common stock shares
Common stock issued from reinvestment of stockholder distributions
Common stock distributions
Common stock shares outstanding at the end of the year

5,108,532 $
—
(8,785,474)
(3,676,942)

(3,846,141)
(2,861,082)
(6,707,223)

—
(5,488,924)
(5,488,924)

2,787,722
100,616
3,116,127
6,004,465

8,802,338
13,896
—
8,816,234

(4,379,700)

(4,531,199)

45,855,308
41,475,608

3,061,858
173,498
9,473
335,834
3,580,663

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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4,328,541
10,175
(12,197,225)
(7,858,509)

$

50,386,507
45,855,308

2,505,000
556,033
825
—
3,061,858

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended October 31, 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net decrease in net assets resulting from operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net unrealized depreciation on investments
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Accretion of interest income on structured finance securities
Purchase of portfolio investments
Distributions from portfolio investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets
Due to adviser and affiliates
Accrued professional fees
Payable for investment purchased
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

(3,676,942)
8,785,474
166,578
(11,065,323)
(5,175,500)
14,717,115
34,429
59,101
(101,373)
(320,000)
34,947
3,458,506

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Payment of deferred offering costs
Distributions paid to common stockholders
Net cash used by financing activities

2,815,059
(267,231)
(3,490,480)
(942,652)

Net increase in cash
Cash at the beginning of the year
$

Cash at the end of the year
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the period for interest
Common stock issued from reinvestment of stockholder distributions
Common stock distributions

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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2,515,854
3,931,208
6,447,062

1,465,507
100,616
3,116,127

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Schedule of Investments
October 31, 2020

Company and
Investment
Structured Finance (1) (2) (8)
Allegro CLO VII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

Initial
Effective Acquisition
Yield (3)
Date
Maturity (6)

Principal
Amount

Amortized
Cost

Fair Value (5)

13.15%

2/14/2019

6/13/2031

Anchorage Capital CLO 1-R Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.39%

10/5/2018

4/13/2031

2,100,000

1,679,275

1,426,016

3.4

Atlas Senior Loan Fund X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

4.77%

10/5/2018

1/15/2031

5,000,000

3,215,920

1,509,229

3.6

Atlas Senior Loan Fund IX Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (4)

0.00%

10/5/2018

4/20/2028

1,200,000

613,266

224,191

0.5

Battalion CLO IX Ltd.
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

20.75%
20.71%

10/10/2018
10/10/2018

7/15/2031
7/15/2031

1,079,022
1,770,978
2,850,000

713,050
1,170,294
1,883,344

612,631
1,005,499
1,618,130

1.5
2.4
3.9

Battalion CLO XI Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.68%

3/20/2019

10/24/2029

5,000,000

4,026,350

3,353,925

8.2

BlueMountain Fuji U.S. CLO III, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

20.65%

9/18/2019

1/15/2030

3,701,700

2,705,656

2,099,642

5.0

Crown Point CLO 4 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

14.67%

3/22/2019

4/20/2031

5,000,000

4,050,947

3,213,212

7.8

Dryden 30 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

7.70%

10/5/2018

11/15/2028

1,000,000

495,228

356,806

0.9
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$ 3,100,000 $ 2,385,321 $ 1,831,976

Percent of
Net Assets

4.4 %

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Schedule of Investments
October 31, 2020

Company and
Investment
Dryden 38 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

Initial
Effective Acquisition
Yield (3)
Date
Maturity (6)

Principal
Amount

Amortized
Cost

Fair Value (5)

13.48%

10/5/2018

7/15/2030

Dryden 41 Senior Loan Fund
Subordinated Notes

15.20%

10/5/2018

4/15/2031

2,600,000

1,603,483

1,348,216

3.3

Dryden 53 CLO, Ltd.
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

18.90%
23.28%

10/5/2018
10/1/2019

1/15/2031
1/15/2031

3,200,000
500,000
3,700,000

2,324,159
333,779
2,657,938

2,074,556
324,149
2,398,705

5.0
0.8
5.8

Dryden 76 CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

18.68%

9/27/2019

10/20/2032

2,250,000

1,810,637

1,681,974

4.1

Elevation CLO 2017-7, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

10.81%

10/5/2018

7/15/2030

4,750,000

3,349,296

2,568,342

6.2

Elevation CLO 2017-8, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

10.96%

10/5/2018

10/25/2030

2,000,000

1,422,481

1,004,970

2.4

TCI-Flatiron CLO 2017-1, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

18.65%

3/22/2019

5/15/2030

3,000,000

1,974,755

1,767,349

4.3

Flatiron CLO 18 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.50%

10/5/2018

4/17/2031

4,500,000

3,612,597

3,160,678

7.6

Greenwood Park CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

13.64%

10/5/2018

4/15/2031

4,000,000

3,212,698

2,812,028

6.8

Halcyon Loan Advisors Funding 2018-1 Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

16.02%

3/20/2019

7/20/2031

3,000,000

2,269,217

1,516,610

3.7
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$ 2,600,000 $ 1,725,802 $ 1,358,750

Percent of
Net Assets
3.3 %

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Schedule of Investments
October 31, 2020

Company and
Investment
HarbourView CLO VII-R, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes (4)

Initial
Effective Acquisition
Yield (3)
Date
Maturity (6)

Principal
Amount

Amortized
Cost
Fair Value (5)

0.00%

10/5/2018

11/18/2026 $ 3,100,000 $ 1,886,533 $

Madison Park Funding XXIII, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

15.31%

10/5/2018

7/27/2047

4,000,000

2,965,165

2,524,525

6.1

Marble Point CLO X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

6.19%

10/5/2018

10/15/2030

7,000,000

4,871,442

2,728,673

6.6

Marble Point CLO XI Ltd.
Income Notes

6.37%

10/5/2018

12/18/2047

1,500,000

1,152,307

573,473

1.4

MidOcean Credit CLO VII Ltd.
Income Notes

5.99%

3/20/2019

7/15/2029

3,275,000

2,020,653

1,167,414

2.8

MidOcean Credit CLO VIII Ltd.
Income Notes

17.26%

1/14/2019

2/20/2031

3,250,000

2,407,869

2,093,891

5.0

MidOcean Credit CLO IX Ltd.
Income Notes

16.07%

11/21/2018

7/20/2031

3,000,000

2,044,049

1,763,494

4.3

Niagara Park CLO, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

19.77%

11/8/2019

7/17/2032

2,000,000

1,497,775

1,423,932

3.4

Octagon Investment Partners 39, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

24.02%

2/27/2020

10/20/2030

3,600,000

2,406,871

2,459,389

5.9

Sound Point CLO IV-R, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

6.71%

11/2/2018

4/18/2031

4,000,000

1,430,483

904,757

2.2
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141,873

Percent of
Net Assets
0.2 %

OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Schedule of Investments
October 31, 2020

Company and
Investment
THL Credit Wind River 2014-3 CLO Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

Initial
Effective Acquisition
Yield (3)
Date
Maturity (6)

Principal
Amount

Amortized
Cost

Fair Value (5)
990,848

Percent of
Net Assets

7.73%

10/10/2018

10/22/2031 $

2,778,000 $ 1,960,989 $

Venture 33 CLO Limited
Subordinated Notes

8.14%

3/21/2019

7/15/2031

3,150,000

2,349,754

1,279,296

3.1

Vibrant CLO X Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

15.80%

5/23/2019

10/20/2031

5,000,000

3,515,479

2,623,005

6.3

Voya CLO 2017-4, Ltd.
Subordinated Notes

9.00%

10/5/2018

10/15/2030

1,000,000

796,303

536,282

1.3

ZAIS CLO 3, Limited
Income Notes (7)
Subordinated Notes

6.44%
6.44%

10/10/2018
10/10/2018

7/15/2031
7/15/2031

1,038,255
1,761,745
2,800,000

667,055
1,131,881
1,798,936

157,218
266,773
423,991

0.4
0.6
1.0

$110,804,700 $77,798,819 $ 56,885,592

Total Structured Finance Notes

2.4 %

137.2 %

(1) These investments are generally subject to certain limitations on resale, and may be deemed to be "restricted securities" under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended.
(2) Structured finance investments, including income notes and subordinated notes, are considered CLO subordinated debt positions. CLO subordinated
debt positions are entitled to recurring distributions which are generally equal to the remaining cash flow of payments made by underlying securities
less contractual payments to debt holders and fund expenses. These securities are colloquially referred to as CLO equity.
(3) The rate disclosed is the estimated effective yield, generally established at purchase and re-evaluated upon receipt of distributions, and based upon
projected amounts and timing of future distributions and the projected amount and timing of terminal principal payments at the time of estimation. The
estimated effective yield and investment cost may ultimately not be realized. As of October 31, 2020, the Company's weighted-average effective yield
on its aggregate CLO structured finance positions, based on current amortized cost, was 13.32%.
(4) As of October 31, 2020, the effective accretable yield has been estimated to be 0%, as the aggregate amount of projected distributions, including
projected distributions related to liquidation of the underlying portfolio upon the security's anticipated optional redemption, is less than current
amortized cost. Projected distributions are periodically monitored and re-evaluated. All actual distributions will be recognized as reductions to
amortized cost until such time, if and when occurring, a future aggregate amount of then-projected distributions exceeds the security's then-current
amortized cost.
(5) The fair value of all investments was determined using significant, unobservable inputs, and was determined in good faith by the board of directors of
the Company.
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OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Schedule of Investments
October 31, 2020

(6) Maturity date represents the contractual maturity date of the CLO subordinated debt positions. Projected cash flows, including the projected amount
and timing of terminal principal payments which may be projected to occur prior to the contractual maturity date, were utilized in deriving the
effective yield of the investments.
(7) Security issued by an affiliate of named issuer.
(8) We do not "control" and are not an "affiliate" of any of our portfolio investments, each as defined in the 1940 Act. In general, under the 1940 Act, we
would be presumed to "control" a portfolio investment if we owned 25% or more of its voting securities and would be an "affiliate" of a portfolio
investment if we owned 5% or more of its voting securities.
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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OFS Credit Company, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1. Organization
OFS Credit Company, Inc., (the “Company”) is a Delaware corporation formed on September 1, 2017. The Company’s operations commenced on October
10, 2018. The Company is a non-diversified, externally managed, closed-end management investment company that has registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”); and has elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and
intends to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The
Company's investment adviser is OFS Capital Management, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Orchard First Source Asset Management, LLC
(“OFSAM”), which the Company refers to as “OFS Advisor”.
The Company's primary investment objective is to generate current income, with a secondary objective to generate capital appreciation. Under normal
market conditions, the Company invests at least 80% of its assets in floating rate credit instruments and other structured credit investments, including:
(i) collateralized loan obligation (“CLO”) debt and subordinated/residual tranche securities (“Structured Finance Notes”); (ii) traditional corporate credit
investments, including leveraged loans and high yield bonds; (iii) opportunistic credit investments, including stressed and distressed credit situations and
long/short credit investments; and (iv) other credit-related instruments. The CLOs in which the Company invests are collateralized by portfolios consisting
primarily of below investment grade U.S. senior secured loans with a large number of distinct underlying borrowers across various industry sectors.
Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation: The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”), including the provision ASC Topic 946, Financial Services — Investment Companies, and the reporting requirements of the 1940 Act
and Article 6 of Regulation S-X. In the opinion of management, the financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal and recurring
accruals and adjustments, necessary for fair presentation in accordance with GAAP.
Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounting estimates significant to the financial statements include the recurring fair value
and accretable yield estimates. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.
Cash: The Company’s cash is maintained with a member bank of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and, at times, such balances may be
in excess of the FDIC insurance limits. As of October 31, 2020, all of the Company's cash was held at US Bank N.A.
Investments: The Company applies fair value accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value,
establishes a framework to measure fair value, and requires disclosures regarding fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the price to sell an asset
or transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is determined through the use of models and
other valuation techniques, valuation inputs, and assumptions market participants would use to value the investment. Highest priority is given to prices for
identical assets quoted in active markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority is given to fair value estimates based on unobservable inputs (Level 3). The
availability of observable inputs can vary significantly and is affected by many factors, including the type of product, whether the product is new to the
market, whether the product is traded on an active exchange or in the secondary market, and the current market conditions. To the extent that the valuation
is based on less observable or unobservable inputs, the determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised
by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for financial instruments classified as Level 3 (i.e., those instruments valued using non-observable
inputs), which comprise the entirety of the Company’s investments.
Changes to the Company's valuation policy are reviewed and approved by management and the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”). As the
Company’s investments change, markets change, new products develop, and valuation inputs become more or less observable, the Company will continue
to refine its valuation methodologies.
The Company invests in Structured Finance Notes of CLO investment vehicles and may also invest in CLO loan accumulation facilities. The Company
considers underlying investment portfolio performance metrics, including prepayment rates, default rates, loss-on-default and recovery rates, other metrics,
and estimated market yields as a primary source for discounted cash flow fair value estimates, supplemented by actual trades executed in the market at or
around period-end, as well as indicative prices provided by broker-dealers in its estimate of the fair value of such investments. The Company also considers
operating metrics, typically included in the governing documents of CLO vehicles, including collateralization tests, concentration limits, defaults,
restructuring activity and
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prepayment rates on the underlying loans, if applicable. The Company engages a third-party valuation firm to provide assistance to the Board in
determining the fair value of its investments.
See Note 4 for additional disclosures of the Company’s fair value measurements of its financial instruments.
Investment Income
Interest income: Interest income from investments in Structured Finance Notes is recognized on the basis of the estimated effective yield to expected
redemption utilizing assumed cash flows in accordance with ASC Sub-topic 325-40, Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets. The Company
monitors the expected cash flows from its Structured Finance Notes, and the accretable yields are determined and updated periodically. Expected cash
flows inherent in the Company's estimates of accretable yields are based on expectations of defaults and loss-on-default severity, as well as other loanperformance assumptions, impacting the loans in the underlying CLO portfolios. These assumptions are subject to a reasonable possibility of near-term
change as economic and credit market conditions become known, and the effect of these changes could be material.
Net realized and unrealized gain or loss on investments: Investment transactions are reported on a trade-date basis. Unsettled trades as of the balance sheet
date are reported as payables for investments purchased or receivables for investments sold. Realized gains or losses on investments are measured by the
difference between the net proceeds from the disposition and the amortized cost basis of the investment on a specific-identification basis. Investments are
valued at fair value as determined in good faith by the Board. The Company reports changes in the fair value of investments as net unrealized
appreciation/depreciation on investments in the statement of operations.
Deferred debt issuance costs: Deferred debt issuance costs represent fees and other direct incremental costs incurred in connection with the Company’s
borrowings. Deferred debt issuance costs are presented as a direct reduction of the related debt liability on the statement of assets and liabilities. Deferred
debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the related debt.
Deferred offering costs: Offering costs include legal, accounting, printing and other expenses pertaining to registration of securities. Offering costs are
deferred and as the registration statement is utilized and securities sold, a portion of the costs are charged as a reduction to capital when a common stock
offering occurs or as common stock is issued under an equity distribution agreement, or allocated to deferred debt issuance costs when a preferred stock or
debt offering occurs. Deferred costs are periodically reviewed and charged to expense if the related registration statement is withdrawn or if the offering is
unsuccessful.
Interest expense: Interest expense is recognized on an accrual basis as incurred.
Income taxes: The Company has elected to be treated, and intends to qualify annually, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. To qualify as a RIC, the
Company must, among other things, meet certain source of income and asset diversification requirements, and timely distribute at least 90% of its
investment company taxable income (“ICTI”), to its stockholders. The Company has made, and intends to continue to make, the requisite distributions to
its stockholders, which generally relieves the Company from U.S. federal income taxes.
The Company may choose to retain a portion of ICTI in an amount less than that which would trigger U.S. federal income tax liability under Subchapter M
of the Code; however, the Company may be liable for 4% excise tax on a portion of such income unless it timely distributes at least 98.2% of its ICTI to its
stockholders. Excise tax liability is recognized when the Company determines its distributions from current year ICTI are less than 98.2% of its estimated
current year annual ICTI, as defined in the Code.
The Company evaluates tax positions taken in the course of preparing its tax returns to determine whether they are “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained
by the applicable tax authority. Tax benefits of positions not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold could result in greater and undistributed
ICTI, income and excise tax expense, and, if involving multiple years, a re-assessment of the Company’s RIC status. GAAP requires recognition of accrued
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax benefits as income tax expense. There were no uncertain income tax positions at October 31, 2020.
Distributions: Distributions to stockholders are recorded on the applicable record date. The amount, timing and form of distributions is determined by the
Board each quarter. Net realized capital gains, if any, are distributed at least annually, although the Company may decide to retain such capital gains for
investment. Distributions paid in excess of taxable net investment income and net realized gains are generally considered returns of capital to stockholders.
Net investment income determined in accordance with tax regulations may differ from net investment income for financial reporting purposes. Differences
may be permanent or temporary. Permanent differences result in a reclassification between capital accounts. Additionally, certain short-term capital gains
may be reported as ordinary income. Distributions paid by the Company in accordance with RIC requirements are subject to re-characterization for tax
purposes.
The tax character of distributions paid to stockholders, as set forth in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets and in Financial Highlights, reflect estimates
made by the Company for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Actual results may vary as the tax character
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of distributions is determined annually as of the end of each calendar year and, if required, reported to stockholders on Form 1099-DIV.
Concentration of credit risk: Aside from its instruments in Structured Finance Notes and CLO loan accumulation facilities, financial instruments that
potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits at financial institutions. At various times during the
year, the Company's cash deposits may exceed the federally insured limits. To mitigate this risk, the Company places cash deposits only with high credit
quality institutions. Management believes the risk of loss related to the Company's cash deposits is minimal. The amount of loss due to credit risk from
investments in Structured Finance Notes, if underlying funds and managers fail to perform according to the terms of the indentures and collateral
management agreements and the collateral or other security for those instruments proved to be of no value to the Company, is equal to the Company's
recorded investment in Structured Finance Notes and CLO loan accumulation facilities.
New Accounting Standards: In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 840): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04”), which provides companies with optional guidance to ease the potential accounting
burden associated with transitioning away from reference rates (e.g., London Interbank Offered Rank, or “LIBOR”) that are expected to be discontinued.
ASU 2020-04 allows, among other things, certain contract modifications, such as those within the scope of Topic 310 on receivables, to be accounted as a
continuation of the existing contract. This ASU was effective upon the issuance and its optional relief can be applied through December 31, 2022. The
Company will consider this optional guidance prospectively, if applicable.
Note 3. Related Party Transactions
Investment Advisory and Management Agreement: OFS Advisor manages the day-to-day operations of, and provides investment advisory services to,
the Company pursuant to an investment advisory and management agreement (the “Investment Advisory Agreement”). On June 11, 2020, the Board
unanimously voted to approve the continuation of the Investment Advisory Agreement. Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, OFS
Advisor is responsible for: i) determining the composition of the portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to the portfolio and the manner of
implementing such changes; ii) identifying, evaluating and negotiating the structure of the investments made (including performing due diligence on
prospective investments); iii) closing and monitoring the investments made; and iv) providing other investment advisory, research and related services as
required. OFS Advisor is a subsidiary of OFSAM and a registered investment advisor under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the
“Advisers Act”). OFS Advisor’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and it and its members, officers and employees are
free to furnish similar services to other persons and entities so long as its services to the Company are not impaired. OFS Advisor also serves as the
investment adviser to CLO funds and other assets, including OFS Capital Corporation and Hancock Park Corporate Income, Inc.
OFS Advisor receives fees for providing services, consisting of two components: a base management fee (“Base Management Fee”) and an incentive fee
(“Incentive Fee”). The Base Management Fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears and equals an annual rate of 1.75% of the Company’s “Total
Equity Base”, defined as the net asset value (“NAV”) of the Company’s shares of common stock and the paid-in capital of the Company’s preferred stock.
Base Management Fees are paid by the holders of our shares of common stock and are not paid by holders of preferred stock, or the holders of any other
types of securities that the Company may issue. Base Management Fees for any partial calendar quarter are prorated based on the number of days in such
quarter. The Base Management Fee does not increase when the Company borrows funds, but will increase if the Company issues preferred stock.
The Incentive Fee is calculated and payable quarterly in arrears and equals 20% of the Company’s “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income” for the
immediately preceding quarter, subject to a preferred return, or “hurdle,” and a “catch up” feature. No incentive fees are payable to OFS Advisor in respect
of any capital gains. For this purpose, “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income” means interest income, dividend income and any other income
(including any other fees, such as commitment, origination, structuring, diligence and consulting fees or other fees that the Company receives from an
investment) accrued during the calendar quarter, minus the Company’s operating expenses for the quarter (including the Base Management Fee, expenses
payable under the administrative services agreement to OFS Capital Services, LLC, (“OFS Services”) and any interest expense and dividends paid on any
issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the Incentive Fee). Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income includes accrued income that the
Company has not yet received in cash, as well as any such amounts received (or accrued) in kind. Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income does not
include any capital gains or losses, and no incentive fees are payable in respect of any capital gains and no incentive fees are reduced in respect of any
capital losses.
In calculating the Incentive Fee for any given calendar quarter, Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, expressed as a rate of return on the value of the
Company’s net assets at the end of the immediately preceding calendar quarter, is compared to a hurdle of 2.00% of the Company’s NAV per quarter
(8.00% annualized) (the “Hurdle Rate”). For such purposes, the Company’s quarterly rate of return is determined by dividing its Pre-Incentive Fee Net
Investment Income by its reported net assets as of the prior period end. The Company’s net investment income used to calculate this part of the incentive
fee is also included in the calculation of the Total Equity
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Base which is used to calculate the Base Management Fee. The Incentive Fee with respect to the Company’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income in
each calendar quarter as follows:
(A) no Incentive Fee in any calendar quarter in which Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income does not exceed the hurdle of 2.00% of NAV;
(B) 100% of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income with respect to that portion of such Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income, if any, that
exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of NAV in any calendar quarter (10.00% annualized). The Company refers to this portion of the PreIncentive Fee Net Investment Income (which exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.50% of our NAV) as the “catch-up.” The “catch-up” is meant
to provide OFS Advisor with 20% of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income as if a hurdle did not apply if this net investment income meets
or exceeds 2.50% of NAV in any calendar quarter; and
(C) 20.0% of that portion of the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income, if any, with respect to which the rate of return exceeds 2.50%
in such quarter (10.0% annualized) is payable to OFS Advisor (that is, once the hurdle is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20% of all PreIncentive Fee Net Investment Income thereafter is paid to OFS Advisor).
There will be no accumulation of amounts on the Hurdle Rate from quarter to quarter, no claw back of amounts previously paid if the rate of return in any
subsequent quarter is below the Hurdle Rate and no delay of payment if the rate of return in any prior quarters was below the Hurdle Rate. Incentive Fees
will be adjusted for any share issuances or repurchases during the calendar quarter, and any partial quarter Incentive Fee will be prorated based on the
number of days in such quarter.
Administration Agreement: OFS Services, an affiliate of OFS Advisor, provides the administrative services necessary for the Company to operate. OFS
Services furnishes the Company with office facilities and equipment, necessary software licenses and subscriptions, and clerical, bookkeeping and record
keeping services at such facilities pursuant to an administrative services agreement (the “Administration Agreement”). On June 11, 2020, the Board
unanimously voted to approve the continuation of the Administration Agreement. Under the Administration Agreement, OFS Services performs, or
oversees the performance of, the Company’s required administrative services, which include being responsible for the financial records that the Company is
required to maintain and preparing reports to its stockholders and all other reports and materials required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission or any other regulatory authority. In addition, OFS Services assists the Company in determining and publishing its NAV, oversees the
preparation and filing of its tax returns and the printing and dissemination of reports to its stockholders, and generally oversees the payment of the
Company’s expenses and the performance of administrative and professional services rendered to the Company by others. Payment under the
Administration Agreement is equal to an amount based upon the Company’s allocable portion (subject to the review and approval of the Board) of OFS
Services’ overhead in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including, but not limited to, rent, information technology services
and the Company’s allocable portion of the cost of its officers, including its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief compliance officer, chief
accounting officer, corporate secretary and their respective staffs. To the extent that OFS Services outsources any of its functions, the Company will pay the
fees associated with such functions on a direct basis without profit to OFS Services. After the first two years of effectiveness, the Administration
Agreement may be renewed annually with the approval of the Board, including a majority of our directors who are not “interested persons.” The
Administration Agreement may be terminated by either party without penalty upon 60 days’ written notice to the other party.
Equity Ownership: As of October 31, 2020, the Advisor and its affiliates held 539,908 shares of common stock, which is approximately 15% of the
Company's outstanding shares of common stock.
Distributions paid to affiliates and expenses recognized under agreements with OFS Advisor and OFS Services for the year ended October 31, 2020 are
presented below:
Expenses paid to affiliates:
Management fees
Incentive fees
Administration fees
Distributions paid to affiliates

$
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1,071,760
1,217,173
880,584
1,030,118

Note 4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following table provides quantitative information about the Company’s Level 3 fair value measurements as of October 31, 2020. In addition to the
valuation techniques and inputs noted in the table below, other valuation techniques and methodologies may be utilized when determining the Company's
fair value measurements. The table below provides information on the significant Level 3 inputs as they relate to the Company's fair value measurements as
of October 31, 2020.
Investment Type
Structured Finance Notes

Valuation
Techniques
Unobservable Input
Discounted Cash
56,885,592
Flows
Defaults and Other:
Short-term defaults (2)
Mid-term to long-term defaults (3)(4)
Recovery Rate
Constant Prepayment Rate:
Short-term (2)(4)
Mid-term to long-term (3)(4)
Reinvestment Spread over LIBOR:
Short-term (2)
Mid-term(3)
Long-term(3)
Reinvestment Price:
Short-term (2)
Mid-term to long-term (3)
LIBOR floor on Reinvested Assets
Discount Rate

Fair Value
$

Range
(Weighted average) (1)
2.00% CDR(5)
3.00% down to 2.00% CDR(5)
60.00% - 60.00% (60.00%)
15.00% up to 20.00%
20.00% up to 25.00%
3.25% - 4.10% (3.51%)
4.25% - 5.10% (4.51%)
3.75% - 4.60% (4.01%)
97.00% - 97.00% (97.00%)
99.50% - 99.50% (99.50%)
1.00% - 1.00% (1.00%)
17.00% - 38.50% (22.13%)

(1) Weighted average is calculated based on fair value of investments.
(2) Short-term generally represents the 12 months following October 31, 2020.
(3) Mid-term generally represents the 6 months following the end of the short-term (see note 2 above) and long-term generally represents the period from
the end of mid-term through the optional redemption date.
(4) Values represent the gradual reversion to their long-term expectations and tend to be uniform across the portfolio, therefore a weighted average is not
meaningful.
(5) Constant default rate.
Additionally, the cash flows utilized in the discounted cash flow calculations assume liquidation at current market prices and redeployment of proceeds on
all assets currently in default and all assets below specified fair value thresholds.
Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of Level 3 investments, the fair value of the investments may differ significantly from the
values that would have been used had a ready market or observable inputs existed for such investments and may differ materially from the values that may
ultimately be received or settled. Further, such investments are generally subject to legal and other restrictions, or otherwise are less liquid than publicly
traded instruments. If the Company were required to liquidate a portfolio investment in a forced or liquidation sale, the Company might realize
significantly less than the value at which such investment had previously been recorded. The Company’s investments are subject to market risk, which is
the potential for changes in the value due to market changes. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the
investments are traded.
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The following tables present changes in the investment measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs for the year ended October 31, 2020.
Structured Finance Notes
$
64,147,358

Level 3 assets, November 1, 2019
Net unrealized depreciation on portfolio investments (1)
Accretion of interest income on structured finance securities
Purchase of portfolio investments
Distributions from portfolio investments

(8,785,474)
11,065,323
5,175,500
(14,717,115)
$

Level 3 assets, October 31, 2020

56,885,592

(1) The net unrealized depreciation in the Company's statement of operations for the year ended October 31, 2020 attributable to the Company's level 3
assets still held at the end of the period is $8,785,474.
Other Financial Assets and Liabilities
GAAP requires disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments for which it is practical to estimate such value. The Company believes that the carrying
amounts of its other financial instruments such as cash, receivables and payables approximate the fair value of such items due to the short maturity of such
instruments and that such financial instruments are held with high credit quality institutions to mitigate the risk of loss due to credit risk.
The following tables present the fair value measurements of the Company's debt, which were observable in active markets and are considered Level 1 fair
values, and its carrying value as of October 31, 2020:
Description
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock

Carrying Value
$20,749,406

Fair Value
$20,463,840

Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties that provide
general indemnifications. The Company’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made
against the Company that have not occurred. The Company believes the risk of any material obligation under these indemnifications to be low.
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Note 6. Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Stock
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Shares
The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, at a par value of $0.001 per share, and at October 31, 2020 had 852,660 shares of its
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock (“Term A Preferred Shares”) issued and outstanding. The Company's Term A Preferred Shares are mandatorily
redeemable at March 31, 2024. At any time on or after March 31, 2021, the Company may, at its sole option, redeem the outstanding Term A Preferred
Shares in whole or, from time to time, in part, out of funds legally available for such redemption, at the liquidation preference plus an amount equal to
accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, on such shares (whether or not earned or declared, but excluding interest on such dividends) to, but excluding,
the date fixed for such redemption.
On June 11, 2020, the Board authorized a program under which the Company may repurchase up to $10.0 million of its outstanding shares Term A
Preferred Shares. Under this program, the Company may, but is not obligated to, repurchase its outstanding Term A Preferred Shares in the open market
from time to time through June 11, 2022. The timing and the amount of Term A Preferred Shares to be repurchased will depend on a number of factors,
including then-existing market conditions, liquidity, prospects for future access to capital, contractual restrictions, alternative investment opportunities and
other factors. In addition, any repurchases will also be conducted in accordance with the 1940 Act. There are no assurances that the Company will engage
in any repurchases. No Term A Preferred Shares were repurchased under the program during the year ended October 31, 2020.
As of and for the year ended October 31, 2020, the Term A Preferred Shares had the following terms and balances:

Term A Preferred Shares

Principal
$21,316,500

Unamortized Debt
Issuance Costs
$567,094

Stated Interest
Rate
6.875%

Effective Interest
Rate (1)
7.66%

Interest Expense (2)
$1,632,085

(1) The effective interest rate includes deferred debt issuance cost amortization.
(2) Interest expense includes deferred debt issuance cost amortization of $166,578 for the year ended October 31, 2020 .
During the year ended October 31, 2020, the Company paid the following distributions on Term A Preferred Shares.
Record Date
November 22, 2019
December 24, 2019
January 24, 2020
February 21, 2020
March 24, 2020
April 23, 2020
May 22, 2020
June 23, 2020
July 24, 2020
August 24, 2020
September 23, 2020
October 23, 2020

Payable Date
November 29, 2019
December 31, 2019
January 31, 2020
February 28, 2020
March 31, 2020
April 30, 2020
May 29, 2020
June 30, 2020
July 31, 2020
August 31, 2020
September 30, 2020
October 30, 2020

Distribution Per Preferred Share(1)
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292

(1) The Company paid distributions of approximately $1.72 per Term A Preferred Share during the year ended October 31, 2020.
The tax character of each distribution paid is reported, if required, to stockholders on Form 1099-DIV in January following the close of the calendar year.
The tax character of distributions paid for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020, represents a 43% return of capital. The tax character is not being
provided for U.S. tax reporting purposes as the fiscal period does not correspond to the required tax reporting period. The ultimate tax character cannot be
determined until tax returns are prepared after the end of the fiscal year. The information provided is based on available estimates.
On May 26, 2020, the Board declared the following fiscal year 2021 distributions on Term A Preferred Shares.
Record Date
November 23, 2020
December 24, 2020
January 22, 2021

Payable Date
November 30, 2020
December 31, 2020
January 29, 2021
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Distribution Per Preferred Share
$0.1432292
$0.1432292
$0.1432292

6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock
On November 19, 2020, the Company issued through a private placement 120,000 shares of its 6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock (“Term B Preferred
Stock”) at a price per share of $24.40625, resulting in gross proceeds of $2,928,750. The Term B Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $25 per
share and is subject to mandatory redemption on November 19, 2023. At any time on or after March 31, 2021, the Company may, at its sole option, redeem
the outstanding Term B Preferred Stock in whole or, from time to time, in part, out of funds legally available for such redemption, at the liquidation
preference plus an amount equal to accumulated but unpaid dividends, if any, on such shares (whether or not earned or declared, but excluding interest on
such dividends) to, but excluding, the date fixed for such redemption.
The offering was consummated pursuant to the terms of a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) dated November 19, 2020 by and between the
Company and the purchaser named therein (the “Purchaser”). The Purchase Agreement provided for the Term B Preferred Stock to be issued to the
Purchaser in a private placement in reliance on an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof and Regulation D thereunder. The Company relied upon this exemption from registration based in part on
representations made by the Purchaser. The Term B Preferred Stock has not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the
United States absent registration or an applicable exemption from registration.
On November 19, 2020, the Board declared the following fiscal year end 2021 distributions on Term B Preferred Stock.
Record Date
November 23, 2020
December 24, 2020
January 22, 2021

Payable Date
November 30, 2020
December 31, 2020
January 29, 2021

Distribution Per Preferred Share
$0.055
$0.1375
$0.1375

Note 7. Federal Income Taxes
The Company has elected, and intends to qualify annually hereafter, to be taxed as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. To maintain its status as a RIC,
the Company is required to distribute annually to its stockholders at least 90% of its ICTI. Additionally, to avoid a 4% U.S. federal excise tax on
undistributed earnings the Company is required to distribute each calendar year the sum of (i) 98% of its ordinary income for such calendar year (ii) 98.2%
of its net capital gains for the period ending October 31 of that calendar year, and (iii) any income recognized, but not distributed, in preceding years and on
which the Company paid no U.S. federal income tax. Maintenance of the Company's RIC status also requires adherence to certain source of income and
asset diversification requirements provided under the Code. The Company has met the source of income and asset diversification requirements as of
October 31, 2020, and intends to continue to meet these requirements.
The Company’s ICTI differs from the net increase in net assets resulting from operations primarily due to differences in income recognition for Structured
Finance Notes. GAAP requires recognition of an estimated constant yield for Structured Finance Notes. U.S. federal income tax rules, however, require
recognition of net investment income reported to the Company by the underlying CLO fund in the tax period reported, as well as differences in recognition
of unrealized appreciation/depreciation of investments; these differences can be permanent or temporary in nature. The Company recorded a
reclassification to its capital accounts of $784,302 for the year ended October 31, 2020 for permanent differences related to return of capital distributions to
preferred shareholders and other permanent differences. The Company had no undistributed ICTI and a non-expiring capital loss carry-forward of $273,643
as of October 31, 2020.
The tax-basis cost of investments and associated tax-basis gross unrealized appreciation (depreciation) inherent in the fair value of investments based on
known and estimated GAAP-tax basis differences as of October 31, 2020, were as follows:
Tax-basis amortized cost of investments
Tax-basis gross unrealized appreciation on investments
Tax-basis gross unrealized depreciation on investments
Tax-basis net unrealized depreciation on investments

$

Fair value of investments

$
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68,444,685
732,292
(12,291,385)
(11,559,093)
56,885,592

Note 8. Financial Highlights
The following is a schedule of financial highlights for the years ended October 31, 2020 and October 31, 2019 and the period ended October 31, 2018:
Period from October
10 (commencement)
Year Ended
Year Ended
through October 31,
October 31, 2020
October 31, 2019
2018
Per share data:
Net asset value per share at beginning of period
$
14.98
$
20.11
$
20.00
Distributions:
Distributions from net investment income(9)
(1.19)
—
—
Distributions from return of capital(9)
(0.88)
(2.12)
—
Total distributions
(2.07)
(2.12)
—
Net investment income(7)
1.58
1.66
0.08
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments (7)
(2.71)
(4.69)
0.03
Net increase (decrease) from operations
(1.13)
(3.03)
0.11
Issuance of common stock(8)
(0.20)
0.02
—
$
11.58
$
14.98
$
20.11
Net asset value per share at end of period
Per share market value, end of period
Total return based on market value (1)
Total return based on net asset value (2)
Shares outstanding at end of period
Weighted average shares outstanding
Ratio/Supplemental Data
Average net asset value
Net asset value at end of period
Ratio of total operating expenses to average net assets (4)(6)
Ratio of net investment income to average net assets (5)(6)
Portfolio turnover (3)
Asset coverage of preferred stock

$

9.83
$
(29.07)%
(5.68)%
3,580,663
3,237,905

16.91
$
1.84 %
(15.75)%
3,061,858
2,601,037

18.78
(6.10)%
0.55 %
2,505,000
2,505,000

$
$

43,665,458
$
41,475,608
$
13.65 %
11.70 %
8.60 %
294.6 %

48,120,908
$
45,855,308
$
9.41 %
9.00 %
28.80 %
315.1 %

50,243,254
50,386,507
4.42 %
7.17 %
5.10 %
—%

(1) Total return based on market value is calculated assuming shares of common stock were purchased at the market price at the beginning of the period,
distributions were reinvested at a price obtained in the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, and shares were sold at the closing market price on the
last day of the period. Total return is not annualized for a period of less than one year.
(2) Total return based on net asset value is calculated assuming shares of common stock were purchased at the net asset value at the beginning of the
period, distributions were reinvested at a price obtained in the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, and shares were sold at the ending net asset
value on the last day of the period. Total return is not annualized for a period of less than one year.
(3) Portfolio turnover rate is calculated using the lesser of period-to-date sales and distributions from portfolio investments or period-to-date purchases
over the average of the invested assets at fair value.
(4) Ratio of total expenses before management fee waiver to average net assets was 13.65%, 9.87% and 6.17% for the year ended October 31, 2020,
October 31, 2019 and period ended October 31, 2018, respectively.
(5) Ratio of net investment income before management fee waiver to average net assets was 11.70%, 8.54% and 5.42% for the year ended October 31,
2020, October 31, 2019 and period ended October 31, 2018, respectively.
(6) Annualized for periods less than one year.
(7) Calculated on the average share method.
(8) The issuance of common stock on a per share basis reflects the incremental net asset value change as a result of the issuance of shares of common
stock under the equity distribution agreement, the issuance of shares of common stock in the Company's August 2019 rights offering, the issuance of
shares of common stock as common stock distributions, and the anti-dilutive (dilutive) impact from changes in weighted-average shares outstanding
during the period.
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(9) The information provided for the year ended October 31, 2020 is based on the Company's estimate of taxable income. The final tax character of the
Company's earnings cannot be determined until the end of the calendar year and may vary from these estimates.
The following table presents the aggregate outstanding borrowings and asset coverage per unit as of October 31, 2020, October 31, 2019 and October 31,
2018:
Involuntary
Asset
Liquidation
Total Amount
Asset Coverage Coverage Per
Preference Per Average Market
Class and Year
Outstanding
Per $1,000(1)
Unit(2)
Unit(3)
Value Per Unit(4)
6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock
October 31, 2020
$
21,316,500 $
2,946 $
73.64 $
25.00 $
23.72
October 31, 2019
21,316,500
3,151
78.78
25.00
25.46
October 31, 2018
—
—
—
—
—
(1) The asset coverage ratio for a class of senior securities representing indebtedness is calculated as the total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not
represented by senior securities, divided by the class of senior securities representing indebtedness. This asset coverage ratio is multiplied by $1,000 to
determine the “Asset Coverage Per $1,000.”
(2) The Asset Coverage Per Unit is expressed in terms of a ratio per share of outstanding Term A Preferred Shares. When expressing in terms of dollar
amounts per share, the asset coverage ratio is multiplied by the involuntary liquidation preference per unit of $25.
(3) The amount to which such class of senior security would be entitled upon the involuntary liquidation of the issuer in preference to any security junior to
it.
(4) Average market value per unit for the Term A Preferred Shares represents the average of the daily closing prices as reported on the Nasdaq Capital
Market during the period presented.
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Note 9. Capital Transactions
On January 24, 2020, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement relating to the sale of shares of its common stock. The equity distribution
agreement provides that the Company may offer and sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $25,000,000. For the year
ended October 31, 2020, the Company sold 173,498 shares of its common stock for net proceeds of $2,815,059 after deducting commissions and fees. The
Company had no sales of its common stock subsequent to October 31, 2020.
The following table summarizes distributions paid for the year ended October 31, 2020 on common shares.
Record Date
November 22, 2019
December 24, 2019
January 24, 2020
February 21, 2020
March 24, 2020
April 23, 2020
June 16, 2020
September 15, 2020

Payable Date
November 29, 2019
December 31, 2019
January 31, 2020
February 28, 2020
March 31, 2020
April 30, 2020
July 31, 2020
October 30, 2020

Distribution Per
Common Share
$0.17
0.17
0.17
0.1734
0.1734
0.1734
0.52 (1)
0.52 (1)

Cash Distribution
$515,701
514,753
495,858
535,521
539,942
542,429
168,750
177,526

Value of Common
Shares Issued
$4,815
5,812
24,771
23,659
21,738
19,821
1,518,581
1,597,546

Total Distribution
$520,516
520,565
520,629
559,180
561,680
562,250
1,687,331
1,775,072

(1) The total amount of cash distributed to stockholders was limited to 10% of the total distribution paid, excluding any cash paid for fractional shares. The
remainder of the distribution (approximately 90%) was paid in shares of the Company's common stock.
The Company paid distributions of $6,707,223 or $2.07 per common share during the year ended October 31, 2020. The tax attributes of distributions are
determined annually as of the end of each calendar year based, in part, on the taxable income for the fiscal year, estimated taxable income subsequent to the
fiscal year end, and distributions paid. The tax character of each distribution paid is reported to stockholders, if required, on Form 1099-DIV in January
following the close of the calendar year. The tax character of distributions paid for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2020, represent $3,846,141 from
ordinary income and $2,861,082 from tax return of capital. These amounts and sources of distributions reported are not being provided for U.S. tax
reporting purposes as the fiscal period does not correspond to the required tax reporting period. The ultimate tax character of the Company's earnings
cannot be determined until tax returns are prepared after the end of the fiscal year. The information provided is based on available estimates.
The Company adopted a plan that provides for reinvestment of its common stock distributions on behalf of the common stockholders (the “DRIP”), unless
a common stockholder elects to receive cash. The DRIP was suspended from May 26, 2020 through October 30, 2020 in connection with the Board's
declaration of distributions payable in cash and common stock payable for each of the quarters ending on July 31, 2020 and October 31, 2020.
The following table represents DRIP participation for the year ended October 31, 2020:
DRIP Shares
Value

For the Year Ended

October 31, 2020

$

100,616

DRIP Shares
Issued

9,473

Average Value
Per Share

$

10.62

On November 30, 2020, the Board declared the following distribution on common shares.
Record Date
December 18, 2020

Payable Date
January 29, 2021

Distribution Per Common Share
0.52(1)

(1) The total amount of cash distributed to stockholders will be limited to 20% of the total distribution paid, excluding any cash paid for fractional shares.
The remainder of the distribution (approximately 80%) will be paid in the form of shares of the Company's common stock.
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Note 10. Subsequent Events Except As Disclosed Elsewhere
The Company evaluated events subsequent to October 31, 2020, to assess the need for disclosure. There were no subsequent events, other than described
elsewhere in the financial statements, that required disclosure.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
OFS Credit Company, Inc.:
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of OFS Credit Company, Inc. (the Company), including the schedule of investments,
as of October 31, 2020, the related statements of operations and cash flows for the year then ended, the statements of changes in net assets for each of the
years in the two‑year period then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the financial statements) and the financial highlights for each of the years in the
two-year period then ended and the period from October 10, 2018 (commencement of operations) through October 31, 2018. In our opinion, the financial
statements and financial highlights present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of October 31, 2020, the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, the changes in its net assets for each of the years in the two‑year period then ended, and the financial
highlights for each of the years in the two-year period then ended and the period from October 10, 2018 through October 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements and financial highlights are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and financial highlights based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements and financial highlights are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits
included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and financial highlights, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and financial highlights. Such procedures also included confirmation of securities owned as of October 31, 2020, by
correspondence with custodians. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements and financial highlights. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

We have served as the auditor of the Company since 2018.
Chicago, Illinois
December 16, 2020
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$100,000,000

OFS CREDIT COMPANY, INC.

Common Stock
Preferred Stock
Subscription Rights
Debt Securities

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
, 2021

PART C — OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS
1. Financial Statements:
The following financial statements of OFS Credit Company, Inc. (the “Company” or the “Registrant”) are included in Part A of the Registration
Statement:
Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of October 31, 2020
Statement of Operations for the Year Ended October 31, 2020
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Years Ended October 31, 2020 and October 31, 2019
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended October 31, 2020
Schedule of Investments as of October Schedule of Investments as of October 31, 2020
Notes to Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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2. Exhibits:
(a)(1) Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation(2)
(a)(2) Form of Certificate of Designation for the 6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock(3)
(a)(3) Form of Certificate of Designation for the 6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock(9)
(b) Form of Bylaws(1)
(c) Not applicable
(d)(1) Form of Common Stock Certificate(2)
(d)(2) Specimen 6.875% Series A Term Preferred Stock Certificate(4)
(d)(3) Specimen 6.60% Series B Term Preferred Stock Certificate(9)
(d)(3) Form of Base Indenture(7)
(d)(4) Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1(7)
(d)(5) Form of Subscription Agent Agreement(5)
(d)(6) Form of Subscription Rights Certificate(5)
(e) Distribution Reinvestment Plan(2)
(f) Not applicable
(g) Form of Investment Advisory and Management Agreement by and between Registrant and OFS Capital Management, LLC(2)
(h)(1) Form of Underwriting Agreement(7)
(h)(2) Equity Distribution Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2020, by and among OFS Credit Company, Inc., OFS Capital Management, LLC,
OFS Capital Services, LLC and Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.(8)
(i) Not applicable
(j) Form of Custodian Agreement(2)
(k)(1) Form of Administration Agreement by and between Registrant and OFS Capital Services, LLC(2)
(k)(2) Form of License Agreement between Registrant and Orchard First Source Asset Management, LLC(2)
(k)(3) Form of Transfer Agency and Registrar Services Agreement(2)
(l)(1) Opinion and Consent of Counsel(7)
(l)(2) Opinion and Consent of Counsel(8)
(m) Not applicable
(n)(1) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm with respect to Registrant*
(n)(2) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Senior Securities Table(10)
(o) Not applicable
(p) Form of Subscription Agreement(2)
(q) Not applicable
(6)
(r) Joint Code of Ethics of the Registrant and OFS Capital Management, LLC
99.1 Form of Prospectus Supplement for Common Stock Offerings(7)
99.2 Form of Prospectus Supplement for Preferred Stock Offerings(7)
99.3 Form of Prospectus Supplement for Rights Offerings(7)
99.4 Form of Prospectus Supplement for Debt Offerings(7)
* Filed Herewith
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(1) Previously filed on June 22, 2018 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-220794 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(2) Previously filed on August 9, 2018 with the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-220794 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(3) Previously filed on March 15, 2019 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-228463 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(4) Previously filed on March 8, 2019 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-228463 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(5) Previously filed on August 1, 2019 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-231738 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(6) Previously filed on December 18, 2020 with the Registrant's Annual Report on Form N-CSR (File No. 811-23299) and incorporated by
reference herein.
(7) Previously filed on January 7, 2020 with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File Nos. 333-234420 and 811-23299) and
incorporated by reference herein.
(8)

Previously filed on January 24, 2020 with Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File
Nos. 333-234420 and 811-23299) and incorporated by reference herein.

(9) Previously filed on November 19, 2020 with Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File
Nos. 333-234420 and 811-23299) and incorporated by reference herein.
(10) Previously filed on January 13, 2021 with Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File
Nos. 333-234420 and 811-23299) and incorporated by reference herein.
ITEM 26. MARKETING ARRANGEMENTS
The information contained under the heading “Plan of Distribution” in this Registration Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 27. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION
SEC registration fee
FINRA filing fee
Nasdaq listing fee
Printing and postage
Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Miscellaneous
Total

$

Note: All listed amounts are estimates.
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12,980
15,500
10,000
20,000
150,000
30,000
11,520
$250,000

ITEM 28. PERSONS CONTROLLED BY OR UNDER COMMON CONTROL
The information contained under the headings “Management,” “Related-Party Transactions and Certain Relationships” and “Control Persons and
Principal Holders of Securities” in the prospectus contained herein is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 29. NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF SECURITIES
The following table sets forth the number of record holders of each class of the Registrant’s securities as of February 19, 2021:
Number of
Record Holders

Title of Class

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share
Series A Term Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share
Series B Term Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share

4
1
1

ITEM 30. INDEMNIFICATION
Directors and Officers
As permitted by Section 102 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), the Registrant has adopted provisions in its
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that limit or eliminate the personal liability of its directors for a breach of their fiduciary duty of care as
a director. The duty of care generally requires that, when acting on behalf of the corporation, directors exercise an informed business judgment based on all
material information reasonably available to them. Consequently, a director will not be personally liable to the Registrant or its stockholders for monetary
damages or breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability for: any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Registrant or its stockholders;
any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; any act related to unlawful stock repurchases,
redemptions or other distributions or payment of dividends; or any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. These
limitations of liability do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission.
The Registrant’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws provide that all directors, officers, employees and agents of the
Registrant shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Registrant to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, subject to the requirements of the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"). Under Section 145 of the DGCL, the Registrant is permitted to offer indemnification to its directors,
officers, employees and agents.
Section 145(a) of the DGCL provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened
to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an
action by or in the right of the corporation), because the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the
request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of any other enterprise. Such indemnity may be against expenses (including attorneys’
fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, if
the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and if, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, the person did not have reasonable cause to believe the person’s conduct was unlawful.
Section 145(b) of the DGCL provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened
to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor because the
person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of any other enterprise, against any expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection
with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed
to the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall
have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was
brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and
reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
Section 145(g) of the DGCL provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person
who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee
or agent of any other enterprise, against any liability asserted against the person in any such capacity, or arising out of the person’s status as such, regardless
of whether the corporation would have the power to indemnify the person against such liability under the provisions of the law. We have obtained liability
insurance for the benefit of our directors and officers.
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Adviser and Administrator
The Investment Advisory Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties or by
reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, OFS Capital Management, LLC (the “Advisor”) and its officers, managers, agents, employees,
controlling persons, members and any other person or entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from the Registrant for any damages,
liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of the Advisor’s
services under the Investment Advisory Agreement or otherwise as an Advisor of the Registrant.
The Administration Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties or by reason of
the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, OFS Capital Services, LLC and its officers, managers, agents, employees, controlling persons, members
and any other person or entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from the Registrant for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of OFS Capital Services, LLC’s services under
the Administration Agreement or otherwise as administrator for the Registrant.
The law also provides for comparable indemnification for corporate officers and agents. Insofar as indemnification for liability arising under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment
by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or
proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the
opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
The Registrant has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors. The indemnification agreements are intended to provide the Registrant’s
directors the maximum indemnification permitted under Delaware law and the 1940 Act. Each indemnification agreement provides that the Registrant shall
indemnify the director who is a party to the agreement (an “Indemnitee”), including the advancement of legal expenses, if, by reason of his or her corporate
status, the Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be, made a party to or a witness in any threatened, pending, or completed proceeding, other than a proceeding
by or in the right of the Registrant.
ITEM 31. BUSINESS AND OTHER CONNECTIONS OF INVESTMENT ADVISER
A description of any other business, profession, vocation or employment of a substantial nature in which OFS Advisor, and each managing director,
director or officer of OFS Advisor, is or has been during the past two fiscal years, engaged in for his or her own account or in the capacity of director,
officer, employee, partner or trustee, is set forth in Part A of this Registration Statement in the sections entitled “Management.” Additional information
regarding the OFS Advisor and its officers and directors is set forth in its Form ADV, as filed with the SEC (File No. 801-71366), and is incorporated
herein by reference.
ITEM 32. LOCATION OF ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS
The location of the accounts and records of the Registrant is set forth in its Form N-CEN as filed with the SEC (File No. 811-23299) on January 13,
2020 and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 33. MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Not applicable.
ITEM 34. UNDERTAKINGS
(1) Registrant undertakes to suspend the offering of shares covered hereby until it amends its prospectus contained herein if (a) subsequent to the
effective date of this Registration Statement, the Company's net asset value declines more than 10% from its net asset value as of the effective date of this
Registration Statement, or (b) the Company's net asset value increases to an amount greater than its net proceeds as stated in the prospectus contained
herein.
(2) Not applicable.
(3) Registrant undertakes:
a. To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
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(ii) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective
amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the
registration statement; and
(iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any
material change to such information in the registration statement.
b.

that, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a
new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of those securities at the time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof;

c.

to remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering;

d.

that, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:
(i) if the Registrant is relying on Rule 430B:
(A) Each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of
the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
(B) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on
Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (x), or (xi) for the purpose of providing the information
required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the
earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in
the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at
that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the
securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or
prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference
into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of
contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or
prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date; or
(ii) if the Registrant is subject to Rule 430C: Each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act as part of a registration
statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on
Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness.
Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a
document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration
statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in
the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to
such date of first use.

e.

that for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of
securities, the undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this registration
statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser
by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or
sell such securities to the purchaser:
(i)

any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424
under the Securities Act of 1933 [17 CFR 230.424];

(ii) any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the
undersigned Registrants;
(ii)

the portion of any other free writing prospectus or advertisement pursuant to Rule 482 under the Securities Act of 1933 [17 CFR 230.482]
relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the
undersigned Registrant; and

(iii)

any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrant to the purchaser.
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(4) Registrant undertakes that:
a.

For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed
as part of the Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in the form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule
424(b)(1) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it was declared
effective.

b.

For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of
prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.

(5) Not applicable.
(6) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling
persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling
person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in
connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
(7) Registrant undertakes to send by first class mail or other means designed to ensure equally prompt delivery, within two business days of receipt of a
written or oral request, any prospectus or Statement of Additional Information.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the Registrant has duly
caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Statement on Form N-2 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in Chicago, Illinois, on the 26th day of February, 2021.
OFS Credit Company, Inc.
By: /s/ Bilal Rashid
Bilal Rashid
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, this Post-Effective
Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Statement on Form N-2 has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant, and in the capacities
indicated, on the 26th day of February, 2021.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Bilal Rashid
Bilal Rashid

Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 26, 2021

/s/ Jeffrey A. Cerny
Jeffrey A. Cerny

Director and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 26, 2021

/s/ Jeffery S. Owen
Jeffery S. Owen

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 26, 2021

/s/ *
Kathleen M. Griggs

Director

February 26, 2021

/s/ *
Catherine M. Fitta

Director

February 26, 2021

/s/ *
Romita Shetty

Director

February 26, 2021

*Signed by Bilal Rashid pursuant to a power of attorney signed by each individual and previously filed with this Registration Statement on November 1,
2019 and January 13, 2021.
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(n)(1)

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
OFS Credit Company, Inc.:
We consent to the use of our reports included herein dated December 16, 2020, with respect to the financial statements and financial
highlights, and to the references to our firm under the headings “Financial Highlights” and “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”
in the Prospectus filed on Form N-2.
Chicago, Illinois
February 26, 2021

/s/ KPMG LLP

